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For Angela and Peter



From Memory to Marble is an open access monograph in
the true sense of the word. Both volumes of the digital
version of the book are available in full and free of charge
from the date of publication. This approach to publishing
democratises access to the latest scholarly publications
across the globe. At the same time, a book such as From
Memory to Marble, with its unique and exquisite photo-
graphs of the frieze as well as its wealth of reproduced
archival materials, demands reception of a more tradi-
tional kind, that is, on the printed page. For this reason,
the book is likewise available in print as two separate
volumes. The printed and digital books should not
be seen as separate incarnations; each brings its own
advantages, working together to extend the reach and
utility of From Memory to Marble to a range of interested
readers.

Francois van Schalkwyk
African Minds
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Figure 0.1: Hall of
Heroes, order of
scenes (drawing
Tobias Bitterer)
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Introduction

As explained in Part I of our book, the richness and diversity of the material we uncovered
about the Voortrekker Monument and its frieze led to our decision to divide our study into two
parts. While the first, Part I, addresses the background, the process and the interpretation of
the historical marble frieze, we decided that each of its twenty-seven scenes required individ-
ual treatment. Part II thus offers a series of detailed studies, analysing each narrative in its
own right.

Each scene is introduced with its full title — the short version we have used throughout our text
singled out in italics — followed by the historical date or period of the portrayed incident in brack-
ets. In each case, we have first processed documentary material to provide tabular information
about the stages of production for the particular scene, complemented by thumbnail photographs,
where the sequence can be seen at a glance. Early archival references are also provided. For con-
venience and clarity, we have followed a standard layout for each scene, which is set out in a table
overleaf (fig. 0.2).

The next section for each scene provides a ‘Description’, coupled with a photograph, intended
to hone our looking at both the composition and the details of the depiction. It offers the reader
an initial orientation to overcome the erratic perception of the eye which may pick out only focal
points or random particulars. This is followed by an analysis of the ‘Development of the Design’
through its different stages for each scene — all of them illustrated — from sketch (A1-3), to one-
third-scale maquette in clay then plaster (B2), to full-scale clay and plaster (C1-3), and ultimately
to marble (D). For a number of scenes we were fortunate to find earlier representations of incidents
they portray that throw light on the process of shaping the frieze or its interpretation.

In the last and most complex section, ‘Reading the Narrative’, the historical background of
individual scenes is investigated, to try to understand when and how records were made and
chronicled, finally tying the often conflicting micro-histories back to the choices that formed
the images in the frieze. The attention given to ‘Scenes’ has resulted in what often are very
long texts for single panels. Since an in-depth analysis had not previously been attempted, it
was necessary to consider relevant aspects in full in each case. This approach has helped us to
crystallise crucial aspects of the inherent authority of the visual narratives, and to tackle the
iconographic strategies and ideologies of the scenes both within and beyond the contingency
of written history.

Essential for our discussions are the photographs of the surviving material related to each
scene, which we have numbered separately in each case, with the scene number as a prefix (e.g.
fig. 1.1 for the first image in Departure). The maquettes and the marble frieze were expressly pho-
tographed by Russell Scott for our research for this publication, the frieze under special lighting
conditions facilitated by after-hours access to the Monument for a night shoot, discussed in the
Introduction to Part I. Photographs of the full-scale clay reliefs, from which the plaster replicas
were taken for sending to Italy to be carved, were made by Alan Yates (Pretoria) as each scene
was completed in the 1940s. Since these no longer survive as a set, they have been acquired from
various archives and sometimes reproductions in books (such as Pillman 1984) that may today be
the best surviving source. Whereas Museum Africa Johannesburg provided the photographs of the
Coetzer drawings, the authors took those of the Gestetner reproductions in the Jansen file of ARCA
Bloemfontein. Whenever it was available, we have supplemented each scene with relevant maps
and comparative material, and the outline diagrams made by Hennie Potgieter that identify many
of the models used for the full-scale reliefs (some names referred to by the familiar but respectful
Afrikaans ‘oom’ [uncle] or ‘tannie’ [aunt]). We have gone out of our way to ensure that images are
of high quality although, despite our best efforts, in a few cases only low-resolution reproductions
were available.

3 Open Access. © 2020 Elizabeth Rankin and Rolf Michael Schneider, published by De Gruyter and African Minds.
This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110668797-005
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Scene number and short title

Position in Hall of Heroes (panel number out of total of thirty-one; also marked on the groundplan)
Dimensions

Condition

Name of sculptor of the initial clay maquette B1

STAGES OF PRODUCTION

This is the comprehensive list of the different stages followed in the production of the twenty-seven scenes discussed
in Part I, Chapter 3; not all have survived in each case. We reference the archive, collection or museum in the
caption of each illustration.

A1 W.H. Coetzer, initial pencil drawing (April-June 1937)
A2 Reproduction of Al with a Gestetner machine (June 1937)
A3 W.H. Coetzer, revised or new pencil drawing, dimensions [image size] (after September 1937)
Annotations
A4 W.H. Coetzer, monochrome oil on hardboard, dimensions (late 1937-38)
No known sketches by the sculptors survive so this stage cannot be documented (1942)
B1 One-third-scale clay maquette, not extant but replicated* in B2, dimensions (1942-43)
B2 One-third-scale plaster maquette, dimensions (1942-43)
If more than one version:
a. Rejected one-third-scale plaster maquette, dimensions (1942-43)
b. Modified one-third-scale plaster maquette, dimensions (1942-47)
C1 Full-scale wooden armature for C2, not extant but occasionally photographed (1943-47)
C2 Full-scale clay relief, not extant but photographed and replicated* in C3 (1943-47)
If more than one version:
a. Initial full-scale clay relief
b. Modified full-scale clay relief
C3 Full-scale plaster relief (1943-47), not extant but sometimes illustrated, and copied* in D
D Marble, carved in Italy (corner panels late 1947-49; other panels 1948-50);
installed in the Monument (1949-50)
*We have used the term ‘replicated’ to signify the process of casting a replica of a clay model, but ‘copied’ for
the sculpting of the plaster relief into marble, which depends on measurements but is ultimately free-hand.
The dates supplied for the different stages are inclusive. Where external sources such as reports and photo-
graphs - like those in Die Vaderland 26.4.1945 (Part I, p.244 fig. 183) — provide clues, we offer more specific
dates for individual scenes. But as the precise sequence of modelling and later carving of the scenes cannot be
established with any certainty, we can often only provide the approximate period within which the work was
undertaken.

EARLY RECORDS
This is a listing of references in key formative documents, which are discussed in general in Part I, Chapter 2
(see table in fig. 69). The acronyms for archival references are explained in ‘Abbreviations’.

SVK minutes (date) — item number (quoted in ‘Developing the design’)

Voorstelle (5.12.1934?) — item number and text (Part I fig. 70)

Panele (c. Dec 1934-36) — item number and text

Wenke (c. 1934-36) — item number and text

Moerdyk Layout (5.10.1936-15.1.1937) — scene number/panel number and caption (Part I fig. 90)
Jansen Memorandum (19.1.1937) — item number and text taken from English version (Part I fig. 92)

Figure 0.2: Table explaining standard documentation of scenes (the authors)
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Adjacent to the Monument’s ground plan, the foldout at the back of each volume offers an
indispensable view of the continuous frieze and the location and context for all the scenes, but
we have provided throughout the text as large an image of each one as space allows, as well as
the preparatory studies for it. They are thus not reproduced in relation to the actual scale of
what they portray but rather to present as much detail as possible to satisfy viewers’ curiosity
and enhance their visual experience. We acknowledge the agency of images as objects of related
realities, both their physical and their visual presence, and their interpretation of the reality they
represent.






1 Departure from the Cape (1835-37)



A2

B2b i/ii

c2




1

Departure

North wall, east of entrance (panels 1-2/31)
h. 2.3 x w. 711 m (left panel: 3.8 m; right panel: 3.31 m)
Restored fractures on the vertical edges between the two panels

Sculptor of clay maquettes: Peter Kirchhoff

STAGES OF PRODUCTION

Al
A2
A3

A4

B1
B2

C1
C2

C3
D

W.H. Coetzer, pencil drawing, retained only in A2 (April-June 1937)
Reproduction of A1 (June 1937)

W.H. Coetzer, revised pencil drawing Al, h. 13.3 x w. 61.2 cm

(after September 1937)

Annotations: ‘Spandau Kop Graaf Reinett’ (Spandau Kop Graaff-Reinet) /
‘Engelse betaal uit’ (English pay out) / ‘Trekkers pak op en verlaat
sierlike wonings en boords’ (Trekkers pack and leave attractive houses
and orchards) / ‘Stillewe groep in voorgrond Boeks, vysel Kers vorms
Kandelaar strykyster almanac’ (Still life group in foreground Books,
jack, Candle mould, Candlestick, iron, almanac) / ‘Uittog uit Kaapland’
(Departure from the Cape) / ‘uittog’ (departure) / ‘Voorgrond. viool,
consertine, Blasbalk, reghoek, Broodpan. (snuit eister, aambeeld, Trek
saag)’ (Foreground. violin, concertina, Bellows, set square, Bread pan,
[‘snout’ iron, anvil, ‘pull’ saw]) / ‘Agtergrond. Tafelberge Tarka district’
(Background. Table mountains Tarka district)

23

22

21

20

24

J [
’ 27 MA 1
2
3 L
4
5
6
7
8
9 i
10
14 13 12 1

W.H. Coetzer, Die Uittog van die Voortrekkers uit Kaapland (The Departure of the Voortrekkers from the

Cape). Monochrome oil on board, h. 26.7 x w. 121.9 cm (late 1937-38?)

Three one-third-scale clay maquettes, not extant but replicated in B2a and b (1942-43)

a. Rejected one-third-scale plaster maquette, ‘Vendusie’ (1942-43); h. 78 x w. 89.7 x d. 8.2 cm

b. Two one-third-scale plaster maquettes (1942-43)
(i) Left part of scene, h. 77.2 x w. 125 x d. 8.2 cm
(ii) Right part of scene, h. 76.5 x w. 125 x d. 7.5 cm

Full-scale wooden armature, not extant (1943)

Full-scale clay relief, not extant but photographed in two versions; replicated in C3 (1943)

a. Work in progress, Spandaukop with single outcrop (1943)
b. Completed, Spandaukop with double outcrop (1943)

Full-scale plaster relief of C2b (1943), not extant but illustrated (Die Vaderland, 26.2.1945); copied in D (1948-50)

Marble as installed in the Monument (1950)

EARLY RECORDS
SVK minutes (21.9.1935) — item 9b ‘Uittrek’ (Departure); 4.9.1937 / item 4a (see below, ‘Developing the design’)
Panele (c. Dec 1934-36) — item 1 ‘Die uittog uit die Kaapland / Boerewoning, waens, los vee, perderuiters vasberad-
enheid moet die kenmerk wees’ (Departure from the Cape / Boer houses, wagons, free livestock, horsemen must

be characterised by determination)

Wenke (c. 1934-36) — item VI. SEN. F.S. MALAN, 3 ‘Die eerste toneel: Tipiese Voortrekkersgesin neem afskeid van
woonplaas in Kaapland’ (The first scene: Typical Voortrekker family takes leave of their farm in the Cape)

Moerdyk Layout (5.10.1936-15.1.1937) — scene 1 on panels 1-4/31 ‘Uittog’ (Departure)

Jansen Memorandum (19.1.1937) — item 7.1 ‘The exodus from the Cape, reflecting at the same time something of the

conditions of life there’

3 Open Access. © 2020 Elizabeth Rankin and Rolf Michael Schneider, published by De Gruyter and African Minds.
This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110668797-006
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Figure 1.1: D. Departure. 1950. Marble, 2.3 x 7.11 m (courtesy of VTM; photo Russell Scott)
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Description

Six men - four in jackets and brimmed hats, and two armed with muzzleloaders — and three women
in impeccable dress are preparing to depart, yet are curiously still (fig. 1.1). Although the figures are
standing, packing or waiting, there seems an intention to move to the right; only two people in the
lower foreground face in the other direction. Impressive flocks mustered in orderly lines, accompa-
nied by a shepherdess, are ready to move to the right, goats mingling with young and full-grown
merino sheep. In the background are oxen: three pairs are already hitched up to the first of the two
ox wagons, also waiting to start out in the same direction. Visible on the right is a small section of
a rope that must be attached to a fourth pair of oxen beyond the format of the relief, their absence
suggesting that the advance has already begun.

Ready to go also is the woman sitting at the front of the leading wagon and the Voortrekker next
to her who skilfully swings his long leather whip. Further to the right a Voortrekker, his muzzle-
loader over his shoulder, is mounted on a horse that moves forward sedately, accompanied by a
dog. The topic is evident: it is a departure, clearly not a brief sojourn as chattels, arms and livestock
are included. Many possessions are not yet packed, so that they can be arranged to catch the view-
er’s eye. At the left of the relief, in front of a tall man holding a muzzleloader and a powder horn, a
kneeling woman tranquilly packs personal items into a little chest — scales, a pair of candle-sticks
and a small round container. Behind her, household goods are set up on a table — a mould for
making candles, a teapot, mortar and pestle, and a flat iron placed on a thick fringed rug. Further
back to her left, a sturdy riempie stool supports two muzzleloaders and powder horns, and beyond
that two men load goods onto a second ox wagon, the one in shirt sleeves carrying a heavy sack.
More goods occupy the right foreground - a guitar, a concertina, the tops of three bulging sacks,
and a three-legged pot, as well as bellows lying in a large container for making bread. At the right
of the relief, next to an early form of a jack for wheel removal, a man, also without a jacket, strains
to tie up a big bundle; he must be standing with his left leg on a lower level though it is obscured.

The scene is staged in a recognisable landscape. The mountain on the left marks the peculiar
double ‘koppies’ of Spandaukop near Graaff-Reinet, a town in the Eastern Cape founded by the
Dutch East India Company (Vereenigde Oost-Indische Compagnie) in 1786. Annotations on Coet-
zer’s revised drawing for the scene (A3) tell us that the larger ‘table’ mountains on the right are
from the Tarka district, which lies some two-hundred kilometres east of Graaff-Reinet.? There are
numerous little plants on the ground, generic in form, although some could represent Boophane
disticha or Brunsvigia sp., based on the distichous leaf arrangement of the former (e.g. below the
horse’s hind leg) and the broader leaf of the latter (e.g. to the right of the hind leg).?

1 For Graaff-Reinet, see Henning 1975; Visagie 2011, 17.
2 See Coetzer 1947, 29.
3 We are grateful to botanist Neil Crouch for his input, and to Philippa Hobbs who approached him on our behalf.
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Figure 1.2: A2. W.H. Coetzer. Reproduction of first sketch for Departure. June 1937 (courtesy of ARCA PV94 1/75/5/1; photo the authors)

v v

e

Figure 1.3: A3. W.H. Coetzer. ‘Uittog uit Kaapland’. After September 1937. Pencil, 13.3 x 61.2 cm. Revised first sketch (photo courtesy
of Museum Africa, no. 66/2194U)

Figure 1.4: A4. W.H. Coetzer. Die uittog van die Voortrekkers uit Kaapland. Late 1937-38? Monochrome oil on board, 26.7 x 121.9 cm
(courtesy of DNMCH, Art Collection, presently on loan to VTM Museum; photo Riana Mulder)



Developing the design = 13

Developing the design

Coetzer’s first drawing of Departure, retained only in the reproduction (fig. 1.2), is packed with
people, animals, furniture, household goods, weapons and landscape, with a number of ox wagons
departing or about to depart, all contributing to the main theme. It captures the preparations for
the treks, the profusion of detail possible because of the very long format, intended to stretch
across four eight-foot marble panels according to the Moerdyk layout (see fig. 88, Part I); finally,
however, 23.3 feet (7.11 metres) in length. It was a subject where the SVK’s concern about authentic
detail could be exercised to the full, and on 4 September 1937 the Historiese Komitee made many
demands of the artist, and set out their requests much more fully than in later cases.

The departure from the colony. The house must be more clearly shown; the fields must be shown as
blocks so that people can understand what it stands for; an orchard must be shown near the house;
the Englishman must pay with metal coins; the second auctioneer must be removed and replaced
with a farewell scene of a boer with a whip over his shoulder shaking hands with a friend; a woman
must turn around sadly; on the table books including a state bible and a book of psalms and the
statute book v d Linde [sic]* must be shown,; it is flint guns; the man at the wagon must load a riem-
pie-mattress bed; the equipment must include a ‘buspen’ [a linchpin; see fig. 1.11],” swing hook, saw,
drill and anvil; the chest’s attachments as well as the wagonchest’s hinges must be clearly visible;
the pot must be a flat bread pan.®

When Coetzer revised his first drawing, he carefully modified many details to respond to these
requests, probably more than in any other of his sketches, except Soutpansberg, where he com-
pletely redrew the image. Many features of the original design of his initial drawing (fig. 1.2) are
still faintly visible in its revised version (fig. 1.3). Here he notably replaced the auction group in the
left middle ground to allow for the introduction of a prosperous Cape Dutch farmstead and the cul-
tivated fields surrounding it, and also eliminated other details such as the dog on the left and the
African woman carrying a baby on her back disappearing into the distance behind it. But generally
he retained the overall composition, and concentrated rather on correcting details, such as amend-
ing, replacing or adding the many Voortrekker items making up the still life that is depicted across
the foreground.” Drawing closely on this sketch (fig. 1.3), Coetzer developed a less packed and more
ordered version of Departure in a monochrome, which he probably painted for the centenary of the
Battle of Blood River on 16 December 1938 (fig. 1.4).% In all his versions he kept the sense of general
drama and the buzzing activity of such an event. It is significant for the complex process of shaping
the narrative that almost none of the many alterations demanded by the SVK were to become part
of the clay reliefs, let alone the final marble.

4 For Van der Linden’s book, see Inauguration.

5 We gratefully acknowledge Zirk van den Berg’s help in translating this technical term, confirmed by Philip Willem-
se: often referred to as a ‘platluns’ or bent linchpin, it prevented the wagon wheel from sliding off its axle. An object
corresponding to it is seen on the right of Coetzer’s revised sketch in front of the anvil.

6 ‘Die uittog uit die kolonie. Die woonhuis moet duideliker aangedui word; die landerye moet met blokkies aangedui
word sodat mens kan begryp waarvoor dit staan; by die woonhuis moet 'n boord aangedui word; die Engelsman moet
die Boer met klinkende munt betaal; die tweede vandisie-afslaer [sic] moet uitgehaal word, en ’n afskeidstoneel van
’n Boer met 'n sweep oor die skouer wat sy vriend *n handdruk gee, moet dit vervang; 'n vrou moet bedroef omdraai;
op die tafel moet boeke o.a. ’n Statebybel, en ’n psalmboek en die wetboek van v.d. Linde vertoon word; dis vuursteen-
gewere; die man by die wa moet 'n riempiematrasbank op die wa laai; onder die gereedskap moet daar 'n buspen,
swaaihaak, treksaag, draaiboor en aambeeld vertoon word; die kis se beslag sowel as die wakis se skarniere moet
duidelik sighaar wees; die pot moet n plat broodpot wees’ (Historiese Komitee 4.9.1937: 4a).

7 The monochrome oil painting of this scene (B3), today in the Voortrekker Monument Museum, corresponds in the
left side of its composition to this second version of Departure, but is modified on the right to include a gesturing
woman with a child and a Voortrekker with a wagon wheel.

8 Coetzer 1947, 28-29.
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Figure 1.5: B2b. Peter Kirchhoff. Departure. 1942-43. Plaster, 77.2 x 125 x 8.2 cm; 76.5 x 125 x 7.5 cm. Maquettes (courtesy of VTM Museum
VTM 2184/1-28; photo Russell Scott)

Figure 1.6: B2a. Peter Kirchhoff. Vendusie. 1942-43. Plaster, 78 x 89.7 x 8.2 cm. Rejected maquette with detail of fig. 1.3 on which it was
based (courtesy of VTM Museum VTM 2184 /1-28; photo Russell Scott)
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Figure 1.7: C2a. Departure. 1943. Clay. Full-scale relief (courtesy of HF Archives F 39.10.7 k, detail of fig. 1.8; photo Alan Yates)

The major shift to the final depiction of the departure of the Voortrekkers happened when Peter
Kirchhoff started to change Coetzer’s drawings. While no sketches by Kirchhoff survive, his com-
position for Departure appears in his maquettes (fig. 1.5), made as two clay reliefs for the left- and
right-hand sections, then replicated in plaster. Their comparison with Coetzer’s designs reveals
how substantially the narrative shifted, from the dynamics of the lively hustle and bustle in the
drawing to an ordered representation in the relief sculpture. The most obvious change was in the
omission of the iconic Cape Dutch gabled farmhouse and the more developed rectangular fields
and orchard in the background, requested by the committee, as well as the Englishman who makes
a purchase from a Boer (figs 1.2, 1.3). They had served to show the prosperity that the Voortrek-
kers were willing to forgo in seeking their ideal.® The scene of the purchase was developed as an
independent maquette (fig. 1.6), however, with an auctioneer beyond as in Coetzer’s first sketch;
referred to as ‘Vendusie’ (auction), it was initially planned to continue the theme of the Voortrek-
ker exodus on the short wall next to the longer Departure relief on the north wall. After it was cast
into plaster in 1942, it was set up in this position along with the other maquettes in Harmony Hall,
probably early in the new year, as can be seen to the left of the big clay panel of Departure in a 1943
photograph (fig. 1.8). But in the course of the rearrangement of the panel topics on the Monument’s
east wall, ‘Vendusie’ was finally rejected.’® This also led to the loss of the African woman with a
baby on her back depicted on the far left, the only depiction of a black female servant in the known
early designs. A man in a pointed hat, perhaps a Cape Malay, had already been abandoned in the
madquette.

In general the clay maquettes of Departure retained most of the basic pictorial elements of the
major part of Coetzer’s sketch — people, ox wagons, livestock, goods and landscape. Yet while the
broad treatment of the topic was much the same, Kirchhoff simplified it, particularly in reducing
the objects and ‘still life’ groups in the foreground. He brought the figures, the animals and the
wagons forward, making them larger in scale in relation to the overall proportions of the scene,
and arranging them more formally in a way better suited to relief sculpture than Coetzer’s more
pictorial rendering. In creating a unified composition that unfolds in a sedate manner parallel to
the picture plane, Kirchhoff endowed the scene with greater dignity.

9 Cloete (1899, 87) records that the ‘beginning of the year 1836 was marked by all the farms of those intending emi-
grants getting into the market. They were readily bought up by numerous speculators at Graham’s Town, Somerset,
and adjoining places for ridiculously low prices ...”; see also Thom 1947, 80-83.

10 Letter from Peter Kirchhoff to SVK chair, 27.9.1946; see Part I, Chapter 3 (‘Harmony Hall’). Changes to the frieze
layout took place in and after 1943, judging by a photograph of Harmony Hall (fig. 1.8), incorrectly dated 1942 in Part I
(p.176 fig. 114).
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Figure 1.8: Interior of Harmony Hall, Pretoria. Sculptors at work on Departure, 1943 (courtesy of HF Archives
F 39.10.7 k; photo Alan Yates)

Figure 1.9: C2b. Departure. 1943. Clay. Revised full-scale clay relief (courtesy of Kirchhoff files; photo Alan Yates)
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While the main features of the maquette were retained, this quality evolved even more strongly
when Kirchhoff, with the other three sculptors, created the full-scale clay panel (fig. 1.7). The work
in progress is recorded in a few photographs with the sculptors posing in front of or busy modelling
the panel, the only records of the full scene of the sculptors’ workshop in Harmony Hall (fig. 1.8),
invaluable for understanding the process of production. As discussed in Part I,*! it was probably no
coincidence that Kirchhoff’s big clay panel was tackled first: apart from its being first in the narra-
tive sequence, it must have acted as a prototype to test the technical and artistic challenges linked
to such an ambitious project. This panel also had the advantage of being a single unified scene, so
that there were no difficulties to be resolved in terms of the relationship to adjacent scenes. None-
theless, transforming a maquette to the final scale was a task which required specialised skill and
practice. As the first completed big clay panel of the frieze, Departure must be the one mentioned in
the SVK minutes of September 1943: ‘One panel is completely finished and another nearly ready.’*?

The surviving photographs of the large clay panel provide interesting evidence of modifications
being made as the sculptors worked on it. In the photographs of work in progress, Spandaukop on
the left has a single outcrop at its summit (fig. 1.7), corresponding to the depiction in Coetzer’s
drawing and the maquette. But in the photograph of the completed clay panel, a double-headed
image of the mountain is shown, an even more distinctive profile seen from a different viewpoint
in the landscape near Graaff-Reinet (fig. 1.9). We can only guess who might have brought this to the
sculptors’ attention, but it suggests the ongoing input from committee members during the produc-
tion of the frieze. It is the form that was carried through to the marble relief. The final marble relief
differs from the full-scale clay only in details, such as the slightly changed position of the horse’s
lifted foreleg, the now full swing of the whip in the background, and the subtly modified stances,
poses and movements of people and livestock, small refinements that add to the formality of the
scene. Like other scenes which did not arrive in time, Departure’s two marble panels were installed
only after the inauguration of the Monument on 16 December 1849, discussed in Part .3

11 Chapter 3 (‘The full-scale frieze’).
12 ‘Een paneel is heeltemal klaar, en 'n volgende is byna gereed’ (30.9.1843: 6).
13 Chapter 3 (‘Homecoming’). That the scene was missing can be seen in fig. 216 in Part I.
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Figure 1.10a: Routes of treks in the Western Cape. 1835-37 (courtesy of Visagie 2014, foldout opp. p.22)

Figure 1.10b: Routes of treks in the Eastern Cape. 1835-37 (courtesy of Visagie 2014, foldout opp. p.16)
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Reading the narrative

In picturing the area around Graaff-Reinet together with the Tarka district, this scene condenses
the wider territory of the Eastern and Western Cape from where the treks started to the north
(figs 1.10 a—c).** As such a diversity of places, people and actions cannot be presented straight-
forwardly in a relief sculpture, the narrative has been transformed into a model of departure char-
acterised by both anecdotal and symbolic representation. Although unified, no single Trek is rep-
resented here. The scene is populated by generic Voortrekkers rather than depictions of one or
other Trek leader and his followers. As would be the case with the huge unknown Voortrekker on
the fourth corner of the Monument, which stood for the Boers in general and leaders who were not
celebrated in the other colossi of Retief, Potgieter and Pretorius, this scene serves to encompass the
achievements of all. It forms the prolegomena to the more specific stories recounted in many of the
succeeding panels of the frieze.

The demand for historical accuracy, emphasised throughout the SVK minutes, and later reit-
erated in the Official Guide, was met by painstaking depictions of a panoply of Voortrekker dress,
weapons, animals, goods and ox wagons, as well as specific landscapes, to which the subject lent
itself perfectly.” The items were portrayed in accord with historical records and artefacts. The ‘kake-
beenwa’, as the ox wagon was known, which had been reconstructed for the re-enactment of the
Trek in the centenary celebrations of 1938 and which was to appear in so many of the scenes of the
frieze, was depicted accurately with its smaller front and larger back wheels, for example, and the
correct number of spokes (fig. 1.11). In his later account of the frieze, Hennie Potgieter comments on
the sculptors’ careful research, and rebuts any questioning of the veracity of the frieze, clarifying
that the items in Departure were indeed available to the Voortrekkers, such as the accordion dating
from 1813 and merino sheep first imported in 1785 (fig. 1.12).%® Yet, in contrast to real life, all are
shown in a strictly uniform and pristine state. Similarly, the individual Voortrekkers are depicted
more like flawless stereotypes than personal portrayals, even though we know that all the main
figures are portraits, as recorded by Potgieter in diagrams of the scenes in his 1987 publication
(fig. 1.13).”” Some faces may appear older, like the first Voortrekker on the left and the shepherdess
to his right, but they seem devoid of emotion and the distinctive features of their actual sitters.
This is evident when we compare contemporary portraits of the three sculptors Peter Kirchhoff,
Frikkie Kruger and Hennie Potgieter with the faces of the figures they modelled for, all in the fore-
ground — the standing man, the rider and the man tying a bundle respectively (fig. 1.14). On a micro-
historical level there are also personal stories attached to the choice and position of the sitters for
this and other scenes of the frieze.'® Here the first three prominent figures on the left of the frieze
portray exclusively members of the Kirchhoff family: the sculptor, his wife and his daughter. It is
tempting to ask if this was intended not only to increase the status of Kirchhoff as the sculptor
primus inter pares and designer of this scene, but also to allude to his family’s departure from
Germany, as they all emigrated to South Africa to settle in the hinterland that had been won by the
Voortrekkers in the nineteenth century.*®

14 For causes and departures of the treks, see Cloete 1899, 75—-88; Walker 1934, 59-105; Du Toit and Giliomee 1983,
195-217; Etherington 2001, 243-250; Giliomee 2003, 144-162. Visagie (2014, foldout maps opp. pp.16 and 22) provides
an excellent compilation of the different departure locations and the individual trek routes, while Smail’s (1968)
survey is more in line with nationalistic Afrikaner concepts.

15 As claimed, for example, in Official Guide 1955, 41, 45; Potgieter 1987, 46.

16 Potgieter 1987, 10, 46. It was timely that Van Rooyen (1938 and 1940) provided a detailed study of the historical
inventory of the Great Trek in his two-volume Kultuurskatte uit die Voortrekker-tydperk (Cultural treasures from the
Voortrekker period), which may have been available to the sculptors.

17 See Part I, Chapter 3 (‘Models and portraits’).

18 Ibid. also for the notable absence of the fourth sculptor, Laurika Postma.

19 Kirchhoff 2016, 6-14.
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Figure 1.10c: Routes of the main treks. 1835-38 (the authors; drawing Janet Alexander)
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Figure 1.11: Voortrekker wagon and detail of linchpin: Afrikaans ‘platluns’ or ‘buspen’
(https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/c/ca/A_aesthetic_linchpin.)PG)

Figure 1.12: Sheep and artefacts, including guitar and accordion, in Departure. Marble, detail of fig. 1.1
(photo Russell Scott)

Anecdotal yet symbolic are the actions of the Voortrekkers, who are caught in transition, both
about to depart and simultaneously still preparing to leave (fig. 1.9). Reading from left to right in cus-
tomary western fashion, their calm coming and going is marked by three spatial and iconographic
juxtapositions: first, in the foreground, the passivity of the standing Voortrekker with his muzzle-
loader and powder horn contrasts with the ushering shepherdess and the Voortrekker on his horse,
who are ready to depart, although they too are remarkably static; second, in the lower foreground
at opposite ends of the relief, the two figures busy packing, the woman quietly immersed, but
the man vigorously occupied; third, in the background, two Voortrekkers still loading the second
ox wagon whereas the first is ready to start. This measured back and forth between packing and
leaving, inertia and action, is given a further edge by the two motionless ‘still life’ groups of Voor-
trekker possessions, one staged on the table behind the kneeling female, the other on the ground
in front of the male tying a bundle. Another point of subtle dynamics is the relation of the figures to
the picture plane. None of them is purely frontal: three are in motionless profile (the woman seated
on the ox wagon, the man next to her, and the rider), whereas most of the others are shown in
three-quarter view, which suggests a transitory position and the potential for movement in space.
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1 The sculptor’s daughter Vera Kirchhoff

2 Mrs [Margarethe] Kirchhoff [neé Bose, sculptor’s wife]

3 Coenie Roedolf, student at Pretoria Teachers’ Training College and poet
4 Sculptor Frikkie Kruger

5 Sculptor Hennie Potgieter

6 Sculptor Peter Kirchhoff

Figure 1.13: Models for portraits (Potgieter 1987, 11)

Peter Kirchhoff Frikkie Kruger Hennie Potgieter

Figure 1.14: Photographs and carved portraits of the sculptors in Departure
(photos top left to right courtesy of Kirchhoff files; HF Archives F 39.10.8 k, detail;
UP Archives, undated Dagbreek Spesiale Monument Uitgawe 1949. Bottom row:
photos Russell Scott)
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Yet all are contained by the dominant form of the procession which runs parallel to the picture
plane across the full width of the relief from left to right. People and animals aim generally in the
same direction - as did the actual treks which moved from south to north. This implies a strong
unity and potently proclaims the ideology of a unified Great Trek. This is endorsed by the gloss for
the first topic in the undated ‘Panele’ list from the mid-1930s, discussed in Part I,*° which added
that the departure was to be characterised by ‘determination’ (vasberadenheid). This first scene of
the frieze sets the standard for the narrative that follows in showing a well-ordered exodus of white
people: no haphazard individual ventures, but a unified purposeful event. The subtle dynamics
of the interplay between packing and being ready to leave do little to disrupt an overall sense of
a static, tableau-like presentation. For Moerdyk the relief ‘is filled with a serene calm’.* It is an
intended effect which the composition further endorses. Instead of a focal point around which the
narrative is developed, it is spread out with a deliberate evenness, compatible with the coherent
surface of the relief. The individual departures are turned into orchestrated conduct, a world apart
from the confusion typical of such events. The romanticised narrative of a rich and ordered Voor-
trekker civilisation also signals the substantial loss that their departure had caused for the British
colony in almost all areas of life, in the economy, in the administration, and in the protection of
outlying regions.

Here, right at the beginning of the frieze, crucial values of the Afrikaner nation were given a
distinct shape, such as the importance of both sexes, model behaviour, immaculate dress, control
of livestock, invincible arms, untarnished chattels and ox wagons providing home, defence and
transport in one. All endorsed the ideological Afrikaner parameters to which three of the four
sculptors had been exposed since childhood. But no ideology is free from inconsistency. Illumi-
nating here is how Hennie Potgieter later justified the depiction of the guitar (fig. 1.12), which some
Afrikaners regarded as an instrument played only by ‘coloured’ people:

Then there was the objection that the guitar was a ‘Hotnots-instrument’, but at the farewell party
for Andries Pretorius a coloured band performed and at Bloukrans and Weenen several hundred
coloured servants were murdered along with the whites. If they accompanied the Trekkers then it is
logical that their possessions were also on the wagons. Thus the guitar had a right to be depicted at
the determined place in the Monument.??

However, only a mere object — and one of colonial origin — alluded to the presence of coloured serv-
ants. In arguing for the irrefutable accuracy of the detail, Potgieter unintentionally reveals a funda-
mental flaw in the representation — that this panel, and indeed almost the entire frieze, ignores the
estimated six thousand coloured or black servants who accompanied the Voortrekkers.??

20 Chapter 2 (‘Topics for the Great Trek’).

21 Official Guide 1955, 41.

22 ‘Toe kom die beswaar dat die kitaar *n “Hotsnots-instrument” is, maar op Andries Pretorius se afskeidsfunksie het
’n Kleurlingorkes opgetree, en by Bloukrans en Wenen is etlike honderde Kleurlingbediendes saam met die Blankes
vermoor. As hulle saam met die Trekkers was, dan was dit tog immers logies dat hul besittings ook op die waens was.
Dus die kitaar het 'n reg om op die bepaalde plek in die Monument uitgebeeld te wees’ (Potgieter 1987, 46).

23 For the number of ‘werksmense’ (labourers), see Visagie 2011, 14.
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East wall, north-east projection (panel 3/31) 0
h.23xw.24m
Sculptor of clay maquette: Hennie Potgieter

23

22
STAGES OF PRODUCTION H

A1 W.H. Coetzer, pencil drawing, retained only in A2 (April-June 1937)

A2 Reproduction of A1 (June 1937)

A3 W.H. Coetzer, revised pencil drawing Al, h. 13.3 x w. 15.3 cm
(after September 1937) H
Annotation: ‘Oorhandiging van Bybel aan Uys’ 19
(Handing over of Bible to Uys)

21

20

B1
B2
C1
C2

C3

D

One-third-scale clay maquette, not extant but replicated in B2 (1942-43) 4

One-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 79 x w. 76 x d. 10.4 cm (1942-43)
Full-scale wooden armature, not extant (1943-46)

Full-scale clay relief, not extant but recorded in photograph; replicated
in C3 (1943-46)

Full-scale plaster relief (1943-46), not extant but copied in D

(late 1947-49)

Marble as installed in the Monument (1949)

EARLY RECORDS

SVK minutes (4.9.1937) — item 4b (see below, ‘Developing the design’)

Wenke (c. 1934-36) — item VI. SEN. F.S. MALAN, 3 ‘Tweede toneel: Aanbieding van Bybel te Grahamstad aan
Voortrekker Uys’ (Second scene: Presentation of Bible at Grahamstown to Voortrekker Uys)

Moerdyk Layout (5.10.1936-15.1.1937) — scene 2 on panel 5/31 ‘Bybel en Uys’ (Bible and Uys)

Jansen Memorandum (19.1.1937) — item 7.2 ‘The English inhabitants presenting Uys with a Bible before his
departure’

3 Open Access. © 2020 Elizabeth Rankin and Rolf Michael Schneider, published by De Gruyter and African Minds.
This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110668797-007
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Figure 2.1: D. Presentation. 1949. Marble, 2.3 x 2.42 m (courtesy of VTM; photo Russell Scott)
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Description

Two parties face each other, a male and female on the left, doubled on the right, on either side of a
small table covered with a cloth like an altar (fig. 2.1). The group is united by the decorum of their
dress and stance, although they differ slightly in pose, costume and hairstyle. The focus is on the
two men at the table, facing each other and dressed in formal tailcoats. The man on the left holds
out a large volume, its leather binding and decorative metal corners and clasps distinguishing it
as a Bible. The balding older man on the right reaches out to receive it. Standing in a key position
almost in the centre of the relief, this patriarchal figure seems to be one of the Trek leaders absent
in the more general gathering of Departure, and indeed is identified as the elderly Jacobus Uys.
Despite his not wearing a short Boer jacket, we realise that he is a Boer chiefly by his distinctive
beard, long but trimmed to grow beneath his chin. The nationality of the giver is British, charac-
terised by his clean-shaven face and wig-like coiffure. Behind him, a woman, perhaps his wife and
presumably also British, observes the scene passively. While she wears a standard bonnet with a
stiff brim, the older woman behind Uys wears a richly embroidered Voortrekker kappie with its
deep, softer brim that shades the face. We can see that she is married from the wedding ring visible
on her hand.

The national identity of the two figures on the far right is less certain, but their close grouping
with the identifiably Voortrekker figures suggests that they too are Boers. The rather conventional
beard of the man at the rear may mark him as Boer, but he wears a frock coat and, like the British
man, a bowtie. The same uncertainty applies to the seated elderly woman, dressed in a formal
hat, gloves and shoulder cape, as though ready for church, also suggested by the small book she
holds, an intimate echo of the presentation Bible. Her clothes indicate status rather than nation-
ality, but her position, seated on a small cushion on a wooden trunk with a handle for lifting,
suggests that she is about to travel, and hence a Voortrekker. Her old, intensely wrinkled face is
the most sensitively rendered portrait in the frieze, and reminds the viewer that all members of the
Boer community, old as well as young, took part in the Trek.

We know that the ceremonial handover of the Bible took place at Grahamstown (then Graham’s
Town), but the setting for the presentation is left ambiguous.?* The draped table suggests an inte-
rior, yet this does not accord with the presence of a Voortrekker wagon in the background. However,
there are no other indications of the out of doors, and the unnaturally flat outline and position
parallel to the picture plane make the wagon look like part of a stage set, and reinforce the tableau
effect of the composition. If the first scene made a formal occasion of the disarray of departure, the
sense of decorum and order is even more pronounced here.

24 For Grahamstown, see Sellick 1904; Oberholster 1972, 138-146 (opp. p.154 a painting of the settlement in 1823 by
an unknown artist); Butler 1974; O’Meara 1995; Marshall 2008; Raper, Moller and Du Plessis 2014, 163.
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GRN ety e Tl
Figure 2.2: A2. W.H. Coetzer. Reproduction of first sketch Figure 2.3: A3. W.H. Coetzer. ‘Oorhandiging van Bybel aan Uys’.
for Presentation. June 1937 (courtesy of ARCA PV94 1/75/5/1; After September 1937. Pencil, 13.3 x 15.3 cm. Revised first sketch
photo the authors) (photo courtesy of Museum Africa, no. 66/2194F)

Figure 2.4: ). Juta. Settlers presenting a Bible to Jacobus Uys. 1938. Oil on canvas, c. 3.35 x 9.14 m. Pretoria City Hall (courtesy of City
of Tshwane; photo Helenus Kruger)



Developing the design = 31

Developing the design

Comparison with the two versions of Coetzer’s drawing, the reproduction (fig. 2.2) and the revised
sketch (fig. 2.3), makes it obvious how substantially the narrative shifted from paper to clay and
marble. He portrayed a historically more plausible and less formal handover of the Bible, given
to the Voortrekker patriarch Jacobus Uys by the representative of the English-speaking townsfolk
when they called on the Voortrekkers while they ‘outspanned’ in the vicinity of Grahamstown,
early in their long journey. This gives way to a strictly ceremonial image set up on an invented
stage, frozen in relief. But let us first consider the alterations demanded by the Historiese Komitee
on 4 September 1937:

Uys receives the Bible. The English under Thompson came on horses; there were women in riding
costume; there were no children with the English; show also horses; the boers’ clothing is too poor;
the partiarch Uys (80 years) must be more worthy.*

In his revised drawing (fig. 2.3), Coetzer responded to the details of the SVK critique, drawn from
anecdotes and oral history, but paid less attention to aspects that set the tone of the scene and
characters. He removed the settlers’ children as required, eliminated the baby of the couple to the
left and the girl in the centre, and moved the man next to her to the left in her place; traces of his
original legs can still be seen. The tree and hills in the background of the first sketch give way to the
requested horses. There are now two wagons, not just one, and, on the side of Jacobus Uys, there
is an additional Voortrekker. But Coetzer ignored the injunction that the Voortrekkers’ clothing
should be less poor and that partiarch Uys should be portrayed more worthily.

Both features, however, are present in the colossal oil on canvas mural painted by Jan Juta in
1938 for the Council Chamber of Pretoria’s new City Hall (fig. 2.4). Juta designed a landscape with
Uys as a towering patriarch in the centre, dwarfing the British settler in a tailcoat who presents
the Bible to him.?® The ceremony is witnessed by a Voortrekker family on the left and two male
settlers on the right. Like Coetzer, Juta chose a rural setting with wagons. But his wide landscape
format provided room for labouring Boer figures and two flanking groups that might be interpreted
as symbolising key factors in (Voortrekker) conquest: military prowess and procreation. The first
is suggested by an armed group of Boers, with a woman attending a wounded man on the right.
Procreation, on the other hand, is represented by an English mother with an infant on the left,
although an 1820 settler rather than a trekker woman, identified by her dress and a distant scene of
the settlers’ landing at Algoa Bay. At a time when the fusion politics of Hertzog and Smuts’ United
Party was fostering a closer relationship between English- and Afrikaans-speaking South Africans,
she stands for the importance of women, both British and Boer, in the growth of the nation. Black
women, however, have only a marginal role, seen in the shadowy individual with a calabash on her
head behind the maternal figure.?”

25 ‘Uys ontvang die Bybel. Die Englese onder Thompson het te perd gekom; daar was dames by in rykostuum; daar
was geen kinders by the Engelse nie; wys ook perde; die boere se kleredrag is te armoedig; die patriarg Uys (80 jr.)
moet baie waardiger wees’ (Historiese Komitee 4.9.1937: 4b). Born in 1770/71, Uys was in fact sixty-six or sixty-seven
years old: the advanced age claimed suggests a patriarch of biblical proportions.

26 A reporter in a Rand Daily Mail article remarked that this Bible was at the time kept in Pretoria’s ‘Transvaal Muse-
um, the building immediately facing the City Hall in which the [Juta] mural will be placed’ (Freschi 2006, 103 n 13; the
article is without date, but the context suggests that it was published in late 1936).

27 See ibid., 102-106 figs 59—-63.




Figure 2.5: B2.
Hennie Potgieter.
Presentation.
1942-43. Plaster,
79 x 76 x 10.4 cm.
Maquette (courtesy
of VTM Museum
VTM 2184/1-28;
photo Russell Scott)

Figure 2.6: C2.
Presentation. 1943—
46. Clay. Full-scale
relief (courtesy

of UCT Thompson
A4.123-39; photo
Alan Yates)
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The same topic had been intended as the final oil panel in Juta’s historical cycle in South Africa
House, London, inaugurated in 1933. Charles Theodore Te Water, South African high commissioner
from 1929 to 1939, stated the following year that it would celebrate

that the English Settlers presented to the patriarch Jacobus Uys and his Voortrekkers ... a Bible as
a token of their admiration for the religious qualities of the Boers, and as an appreciation of their
kindness and hospitality to the 1820 Settlers in those times of trial and need.?®

Although this scene never materialised, the early date of this painting suggests that a sketch of
its design could have been known to Coetzer. In contrast to the expansive nature of Pretoria’s City
Hall mural, Te Water’s description suggests that Juta’s London mural would have focused on the
‘religious qualities’ and ‘racial friendliness between the English and the Dutch races in South
Africa’,” an emphasis close to the scene commissioned by the SVK and developed by Coetzer and
the sculptors for the Voortrekker Monument.

Superficially, the small plaster maquette for the frieze seems to follow Coetzer’s drawing, but
upon closer inspection significant changes are evident (fig. 2.5). Now the Voortrekkers are better
dressed, although the cropped trouser legs of the Boer men are more homely than the English-
man’s. The participants, distributed more pointedly into two groups facing each other, are made
more emphatically part of the handover of the Bible. The act is also more articulated as both the
Englishman and Jacobus Uys look down at the Bible. The focus on the ceremony is further empha-
sised by Potgieter following the first Coetzer sketch that omitted horses and had a single wagon,
now more formally arranged (fig. 2.3). Yet there are also contrary tendencies. The Bible is consid-
erably smaller, the women wear no hats and the bald old Voortrekker seated conspiciously in the
right foreground diverts attention from the presentation, as does the female spectator that appears
between the Englishman and Uys. We also note the inclusion of a little girl, contrary to the commit-
tee’s exclusion of children.

The shift between the maquette and the final relief compositions, achieved when Potgieter and
the other sculptors started to work on the full-size clay model (fig. 2.6), is very pronounced. Curi-
ously, the final treatment inverts Coetzer’s response to the advice of the committee: it eschews the
anecdotal detail which he corrected, but invests the scene with the sense of worthiness required
by the committee. One wonders whether the sculptors had access to the minutes of the Historiese
Komitee of 4.9.1937; Moerdyk would certainly have done so. Whether this was the case or not, what
becomes clear in this panel is that the desire to dignify the events related to the Voortrekkers was a
key driver in the conceptualisation of the frieze. When the SVK met on 15 and 16 January 1942, it was
noted that that members of the SVK would visit Harmony Hall during the process of production, in
ample time to allow for suggestions for changes, and no doubt the desire to present the Voortrek-
kers in a decorous way had not diminished over time. The static quality of the figures adds to the
formality, particularly that of the two on the right whose bodies are presented frontally although
their heads are turned towards the presentation, which adds to the tableau effect and the planar
nature of the relief, and endows the event with a sense of gravitas and profound significance.

28 Te Water 1934, 263; see Freschi 2006, 103-104.
29 Te Water 1934, 263.
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Figure 2.7: Eastern Cape treks including the Uys trek beginning in Uitenhage, north-west of Port Elizabeth (courtesy of Visagie 2014, foldout
opp. p.16)
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Reading the narrative

It was in April 1837 that the trekker party, led by Petrus Lafras (Piet) Uys (1797-1838),3° the second
son of the family’s patriarch Jacobus Johannes Uys (1770/71-1838),3' abandoned their homes in the
rural area around Uitenhage. On 20 April 1837, ‘a party of 23 wagons and upwards of a hundred
souls ...”>? on their way to the far north reached Grahamstown, a fledgling British settlement situ-
ated roughly one hundred and thirty kilometres north-east of Uitenhage (fig. 2.7). After their arrival
the Boers camped on the northern ‘flats above the town, near where the Cradock road passes’.*®
According to the Boer-friendly Graham’s Town Journal of 27 April 1837, a Bible

was taken out to the encampment by a deputation of gentlemen, accompanied by about 100 inhab-
itants of Graham’s Town, who were received with much respect by the assembled farmers and their
families, drawn up in line in front of their wagons.*

In the Official Programme published in 1949 for the Monument’s inauguration, we are told that the
portrait of the English presenter of the Bible on the frieze, ‘was obtained from his great-grandson,
Mr. Justice C. Newton Thompson, and the representation of this historic personality is therefore
completely true to life’.>® Hennie Potgieter confirms the source in his diagram of the models used
for the scene (fig. 2.8). He states that W.R. Thompson, who presents the Bible to Uys, was portrayed
‘after an old painting’ (fig. 2.9),%¢ while he identifies the live model for Jacobus Uys as Mr Louis van
Bergen (fig. 2.10). And indeed characteristics such as the hairstyle, the coiffured sideburns and a
few age markers are taken from the ‘old painting’ for the frieze portrait of the Englishman, though
it is thoroughly idealised (fig. 2.11).3” However, Thelma Gutsche clarified on 3 November 1966 in her
‘Aide Memoire: Mrs Newton Thompson — Portrait of W.R. Thompson’:

The ‘portrait’ of W.R. Thompson hanging in the Council Chamber of the first floor of the Graham’s
Town City Hall is in fact a dim enlargement of a photograph which has been heavily over-lined with
a charcoal pencil to compensate for its faded appearance. A mount of oval shape has been super-
imposed upon it and the charcoal touching-up was evidently done after the mounting as the pencil
strokes ended on the edge of the mount upon which has been inscribed post hoc — W.R. Thompson
Mayor 1837.

... [The photographer,] James Edward Burton ... operated ... at an address in Jetty Street, Port Eliza-
beth for the period 1848-1873 ...

This makes it likely that the photograph was taken between 1848 and 1871, the year of Thompson’s
death.

But there is much more at stake here than the quality of W.R. Thompson’s portrait: the iden-
tity of the Englishman is in question. When we want to know which Grahamstown notable pre-
sented the Bible to the trekker patriarch, Jacobus Uys, we find conflicting identifications: either
William Rowland Thompson (1797-1871) or Thomas Philipps (1776-1859).> The different claims
require closer inspection as they show how the assertion of the historical accuracy of the frieze —

30 Visagie 2011, 504-505. For his death at Italeni, see Dirkie Uys.

31 Ibid., 503. For the Uys family, see Uys 1976; Uys 1988, 33-34.

32 Newton Thompson 1966, 143-144, quoting the Graham’s Town Journal, 20 April 1837.

33 Cory, South Africa 3, 1919, 401.

34 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 93-94; Harington 1973, 65.

35 Official Programme 1949, 49.

36 Newton Thompson 1966, fig. after p.164.

37 If Thompson had been the presenter of the Bible, he would have been forty years old at the time.

38 UCT Thompson A4.219.

39 DSAB 2, 1972, 542543 (T. Philipps), 746-747 (W.R. Thompson). For the latter, see also UCT Thompson.
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1 Izak Meyer Potgieter, father of the sculptor
2 Catharina Helena Potgieter, mother of the sculptor

3 Oumatjie Stoffberg, ‘volksmoeder’ and widow of senator Stoffberg [affectionately referred to here as
‘oumatjie’, little grandmother]

4 Oom Louis van Bergen for Jacobus Uys, owner of a liquor store in Pretoria [‘Oom’, meaning uncle, does not
necessarily signal a blood relationship, but is a genial yet respectful title for an older man, as ‘tannie’ (aunt)
is for a woman]

5 Martso Terblanche, student at Pretoria Teachers’ Training College [married name Strydom]

6 After a photograph of an old painting of the mayor of Grahamstown, [W.R.] Newton Thompson [obtained
from his great-grandson, Justice Cyril Newton Thompson]

Figure 2.8: Models for portraits (Potgieter 1987, 12)

incessantly intoned by SVK members, Moerdyk and the sculptors — was handled in practice and
modified when appropriate for Afrikaner agendas.

As with many other newspapers of the time, The Cape Argus (8.7.1938) stated that it was W.R.
Thompson who presented the Bible to Uys. In the article ‘The Hon. Mr. Justice C. Newton Thomp-
sor’, published in The South African Law Journal in 1946,%° it was still claimed that

William Rowland Thompson, the great-grandfather of [Cyril] Newton Thompson, presented a Bible
on behalf of the citizens of Graham’s Town to Jacobus Uys and his party of Voortrekkers when they
were on their way to the north. In 1938, at the invitation of the head committee of management of
the great Symbolic Trek, Newton Thompson, on behalf of the Thompson family, presented another
Bible to the leader of the Trek [Henning J. Klopper] at the historic send-off at the foot of Adderley
Street, Cape Town.*!

The same Thompson had been mentioned as the presenter when Coetzer’s drawings were criti-
cised by the Historiese Komitee on 4 September 1937. The story is fleshed out in the substantial
memorial book published for the centenary that was celebrated on site on 16 December 1938.

40 Newton Thompson 1946, 1.

41 This seems to be the ‘Klopper-Bybel’, a State Bible, which the Cape Town trek leader Henning J. Klopper (a foun-
der of the nationalistic Afrikaner Broederbond) presented to the SVK to be, together with the other items, placed
behind the Monument’s foundation stone (Duvenage, Gedenktrek 1988, 202-203; Heunis 2008, 186 s.v. Pretoria). In
an undated inventory of these items in the Jansen archive at Bloemfontein, this Bible is referenced as ‘State Bybel,
1729’ (ARCA, Jansen EG PV94 1/75/1/9, numbered ‘.22’ in pencil at the upper right corner). For further (State) Bibles
presented on that occasion, see Mostert 1940, 113-114.

42 Du Toit and Steenkamp 1938, 44-45. This error was repeated and compounded as late as 2008, when Richard
Marshall (2008, 33) recorded that W.R. Thompson was an influential merchant of Grahamstown, who ‘presented a
bible to the departing Dirk Uys [sic]’, though it was in fact presented to Jacobus Uys. Dirk Uys could only have referred
to either the fourth son of Jacobus Uys (born 1814; Visagie 2011, 502) or Piet Uys’ second son (born 1823; ibid., 503).
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Figure 2.9: Undated portrait of
W.R. Thompson (Newton
Thompson 1966, after p.164)

Figure 2.10: Mr Louis van Bergen, model for Figure 2.11: ‘Thompson’ handing Bible to Uys in Presentation.
Jacobus Uys (Van der Walt 1974, 81) Full-scale clay relief, detail of fig. 2.6 (photo Alan Yates)

That book mentions the Graham’s Town Journal and even includes verbal quotes from both W.R.
Thompson and Jacobus Uys, but does not provide a clear reference. A further layer to the story
was added by the Official Programme published in 1949 for the Monument’s inauguration, when
W.R. Thompson is identified not only as the presenter, his likeness taken from a portrait, but as
‘the Mayor of Grahamstown’.** This needs correction. In 1919 George Cory had explained that
in 1837 ‘seven commissioners were appointed [of whom W.R. Thompson is the first named] and

43 Official Programme 1949, 49.
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formed what may be called the first Town Council of Graham’s Town’,** so there was no mayoral
appointment. But more significant is the constant claim that he was the presenter of the Bible,
repeated by Cory himself:

Mr. W.R. Thompson made the presentation, saying that ever since the arrival of the British settlers,
seventeen years ago, there had always been the greatest cordiality between themselves and their
Dutch neighbours ... Thus in these days were British and Dutch united.*

At the Monument’s inauguration on 16 December 1949, this identification was reinforced when
Justice Cyril Newton Thompson, a great-grandson of W.R. Thompson,*® who had previously pre-
sented a Bible to Henning Klopper at the outset of the 1938 ossewatrek, was chosen as one of the
five key speakers at the Monument’s inauguration on 16 December 1949.*” According to The Cape
Argus of 24 December, which published an English translation of his Afrikaans address, he proudly
proclaimed that the scene in the Voortrekker frieze ‘portrays the presentation of the Bible by my
great grandfather to Jacobus Uys’.*® In 2001 Jackie Grobler invented another version in stating that
‘Judge C Newton Thompson ... was a descendant of the Justice of the Peace, Phillips [sic]’.*°

The wrongly claimed lineage of Cyril Newton Thompson from Thomas Philipps (1776-1859) is
presumably an attempt to reconcile a revised account replacing Thompson as Bible presenter with
Philipps. The incorrect citing of Thompson was found in publications for the centenary and inau-
guration and the first edition of the Official Guide in 1955, but had been corrected in later editions,
when Thomas Philipps, Justice of Peace in Grahamstown and first master of the Masonic Albany
Lodge, founded in 1828,%° is named as the person who presented the Bible to Jacobus Uys.>* Harald
Edward Hockly, referring to the contemporary report in the Graham’s Town Journal of 27 April 1837,
confirms this as the correct version of the event:

The climax to a most moving event was reached when, in an impressive silence charged with deep
emotion, the Bible was solemnly handed over to Jacobus Uys by the chosen leader of the settlers, the
popular and respected Thomas Philipps, J.P., an energetic and successful farmer at Glendour on the

44 Cory, South Africa 3, 1919, 426. Newton Thompson (1966, 146) adds that the seven commissioners were elected in
May 1837 and ‘Thompson topped the poll’, which made him ‘Chairman’.

45 Cory 1919, 402. Quoted, for example, in memory of this event in the centenary year, when the foundation stone of
the Voortrekker Monument was laid, by The Cape Argus 8.11.1938; see UCT Thompson ‘Newspaper clippings, 1938—
1950’.

46 Newton Thompson 1946, 1.

47 Official Guide 1970, 75. See Dagbreek, 30.10.1949 ‘Engelssprekende sal Afrikaanse rede by inwyding lewer’. His
speech is also cited in Botha 1952, 280-282.

48 The article’s headline reads: ‘Two sections of one nation? Stirring appeal to English and Afrikaner’; see UCT
Thompson ‘Newspaper clippings, 1938-1950’.

49 Grobler 2001, 72. The accessible records of Thomas Philipps’ family show no links to the Thompsons of Grahams-
town. For Philipps, see Hockly 1957, 37 and passim (after p.128: contemporary portrait); Keppel-Jones 1960 and DSAB
2,1972, 542-543.

50 Dru Drury 1928, 8-11; Cooper 1980, 96; see also Murder of Retief (appendix).

51 Official Guide, first edition 1955, 46: ‘The Mayor of Grahamstown, who undertook the presentation, was a fore-
father of Mr. Justice Newton Thompson, who spoke on behalf of the English-speaking South-Africans during the in-
auguration ceremony at the Voortrekker Monument in 1949. A photograph of the Mayor was obtained from Mr Justice
Thompson and used for the panel so that it can be accepted that the representation on the panel is a faithful one.’
Few of the later editions of the Guide are dated, which makes it difficult to pinpoint exactly when the correction was
made but, using the changeover to decimal coinage of 1961 as a guide, one can deduce that it was in the mid-1960s.
An English edition where the price is given in both shillings and cents (6/6; 65c), presumably soon after the change,
still has Thompson as the presenter, but undated English editions priced only in cents (65c) have corrected this to
Philipps, as has the edition which is dated 1969. Curiously, while the Afrikaans was also corrected (confirmed in an
edition dated 1972), the Afrikaans version dated 1976 (a compressed edition in a smaller font) still cites Thompson.
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coast. This public-spirited citizen, who had so frequently in the past acted as the settlers’ represent-
ative and spokesman on important public occasions, well deserved the signal honour of once again
playing the principal part at this historic function.>

The Graham’s Town Journal from 27 April 1837 resolves the apparent contradiction. Here we learn
that the Bible ‘was presented by Thos. Philipps, Esq., J.P.” but that the ‘address ... was read by Mr.
W.R. Thompson’.>®* Thompson stated in his address: ‘My good friends, ... I am deputed, together
with the gentlemen who accompany me, now to present it [the Bible] to you ..., which may have
contributed to the confusion, but the ceremonial handing over of the Bible to Jacobus Uys was done
by Philipps.>* The short address Philipps ‘had been asked to present was read on his behalf by
one citizen in English and another in Dutch, after which P.[hilipps] presented the Bible to Jacobus
Uys’.»

Both Thompson and Philipps, representatives of two prominent families of Grahamstown,
were later memorialised in these public functions by the Grahamstown Bible Monument, commis-
sioned by the local ‘Bible Monument Committee’ on 16 December 1957 and erected in the area of
the historical Voortrekker encampment.*® The monument, two stone walls in the form of an open
bible, each decorated by a bronze relief and an inscription (fig. 2.12), was unveiled by President
C.R. Swart on 17 December 1962, the day after the anniversary of the Battle of Blood River. The left
wall is reserved to represent the British — a settler and Thompson headed by Philipps with the
Bible; and the right one for the Boers — a trekker and a woman framing Jacobus Uys with his arms
open to receive the gift.”” The composition of the small bronze reliefs, made by the Eastern Cape
sculptor Ivan Graham Mitford-Barberton (1898-1974),%® is not unlike the Monument’s Presentation
of the Bible, no doubt too significant a forerunner to be ignored. The inauguration programme of
the Bible Monument confirms:

The presentation [of the Bible] was made by Thomas Philipps, assisted by W.R. Thompson who
made the speech ... The Bible Monument marks the spot where this presentation took place and will
ever remain as a memory of the spirit of good fellowship which characterised the two White races
in South Africa.®®

The Dutch Bible which Philipps presented in 1837 was ‘the most respectable and truly valuable
present which could be made to them [the departing Boers], a folio copy of the Sacred Scriptures
..., in massy Russian binding’ (fig. 2.13).%° It was printed in 1756 in Dordrecht by the well-known
Jacob and Hendrick Keur, ‘extra-illustrated with 252 Biblical scenes on 126 engraved plates’ and
based on the text the Dutch Reformed Church presented at the Synod of Dort in 1618/19.¢* ‘The cost

52 HocKkly (1957, 139-41, p.140, quote) is paraphrasing the Graham’s Town Journal, correct in substance but not word
for word. The original text of the Graham’s Town Journal, 27.4.1837, is reproduced by Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 92-95.

53 Ibid., 94. See also Newton Thompson 1966, 144 (with marginal divergences from the Journal’s original text); Butler
1974, 279-280; typed biography of ‘William Rowland Thompson. Frontier Merchant’ (UCT Thompson A1.1-A2.14, p.8).
54 Graham’s Town Journal, 27.4.1837 (Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 94); Newton Thompson 1966, 145.

55 DSAB1, 1968, 543.

56 UCT Thompson A4.179-A4.222; Muller 1978, 46 fig. 17.

57 The inscriptions, in English on the ‘British’ and Afrikaans on the ‘Boer’ wall, deserve further attention.

58 See Part I, Chapter 2 (‘Van Wouw and Moerdyk’).

59 UCT Thompson A4.179-A4.222.

60 Graham’s Town Journal, 27.4.1837 (Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 93).

61 Quotation from a detailed description of the 1756 edition (https://www.sotherans.co.uk/2080058). For Dordt and
South Africa, see Coertzen 2012. We owe to Etta Judson valuable information about this Bible which is presently kept
in the Voortrekker Monument Museum as a loan from the Ditsong National Museum of Cultural History (formerly
Transvaal Museum); she kindly permitted us to study and Russell Scott to photograph it.
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Figure 2.12: Ivan Mitford-Barberton. Bible Monument, Grahamstown. 1962. Bronze panels with English settlers presenting Bible
(left side of monument) to Voortrekkers (right side) (photos the authors)
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of this handsome volume was one hundred Rijks Dollars, which was raised by a subscription of
1/- [one shilling] each.’®* On the outside of the front cover is inscribed in Dutch in gold capital
letters: 3

The Gift
of the
inhabitants of Graham’s Town
and its neighbourhood to
Mr. Jacobus Uys
and his emigrating countrymen®*

Printed on the inside of the cover (on the flyleaf) is the following inscription in Dutch:

This Sacred Volume
Is presented to Mr. Jacobus Uys, and his expatriating Countrymen,
by the Inhabitants of Graham’s Town and its vicinity,
asa
farewell token of their esteem and heartfelt regret at their departure.
The anxiety which they have evinced
to endeavour to obtain a Minister of Religion,
and their strict observance of its ordinances,
are evident proofs, that in their wanderings in search of another land
they will be guided by the precepts contained in this Holy Book,
and steadfastly adhere to its solemn dictates — the stern decrees of
the Creator of the Universe,
The God of all Nations and Tribes!®

The gift of a richly illustrated Dordrecht Bible dedicated with Christian sympathy to the Voortrek-
kers by the British people of Grahamstown bears testimony to the social interaction between the
settlers and the emigrants. It is likely that the British settlers felt a particular empathy with the
Voortrekkers as they had themselves so recently been emigrants. Jacobus Johannes Uys, the recip-

ient of the Bible, was given the nickname ‘Koos Bybel’ in honour of ‘his deep religious convictions
’ 66

which he instilled into his family’,*® which may explain why the Bible itself, today on display in the
Voortrekker Monument Museum, came to be known as the Koos Bybel.

Looking again at the panel at the Monument, the weighty solemnity of the representation in
marble is increased by the fact that the participants are portrayed formally in town dress as though

62 Newton Thompson (1966, 144), who quotes further from the Graham’s Town Journal, 20 April 1837: ‘We understand
that a subscription has been opened in this town for the purchase of a splendid edition of the Sacred Volume in the
Dutch language to be presented to our expatriating fellow colonists ..."

63 The English translation of the two following dedications is from the Graham’s Town Journal, 27.4.1837 (Chase, Natal
1, 1843, 93).

64 ‘Geschenk van de / inwoonders van Grahams Stad / en / nabyheid / aan den Heer / Jacobus Uys / en zyne wegge-
trokkene / landgenooten.’

65 ‘Dit Heilig Boek / is gepresenteerd aan / Den Heer Jacobus Uys, / en Zyn Vertrokkene Landgenoten, door de In-
woonders van Graham’s Stad en omtrek, / tot een / Vaarwel Gedenkteeken / Van hun Hoogachting, en hartelyke
Leedwezen op / hun Vertrek. / De angstvalligheid welke zylieden betoond hebben om te tracten een Prediker te /
verkrygen, en hunne stiptelyke na z[two illegible letters]ling der Heilige Instellingen, zyn duidelyke / bewyzen dat in
hunne wandelingen om een ander Land te zoeken, zy zich zullen laten / geleiden door de Bevelen in dit Heilig Boek
begrepen, en standvastiglyk aankleven / aan deszelfs Heilige Wetten — de strenge Besluiten van den Schepper van
het Heelal - / Den God van alle Natien en Volkeren.’ For the text see also Newton Thompson 1966, 144 (with marginal
mistakes); Butler 1974, 279-280. The Dutch translation has been credited to Louis Henri Meurant (alias Klaas Waar-
zegger), who founded the Graham’s Town Journal in 1831 (see Murder of Retief).

66 Uys 1976, 2; Visagie 2011, 503.
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Figure 2.13: Uys Bible. 1756. Printed in Dordrecht by Jacob and Hendrik Keur (courtesy of HF VTM Collection B1; photos Russell Scott left, the
authors right)

the Voortrekkers were not yet on their way, but gathered ceremonially in Grahamstown, in a way
perhaps not dissimilar to the white dignitaries gathered at the Voortrekker Monument’s inaugura-
tion. For our study three aspects are crucial. First, Presentation underlines the acknowledgement
of the historical importance given to the treks not only by the Boers but also by British people, and
the recognition of the fundamental role of Christianity in the treks. Second, the Bible ceremony is
a vivid demonstration of the British settlers’ sympathy with Piet Retief’s manifesto published only
two months before, on 2 February 1837 in the same Graham’s Town Journal, which Etherington
characterised as a ‘cheering squad for the trekking movement’ (see Inauguration).®’ Third, beyond
the intentional meanings inscribed in the relief, this case shows that the key interest of the SVK and
the Official Guide was not to scrutinise available historical records and avoid factual contradiction,
but to reinforce commonly held beliefs. The myth was being (re)invented even as it was set in stone.

The commitment to and mission of Dutch Reformed Church Christianity is the principal theme
of this second scene of the frieze. As stated in the Official Guide, ‘The presentation of the Bible is
inserted at the beginning of the frieze because the Bible was to the Voortrekkers a shining light on
their path.’*® Moerdyk comments that it ‘was left to the Voortrekkers - the descendants of the Dutch
colonists and Huguenots - to force, at a great price, an entry into the interior and establish a white
civilisation’;*® a civilisation which is constantly associated with the Protestant beliefs instituted

67 Etherington 2001, 257-259 (quote p.257), who discusses the manifesto in the wider political context of the time.
68 Official Guide 1955, 46.

69 Official Guide 1970, 31. The apartheid emphasis on establishing ‘a white civilisation’ here contrasts with the wor-
ding of the earliest edition that simply said, ‘which had been unconquered unto then’ (1955, 32).
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early in European settlement, which Afrikaners later claimed the Voortrekkers had maintained
and nurtured. The ritual of handing over the Bible legitimated the historical mandate and dynamic
character of this assertion, further upheld by the ongoing use of the Koos Bybel by the trekkers.”®

When, between 1934 and 1936, the public and SVK members were asked to contribute ideas
for the narrative of the Great Trek, they proposed inter alia the depiction of religious services —
held in a tent with the coloured servants amongst those listening, or catechism lessons on the
Trek — although these were not included in the final narrative.”* Presentation reinforces a religious
message of a similar kind, and imbues it with a ceremonial quality suited to this special occasion,
while avoiding the inclusion of any black servants. But there is more to the choice of this particular
scene. The literature about the Monument stresses that the event was evidence that British settlers
supported the Voortrekkers. Yet, while the marble recognises the mutual respect of British and
Boer in the narrative of the Great Trek, as did Jan Juta’s painting for Pretoria’s City Hall, it does
not acknowledge British rule. Rather, the support of English-speaking townsfolk for the emigrant
Voortrekkers underlines that these recent settlers also took exception to the policies of the British
authorities, acknowledging the Boer cause.

Through the collective focus on the Dordrecht Bible, supported by the arrangement of parti-
cipants turning towards it, the relief creates a strong sense of solidarity. However, it is still domi-
nated by the Boer majority, two of them in expansive frontal positions that further strengthen their
primacy in the narrative. Further distinctions are created for them by another iconographic choice.
Whereas all participants are depicted with clear portrait features, the Boers are distinguished by
their seniority, all showing signs of maturity if not old age. One wonders whether this was meant as
a subtle substantiation of the Boers’ longer establishment on South Africa’s soil.”?

70 This is confirmed by an entry in Erasmus Smit’s diary on 11 June 1938 that describes a meeting presided over by
Jacobus Nicolaas Boshof jr (1808-81; see Visagie 2011, 65-66), a leading Boer and later state president of the Orange
Free State (1855-59), who read a text from ‘the Octavo Bible presented in Grahamstown’ (Smit trans. Mears 1972, 116;
Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 142).

71 ‘Wenke’, item II Dr L. Steenkamp, M. Basson, A.]. du Plessis, A.1. ‘Godsdienstig’ (Religious); item VI.8 SEN. E.S.
MALAN ‘Ander toneel: Gewone godsdiensoefening onder ’n tent, met gekleurde bediens onder die gehoor’ (Further
scenes: Regular church service inside a tent with coloured servants in the congregation).

72 See Official Guide 1955, 33.
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3 Soutpansberg T G
North wall, north-east projection, above door (panel 4/31) I =
h.23xw.24m » 4
Restored fractures on vertical edges f
Sculptor of clay maquettes: Hennie Potgieter i 5
STAGES OF PRODUCTION . i
A1 W.H. Coetzer, first pencil drawing, h. 13.4 x w. 15.3 cm (April-June 1937) 6
Annotation: ‘Trichardt Zoutpansberg’ (Trichardt Soutpansberg) i I I
A2 Reproduction of Al (June 1937) I 7
A3 W.H. Coetzer, new pencil drawing, h. 13.4 x w. 15.3 cm 19 B
(after September 1937) [ 8
Annotations: ‘Onderwyser Pfeffer neem Kinders skool toe’ (Teacher L 17 o |
Pfeffer takes children to school) / ‘vrouens pluk mielies’ (women pick
mealies) / “n man herstell 'n wiel’ (a man repairs a wheel) ‘1615 113 12 10‘
A4 W.H. Coetzer, Trigardt by die Souijtpansberg 1 I
(Trichardt at the Soutpansberg). Oil, h. 25.4 x w. 30.5 cm (late 1937-38) 0 5 10

Bl One-third-scale clay maquettes, not extant but replicated
in B2a/b (1942-43)
B2 a. Rejected one-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 76.5 x w. 89.8 m x d. 8.6 cm
(1942-43)
b. New unfinished one-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 78.3 x w. 86.6 m x d. 8 cm (1942-43)
C1 Full-scale armature, not extant (1943-46)
C2 Full-scale clay relief, not extant but recorded in photograph; replicated in C3 (1943-46)
C3 Full-scale plaster relief (1943-46), not extant but copied in D (late 1947-49)
D Marble as installed in the Monument (1949)

EARLY RECORDS

SVK minutes (4.9.1937) — item 4c (see below, ‘Developing the design’)

Voorstelle (5.12.1934?) — item 1 ‘Trichardt-Trek: Trichardt-trek onder Soutpansberg: waens, hartebeeshuisie, skerm
en Daniel Pfeffer se skooltjie (laasgenoemde, soos hartebeest huisievierkantig.) Trichardt hou sy Dagboek by:
boek op agter buikplank, ens’ (Trichardt Trek: Trichardt-trek at Soutpansberg: wagons, little reed house, view
and Daniel Pfeffer’s school [the latter rectangular like the house.] Trichardt keeps his diary: book on wagon’s
rear floorboard, etc.)

Panele (c. Dec 1934-36) — item 4 ‘Die Boer het BESKAWING gebring / die skooltjie van 'n man soos Pfeffer’ (The
Boers brought CIVILISATION / the little school of a man like Pfeffer)

Moerdyk Layout (5.10.1936-15.1.1937) — scene 3 on panel 6/31 ‘Trichardt Z.P.Berg’ (Trichardt [in] Soutpansberg)

Jansen Memorandum (19.1.1937) — item 7.3 “Trichardt at the foot of the Zoutpansberg Mountains’

3 Open Access. © 2020 Elizabeth Rankin and Rolf Michael Schneider, published by De Gruyter and African Minds.
This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110668797-008
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Figure 3.1: D. Soutpansberg. 1949. Marble, 2.3 x 2.4 m (courtesy of VTM; photo Russell Scott)
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Description

As also with Blydevooruitsig, Marthinus Oosthuizen and Mpande, the composition is determined by
the odd shape of the relief panel, as a triangular section to accommodate the gable-shaped door
frame is cut out off-centre (fig. 3.1). The remaining space is shared by five people, a woman and
four men - three of them in the short buttoned-up jackets typically worn by the Voortrekkers on
the frieze. Although cut off by the door frame, the older man in the centre is clearly the main figure,
his importance emphasised by his height, formal frontal pose, and the grouping of two figures on
either side of him. His dress and beard, the latter like a ruffle under his cheeks and chin, tell us he
is a Voortrekker, identified as the leader, Louis Trichardt. He holds an elephant tusk, point upper-
most, while the beardless Boer in profile on the far left holds another in reverse position. In front of
him is a youth, kneeling in a three-quarter view. He is holding a book upright, supported on other
volumes piled rather precariously on the sloping edge of the door frame.

On the right two persons are depicted almost back to back, a mature woman and a younger
man. She is seated on the other slope of the door frame in a complex pose, with legs to her right,
but profile head facing left towards Trichardt. Her hair is neatly combed and drawn tightly into a
bun, and she wears a long-sleeved dress, its skirt gathered into a fitted bodice with a shawl collar,
fastened with a brooch. The ring on her left hand, which holds her folded kappie, suggests she
is Trichardt’s wife. The broad-shouldered man behind her in a long travelling coat (based on an
amateur wrestler model, Potgieter tells us) is seen from the back as he carries a bundle of hides to
a wagon. He is the only person both looking and moving away from the centre, his pose no doubt
introduced by the sculptor to enliven a rather static scene, and to act as a link to the succeeding
panel. Although there are two figures on either side of the central one, this diversity, in part a
response to the difficult format, breaks the symmetry by setting off immobility on the left against
more complex movement on the right. And there the two figures, back to back, are themselves char-
acterised by oppositions such as female and male, seated and standing, staying and departing, and
facing left and right.

The limited space behind the figures is filled with objects right up to the panel’s top margin.
For lack of space the Voortrekker wagon behind the group is, uniquely, uncovered. Hard against it
on the left is a building meant to represent a schoolhouse, and further away, on the right, a massive
flat-topped mountain.
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Figure 3.2: A1. W.H. Coetzer. ‘Trichardt Zoutpansberg’. Figure 3.3: A2. W.H. Coetzer. Reproduction of first sketch
Before June 1937. Pencil, 13.4 x 15.3 cm. First sketch for Soutpansberg. June 1937 (courtesy of ARCA PV94 1/75/5/1;
(photo courtesy of Museum Africa, no. 66/2194E) photo the authors)

Figure 3.4: A3. W.H. Coetzer. ‘Trichardt Zoutpansberg’. Figure 3.5: A4. W.H. Coetzer. Trigardt by die Souijtpansberg.
After September 1937. Pencil, 13.4 x 15.3 cm. New sketch Late 1937-38? Oil, 25.4 x 30.5 cm (Coetzer 1947, 73)
(Museum Africa, no. 66/2194A; photo courtesy of Museum Africa)
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Developing the design

The pencil drawing of this scene which Coetzer presented to the SVK (26.6.1937) exists identically
in linear form in both the Museum Africa (A1: original; fig. 3.2) and the ARCA collections (A2: repro-
duction; fig. 3.3), and there is also a different drawing, more developed with shading, in Museum
Africa (A3; fig. 3.4), fully revised in response to the demands of the Historiese Komitee. This
sequence of designs in relation to the committee’s critique is crucial to our argument that Coetzer
made the more developed pencil drawings after the purely linear drawings of the reproductions.

The first design that was rejected (figs 3.2, 3.3) emphasised trading, with men loading animal
skins behind, and ivory tusks in the foreground presided over by Louis Trichardt in a large hat.
A boy with a dog on the left and a cup and saucer on a sack on the right rather arbitrarily fill the
foreground corners. Beyond the figures is a small thatched building and ploughed fields, with a
distinctive thorn tree and a grand flat-topped mountain locating the scene in the far north. At the
review meeting on 4 September 1937, the Historiese Komitee requested a complete redrawing, the
only case we know of when a Coetzer sketch was wholly rejected:

Trichardt in Soutpansberg. This must be redone entirely. Read Trichardt’s diary and show among
other things scenes where Botha mends a wagon wheel or does something similar; women pick
green mielies; the boers drank out of round bowls; the school must be in the foreground; show old
Daniel Pfeffer and children that are walking to school; remember some of them were already fairly
big.”

The second drawing (fig. 3.4), produced after the review meeting sometime before March 1938,
is entirely different. As demanded, it focuses on Voortrekker Botha (in shirt sleeves) mending a
wheel,”* women picking mealies,” the corner of a (school) structure in the foreground (with an
animal hide as a mat next to the door), and old Daniel Pfeffer accompanied by two girls and an
older youth, each dressed with propriety. All that remains from the first drawing is a modified
version of the tree and the mountain in the background. Coetzer’s monochrome oil on canvas of the
subject (fig. 3.5) largely follows the design of the second drawing but creates a more visible struc-
ture in the background (appropriately with a thatched roof), shows Botha more actively engaged
in his carpentry, and distinguishes Pfeffer as a taller more patriarchal figure. In his book My Kwas
Vertel, Coetzer stated that ‘this panel is a sketch in the series intended for the Voortrekker Monu-
ment’,”® although we have no evidence that this painting was seen by the sculptors.

As in many other cases, the demands of the Historiese Komitee were disregarded: it was not
the redrawn but the rejected first drawing (figs 3.2, 3.3) which served as a blueprint for the sculp-
tors, when, some five years later, they started making the small clay models from which the extant
plaster maquettes were taken. It seems the old arguments had been forgotten, yet some additions
in the second maquette design that has survived do reflect ideas similar to some of those expressed
by the Historiese Komitee, as discussed in Part 1.7

As in the drawing, where six figures comfortably occupied the square format (fig. 3.2), six
figures are clustered around the challenging format in the earlier plaster maquette (fig. 3.6).

73 ‘Trichardt in Soutpansberg. Die toneel moet heeltemal oorgedoen word. Lees die Dagboek van Trichardt, en wys
o0.a. tonele waar Botha 'n wawiel herstel of iets dergeliks doen; vrouens pluk groen mielies; die Boere het uit ronde
kommetjies gedrink; die skool moet op die voorgrond kom; wys ou Daniel Pfeffer en kinders wat skool-toe loop; ont-
hou party van hulle was al taamlik groot’ (Historiese Komitee 4.9.1937: 2c).

74 Himself a wainwright with personal knowledge of wagon building, Coetzer also developed a nuanced pencil draw-
ing of ‘Old Botha repairs a wheel’ in its own right, illustrated in Muller 1978, 40 fig. 34. The motif of the wagon wheel
is synonymous with the treks, used by Coetzer in the design of commemorative stamps and other items for the Monu-
ment, and still common in Afrikaner popular culture.

75 Mealies are mentioned, for example, in Trichardt ed. Preller 1938, 51.

76 Coetzer 1947, 72-73: ‘Die paneel is 'n skets in die reeks wat vir die Voortrekker-Monument bedoel is.’

77 Chapter 2 (‘Coetzer and the frieze’).
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Figure 3.6: B2a. Hennie Potgieter. Soutpansberg. 1942-43. Plaster, 76.5 x 89.8 x 8.5 cm.
Rejected maquette (courtesy of VTM Museum VTM 2184/1-28; photo Russell Scott)

Figure 3.7: B2b. Hennie Potgieter. Soutpansberg. 1942-43. Plaster, 78.3 x 86.6 x 8 cm.
New maquette (courtesy of VTM Museum VTM 2184/1-28; photo Russell Scott)
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Figure 3.8: C2. Soutpansberg. 1943-46. Clay. Full-scale relief (courtesy of UP
Archives; photo Alan Yates)

Trichardt, the main person in the centre with a long beard and a hat, holds an elephant tusk; he
is flanked by five men, all, like him, in shirt sleeves. Standing figures to the rear, two in back view,
carry goods for loading in the large open wagon behind the group. In the foreground, two bearded
men handle large chests balanced on either side of the sloping door frame; to reach the chests in
their low placement, the man on the left kneels, while his counterpart leans forward awkwardly
as though climbing steps. The seventh figure, tucked between the men on the right, is a young
woman, perhaps Trichardt’s wife. The scene is crowded, which makes the basic problem of the
multifaceted subject obvious: in a restricted space the sculptor tried to represent various aspects
of the settlement at Soutpansberg, its hunting and its trade, and possibly the education Trichardt
introduced, suggested by the books in one of the chests and the building in the background, which
might represent the school.

Unavoidably, a second design was needed (fig. 3.7). It is only roughed out in the second small
plaster, the blobs of clay demonstrating the sculptor’s technique. It presents a more balanced com-
position, reduced to five figures, and close to the final design. A key point is the taller intrusion
of the door frame, presumably required by the architect to match the correct proportions of the
doorway, which forces greater engagement of the side figures with the panel’s shape. They provide
a counterpoint to the previous emphasis on trade, with the female figure brought into the fore-
ground on the right, and the kneeling male figure opposite now more clearly shown with books.
And the men now wear more formal jackets.

The full-scale clay panel (fig. 3.8) elaborates and refines the form and composition of the
second small plaster, and endows the figures with individuality. As already suggested by the
second maquette, dress is more formal, and the woman, modelled on Mrs Ackerman, one of the
three Voortrekker descendants chosen to lay the foundation stone for the 1938 centenary, is shown
in the actual dress she wore on that occasion. The final marble (fig. 3.1) follows the blueprint of the
full-scale clay prototype, as was usually the case. However, two differences in finishing details are
striking. In the final clay the portraits of Trichardt and his wife appear less aged, and the folds of
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1 Sakkie Buys

2 Mev C.F. Ackerman [probably for Trichardt’s wife], one of the three women who laid the foundation stone
of the Monument on 16 December 1938 and [great] granddaughter of Voortrekker Andries Hendrik Potgieter

3 Wynand Smit, an architect

4 Martin Jooste, amateur wrestler and later physical training instructor at the University of Pretoria

5 Louis Trichardt, after an old drawing said to have been made in his lifetime [Venter 1985, 34 fig. top left]

Figure 3.9: Models for portraits (Potgieter 1987, 13)

Figure 3.10: Mrs
C.F. Ackerman,
photographed at
the centenary in
1938, model for
Trichardt’s wife

in Soutpansberg.
Marble (photos left
courtesy of Unisa;
right Russell Scott)

the kneeling man’s trousers and the woman’s dress next to the door frame correspond more closely
to the character of fabric, whereas the Florentine sculptors carved them rather clumsily. Both devi-
ations highlight an occasionally less refined stylistic quality at the Romanelli workshop. And, as is
obvious in all the scenes of the frieze, modelling in clay allowed for greater plasticity and liveliness
than did sculpting in marble, and could produce a more dynamic effect.
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Reading the narrative

The five people are self-absorbed and do not interact. As a result, the entire image feels decidedly
staged. Louis Trichardt (1783-1838),”® as the leader of the first trek, is centrally placed, and the
mature woman seated next to him probably represents his wife Martha (the same model is used
for her depiction in Delagoa Bay), although this identity has never been confirmed. In contrast to
the other three people, the couple is predominantly frontal in presentation, even though she twists
to look towards him. The couple’s importance is further underlined by the models’ links to the
historical narrative. Trichardt’s portrait was modelled after an old drawing said to have been made
in his lifetime.” The sitter for the woman, here identified as his wife, was Mrs Katharina Fredrika
Ackerman,® an important figure in the Monument’s centenary celebrations, and the great-grand-
daughter of Voortrekker leader Andries Hendrik Potgieter, who had visited Trichardt in June 1836.
Apart from being identified by Hennie Potgieter in his 1987 publication (fig. 3.9), Mrs Ackerman is
easily recognisable from contemporary photographs (fig. 3.10).5

Trichardt led the first ‘voortrek’ to leave the Colony permanently in September 1835.% About a
year before, then Lieutenant Colonel Harry Smith had already framed the British view on Trichardt
in a scathing sentence: ‘That villain of a Boer is notorious, as well as his family, I understand, for
their hereditary animosity towards the British.’®3> Against the explanation of Trichardt’s departure
in Afrikaner accounts — that he was ‘driven out of Cape Colony by despair at the hesitant British
frontier policy’ — Oliver Ransford argued that ‘a good deal of evidence’ suggests instead that the
Boer left because he had ‘shown overt hostility’ to British authorities and was ‘even accused ... of
having enticed the Xhosa to begin the frontier war of 1834-5 ...’8* It was a small trek ‘composed of
seven Boer farmers, together with their wives and thirty-four children’, and the aged wagonmaker
Daniel Pfeffer, discussed below, as well as ‘several Bushman slaves’ and ‘Bantu servants’;®* only
nine men altogether seem to have been ‘capable of handling guns’.®® Starting out from the Indwe
River in the Eastern Cape, Trichardt was to lead his group as far from British rule as possible, trav-
elling to the high ground of the Soutpansberg,®” a mountain range near the Limpopo River, one of
the northernmost points of the treks (fig. 3.11). The party arrived there in the summer of 1836, and
established a little settlement.®® His pioneering advance later became an Afrikaner symbol of the
scale of the Voortrekkers’ annexation of land in southern Africa. In Afrikaans narratives Trichardt

78 Trichardt ed. Preller 1938, ix—cv (first ed. 1917); Cory, South Africa 3, 1926, 3-7, 11-19; Fuller, Trigardt’s Trek 1932,
9-17; Walker 1934, 107-113; DSAB 1, 1968, 802—-805; Ransford 1972, 33-57; Etherington 2001, 246-247; Visagie 2011, 500.
79 Venter 1985, 34 fig. top left; Visagie 2011, 500.

80 There is confusion about Mrs Ackerman’s first names and lineage. Hennie Potgieter (1987, 13) incorrectly identifies
her as the granddaughter of the trek leader Andries Hendrik Potgieter, instead of his great-granddaughter; he gives
her the initials C.F., which we have quoted above in our synopsis identifying the models. This seems to be an Angli-
cisation of K.F., sometimes given in full in other sources as Katharina Fredrika (Mostert 1940, 777 with photograph,
780). However, elsewhere she is referred to as Mrs D.P. Ackerman, the more formal use of the initials of her husband,
Dominee D.P. Ackerman (see Pretoria News, 13.12.1938; Mostert 1940, 577-578; Ferreira 1975, 80, 117). We are grateful
to Etta Judson for clarifying this in the correspondence with Mrs Ackerman in the VM Archives: when the SVK invited
her to take part in the foundation stone ceremony, they wrote to her as Mrs D.P. Ackerman (2.11.1938), although her
reply was signed K. Ackerman (10.11.1938).

81 See Part I, Chapter 1 (‘The centenary’).

82 Various dates have been suggested. We follow Giliomee (2003, 162) and Visagie (2011, 500, ‘Vertrekdatum: Sep-
tember 1835’).

83 Trichardt ed. Preller (1938, lviii with n 74), quoting Smith from D’Urban Papers, bl. 35 (today in UCT library, special
collections, 575, C59).

84 Ransford 1972, 33-34.

85 Ibid., 35. For the composition of the trek, see also Fuller, Trigardt’s Trek 1932, 162-164.

86 Ransford 1972, 38.

87 Raper, Moller and Du Plessis 2014, 200 (Indwe River), 473-474 (Soutpansberg).

88 For the date, see Trichardt ed. Preller 1938, 7 with n 10 and 12. For the trek, see ibid., 1xxiv-1xxvii; Fuller, Trigardt’s
Trek 1932, 22-27; Ransford 1972, 34-44.
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Figure 3.11: A.C. Vlok. Kaart by die Dagboek van Louis Trichardt. Coloured map (Trichardt ed. Preller 1938, foldout after last page)
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Figure 3.12: Soutpansberg. Background showing schoolhouse, open wagon for trading and Soutpansberg
mountains. Full-scale clay relief, detail of fig. 3.8 (photo Alan Yates)

stood out among the Voortrekker leaders for his defiance of British authority, his determination, his
tragic death and his compelling diary,® all fitting him to become an Afrikaner hero. Less admirable
aspects of his life, such as his likely links to slave trading, are seldom mentioned.*°

Trichardt’s importance is reflected in the relief by the distinct habitus of his position in the
centre and his people around him. They and the accompanying objects are chosen to address a
wide array of Voortrekker virtues. Trichardt and his wife Martha embody the all-important institu-
tion of the white Christian family as the backbone of Voortrekker life. Its character is endorsed by
the immaculate clothing of the five people, which demonstrates the superiority of white civilisation
in the most remote wilderness, given an even sharper focus by the absence of any black or coloured
people. Yet they were not only part of his trek as indentured servants,®® but also key to his trading
in the area that is represented in the panel. Valuable commodities, represented by a pair of tusks
and a bundle of hides, highlight the enterprise of these Voortrekkers, who sustained their commu-
nity by hunting and trading. The perfectly manufactured wagon in the background exemplifies
the essence of the Voortrekker existence, providing home, defence and transport in one, though
here lacking its tented cover as it is pressed into service for trade (fig. 3.12). It comes as no surprise
that in the majority of scenes in the frieze the presence of the wagon is indispensable, a symbol of
the Trek itself. Here the wagon also stands in for the skilled wagonmaker, Pieter Johannes Hendrik
Botha (1794-1838),°> who was represented in Coetzer’s second sketch at the behest of the Historiese
Komitee.

89 Trichardt ed. Preller 1938. See also Fuller, Trigardt’s Trek 1932, who provides a painstaking reconstruction of
Trichardt’s trek across the Drakensberg to Delagoa Bay, including ‘many extracts from the Diary, in a somewhat free
rendering of the original’ (ibid., xviii).

90 Etherington 2001, 247. Trichardt ed. Preller (1938, 1xxvii) himself was master of ten African herdsmen and servants
(‘veewagters en ander bediendes’), namely ‘Danster, Adonis, Renosterarm, Gert (Boesman), Katos, Keiser, Windvoél,
April, Poemlana en Ou-Jong’ (see also Giliomee 2003, 147). When, on 13 April 1838, the Portuguese governor at Louren-
¢o Marques (Delagoa Bay) asked Trichardt why he had left his home country, the Boer stated three reasons, of which
the second was ‘that the Government puts all slaves on a free footing’ (Fuller, Trigardt’s Trek 1932, 154). Dutch text:
‘dat die Goevernement alle slaven op vrije voeten steld’ (Trichardt ed. Preller 1938, 304).

91 See Giliomee 2003, 163.

92 Visagie 2011, 82.
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Of special importance in this panel is the large house in the background. Meant to represent
the first school built by the trekkers, it is rather too well-built a structure to convincingly depict
the rudimentary ‘hartebeeshuisie’ architecture of Trichardt’s settlement,*® described in the sugges-
tions for topics in Voorstelle. The school was run by Daniel Pfeffer (Pfeiffer; 1760-1838), who acted
as teacher to the children (fig. 3.12).>* There were apparently twenty-one aged under sixteen, but
occasionally he also taught people more advanced in years, such as ‘Breggie Pretorius, Jan’s better
half, who herself had two children in school’.”> However, neither a child nor a mother but rather
a sleek youth is placed purposefully in the foreground, already literate enough to be preoccupied
with a pile of books, to represent the virtues of Voortrekker education, associated with Christian
values, as Moerdyk stressed when he wrote of this panel for the Official Guide:

Two extremely important aspects of the Voortrekkers’ existence are emphasized, viz. their material
projects, as revealed in their trading ivory and skins with Portuguese traders, and the efforts made
to meet their spiritual needs, for a little school - the first in the Transvaal — is shown being built.”®

Leonard Thompson analysed the extent to which school education was used by Afrikaner insti-
tutions, especially the Afrikaner Broederbond, to promote Afrikaner values through Christian
National Education at the same time that the narrative of the frieze was being conceived.” In 1943
a school inspector explained the crucial role of Afrikaner teachers to inculcate this spirit in the
children:

The Afrikaner teachers will ... demonstrate to Afrikanerdom what a power they possess in their
teacher’s organisations for building up the youth for the future republic. I know of no more powerful
instrument. They handle the children for five or more hours daily, for five days each week ... A nation
is made through its youth being taught and influenced at school in the tradition, customs, habits
and ultimate destination of its volk.%®

It was a purpose not dissimilar to that of the frieze itself.

93 See Van Rooyen, 1940, 170-171.

94 Visagie 2011, 353.

95 Trichardt ed. Preller 1928, 1xxvii: ‘Daniel Pfeffer se leerlinge het bestaan uit 21 kinders onder die 16 jaar, maar sy
lesse werd af en toe ook bygewoon deur meer bejaardes soos Breggie Pretorius, Jan se wederhelf, wat self twee kinders
in die skool had, Hendrina Botha e.a.’ For Jan (Johannes Petrus jr) and Breggie (Gerbrecht Elizabeth Maria Pretorius,
née Alberts), see Visagie 2011, 387-388.

96 Official Guide 1955, 46. It is an example of Moerdyk’s carelessness in describing detail in the frieze that he writes
of the school ‘being built’ when there is no evidence of ongoing building here, though there was in Coetzer’s first
drawing.

97 Thompson 1985, esp. 46—68.

98 Quote ibid., 49-50, with reference to Wilkins and Strydom 1978, 258-259. It is not irrelevant to remember that
].J. Scheepers, who played such an important part as secretary of the SVK, was himself a schoolteacher.
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East wall (panels 5-6/31) i
h. 2.3 x w. 2.88 m (full width of panel 5 and 0.36 m of panel 6)
Restored fractures on vertical edges between panels 5 and 6

Sculptor of clay maquettes: Hennie Potgieter f

23

22

STAGES OF PRODUCTION

A1 W.H. Coetzer, pencil drawing, retained only in A2 (April-June 1937)
A2 W.H. Coetzer, reproduction of A1, h. 13.3 x w. 15.3 cm (June 1937) M
B1 Clay maquettes, not extant but replicated in B2a and b (1942-43) i

21

20

B2 a. Rejected one-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 77 x w. 76.5 x d. 8 cm 19
(1942-43) M s
b. New one-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 76 x w. 76.6 x d. 8 cm | 7 |
(1942-43)
C1 Full-scale wooden armature, not extant (1943-46) ‘1615 1413 12 1
C2 Full-scale clay relief, not extant but recorded in photograph; replicated 1
in C3 (1943-46) 0 5 10

C3 Full-scale plaster relief (1943-46), not extant but copied in D (1948-50)
D Marble as installed in the Monument (1950)

EARLIER RECORDS

SVK minutes (4.9.1937) — item 4d (see below, ‘Developing the design’)

Moerdyk Layout (5.10.1936-15.1.1937) — scene 4 on panel 7/31 ‘T. in Del. Baai’ (Trichardt in Delagoa Bay)
Jansen Memorandum (19.1.1937) — item 7.4 ‘Trichardt at Delagoa Bay’

3 Open Access. © 2020 Elizabeth Rankin and Rolf Michael Schneider, published by De Gruyter and African Minds.
This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110668797-009
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Figure 4.1: D. Delagoa Bay. 1950. Marble, 2.3 x 2.88 m (courtesy of VTM; photo Russell Scott)
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Description

Seven people of varying age and national dress are spread across the relief (fig. 4.1). The main nar-
rative is positioned to right of centre: two men facing each other in profile view and taller than the
rest. The mature bearded man on the left, picked out by his superior stature and the space around
him, is the Voortrekker leader Louis Trichardt. He hands over his muzzleloader to Captain Gamitto,
the Portuguese governor of Delagoa Bay. Gamitto wears a uniform of the type of a nineteenth-cen-
tury naval commander, decorated with epaulettes, shoulder insignia, two medals and a sash, with
fitted trousers and a Napoleonic hat.®® Behind him stands another officer of smaller stature, who
wears the same uniform as his superior, but without medals and sash, and keeps his hat folded in
his left hand. A gunpowder keg next to the governor can be identified by its size, the bung on the
top, and the narrative context.

A second, beardless and older Voortrekker, Daniel Pfeffer, sits, self-absorbed, on a chest behind
Trichardt, his passivity complementing the leader’s alert pose. He holds his muzzleloader close to
him, between his extended legs, which rest on what appears to be a deformed elephant tusk.

To the left of the two Boers who occupy the centre of the composition is a group of three female
figures, well dressed but without hats. Furthest left, a tall woman, distinguished by her elegant
European dress, earrings and elaborate coiffeur with ringlets, represents Gamitto’s wife. She has
her arm reassuringly around the waist of a Boer woman, Martha Trichardt, who seems about to
faint. Her body is bent forward, her eyes half-closed, with her lowered head supported on her left
hand; the other dangles listlessly at her side and holds a handkerchief. Her little daughter Anna,
who keeps her mother’s kappie for her, looks up at her with parted lips, as though about to speak,
and reaches out to lay a hand solicitously on her elbow.

Most of the background is filled by a crenellated building with slit windows, and a mighty
double door, which stands ajar. It is framed, rather incongruously, by two pilasters supporting a
curved Dutch gable, adorned with an anchor. On the far right a three-masted vessel with furled
sails and gunports is moored in a natural harbour, protected by a man-made sea wall.

99 See Crawford and Hughes 1995, 35 (for a drawing of naval officers around 1800, in this case of the US).
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Figure 4.2: A2. W.H. Coetzer. Reproduction of first sketch for
Delagoa Bay. June 1937 (courtesy of ARCA PV94 1/75/5/1;
photo the authors)

Figure 4.3: B2a. Hennie Potgieter. Delagoa Bay. 1942-43. Plaster, Figure 4.4: B2b. Hennie Potgieter. Delagoa Bay. 1942-43. Plaster,
77 x 76.5 x 8 cm. Rejected maquette (courtesy of VTM Museum VTM 76 x 76.6 x 8 cm. New maquette (courtesy of VTM Museum VTM
2184/1-28; photo Russell Scott) 2184/1-28; photo Russell Scott)
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Developing the design

For Delagoa Bay we only have Coetzer’s reproduction (fig. 4.2), presented to the SVK on 26.6.1937.
The basic elements of the narrative are already outlined here: the Portuguese governor (with
sabre and moustache), in full regalia, stands next to a building; two Voortrekkers hand over their
weapons, Trichardt standing and his comrade kneeling; the governor’s wife supports Martha Trich-
ardt, who is accompanied by her daughter (both of them wearing kappies); the sea and a sailing
ship are in the background. More closely aligned to the actual occasion than the eventual marble
relief, Coetzer’s Voortrekkers are shown disconsolate at having to hand over their weapons, while
Gamitto, presented in frontal view and showing no welcoming traits, dominates the scene. He
holds a document and points authoritatively to where the Boers must surrender their guns. Two
additional figures are depicted, one offering Martha Trichardt a drink on a tray and, further away
and in back view, a Voortrekker looking out to sea.
In the Historiese Komitee meeting on 4.9.1937, the following changes were required:

Trichardt in Delagoa Bay. This scene must be changed. Show how the Trekkers arrived there and
were welcomed by the Portuguese governor; the sea view with the man at the beach must stay the
same.°°

The lack of a revised drawing means that we cannot tell to what extent these alterations were
undertaken. Nor do we know whether a second drawing was available to the sculptors but, as is
the case with other panels, the initial drawing was influential.

In his first small plaster maquette (fig. 4.3), Hennie Potgieter rearranged the figures, and
increased their number to ten, but retained the abject mood of the surviving design. Here Gamitto
is shown in profile on the far right, near his final position. While he still holds a document in his
left hand, his other takes the muzzleloader from Trichardt, whose head is bowed submissively.
Another Voortrekker crouches unconventionally at Gamitto’s feet (perhaps he is fatally ill with
malaria), and a third, based on Coetzer’s kneeling figure, almost genuflects obsequiously towards
the Portuguese commander. The group of women on the left now face towards the men, Martha
Trichardt’s distress more visible, as she is supported by Gamitto’s wife, who is distinguished by her
long drop earring. Between the two groups are two boys, back-to-back, one bringing a cup to the
women. They add to the overcrowding of the scene, which also has an elaborate background with
two ships at sea and, although the figure on the beach has disappeared, there is a distant onlooker
in the arcade of a colonial-style building.

The second maquette (fig. 4.4) reduces the figures to seven, eliminating the two boys and the
crouching Voortrekker, and tidies up the composition. The Boers are also depicted in a less sub-
missive way: Trichardt is more erect, and the formerly crawling man now sits upright on a chest,
holding a gun between his legs and placing his left foot on a tusk on the ground, as though he is a
hunter. The governor and his wife are little changed, though her arm supporting Martha Trichardt
is now clearer. Despite these changes, the two maquettes are so similar in composition and in many
details that we surmise that Potgieter probably reused the design of his initial clay maquette (repli-
cated in plaster in B2a) to develop the second version (B2b).

The full-scale clay panel (fig. 4.5) brought changes in the pose, composition and style, for the
most part closely transferred into the marble. The general grouping remained broadly the same,
but the wider format of the large panel permitted a more generous arrangement, with breathing
space between the figures and the addition of a second Portuguese officer on the right, which
creates a more balanced composition overall. Notable is Trichardt’s more dominating presentation,

100 ‘Trichardt in Delagoabaai. Hierdie toneel moet verander word. Wys hoe die Trekkers daar aankom en deur die
Portugese Goewerneur verwelkom word; die seetoneel met die man by die strand moet so bly’ (Historiese Komitee
4.9.1937: 4d).



Figure 4.5: C2.
Delagoa Bay.
1943-46. Clay.
Full-scale relief
(courtesy of
Kirchhoff files;
photo Alan Yates)

Figure 4.6: Portrait
of Louis Trichardt

in Delagoa Bay.
Full-scale clay relief
(left) and marble
(right), details of
figs 4.5, 4.1 (photos
Alan Yates; Russell
Scott)
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now fully upright and taller than the governor. There are also changes in the detail, such as the gov-
ernor acquiring a hat and his wife ringlets. Facial features are more individualised, which reflects
the sculptors’ use of models, particularly clear in the foreground figure, identified as Pfeffer, who,
with a fuller head of hair, looks considerably younger than his seventy-eight years. A rare photo-
graphic detail of Trichardt’s head in the full-scale clay panel allows us to appreciate not only the
way the portraits were treated by the South African artists, but also, when we compare it with the
final marble, the skill with which the Florentine sculptors copied his features, discussed in Part I
(fig. 4.6).1°*

A remarkable change is the transformation of the small distant building into a stronghold
with slit windows and a Dutch gable that fills the left background of the full-scale clay panel, and
seems to have been invented for sham historical accuracy, although it now leaves little space for the
harbour scene, necessitating the reduction of the ships to one. Once the full-scale clay composition
was cast in plaster a further change must have been requested, as the simple roof line was replaced
by crenellations, evidently to emphasise the defensive purpose of the concocted edifice to protect
the port of Delagoa Bay.

As with Departure, the completion of Delagoa Bay in Florence was delayed, and could only be
installed in the frieze after the inauguration of the Monument on 16 December 1949.1°2

101 Chapter 4 (‘From plaster to marble’).
102 See Part I, Chapter 3 (‘Homecoming’).
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WHERE TRIGARDT CAME DOWN THE DRAKENSBERG

({THE GREAT ESCARPMENT FROM THE EAST)

Figure 4.7: Claude Fuller. Pre 1927. Watercolour (Fuller, Trichardt’s Trek 1932, foldout opp. title page)
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Reading the narrative

Although the little settlement in the remote region of Soutpansberg had been reasonably success-
ful, as represented in the previous panel, there were problems, not least of which was the difficulty
of getting supplies: Trichardt’s diary records letters to the Portuguese in Delagoa Bay requesting
necessities.'?® After Trichardt had waited a year for Hendrik Potgieter’s promised return, he decided
to leave on 23 August 1937 for the Portuguese port.'®* The routes to the coast for travellers on foot,
which he had learned about from Africans he was trading with, proved unsuitable for wagons and
herds. Hence it took Trichardt’s party an inordinate time to traverse the precipices of the northern
Drakensberg, then the Bombo Hills and the Incomati River, a trek of incredible hardship, extreme
heat, and deadly illness.°® Claude Fuller’s beautiful watercolour maps, published in 1932, provide
a rare reconstruction of the meandering and forbidding journey mastered by the Trichardt party,
condensed into a single frontispiece (fig. 4.7), and then a sequence of images showing the different
stages of the trek (fig. 4.8). The later scenes Descent and Return give form to some of the drama of
crossing this treacherous mountain range, but the route Trichardt followed was particularly dif-
ficult, and at times impassable, so that it was nearly eight months before his party reached the
Indian Ocean. Trichardt recorded in his diary that the remaining oxen were so weak by the time
they neared the fort at Delagoa Bay that they could barely pull the wagons, and he solicited a boat
on the river to assist with their heavy goods.1%®

The marble relief represents the arrival of Louis Trichardt’s party at the Portuguese stronghold
of Lourenco Marques (today Maputo) at Delagoa Bay on 13 April 1838,°” where they were received
by the Portuguese writer and governor, Captain Antonio Candido Pedroso Gamitto (1806-66).'%°
Gamitto’s status is highlighted by his well-turned-out uniform, based on that of a nineteenth-
century naval officer, and the Portuguese officer behind him, probably meant to represent his per-
sonal adjutant. Both are in upright soldierly stance, contrasting with Trichardt’s less formal pose
as he presents his muzzleloader, although he stands taller.’®® There is also a distinction between
the Portuguese and Voortrekker women, as the former shows the elegance of a settled and civilised
existence, while the suffering Martha Trichardt’s simpler dress is more appropriate for the hard life
of the trek, although it shows no signs of wear and tear. She is echoed in miniature in her daughter
Anna, who is nonetheless big for a five-year-old, perhaps suggesting her robustness as she was the
only Trichardt daughter to survive.'*®

Six days after his arrival in Delagoa Bay, on 19 April 1838, Trichardt furnished Gamitto, at his
request, with a census of his party. In summary, he listed five married couples; two widowers;

103 Trichardt was in contact with Delagoa Bay as early as 7 March 1837 when he tried to set up a trade contact
(Trichardt ed. Preller 1938, 40-41). He wrote again on 10 April 1937 requesting cloth and sewing supplies (ibid., 58)
and yet again on 11 May 1837, when he added ammunition to his request, and tea, coffee and sugar needed by his wife
(ibid., 81-82). There is no record of any replies (unsurprising since he wrote in Dutch).

104 For Louis Trichardt, see Soutpansberg, and for Hendrik Potgieter Vegkop and Kapain.

105 Fuller (Trigardt’s Trek 1932, 29-153) provides a minute reconstruction of the trek’s route on the basis of Trichardt’s
diary (Trichardt ed. Preller 1938, xvii; see also 2-3), intensive geographical surveys and interviews with the ‘Sikororo
natives’; see also Ransford 1972, 48-57.

106 Entry for Thursday 10 April, Fuller, Trigardt’s Trek 1932, 151-152; Trichardt ed. Preller 1938, 302.

107 Here and what follows, Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 70-71; Trichardt ed. Preller 1938, 303-324; Fuller, Trigardt’s Trek
1932, 153-159; Walker 1934, 111-113; Nathan 1937, 101-127; Etherington 2001, 247.

108 For Gamitto, see Trichardt ed. Preller 1938, 1xxxix—xc with n 129, xcvii-xcviii; Almeida de Eca 1950 (as governor of
Lourenco Marques / Delagoa Bay, see ibid., 97). We identify Gamitto, following Trichardt in his diary (ed. Preller 1938,
301 and passim), as ‘Goeverneur’ (governor).

109 The conventional story has it that the Voortrekkers fired salutes on their arrival at Delagoa Bay, misunderstood
by the Portuguese, who then confiscated the Voortrekker guns (Grobler 2001, 78). This, however, is not backed by
Trichardt’s diary; see Trichardt ed. Preller 1938, 303-307; Fuller, Trigardt’s Trek 1932, 154-157.

110 Anna was born in November 1832. For Trichardt’s family, see Trichardt ed. Preller 1938, xlii-1xii; Fuller, Trigardt’s
Trek 1932, 163; Venter 1985, 34 fig. top right; Visagie 2011, 498-500.
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Figure 4.9: Portuguese—Boer relations in Delagoa Bay — Trichardt handing gun to Gamitto;
Gamitto’s wife supporting stricken Martha Trichardt. Marble, details of fig. 4.1
(photos Russell Scott)

one widow; eight sons over sixteen years; fourteen sons under sixteen years; four daughters over
sixteen years; seven daughters under sixteen years; in total, forty-six ‘Christians, including the four
half-caste children of Albagh’. He also specified one Mantatee over sixteen, three Bushmen over
sixteen, and three Bushmen under sixteen, which gives a total of fifty-three. He concluded: ‘Two
Mantatee (BaSuto) women are not included as they escaped a few days after we arrived at the Fort.
(Sgd.) L. Trichardt.”***

At Delagoa Bay Trichardt’s trek came to a disastrous end.'*? Many children had died on the
journey, and many of the fifty-three trekkers who reached their goal had contracted malaria and
perished miserably, including seventy-eight-year-old Daniel Pfeffer on 21 April, Trichardt’s wife
Martha on 1 May, and Trichardt himself on 25 October 1838. He ended his diary on the day his wife
died, adding only a single poignant entry on 10 August: ‘I had a quiet birthday, but will remember
it.’*** According to Claude Fuller, a mere twenty-six Voortrekkers in Delagoa Bay survived, mostly
women and children. It took a whole year before ‘Twenty-five [sic] Africanders and three coloured

111 Fuller, Trigardt’s Trek 1932, 162.

112 Trichardt ed. Preller 1938, 312-313. Fuller (Trigardt’s Trek 1932, 162-164) provides additional information about
the individuals, which of them survived, and the composition of the trekkers’ families, but the most detailed study is
by Thom (1949, 59-76).

113 ‘1838, Aougust den 10de, had ik een stille verjaarsdag, dog zal daaraan gedenken’ (Trichardt ed. Preller 1938,
324).

114 Fuller (Trigardt’s Trek 1932, 164) breaks down the numbers as follows: ‘Total accounted for, 40. Unaccounted for,
6 boys. Survivors, 26.” Of the adult males only Louis Trichardt’s son, Carolus Johannes (DSAB 1, 1968, 799-802; Visagie
2011, 498-499), seems to have survived. About a month before Trichardt’s death, he left the party in Delagoa Bay, on
his father’s suggestion, according to Preller in his introduction to Trichardt (1938, xciii), to explore areas further north.
It has been claimed (Nathan 1937, 126, 129-134) that he discovered the Victoria Falls (before Livingstone), doubted,
however, in DSAB (1, 1968, 800). A few weeks after the survivors of Trichardt’s trek had left for Port Natal, Carolus
stayed again with the governor at Delagoa Bay (ibid., 801).
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1 Madam Maria Eunia Da Fon-secca [sic], wife of the Portuguese Ambassador in Pretoria.
She represents the wife of Portuguese governor of those times [Jodo de Barros Ferreira da Fonseca]

Mrs Ackerman of the S.A. Women’s Federation [for Martha Trichardt; see Soutpansberg]
Mr Jack Pauw, secretary of Transvaal Education Department. He represents Pheiffer [Pfeffer]
Manuel da Silva Pereira, secretary of the Portuguese ambassador [for Portuguese governor]

A doctor from Mozambique who was in Pretoria for a special study course

AN L1 &~ W N

After an old drawing of Louis Trichardt made in his lifetime [see Soutpansberg]

Figure 4.10: Models for portraits (Potgieter 1987, 16)

people embarked on the Mazeppa and arrived in Port Natal on July 20th [1839]. Their passage had
cost £180’.1*

The catastrophic calamities of Trichardt’s trek were transformed in the relief into a representa-
tion of Afrikanerdom that celebrates imperturbable Voortrekker virtues. Even after the great adver-
sity of their journey, the stoic Voortrekkers are depicted immaculately dressed and courteous in
their behaviour. The Voortrekker leader and Portuguese governor conduct civil transactions as a
stately act between white people. On the first day of his arrival in Delagoa Bay, when Governor
Gamitto had sent for all the trekking men and women of Trichardt’s party, Trichardt wrote:

After I had dressed, we all went together - Jan, Botha, Carolus, Albagh and Pieta.'® After formal
greeting had been exchanged, the Governor ... asked me for a truthful statement of my reasons for
leaving my native country. I replied to His Honour as follows: — 1st. That the boundary of two Colo-
nies has been ruined by the Black nation; 2nd. That the [British] Government has put all slaves on
a free footing; 3rd. That the Government has demanded that the Afrikanders be soldiers."” There-
upon I said that I would go to the Portuguese coast. The Governor said that he would have to report
to the Governor of Mozambique — which is the chief place of the East Coast of Africa, belonging to
the Crown of Portugal. I told him that nine more wagons had accompanied me, as I had written to
him, and that I understood that those people all had been murdered — 49 in number, not counting
servants. Thereupon the Governor said he would give us a place where we could live as we liked.
This concluded the interview.**®

115 Cory, South Africa 3, 1926, 20-21, 97 with n 1 (quote); see also Chase, Natal 2, 1843, 92 (the presented figures do not
match). The Mazeppa was a trading schooner belonging to Mr J.0. Smith of Port Elizabeth, which also played a role in
later conflicts between the British and the Voortrekkers; see Cory, South Africa 3, 1926, 141-149; Muller 1978, 80 fig. 4.
The schooner and the Trichardt trek survivors are also mentioned in ‘Voorstelle’, item 4 (SVK, 5.12.1934), and the copy
in ARCA PV94 1/95/1/7 has ‘vir Pendentives’ (for Pendentives) inscribed next to it.

116 Daniel Pfeffer and Hans Strydom are not mentioned, and the women did not attend either.

117 We adjusted Fuller’s odd translation ‘That the Government asks the Afrikander as soldier’.

118 Fuller, Trigardt’s Trek 1932, 154-155 (Dutch text: Trichardt ed. Preller 1938, 304-305).



Figure 4.11: Portrait
of school inspector
Jack Pauw as Pfeffer
in Delagoa Bay.
Marble, detail of
fig. 4.1 (photo
Russell Scott)
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In the cause of good relations, the Voortrekker men
entrusted their weapons to the Portuguese, although we
know from Trichardt’s diary that they were extremely
unhappy doing s0.'*® In the frieze the three women rep-
resent another example of admirable mutual rapport, in
this case through the feminine solicitude of Gamitto’s wife
(fig. 4.9). The door of their residence stands open to receive
Martha Trichardt in her suffering, although, for the sake of
exemplary behaviour, her dire state is noticeably under-
played. To construct this scene as a model of civility and
white solidarity, showing the support of the Portuguese
(and by implication the lack of understanding on the part of
the British), separate events have been conflated, as Trich-
ardt recorded his wife’s illness on 17 April, a week after their
arrival, and she was only invited to stay by the governor’s
wife on 21 April.*?°

Hennie Potgieter records that he modelled the portraits
of Trichardt and his wife Martha after the same image and
sitter as in Soutpansberg (fig. 4.10), yet portrayed them differently. In Delagoa Bay Louis Trichardt’s
lips are smaller and his features sharper than in Soutpansberg, in part because of the profile view.
Was this meant to underline Trichardt’s authority and determination? Or does it suggest the hard-
ship of the trek, as is certainly the case with Martha Trichardt? In contrast to Soutpansberg where
she is shown with a fleshy face and a double chin, her features in Delagoa Bay are more angular,
her cheeks hollow and her eyes half closed. It is evident that these alterations were made to mark
her fatal illness, even though in a rather measured manner. For Daniel Pfeffer, where there was no
known portrait or suitable descendant, the best that could be done was to use an elderly model,
even if not anywhere near the age of seventy-eight (fig. 4.11). What mattered was not the presenta-
tion of actual physiognomy but of distinction within the narrative or, in other words, to portray a
model Afrikaner teacher — and we learn from Potgieter that the sitter was aptly the secretary of the
Transvaal Teachers Department.

The symbolic dimension of Delagoa Bay is supported by the composition which, despite or
because of the tragic end, underlines the special significance of Trichardt and his people for the
nationalistic saga of the Great Trek. The main narrative with the Portuguese governor receiving the
trek leader’s muzzleloader and gunpowder keg'?! is placed to the right so that Trichardt and the old
pioneer Daniel Pfeffer are centre stage: both are credited with having established Afrikaner educa-
tion in the northern hinterland of South Africa. Trichardt’s wife and daughter underpin, as in Sout-
pansberg, the fundamental value of the Voortrekker family. The solidarity of the four Voortrekkers
is strengthened by the way they are grouped together and framed by three Portuguese.

How much past narratives were modelled or remodelled in favour of Afrikaner ideologies is
also manifest in the unique depiction of the sea. Delagoa Bay is the only image of the frieze where
the narrative could be staged next to the sea, depicting a fortified harbour and a warship. Already in
the 1930s the undated document ‘Panele’ listed ‘the sea which will bring freedom’ as tenth among

119 The Voortrekkers were dependent on their weapons for both hunting and protection, about which Trichardt
made representations to the governor, who fairly soon returned them (ibid., 305 and passim).

120 Ibid., 311, 314.

121 Not mentioned in Trichardt’s diary.
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fourteen possible topics for the frieze.'® This concept could be presented, it suggested, by the ship
Brasilie, on which the Natal trekkers had pinned their hopes of support from the Netherlands; and
indeed a depiction of a ship was planned for one of the four pendentives of the Monument’s Hall of
Heroes, although never realised.'?® Links to Natal were also implicit in Delagoa Bay because the few
survivors of the Trichardt trek were finally rescued and taken to Port Natal on board the Mazeppa.
Such Voortrekker stories were sustained by the ongoing need for access to the sea, which had also
been important for the ZAR, to maintain its independence from British ports. In 1872, President
Burgers proposed to the Volksraad to have a railway line built from Pretoria to Delagoa Bay, which
was finally opened by President Kruger on 8 July 1895.%

122 ‘Die see wat vryheid sal aanbring’, specified by ‘die Brasilie. Ons soek kontak met Nederland’ (the Brasilie. We
seek contact with the Netherlands). For this ship, see Bird, Natal 1, 1888, 727, ‘1839-42. Narrative of Mr. George Chris-
topher Cato’, and Bird, Natal 2, 1888, 169-172, exchange of letters in May 1843 about the ship’s status. For further
references, see ibid., 495, ‘Ships, Brazilia’.

123 See Part I, Chapter 2 (‘Topics for the Great Trek’).

124 Berlage 1895.






5 The Battle of Vegkop (October 1836)



A3

B2

c2




5 Vegkop e ‘

East wall (panels 6-7/31) I 4

h. 2.3 x w. 4.56 m (2 m of panel 6, full width of panel 7) » 4

Restored fractures on vertical edges between panels 5 to 8

Sculptor of clay maquette: Hennie Potgieter i 5

STAGES OF PRODUCTION

A1 W.H. Coetzer, pencil drawing (April-June 1937)

A2 Reproduction of A1 (June 1937) I

A3 W.H. Coetzer, pencil drawing A1, h. 13.2 x w. 22.9 cm (after September i 7
1937) 19 H
Annotations: ‘nog nie klaar’ (not yet finished) / ‘waens vasgemaak aan 8
pale’ (wagons tied to poles) / ‘vrouens giet Kooels’ (women cast bullets) / L4 9 |
‘Vegtkop’ (Vegkop) / ‘Trekkers Trek 'n boom in tussen die twee waens’

21

(Trekkers pull in a tree between the two wagons) 15 14 13 12 11
B1 One-third-scale clay maquette, not extant but replicated in B2 (1942-43) 1 L
B2 One-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 77 x w. 123.2 x d. 8 cm (1942-43) 0 5 10
C1 Full-scale wooden armature, not extant (1943-46)
C2 Full-scale clay relief, not extant but recorded in photograph; replicated
in C3 (1943-46)
C3 Full-scale plaster relief (1943-46), not extant but copied in D (1948-50)
D Marble as installed in the Monument (1950)

EARLY RECORDS

SVK minutes (4.9.1937) — item 4e (see below, ‘Developing the design’)

Voorstelle (5.12.1934?) — item 9 ‘Die slag van Vegkop, na die voorstelling van Egersdorfer’ (The Battle of Vegkop,
following the representation by Egersdorfer)'*

Panele (c. 1934-36) — item 3 ‘Moelikhede om mee te kamp; b. die inboorling. B. Gevegte teen Kaffers / Vegkop of
Bloedrivier. Die metode van verdediging: die rol wat vrou gespeel het indien dit kan’ (Difficulties the Voortrek-
kers faced; b. the natives; B. Battles against Kaffirs / Vegkop or Bloedrivier. The system of defence: the role that
woman played, if this is possible)

Wenke (c. 1934-36) — item IIL. Dr. L. Steenkamp, mnre. A.J. du Plessis en M. Basson, A. ‘MAATSKAPLIK’ (SOCIAL),
3. ‘Verhouding met ander volksgroepe’ (Relationship with other ethnic groups), b. ‘Vegkop; botsing met die
Matabele’ (Vegkop; clash with the Matabele)

Moerdyk Layout (5.10.1936-15.1.1937) — scene 5 on panel 8/31 ‘Vegkop’

Jansen Memorandum (19.1.1937) — item 7.5 ‘The battle of Vegkop (O.E.S.)’

125 In the Jansen files copy of ‘Voorstelle’ (ARCA PV94 1/75/1/7) the reference to Egersdorfer is scored out.

3 Open Access. © 2020 Elizabeth Rankin and Rolf Michael Schneider, published by De Gruyter and African Minds.
This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110668797-010
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Figure 5.1: D. Vegkop. 1950. Marble, 2.3 x 4.56 m (courtesy of VTM; photo Russell Scott)
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Description

The Battle of Vegkop is presented from inside a laager of covered wagons (fig. 5.1).*° Twenty-two
Voortrekker men and women, all in formal dress, fight off, endure or succumb to an outside attack.
The narrative is divided into three layers receding in space: eleven larger figures dominate the fore-
ground; an equal number of smaller size defend the laager from directly behind the wagons; in
the distance an army of half-naked Africans attacks the laager. With the exception of one who has
been killed after forcing his way inside, only the heads and upper bodies of the attackers with their
assegais, shields and clubs (knobkieries) are visible through the gaps on either side of the middle
wagon. These are the attacking Ndebele, popularly referred to as Matabele at the time the Monu-
ment was being designed, if indeed they were awarded a specific name at all.**’

Larger even than the foreground groups, two figures stand, one on either side, facing inward
to frame the Vegkop narrative, a woman on the left loading a muzzleloader, and a man on the right
holding his gun, the Voortrekker leader Hendrik Potgieter. Seven women provide support for those
fighting. On the left are two young women wearing kappies; one kneels to cast bullets, while the
other reloads a gun with the newly made ammunition. The four assegais on the ground around
them indicate their dangerous situation, although these weapons, like the others that strew the
ground, appear more still life than life-threatening. In the centre two more young women care for
a wounded man slumped on the ground; one kneels to bandage the ankle of his left leg, the other,
wearing a richly adorned kappie, crouches behind him, the fabric of her skirt stretched across her
thigh and buttocks, and her face turned away as though in grief. Her unusual pose, as she leans
against the wounded man and cradles his left arm, creates an intimate closeness that suggests that
he is a loved one.

Just behind them in the centre another group of three people is staged. Two young bareheaded
women holding guns frame a boy standing between them, identified as the young Paul Kruger.
Although all three are engaged in reloading guns using powder horns, his importance is marked
by his central position and frontal pose, as well as the big wagon wheel in the background which
acts like a surrogate halo. Yet another woman strides swiftly towards the combat, her action and
the deep brim of her kappie directing our gaze onto the battle that takes place in the background.

Sheltered by three wagons positioned closely next to each other, the gaps thickly packed with
thorn bushes, nine men and two women fight the Ndebele. To see over the wagons and fire on the
attackers, they stand on a rough scaffold of planks supported on purpose-cut branches. At the left
wagon, one Voortrekker shoots down attackers, another supports a falling comrade, wounded by
a spear, and below them on the ground a youth crouches ready to fire on any intruders that might
crawl through under the wagon, a dead black warrior already lying in front of him. Four more men
fight from behind the centre wagon. On the left, one of them is precariously positioned between
the two wagons to fire directly into the charging mass of attackers. In a brief moment of personal
connection amidst the fighting, the second receives a reloaded muzzleloader from a young woman.
The third man fires over the edge of the wagon cover, while the fourth uses his muzzleloader like
a giant club, their guns in parallel as if to emphasise the Voortrekkers’ deadly firepower that will
overcome such terrible odds. Behind the third wagon a man and a woman are both firing into the
attackers.

126 For the place, see Raper, Méller and Du Plessis 2014, 526.

127 Many contemporary documents speak only of ‘kaffirs’. Following Laband (1995, 79-81) and others (e.g. Giliomee
2003, 162-163), we use the Zulu form ‘Ndebele’ when discussing the ‘Matabele’ people. Etherington (2001, xv-xvi,
256) sheds new light on the historical relationship of the two names: ‘When he [Mzilikazi] first appeared on the high-
veld Tswana-speaking people called him king of the aliens — the “Matabele.” By the time he had relocated to Zimbab-
we, some may have begun to use the Zulu form of that word, Ndebele. On the map sketched by ... Adulphe Delegorgue
[and published] in 1845, his name appears by the Limpopo River with the title “Roy des Ama Débelés”, the earliest
approximation to King of the Ndebele appearing on any printed page.’
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Figure 5.2: A2. W.H. Coetzer. Reproduction of first sketch for Vegkop. June 1937 (courtesy of ARCA PV94 1/75/5/1;
photo the authors)

Figure 5.3: A3. W.H. Coetzer. ‘Vegtkop’. September 1937. Pencil, 13.2 x 22.9 cm. Annotated first sketch
(photo courtesy of Museum Africa, no. 66/2194P)
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Developing the design

Figure 5.4: W.H. Coetzer. Vegkop - 16 Oktober 1836. 16 October 1936. Pencil drawing, 25.4 x 38.1cm
(Coetzer 1947, 106)

Coetzer’s early interest in the conflict at Vegkop — and possibly also in the upcoming project of the
Voortrekker Monument and its visual narrative — is shown in a drawing made on 16 October 1936
for the hundred-year anniversary of the battle (fig. 5.4). His close-up view inside the Voortrekker
laager focuses on a woman tending a wounded man with two distressed girls nearby, while another
reloads a gun with bullets she has been making for a man who takes aim at the invisible Ndebele
enemy beyond the wagons. In his sketches for the frieze, Coetzer extended the view to embrace a
wider scene of the laager interior. We have two identical Coetzer designs for Vegkop, the reproduc-
tion of the pencil drawing (fig. 5.2) and the same sketch annotated on or after 9 September 1937
(fig. 5.3), both almost purely linear, in contrast to his centenary drawing mentioned above (fig. 5.4).
In the Historiese Komitee meeting on 4.9.1937 the following comment was offered:

Vegkop. Rework this scene according to existing paintings. See amongst others, one of Vegkop.'*®

The painting referred to is most likely ‘Vechtkop’ by Heinrich Egersdorfer, made around 1900, which
is also recommended as a model for this battle in Voorstelle, an early proposal (c. 1934) of histor-
ical scenes for the frieze (fig. 5.5).**° Born in Germany, Egersdorfer (1853-1915) spent two decades

128 ‘Vegkop. Herontwerp hierdie toneel volgens bestaande skilderye. Sien o.a. een te Vegkop’ (Historiese Komitee
4.91937: 4e).

129 Voorstelle: 5.12.1934(?), item 9 (see above, ‘Early records’). Muller (1978, 11 fig. 2), who illustrated the Vegkop
painting, explained: ‘Some 60 years later ... Heinrich Egersdorfer depicted the scene, evidently using information
published a little earlier by G.M. Theal in his history of the Trek’; see also Venter 1985, 40—41, and Coetzee 1988, 179.
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Figure 5.5: Heinrich Egersdorfer. Zulus attacking a Boer laager. c. 1896 (Museum Africa; Muller 1978, 11)

in South Africa where he became known as an illustrator and cartoonist of past and present inci-
dents.'®® Of ‘far higher standard’ was his painting series ““The Voortrekkers”, with longbeards of
the veld, the muzzle-loaders and velskoen shoes, in peace and in war’.*** Why, however, the Histo-
riese Komitee demanded that Coetzer rework his drawing (A1), apparently according to Egersdo6rf-
er’s painting of Vegkop, is not easy to understand as the two are already very similar. Both share the
basic composition of the final marble scene, with its focus on the inside of the laager and the array
of different actions performed by men and women. In detail, however, the painting has a number of
differences, notably the inclusion of children and Africans inside the laager. In accord with the dra-
matic battle fought in the heat of the day, Coetzer’s Voortrekker men, like Egersdérfer’s, are in shirt
sleeves and broad-brimmed hats, even though the women, all but one in their kappies, are more
formally dressed. But there are no children or African servants in his drawing. The three Voortrek-
kers who drag a tree to block the gap between two wagons in front of the charging Ndebele in the
drawing must refer to the very beginning of the battle,"* not represented in the painting. Yet Coet-
zer’s Ndebele, though also restricted to the background, are somewhat more visible. Egersdorfer’s
painting is distinct in having the dramatis personae clearly arranged in a semicircle, as if they act
on a stage, while Coetzer shows them dispersed all over the laager. And in the background on the
far left, Egersdorfer shows Ndebele driving away the Voortrekkers’ cattle, thus marking a crucial
outcome of the battle discussed below. It may have been such differences the Historiese Komitee
had in mind when requesting Coetzer to adapt his drawing in accord with the painting.

130 Rosenthal 1960, 7-22 (bilingual edition).

131 Ibid., 12. See also ‘Series II The Voortrekkers’: https://www.joburgculture.co.za/museums_galleries/museu-
mafrica/africana_notes/467_egersdoerfers_coloured_postcards/index.html.

132 Walker 1934, 124; Ransford 1972, 73; Etherington 2001, 250-251. Coetzer may be following the account of
J.H. Hattingh (Preller, Voortrekkermense 1, 1918, 126-130), who describes such an opening blocked by a large thorn
tree.
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Figure 5.6: B2. Hennie Potgieter. Vegkop. 1942-43. Plaster, 77 x 123.2 x 8 cm. Maquette (courtesy of VTM Museum
VTM 2184/1-28; photo Russell Scott)

As discussed in Part 1,33 Hennie Potgieter claimed that Coetzer’s drawings were inappropriate
for sculpture,* yet, in the now lost new drawings that they made, the sculptors must also have
utilised some pictorial conventions, since they find their way into the maquette for Vegkop. In this
scene spatial recession and shifts of scale were needed to depict the scene, but figures cut off by
the frame, which are common in Coetzer’s sketches, are studiously avoided. The composition of the
small maquette (fig. 5.6) follows the concept of depicting the scene from inside the laager, a device
used in all the known images of Vegkop. But, as regards the figures, it depends only broadly on
Coetzer’s drawing. People and action are more clearly allocated to fore- and background. Entirely
new are the two tall figures that were to frame the scene in its final form, which help to focus atten-
tion inwards onto the narrative, although the man is more actively posed than in the final form. The
purpose of framing the scene is also somewhat disrupted in the maquette by the partial back view
of a female figure standing behind the man, her skirt visible between his legs. Unclear in function,
she would not survive in the full-scale relief.

The pose and arrangement of most of the Voortrekkers in the fore- and background of the
magquette correspond generally with the final marble, although all the men were still shown in
shirt sleeves a la Coetzer in the maquette, unlike the formally buttoned jackets of the final version.
The charging Ndebele visible in the gaps on both sides of the centre wagon are also similar in
concept. Two Ndebele figures were added in the maquette: one with assegai and shield peers over
the central wagon and his dead kinsman lies, hardly visible, in the background next to the left
wagon — he is the only Ndebele shown inside the laager and the only one of the two to survive in

133 Chapter 3 (‘Harmony Hall’).
134 Potgieter 1987, 41.
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Figure 5.7: C2. Vegkop. 1943-46. Clay. Full-scale relief (above, courtesy of Kirchhoff files; below, courtesy of Romanelli files with pencil lines
and measurements added for copy process; photos Alan Yates)
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the final relief.’> The Voortrekkers within the laager have been resolved into three main groups:
women making bullets on the left, women tending a wounded boy in the centre, and two women
with guns and a man striding towards the wagons behind them.

The most significant changes introduced into the full-scale clay panel (fig. 5.7) relate to the
considerably wider proportions allocated to the marble panel. This allowed the sculptors to spread
the composition laterally, to create more space for individual figures and to generate further clarity,
even though the relief lacks the deeper pictorial space of paintings like Egersdorfer’s. The framing
figures, larger than those in the maquette, are now strictly separated from the narrative and delimit
Vegkop from the two bordering scenes, Delagoa Bay and Inauguration. A unifying aspect is that
all the men wear jackets, which, together with the women’s immaculate attire, gives the battle a
staged character. The two foreground groups are retained, but behind the wounded male, now a
mature man not a boy, the centre is completely redesigned, and accommodates four figures instead
of three. New is the prominent position of the boy Paul Kruger, and the introduction of two women
positioned like guards on either side of him. The one on the left is a mirror image of the one on the
right in the maquette, while the other is repositioned facing the opposite direction on the right.
Yet another woman is seen in back view further to the right as she moves towards the fighting
— perhaps a version of the woman crushed behind the framing male figure in the maquette, now
released into the space supplied by the wider panel. The poses of the Voortrekkers fighting from
behind the wagons, on the other hand, largely follow the ones in the maquette but add more detail.
With the Ndebele peering over the wagon in the maquette gone, the Voortrekkers fully control the
zone above the wagons’ covers. To reinforce their superiority, the additional breadth of the panel
permits yet another Voortrekker to join the woman who fires over the right-hand wagon.

135 According to Etherington (2001, 251), ‘not a single man managed to break into the ring of wagons’. But Willem
Jurgen Pretorius recalled that the Ndebele ‘rushed on the wagons, and tried to penetrate the thorny boughs that filled
the interstices of the enclosure. Some succeeded in creeping through, but before they could rise to their feet they were
killed by the women with hatchets and knives’ (Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 232).
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Reading the narrative

The inclusion of the Battle of Vegkop in the frieze rested on its being the first victory of the Voortrek-
kers over Africans they encountered in the interior (fig. 5.8)."3¢ The reasons for the battle were man-
ifold, and we can only touch on the complex interests of the two opposing parties, the Ndebele and
the Boers. Part of the many peoples in transit in southern Africa, the Ndebele, kinsmen of the Zulu,
under King Mzilikazi kaMashobane (also called Umsilikazi), began to move into the Transvaal area
in the 1820s. Here they started to settle around the upper end of the Marico River, claiming a vast
territory, and Mzilikazi’s kingdom ‘grew rapidly as it absorbed conquered peoples and other Nguni
refugees’.’ Around February 1836, about six months after the Trichardt trek began, the Voortekker
commander Andries Hendrik Potgieter (1792-1852),"%® and one of the Boers’ spiritual leaders, Sarel
Cilliers (see The Vow), whose treks had left the Cape Colony separately, united their groups and
began to trek north together.’®® It was an impressive convoy of about sixty families, a total of at least
two hundred people, certainly more if servants are included.**® When eventually this party was
approaching the new territory of the Ndebele, looking for suitable land to settle, conflict between
them was inevitable. On ‘3 March 1836, Mzilikazi’s envoy, Mncumbathe, had concluded a treaty of
friendship with Governor D’Urban in Cape Town’ but, seeming to contravene that, ‘out of the blue,
without asking anyone’s permission, white people came with wagons, women, children. Bags and
baggage. Herds and slaves’.’*! For obvious reasons, the Ndebele went on the warpath, and there
were deadly attacks on groups of trekkers who had moved beyond the Vaal River, especially the
small Liebenberg party and other Boers in their vicinity,'** while Potgieter was further north visit-
ing Soutpansberg.

Once he had returned, in early September 1836 a Voortrekker party of up to forty men, seven
boys, over sixty women and children, and an unknown number of black servants, with around forty
to fifty wagons, arrived in the area of Vegkop (occasionally called Doornkop), some twenty kilo-
metres south of present-day Heilbron in the Free State (fig. 5.8). Apparently under the command of
Potgieter,** the Boers did not leave confrontation with the Ndebele to chance as they had advance
warning of the approaching enemy, a force of perhaps three to five thousand strong, led by the
‘induna’ (headman) Kaliphi.’*> A commando of more than thirty mounted trekkers rode to meet
the Ndebele army, perhaps in an attempt to negotiate peace, as later represented by Isa Steyn-
berg.'*¢ However, a Boer participant of the commando later testified that, before any negotiations
could commence, one of the trekkers got ‘nervous ... [and] fired his gun into the Ndebele ranks’,

136 The importance of Vegkop is underlined in the suggested topics of ‘Panele’, which propose that either Vegkop or
Blood River should be represented, implying that the two have equal status.

137 Rasmussen 1978, 3 (quote, p.6 with map), 7-132. See also Etherington 2001, 159-169, 172-173, 192-194, 196-201.
138 Visagie (2011, 360-361), who also provides a list of Boer commanders (15).

139 They probably joined near Boesmansberg, some one hundred and thirty kilometres south-west of Thaba Nchu
(Visagie 2014, 44-45, 71, map opp. p.68). Etherington (2001, 249-250) adds, but without reference, that the ‘sixty-five
armed men in the [joint] party voted that Potgieter should be their commandant and Cilliers the deputy’.

140 These figures are given by Rasmussen (1978, 118) and Giliomee (2003, 163).

141 Etherington 2001, 250. For Mncumbathe’s delegation, see Rasmussen 1978, 113-114.

142 Ibid., 118-120. See also Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 74 (report of ].G.S. Bronkhorst, 2.9.1837); Van der Merwe 1986, 3—-44;
Doucakis 2000, 505-506.

143 The numbers vary. Charl Cilliers recalled in 1871 that ‘the number ... of all capable of firing a shot was forty’ (Bird,
Annals 1, 1888, 240); Rasmussen (1978, 120) states there were about 35 adult men with about 50 ox wagons; Van der
Merwe (1986, 53), probably 36 men and 50 wagons; Doukakis (2000, 506), ‘about 40 wagons and 40 able-bodied men’;
and Etherington (2001, 250), about 45 wagons, less than 40 trekker men.

144 For the dispute about who was actually in command, Cilliers or Potgieter, see the analysis by Van der Merwe
(1986, 90-96) and our further discussion of Vegkop monuments below.

145 Van der Merwe’s (ibid., 51) deduction, after weighing all in the balance, with the Voortrekker estimates generally
too high.

146 Ibid., 62-63. See fig. 5.15a panel 1.



90 — 5 Vegkop

which caused Kaliphi to order his troops to attack.**” The trekkers retreated and ‘fought as genera-
tions of commandos had fought before: dismounting, firing volleys, and then riding away to reload
again’,'® until reaching their laager that had been prepared for the attack.'® The site chosen

on which to fight stood immediately below one of the few elevations that stand out of the plain
separating Vaal and Sand rivers. It is a low koppie ..., a strangely unimpressive hill ..., afterwards to
be known as Vegkop - fight hill. An active man can climb Vegkop within five minutes and from the
top he will see the undulating veld stretching for many miles into the distance, and a scout standing
there would be able to give long warning of the approach of a Matabele [Ndebele] impi. From its base
on the south the ground falls gently away to a shallow spruit and is so devoid of cover as to provide
a perfect killing ground to marksmen like the Boers.'*°

Here, the trekkers had positioned their wagons and developed their laager into a strong fortress,
‘with the tongue of one wagon running under the wagon which stood next to it ... [and] all chained
together’.”* The actual form of the laager is unclear as we have two opposing descriptions. Some
time after 1841 Willem Jurgen Pretorius (1808-91),%2 who was not part of the Potgieter party, stated
that the trekkers had ‘hastily formed a fortified encampment (“laager”) - wagons drawn up in
a square, thorn bushes (mimosa) being placed under and between the wagons, and interlaced
between the spokes of the wheels’.*>* Johannes Gerhardus Stephanus Bronkhorst (1798/99-1848),%>*
however, who himself took part in the battle, reported that the Ndebele could not enter the laager
‘as the wagons were drawn into a circle, and the openings closed with thorn branches; — between
the wagon wheels and above the coverings we were obliged to shoot them, to prevent their enter-
ing’."*> We follow Bronkhorst as he was an eyewitness and his account is endorsed by others.™¢ It
was a key episode in the Voortrekker story, with Vegkop providing an instructive example of the
laager battle strategy so often employed by the Boers." In accord with Bronkhorst, and following
what became the standard form that would be repeated in the laager wall around the Monument
itself, the Vegkop laager was represented in the frieze in the typical curved form, with the outer-
most of the three wagons each slightly turned to suggest that they are part of a larger circle. In
the cause of creating a clear composition and showing fully the contribution of the women to the
battle, descriptions of a ‘skuilplek’ (hiding place) of a few wagons in the middle of the laager to
provide protection for women and children, described by a number of writers including Sarel Cil-
liers,*>® were ignored.

147 Rasmussen 1978, 121 (quote), 222-223 n 160 (‘D.F. Kruger, in Bloemhof, 218, names John Robbertse as the offen-
der’ — perhaps identical with Johannes Francois Robbertse; see Visagie 2011, 420-421).

148 Rasmussen 1978, 251.

149 In stressing the ‘military importance of the laager-system’ in the Official Guide (1955, 46—47), Moerdyk implies
that the Vegkop laager was purely defensive, set up ‘in anticipation of attack’, but it could be deduced that, when the
Boers adopted commando tactics after confronting the Ndebele, it was to deliberately draw them to the laager.

150 Ransford 1972, 69-70. For the battle site, see also Walker 1934, 121-123; Nathan 1937, 146-150 (opp. p.146 with
sketch); Oberholster 1972, 225-226; Raper, Méller and Du Plessis 2014, 526.

151 Ransford 1971, 70.

152 Visagie 2011, 395.

153 Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 231-232.

154 Visagie 2011, 95-96.

155 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 75 (report of ].G.S. Bronkhorst, 29.10.1837).

156 Montgomery ed. Giffard 1981, 119 (‘The space encircled by the wagons was but small ...”, when visiting the site
on 3 October 1837). Van der Merwe (1986, 52-55), who discusses all the accounts, ultimately supports the circular
description by Bronkhorst as eyewitness. He also provides a detailed description of the way the laager was set up
(ibid., 57-59).

157 Giliomee 2003, 163: ‘In the intellectual baggage of the Voortekkers were ... fighting techniques like ... the laager,
a circle of wagons with thorn bushes jammed under and between the wheels [that] had probably first been used by
frontiersmen in the First Frontier War of 1779-1781.’

158 See Van der Merwe 1986, 55-57.
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The Battle of Vegkop commenced on a day in the second half of October 1836 and was decided
quickly, perhaps in only ‘15 to 30 minutes’.’ On the Voortrekker side, locked in their laager fortress,
some one hundred people, less than forty of them trekker men, faced an army of up to five thou-
sand experienced Ndebele warriors who, under the command of Kaliphi, attacked from all sides.*¢°
‘Clad in their battle dress of monkey- and cat-tail kilts, their arms adorned with braided ox-tails,
they presented a splendid and terrifying spectacle.’*®* But the Voortrekkers’ defence system and
deadly gun power, aided by the tactical munitions support of the women, children and servants,
enabled the Boers to drive their attackers away.'®* Sarel Cilliers, who does not mention Potgieter,
implying that he himself was in command,’® recalled in 1871:

Fearful violence was used by the enemy in their efforts to wrench away the thorn-boughs, but these
had been well secured in the nicks of the drag-chains [brakes for wagon wheels]. The wagons were
wrenched more than six inches beyond the outer line. When the fight was over, two men had been
killed on our side, and fourteen wounded, of whom I was one. Round the camp, 430 of the enemy lay
dead.'®* 1,172 assegais had been thrown into the camp.'®® Two horses were killed, and one wounded.
The enemy then carried off all our means of sustenance.**®

It was something of a Pyrrhic victory, as the Ndebele drove off some five to six thousand cattle and
forty-one thousand sheep and goats, leaving the Boers stranded (see Negotiation).*”

In the marble relief the battle is presented from a Voortrekker vantage point, similar to that
chosen by Egersdérfer in the painting recommended by the Historiese Komitee, discussed earlier
(fig. 5.4). The pen and wash depiction Interior of Nel’s camp during attack. 2 June 1846 by the Scot-
tish artist Charles Davidson Bell (1813-82), a surveyor of the Cape Colony, also portrays trekker
families fighting against invisible attackers, in this case from inside a rectangular laager (fig. 5.9).16®
The exclusive focus on the inside of the laager in the frieze means that the visual narrative of
Vegkop is entirely dominated by the smaller number of Voortrekkers, while the spectacular army
of the Ndebele is reduced to near invisibility, as their attack takes place in the distant background,
beyond the protective wall of wagons. The foreground shows the collective achievements of Boer

159 Doucakis (2006, 506, quote) is following Van der Merwe 1986, 77-78. While contemporary accounts of 1836 state
that the battle ‘lasted about fifteen minutes’ (Rasmussen 1978, 122; Van der Merwe 1986, 77), Delagorgue (1997, 55) re-
ports that ‘the attack went on for an hour and a half’ (perhaps including the action of the commando). For the debated
date of the battle, see Etherington (2001, 269 n 26), who clarifies: ‘The dates of the battle vary in different accounts,
though all agree it took place in the second half of October 1836.” Despite further investigation, no consensus has been
reached: see Kotzé 1950, 153 n 5; Rasmussen 1978, 222 n 154; Van der Merwe 1986, 96-100; Doucakis 2000, 504-505.
160 For the numbers, see Van der Merwe 1986, 50-51; Doucakis 2000, 506. Delegorgue (Travels 2, 1997, 55) wrote in
his diary (published 1845) that Mzilikazi, to avoid settlement of the trekkers in his country and ‘to make off with many
beautiful herds ... and white women and white houses (tents), ... decided to send ten thousand of his warriors against
the Boers’.

161 Etherington 2001, 251.

162 John Montgomery (ed. Giffard 1981, 119), a British trader, who travelled past Vegkop a year later in the company
of the trekker parties of Gert Maritz and Hendrik Potgieter, reported (3 October 1837), apparently based on what they
told him, that ‘... when some of the Kafirs tried to get under the wagons ... [the] wives of the Boers were forced to de-
fend themselves with their hatchets, cutting off the hands of their swarthy foes, and splitting their heads open’. For
Montgomery’s further narrative, see Negotiation.

163 See Van der Merwe 1986, 90-96.

164 Van der Merwe (ibid., 87-90) thinks this was likely the total of those killed in the first skirmishes, the laager
defence and the follow up, as contemporary accounts report about 150 dead around the laager.

165 For the varying number of assegais in the laager, see ibid., 75-77.

166 Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 240 (‘Journal of the late Charl Celliers, 1871°).

167 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 75 (report of J.G.S. Bronkhorst, 29.10.1837); accepted by Van der Merwe 1986, 87. See also
Smit trans. Mears 1972, 3 (20.11.1837; Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 41), who, however, accounts only for Potgieter’s
losses.

168 Simons (1998, 82 with fig.) remarks that ‘Bell was certainly not present on this occasion during the War of the
Axe’, in which Xhosa, Khoikhoi, San, Boers and British clashed intermittently.
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Figure 5.9: Charles Bell. Interior of Nel’s camp during attack. 2 June 1846. Pen and wash, 17.5 x 24 cm (Bell Heritage
Trust collection; Brooke Simons 1998, 82)

society in war: it highlights the advanced strategy of the fortified laager and the superior combat
tactics of the men with the women and children who help, fight, prepare ammunition and reload
rifles, and care for the wounded - the only set battle where women and children took part.*®® It was
a singular demonstration of Voortrekker military planning and firepower that they overwhelmed
the fighting tactics of the Ndebele warriors despite their enormous numbers.

The two large figures on either side, the Boer woman loading and the man holding a muzzle-
loader, fuel this ideology further (fig. 5.10). Deliberately isolated from the narrative, they act as
models of Voortrekker civilisation, and their statuesque stance prompts associations with figures
of war memorials. The man on the right represents the commander Hendrik Potgieter. That he has
a female partner opposite him stresses the important role women played during the Trek, and par-
ticularly in this battle. She may well be his wife of the time, Elizabeth Helena Botha, which would
underline the importance of trekkers’ families.””® This connotation is heightened by the choice of
Potgieter’s great-grandchildren as sitters, Carel Potgieter and his sister Ella, identified by Hennie
Potgieter (figs 5.11, 5.12). This iconic portrayal was no doubt intended to enhance the glory and
memory of this Boer commander, who is, uniquely amongst the Voortrekker leaders of the frieze,
presented in this way rather than as a participant in the narrative. And it seems that Sarel Cilliers
is not portrayed at all, bringing Potgieter even more into the limelight, although Gustav Gerdener
in 1919 named Cilliers the true ‘Hero of Vegkop’.*”* The exclusion of Cilliers and the obvious favour-
ing of Potgieter may have been developed here by the sculptor Hennie Potgieter. He had been

169 Already in ‘Panele’, a focus on ‘the system of defence’ and ‘the role that women played’ was suggested.

170 Potgieter was to have four wives, Elizabeth Botha being the first, and seventeen children.

171 Gerdener (1925, 31-41; first edition, 1919), ‘Die Held van Vegkop’. Duvenage (Vegkop 1986, 90-92), however, after
detailing different views on the leadership at Vegkop, concludes, as does Van der Merwe (1986), that Potgieter was
indeed the commander for the battle.
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Figure 5.10: Large framing figures in Vegkop, posed for by Figure 5.11: Mrs J.H.M. (Ella)
great-grandchildren of Hendrik Potgieter, Carl Potgieter Stofberg, model for framing
and Ella Stofberg, his sister. Marble, details of fig. 5.1 woman in fig. 5.10 (Van der Walt
(photo Russell Scott) 1974, 80)

given the biography Kommandant-Generaal Potgieter by his great-grandson, who co-wrote the
book, which has the Voortrekker leader as the victorious commander at Vegkop”? — and also at
Kapain, which the sculptor proposed as an additional topic for the frieze. This would have been
approved by the Historiese Komitee as it matches an overall choice of Potgieter as one of the key
Voortrekker leaders, if we judge by the election of Retief, Pretorius and Potgieter (along with the
Unknown Voortrekker) for the gigantic figures on the corners of the Monument — and that three
of their female descendants were chosen to lay the foundation stone of the Monument. Gerdener,
on the other hand, omitted Potgieter from his ‘voortrekker hagiography, listing: “Pieter Retief, the
Martyr of the Great Trek, Andries Pretorius, the Warrior of the Great Trek, and Sarel Cilliers, the
Prophet of the Great Trek™.'”

In the frieze Hendrik Potgieter as sole victorious leader at Vegkop is undisputed. Yet his posi-
tion in the scene, adjacent to the battle rather than part of, might suggest some ambivalence. Given
Cilliers’ statement about himself being among those injured, the informed viewer might wonder
whether the reclining Boer in the foreground recalls him — apparently wounded like Cilliers in
the leg — a figure distinguished by his suffering posture and central placement between the two
flanking women who care for him. Yet in the account by Hennie Potgieter, the prominent wounded
man remains anonymous. Whether by accident or intention, the Boer’s pose echoes the famous
statue of the Dying Gaul, a Roman copy after a Hellenistic sculpture designed for a war memorial in

172 The gift is recorded in Potgieter 1978, 42. The account in Potgieter and Theunissen (1938, 61, 62, 65) does mention
Sarel Cilliers’ presence, taking part in the preliminary patrol, and particularly as leading prayers in the laager.

173 Thompson 1985, 181 (quote; Afrikaans text: Gerdener 1925, 11). For Gerdener’s ‘Afrikaner nationalist mythology’,
see The Vow.
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7 Dr Carel Potgieter, lawyer and [great] grandson of trek leader A.H. Potgieter, also brother of
Mrs C.F. Ackerman [and Mrs Stofberg]. H.].P. Duvenage was the model for the body

L\

8 Mrs Ella Stofberg, sister of Mrs C.F. Ackerman and Dr Carel Potgieter, wife of the Rev. Jan Stofberg,
mission secretary of the Dutch Reformed Church [see Van der Walt 1974, 80]

9 Dr [W.]. du Plooy] Erlank, the poet Eitemal
10 Natalie de Villiers, Superintendent of the Harmonie Girls’ Hostel [see Van der Walt 1974, 82]
11 Bettie Scholtz Potgieter, wife-to-be of the sculptor Hennie Potgieter

12 Babette Vaandrager, friend of the sculptor Laurika Postma [the model for her body and that of the back-
view walking woman to the right was Martso Strydom, née Terblanche]

13 Miss Stander, student
14 Miss Kriel, student

15 Louis Jacobs, great-grandson of President Paul Kruger. Here he represents Paul Kruger as a
twelve-year-old [in fact eleven-year-old] boy. The gun in his hand was a double-barrelled gun with grooved
barrel that had belonged to Andries Pretorius [see Van der Walt 1974, 80. Werner Kirchhoff posed for the body]

16 Elsie van Dyk, a student

Figure 5.12: Models for portraits (Potgieter 1987, 16)

Figure 5.13: Young Paul Kruger in Vegkop (marble, detail of fig. 5.1), posed for by his
great-grandson Louis Jacobs, pictured on right (photos Russell Scott; Van der Walt 1974, 80)
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Figure 5.14: Coert Steynberg. Colossal bronze statue of a trekker. Vegkop Monument, inaugurated 10 October 1984
(photo courtesy of www.boerenbrit.com/dsc07011)

Pergamon, commissioned by King Attalus I to mark his victory over the Gauls in the third century
BCE.™ Although a ‘barbarian’, the Dying Gaul became an archetypal image of a noble wounded
warrior.

Another key figure of the narrative is the prominently staged boy representing Stephanus
Johannes Paulus Kruger, the future president of the Zuid-Afrikaansche Republiek (1883-1900), who
took part in the Battle of Vegkop at the age of eleven (fig. 5.13)."” He is portrayed with a double-
barrelled muzzleloader modelled on one that had belonged to the Voortrekker leader Andries Pre-
torius.'”® The sitter for his portrait was again a family member, Louis Jacobs, one of Paul Kruger’s
great-grandsons, thus referencing the future leader, anticipating the successful establishment of
an Afrikaner state once independence had been won, and embodying the president’s ongoing
legacy over a hundred years later.

As Vegkop represented the first occasion when the Voortrekkers defeated an army of African
inhabitants in the hinterland, its representation could be understood to look forward to future
triumphs, and the significance of the event is given weight by the way it is portrayed. While, in
contrast to the previous scenes, Vegkop depicts a scene of action, the staged quality of the figures
is maintained, and the formal solemnity of their presentation lends the scene status and dignity.

The site of Vegkop has been lavishly endowed with Afrikaner memorials, but they do nothing
to resolve the conflicting accounts of the leadership in the famous battle.’”” The Dutch inscrip-
tion of an early monument, erected on 2 October 1883, venerates Sarel Cilliers as the only victor

174 Stewart 2014, 75-76 fig. 41, 79 fig. 43.

175 DSAB 1, 1968, 445; Visagie 2011, 259 (Kruger’s father, Casper Jan Hendrik). Paul Kruger was among those who
later named Cilliers as the leader at Vegkop (Van der Merwe 1986, 91).

176 Potgieter (1987, 47) recounts that, while posing, Louis Jacobs spotted the inscription ‘A.W.J. Pretorius’ on the gun
and thus identified the previous owner. The model for his body, however, was Peter Kirchhoff’s twelve-year-old son
Werner, who was also a friend of Louis Jacobs.

177 For photographs of most of the Vegkop monuments, see https://tekkies.wordpress.com/2009/05/04/die-slag-
van-vegkop/#jp-carousel-1953 and http://www.boerenbrit.com/archives/1351. We gratefully acknowledge the help
of Quarta Pretorius who published the first guide to the Vegkop monuments (2011), which she kindly sent to us (for
the 1984 monument, see 22-29). We further thank her, Nicolene Pretorius and Corne van der Merwe for a set of new
photographs, provided by André Pretorius Photography.
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3 Prayers for rescue

Figure 5.15a (1-6): Isa Steynberg. The reliefs of Vegkop Monument. Bronze, each 90 x 139 cm. Inaugurated 1984
(courtesy of Vegkop Monument; photos André Pretorius Photography)
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6 Help from the Rolong

Figure 5.15b: Isa Steynberg. Four drawings (UP Archives, Postma Folder 12; photos the authors)
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of Vegkop.'”® For the 1936 centenary, some fifty years later, the site was proclaimed a national
monument, commemorated in a bilingual (Afrikaans/English) bronze plaque now referring to
two leaders, Sarel Cilliers and Hendrik Potgieter. On 1 November 1938, during the nationwide re-
enactments of the historical treks for the centenary of Blood River, the Free State ossewa trek visited
Vegkop in six wagons,'”® and the wheels of the one christened Sarel Cilliers were driven through wet
cement as a record of the event, and the type of gun that Cilliers used at Vegkop was also imprinted,
so that the focus was again on him. To commemorate the occasion, participants gathered stones for
a cairn (‘klipstapel’), one of a number that have been cemented together over the years, a tradition
that has continued at the site:'®° this one incorporated a stone from Cilliers’ farm Doornkop.
When the foundation stone of the Voortrekker Monument was laid during the 1938 ceremo-
nies, Henning J. Klopper, a founder of the Afrikaner Broederbond and the leader of the 1938 trek,
praised Cilliers as ‘the great evangelist and spiritual Paul of the Great Trek’ (die groot evangelis
en geestelike Paulus van die Groot Trek).'®! Nearly half a century later, now under the apartheid
regime, the Board of National Monuments of South Africa commissioned a new Voortrekker victory
monument for the site from a favoured Afrikaner sculptor, Coert Steynberg (1905-82).'% He created
a twice-life-size bronze statue of a trekker installed on a very high base of stones (fig. 5.14),"®3 a
monumental variant of the earlier ‘klipstapels’ on the site. It was to be his final commission, and
one that embodied the perpetuation of concepts celebrated in earlier memorials there and in the
Voortrekker Monument some forty years before. The inauguration on 10 October 1984, believed to
be the 148th anniversary of the Battle of Vegkop,'®* celebrated with a torch relay of young Voor-
trekkers and a large gathering, was reminiscent of the events at the Monument in 1938 and 1949.
Echoing the same national sentiments, the narrative of the Monument’s frieze was extended here
in a series of six bronze reliefs mounted on the curved walls that frame the free-standing sculpture.
Each measuring 0.9 m in height and 1.39 m in width, the reliefs were made under Steynberg’s tute-
lage by his daughter, Isa (married name Wiechers), and all but one cast before his death.'®
Remembering Hennie Potgieter’s claim that Coetzer’s drawings were inappropriate for sculp-
ture, it is interesting that here we have a series of hitherto unknown sketches by a sculptor for the
bronze reliefs. Isa Steynberg’s unsigned drawings are housed in the Special Collections of the Uni-
versity of Pretoria, in the Laurika Postma Collection Folder 12 — hence erroneously suggesting that
they were made by Postma or one of the frieze sculptors. But they in fact match four of the six bronze
reliefs at Vegkop, detailed below, excluding only the first and the last. Like Coetzer’s drawings for
the Monument frieze, they are quite pictorial in approach, with a strong sense of recession, suited
to the outdoor settings of the events associated with the story of Vegkop — a style in the tradition

178 Nathan 1937, figs opp. p.150. Nathan’s early photographs (by South African Railways) show only the original in-
scription we mention, in a detail of the framed bottom panel of the three-tiered monument. More recent photographs,
however, show the memorial with a second inscription panel with the date 1883, which refers to both Cilliers and
Potgieter.

179 According to Pretorius (2011, 16), the wagons that called on Vegkop were Louis Trichardt, Piet Retief, Hendrik
Potgieter, Andries Pretorius, Vrou en Moeder (Wife and mother) and Sarel Cilliers.

180 Ibid., 44.

181 Mostert 1940, 453-458 (memorial and quote ibid., 455-456).

182 For the sculptor and this monument, see Blood River.

183 The huge bronze figure was installed using a helicopter, which also brought the architect, with Mrs Betsie Steyn-
berg and Isa, to the inauguration (Pretorius 2011, 26).

184 As stated above, the exact date of the battle which took place in the second half of October 1836 is unknown. The
date of 10 October might have been chosen at it was the 159th anniversary of the birthday of the later ZAR president,
Paul Kruger.

185 Our thanks to Isa Steynberg, who supplied this information (email 23.5.2017), and modestly writes of being her
father’s ‘leerjonge’ (apprentice) at the time, although she is an artist in her own right. She recalls that the main figure
and five of the panels were cast by Hendrik Joubert, who undertook much of Steynberg’s casting, and the remaining
one by Jo Roos.
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of Van Wouw’s relief panels and those of her father.'®® The chronological sequence of the reliefs
designed by the Steynbergs (fig. 5.15) unfolds a narrative developed within the Afrikaner account
of the Great Trek, and expands on the two scenes at the Voortrekker Monument, Vegkop and Nego-
tiation. The titles are included on the Vegkop panels: ‘Ontmoeting met impi’ (Meeting with the
Ndebele), ‘Voorbereiding teen aanvaal’ (Preparations for the attack), ‘Smeekbede om redding’
(Prayers for rescue), ‘Die aanslag’ (The attack), ‘Matabeles vlug’ (Ndebele flee), which includes
a charge on horseback not unlike Blood River, and ‘Hulp van Barolong’ (Help from Rolong). Like
the marble frieze, the bronze reliefs celebrate exemplary virtues developed within the Afrikaner
concept of the Voortrekkers, regarding not only their Christian faith, their willingness to negotiate
with African people, and the eagerness of the latter to comply, but also their right to rule the land
they conquered.

The bilingual inscription (Afrikaans/English) with the headline ‘Symbolism of the Monument’
(purposefully?) picks out neither Potgieter nor Cilliers by name. Focusing on the free-standing
sculpture, not the reliefs, it reads like a late subtext to the Voortrekker Monument:

The stacked stones of the base symbolize the encompassing threat to the past and to the present
— the total onslaught against Christian civilisation. From this hostile situation there arises the pow-
erful figure of a leader [Coert Steynberg’s bronze statue]. Although one foot is rooted in conflict,
he has unflinching faith in victory. In his left arm he holds the Holy Bible and in his right hand a
fire-arm, which in noble submission to God points downwards and against which hostile assegais
break and snap.

The sculptor has embodied in the monument the words Ephesians 6:16: ‘Above all, taking the shield
of faith, wherewith ye shall be able to quench all the fiery darts of the wicked.” With this inspiring
Word of God in our hearts and through responsible resilience victory is guaranteed for us.'®”

This Christian rhetoric, appropriated in favour of the Afrikaner cause of the day, refers as much to
its own time as it did to the historical event. It is a reprise four decades later of the efforts to affirm
Afrikanerdom in the building of the Voortrekker Monument in the 1930s and 1940s, leading up to
the victory of the National Party, even as the principles of the party were gradually disintegrating.

186 It is beyond the scope of our book to tackle the further implications of the discovery of these Steynberg drawings
though they, as also the Vegkop Monument, require more attention.

187 Quote after a photograph of the Monument’s inscription. It seems extraordinary that this 1984 wording is repea-
ted in the more recent official pamphlet ‘Symbolism of Vegkop Monument (Vegkop 1836-2011)’, in a slightly different
form but with little modification of sentiment, despite the changed political dispensation in South Africa.
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East wall, central image (panel 8/31) 0
h. 2.3 x w. 2.82 m (c. 10 cm overlap with panel 7)
Restored chipped and uneven vertical edges between Vegkop and Kapain

23

Sculptor of the clay model: Hennie Potgieter i

STAGES OF PRODUCTION

A1 W.H. Coetzer, pencil drawing, retained only in A2 (April-June 1937)

A2 Reproduction of A1 (June 1937)

A3 W.H. Coetzer, revised pencil drawing Al, h. 13.4 x w. 15.2 cm U
(after September 1937) 19
Annotations: ‘Erasmus Smit. Maritz / Insweering van Retief’

21

20

(Swearing in of Retief) L4
B1 One-third-scale clay maquette, not extant but replicated in B2 (1942-43)
B2 One-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 77 x w. 76 x d. 8.5 cm (1942-43) 15 14 13

C1* Full-scale wooden armature, not extant (1943-46) 1
C2* Full-scale clay relief, not extant but recorded in photograph; replicated
in C3 (1943-46)
C3* Full-scale plaster relief (1943-46), not extant but right part of the scene
illustrated (Die Vaderland, 26.2.1945);
copied in D (1948-49)
*were developed in two halves, the right half before 1945, the left half later
D Marble relief as installed in Monument (1949)

EARLY RECORDS

SVK minutes (4.9.1937) — item 4g (see below, ‘Developing the design’)

Voorstelle (5.12.1934?7) — item 8 ‘Groot Trek te Winburg. Retief se inswering en wetgewing (insonderheid indien
moontlik om dit te laat uitkom: afgekondigde verhouding tot inboorlinge, wet teen grasbrand en vir wil[de]-
beskerming) Laertoneel (miskien soos in “Voortrekkerrolprent” gesien.) Voortrekkervlag, voormanne rondom
tafel gegroepeer, ens.’ (Great Trek at Winburg. Retief’s inauguration and law-giving [especially, if possible to
bring it to light: proclaimed relationship with natives, law against veld fires and for game protection.] Scene in
laager [perhaps as seen in the Voortrekker film.] Voortrekker flag, leaders grouped around table, etc.)

Panele (c. 1934-36) — item 2 ‘Inswering van Piet Retief. Boere was ordeliwende mense. Erasmus Smit’ (Inauguration
of Piet Retief. Boers were law-abiding people. Erasmus Smit)

Wenke (c. 1934-36) — item I Dr. L. Steenkamp, mnre. A.J. du Plessis en M. Basson, B. ‘KONSTITUSIONEEL (CON-
STITUTIONAL), 1. ‘Inauguration van Piet Retief, Gert Marits en ander amptenare deur Erasmus Smit op 6 Junie,
1837’ (Swearing in of Piet Retief, Gert Maritz and other officials by Erasmus Smit on 6 June 1837)

Moerdyk Layout (5.10.1936-15.1.1937) — scene 7 on panels 10-11/31 ‘Winburg Inswering Retief” (Winberg Inaugura-
tion Retief)

Jansen Memorandum (19.1.1937) — item 7.7 ‘The Voortrekkers at Winburg. Taking of oath by Piet Retief’

3 Open Access. © 2020 Elizabeth Rankin and Rolf Michael Schneider, published by De Gruyter and African Minds.
This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110668797-011
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Figure 6.1: D. Inauguration. 1949. Marble, 2.3 x 2.82 m (courtesy of VTM; photo Russell Scott)



Description = 105

Description

Seven Voortrekker adults and a baby witness the swearing-in ceremony for Piet Retief (fig. 6.1).
Shown in strict profile and with a full beard, Retief kneels on one knee next to a cloth-covered
table. It supports a large volume on which Retief’s left hand rests: he is swearing on the Bible. His
other arm is raised and his hand with two fingers extended is reminiscent of a religious blessing.
Gerrit Maritz, the portly man who stands in profile opposite him, has his right hand on a smaller
book. The two men look at each other intently: they form the focal point of the composition.

Four formally dressed men in frontal view stand behind them, their eyes fixed on the cere-
mony. Two of them have cravats and one a bowtie, but the man to the left of the table wears a
clerical collar, though obscured by folds, which identifies him as the Reverend Erasmus Smit. The
figure in the middle wears a short Voortrekker jacket, and is, apart from Retief, the only man with
a beard, Voortrekker style around his chin. His folded arms intersect with the raised arm of Retief
and form a cross. The heads of the three figures in the centre are at the same level, but those of the
outer figures are slightly lower, suggesting a semi-circle, which enfolds the two main characters,
Retief and Maritz.

The ceremonial event is ‘men’s business’ but women are present as witnesses, diminutive com-
pared to the men, and on the outer edges of the central group. The one on the left is a mature
woman in a formal dress with three-quarter-length sleeves, and has a narrow shawl fastened with
a brooch, a bracelet, and a bonnet tied under her chin. The other wears a Voortrekker kappie and is
shown in profile, seated on a low stool hidden by her skirt, her head below Retief’s although he is
kneeling. She holds a well-wrapped baby on her lap with only the face visible.

The three overlapping wagons in the background are stepped in height to suggest recession.
Although parallel to the picture plane, they also show their back views, with their flaps neatly
rolled or covering the opening. They are aligned exactly on the right margin, but the left-hand one
overlaps slightly into the preceding panel of Vegkop.



106 —— 6 Inauguration

Figure 6.2: A2. W.H. Coetzer. Reproduction of the first sketch for Figure 6.3: A3. W.H. Coetzer. ‘Insweering van Retief Winburg’. After
Inauguration. June 1937 (courtesy of ARCA PV94 1/75/5/1; September 1937. Pencil, 13.4 x 15.2 cm. Revised first sketch
photo the authors) (photo courtesy of Museum Africa, no. 66/2194B)

Figure 6.4: W.H. Coetzer. ‘Retief sworn
in as governor of the Voortrekkers’
(Nathan 1937, fig. opp. p.164)




Developing the design =—— 107

Developing the design

We have two almost identical Coetzer sketches, the reproduction (fig. 6.2) of the first pencil drawing
and its revised version (fig. 6.3). In this case it appears that Coetzer used the original drawing
and merely modelled the figures in light and shade. Points at regular intervals along the margins
appear to be for squaring up the sketch for enlargement. Here we have a rare case of a direct prec-
edent for Coetzer’s designs. The sketches relate very closely to an almost unknown Coetzer, a finer
and more detailed drawing, possibly in ink, which was published by Manfred Nathan in 1937 in a
portrait format suited to his book (fig. 6.4).1%8 We have no date for the drawing but, given the cus-
tomary delays in publishing, even if it was produced especially for the book it is likely that it was
made well before the SVK request for designs for the frieze in mid-1937. While this drawing and the
other reproductions in Nathan’s book emphasise Coetzer’s intense personal interest in Voortrekker
history, it might be speculated that, knowing of the major project for the Monument, he had exper-
imented with appropriate subjects before any official commission was offered.

In Coetzer’s sketches for the Monument, Retief, kneeling in front of the table, and Maritz,
standing behind it, are the most prominent figures, arranged as they are in the earlier drawing in
Nathan. They face each other, while Retief, his left hand placed on the open Bible, is sworn into his
new offices. Maritz too places his hand on a book, closed in this case.

In the Historiese Komitee meeting on 4.9.1937 the following change was required:

Inauguration of Retief. Show the statute book of Van der Linde [sic].'®°

The committee’s request to ‘show’ the legal handbook by Van der Linden, which we discuss below,
is revealing, as it highlights the limited understanding of sculpture among its members. The SVK
probably wanted Van der Linden included as a way of identifying the civic aspect of the occasion,
but did not recognise the difficulty of portraying the book in a way that makes it recognisable to
the uninformed viewer. Understandably Coetzer paid little attention to the requirement to include
another or a different book in his sketch, and made few changes overall.

Again Coetzer provided the basic ingredients of the composition for the frieze. The swearing-
in ceremony is already set up showing Retief and Maritz, with Smit, who has a moustache but no
sideburns, standing behind Maritz. Three hats resting on a riempie stool in the left foreground, as
opposed to only one in the drawing in Nathan, emphasise that the men have removed them for
this important occasion. The ceremony is witnessed by men, women and children some distance
behind them. A mother with a baby is placed rather unexpectedly in the gap between Retief and
Maritz, part of the far group but more prominent than in the Nathan drawing. Further away four
irregularly positioned wagons refer to the combined laagers in the vicinity of today’s Winburg,
although only the vertical drawing in Nathan is filled with thorn trees against the sky.

The design in the small plaster maquette (fig. 6.5) changed the drawing substantially and
is close to the composition in marble. In the main group, the figure of Maritz on the left steps
forward and faces Retief, who kneels on one knee, not two. Instead of the distracting views of
distant bystanders, the Reverend Erasmus Smit, recognisable by his plain clerical collar, takes up
a position to fill the gap between Maritz and Retief, together with another male figure, keeping the
viewer’s attention in the foreground. The arrangement of Maritz’ hands in the drawing has been
transferred to Smit in the maquette, his right hand clasping his left wrist, particularly noticeable
because they are rather clumsily enlarged and out of proportion, as are other hands in the relief.

188 Nathan 1937, fig. after p.164. The preface (ibid., iii—iv) is dated ‘Johannesburg. August, 1936 — March, 1937’, with-
out mentioning the project of the Voortrekker Monument: ‘I am indebted to Mr. W.H. Coetzer, the well-known artist,
who has largely devoted himself to Voortrekker subjects, for permission to reproduce two of his paintings and three
sketches relating to the period.’

189 ‘Inswering van Retief. Wys die wetboek van v.d. Linde’ (Historiese Komitee 4.1.1937: 4g).



Figure 6.5: B2.
Hennie Potgieter.
Inauguration.
1942-43. Plaster,
77 x 76 x 8.5 cm.
Maquette (courtesy
of VTM Museum
VTM 2184/1-28;
photo Russell Scott)

Figure 6.6: C2.
Inauguration.
1943-46. Clay.
Full-scale relief, the
right half developed
before 1945, the left
half later (courtesy
of Romanelli files;
photo Alan Yates,
stitched)
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1 Mrs Tienie Holloway, wife of the Secretary of State

Oom Jan Coetzee [for Gerrit Maritz], school headmaster from East Lynne

Oom Hennie van Rensburg, chairman of the Afrikaans Culture Council

Oom Steven Eyssen, school headmaster from Heidelberg, Transvaal, and singer and composer

Oom Hendrik Ploeger, carpenter for the sculptors and old Hollander

A U1 &~ W N

Erasmus Smit after a photograph of him

Figure 6.7: Models for portraits (Potgieter 1987, 17)

Two further men are shown to the right, possibly to make up the number of the male figures to
represent the three justices of the peace who took part in the swearing-in ceremony. The consol-
idated group stands closely around the table, which is set at a different angle, its legs no longer
visible under the altar-like cloth. The dress and pose of all six men set the broad parameters of the
way they would be portrayed in the final relief although they are less formal and more animated.
Also present but less prominent because of their reduced height and marginal positions are two
women in kappies who flank the male group, one standing to the left behind Maritz and the other,
a mother with a doll-like infant, sitting at the right behind Retief. Three overlapping wagons in the
background are staged parallel to the picture plane.

The sculptors were faced with a tricky task when they enlarged the maquette. Because the back-
boards Kirchhoff had devised as supports for the full-scale clay reliefs at Harmony Hall (fig. 1.8)
were only large enough to accommodate half the length of the long friezes for the Monument, the
central panel of Inauguration on the east wall had to be divided in half, as was also the case with
Murder of Retief on the south wall. As discussed in Part [,'° this is verified by Yates’ photographs
of the full-scale clay reliefs which represent these scenes in split form (fig. 6.6). In the case of Inau-
guration a slightly wider format than the maquette made possible a larger right-hand section that
avoided having to segment the kneeling figure of Retief. But it must nonetheless have been a chal-
lenge to visualise the overall composition and spatial arrangement when the scene had to be made
in two parts, which might account for some awkwardness in its design. Ultimately there does not
seem to be sufficient space for Retief to kneel in front of the table. This had been more convincingly
accommodated in the maquette by deploying a slightly higher eye level so that the floor space as
well as the table-top was more visible.

As with Vegkop, the wider format of the full-scale clay relief made it possible to space the figures
more generously and to position them parallel to the picture plane to enhance their formality. The
table, now enlarged, allows more space for Maritz’ law book, with a gap between it and the now
closed Bible. Dress and poses are adjusted to a more solemn habitus. The woman on the left wears a
bonnet instead of a kappie. Maritz and the other men are clean shaven, with the only two remaining

190 Chapter 3 (‘The full-scale frieze’).
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Figure 6.8: Mother and child in Inauguration. Plaster maquette, full-scale clay relief and marble, details of figs 6.5,
6.6, 6.1 (photos left to right Russell Scott, Alan Yates, Russell Scott)

Figure 6.9: Portraits of Erasmus Smit. Left to right: a photograph taken before 1863 (courtesy of uMsunduzi
Museum), and details of plaster maquette and marble in Inauguration, figs 6.5, 6.1 (photos Russell Scott).
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beards worn by Retief and the justice of the peace behind him. Mature men were chosen to represent
the participants, including two headmasters and the chairman of the Afrikaans Culture Council, as
well as the carpenter Hendrik Ploeger who built the wooden armatures for the full-scale clay reliefs.
An old photograph was used for the likeness of Erasmus Smit (fig. 6.9). Except for the seated mother
whose deep kappie hides her face, all the faces show distinct portrait features, although Retief’s
were invented and not based on a historical portrait or a contemporary model as the others were, as
discussed in more detail in Part I, Chapters 3 and 4.™*

The folds over the knees of the seated woman are unconvincing as they do not fall according
to the laws of gravity but create an effect of artificially draped fabric that adds to the ceremonial
quality. Another adjustment is more eye-catching. Instead of the rather indeterminate infant of the
small plaster maquette, the young Voortrekker mother holds on her lap a more fully defined and
dressed boy who sits upright in frontal view. In the development of this pair of mother and child,
Inauguration is one of the few full-scale panels where we can trace a change from the preliminary
full-scale form (fig. 6.6) and the final plaster and marble (fig. 6.1). The handwritten comment about
this panel in the Postma file, ‘the child also not at all convincing’,*> confirms that the boy was still
present when the plaster was first installed in the Monument, and that the change was carried out
at this late stage. For the final frieze the boy was remodelled into a wrapped, non-gendered baby,
the biggest change between the preliminary and final full-scale forms (fig. 6.8).**> Why irregular
folds were added to Smit’s plain clerical collar, which is clear in the maquette (fig. 6.9) and the
large clay version, remains a mystery: perhaps the Italian sculptors did not recognise the form and
remodelled it as draped cloth.

191 Potgieter (1987, 48) writes, ‘For Retief I unfortunately had to work from Frikkie’s representation that he made
from his imagination’ (Retief moes ek ongelukkig volgens die voortstelling wat Frikkie uit sy kop gemaak het, skep),
which must have been either Treaty or Murder of Retief, scenes of the south frieze made before this.

192 Postma Folder 14, Art Archives, UP.

193 Discussed in Part I, Chapter 3 (‘The plaster casts’).



112 —— 6 Inauguration

Figure 6.10: From Thaba Nchu to Hartplaas. Sites of the two inaugurations of Retief as Voortrekker governor (courtesy of Visagie 2014,
foldout opp. p.64)
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Reading the narrative

Inauguration sets the stage for the celebrated yet not uncontroversial appointment of the Voortrek-
ker leader, Pieter Retief (1780-1838), as governor and commander-in-chief of the Voortrekkers.'**
In contrast to most of the Eastern Cape trekkers, he was well educated. He had served as a field-
commandant and provisional field-cornet in the Colony, worked with both success and disaster
as a farmer, builder, real estate agent and merchant, and developed connections with British and
Boer authorities.’® And he was a skilled writer who knew well how to address political, legal and
diplomatic matters to represent the Boers’ cause. Equipped with this capital, Retief was the first of
the Boers leaving the Colony to ‘go public’. On 2 February 1837 he published a programmatic ‘Mani-
festo of the Emigrant Farmers’ in the Boer-friendly Graham’s Town Journal to the acclaim of most of
the local white settlers.?® Retief’s manifesto outlined long-held grievances of the Boers against the
British government, and the grave shortcomings of policies decreed in London that affected all set-
tlers, whether Boer or British. From his point of view the conclusion was as logical as it was final:

We quit this Colony under the full assurance that the English government has nothing more to
require of us, and will allow us to govern ourselves without its interference in future.”

A few days later he and his large party left the Eastern Cape. With the manifesto’s prestige in his
baggage, he joined the other trekkers in the north.'*®

On 8 April 1837 Gerrit ‘Maritz and one of his Heemraden’ (justices of the peace) welcomed him,
some hundred wagons and four hundred people, and accompanied the newcomers to the trekkers’
main camps, situated some seven to eight kilometres south of Thaba Nchu (Black Mountain, but
Blesberg for the Boers),'® near the residence of the Rolong king Moroka II (fig. 6.10). The colonist
Bernhard Roedolf (Rudolph), a nephew of Erasmus Smit, who visited the Maritz and Retief parties
from 7 to 19 May, remarked:

There are now upwards of one thousand wagons with the emigrant farmers, — and it is said that they
can muster 1 600 armed men.>*°

On 17 April 1837, in the camp of Maritz, a ‘general meeting was to be held. Decided: the honour-
able Mr P. Retief becomes governor; the honourable Mr. G.M. Maritz remains in his post as Mag-
istrate’,>°* heading the Council of Justice. Retief’s public activities had stood him in good stead,

194 DSAB 2, 1972, 585-589 and Visagie 2011, 415.

195 Franken 1949 (the seminal work on Retief in the Colony); Gledhill and Gledhill 1980.

196 Reprinted by Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 83—-84; Nathan 1937, 16-18; Franken 1949, 432-441 (with the Afrikaans text);
Du Toit and Giliomee 1983, 213-214 no. 5.5a. For the disgust of many settlers with the British government and their
positive reception of Retief’s manifesto, see Hockly 1957, 137-141; Etherington 2001, 257-259. Gledhill and Gledhill
(1980, 143) argue that, from ‘the style [of the English translation], there can be little doubt that [Louis Henri] Meurant,
and probably [Robert] Godlonton also [both friends of Retief and editors of the Graham’s Town Journall, played a large
part in its composition’. For Meurant and Godlonton, see appendix to Murder of Retief.

197 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 84 item 9.

198 For the trek and its route, see Gledhill and Gledhill (1980, 152) with map and itinerary, revised by Visagie 2014, 78—80.
199 Oberholster 1972, 218-219; Visagie 2011, 360—361 with fig. of the mountain ‘Blesberg’. Visagie (2014, 78-80) loca-
ted ‘the laagers of Potgieter, Maritz and Retief about 7-8 kilometres south of the present town Thaba Nchu in the area
between the Kgabanyane River and Morokashoek’ (ibid., 80 with n 8), which is situated some fifty miles east-south-
east of Bloemfontein. See also Raper, Méller and Du Plessis 2014, 37 (Blesberg), 492 (Thaba Nchu).

200 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 91. See also ibid., 89: ‘An old colonist, of the name of Bernhard Roedolf, who had emigrated
to Natal, enlightened his brother colonists by the publication of the following Diary of their Proceedings, Govern-
ment, and Discoveries’, published in the Graham’s Town Journal, 13 July 1837. For the Roedolf (Rudolph) family, see
Smit trans. Mears 1972, 27 (15 May 1837); Visagie 2011, 431-433.

201 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 24. (Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 61: ‘Maandag, 17 April, ...’n algemene volksvergadering stond
gehouden te worden. Besloten: De Ed. heer P. Retief wordt Goeverneur; de Ed. heer G.M. Maritz blijft in zijn post als
Magistraat’); see also Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 87.
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and his dubious financial dealings in the past seemed forgotten.?°® His official inauguration was
to follow in June. Before this could happen, however, he had to attend to urgent matters. One of
them was the quarrel which had ‘blazed up on that most inflammable of all issues, religion’.?> In
the absence of a qualified pastor, Erasmus Smit,?** a respected elder, had been proposed to take
that role. However, trek leader Hendrik Potgieter and many of his party, recently victors at Vegkop,
opposed his appointment as the trekkers’ spiritual leader because he was not an ordained minis-
ter.?®> Only on Sunday 21 May, after intensive negotiations, was he presented by Piet Retief to the
congregation who, in Smit’s own words, appointed ‘Rev Mr Erasmus Smit as the first Minister of
the congregation of the Reformed Church ...2°® His appointment paved the way for Retief’s offi-
cial inauguration, which required a pastor to administer the oath. But first, in late May, the Voor-
trekkers began to move further north in the direction of what would eventually become Winburg
(fig. 6.10). On 3 June, some twenty kilometres south-west of the present town, their trek paused
again, near the farmstead Hartplaas ‘on the northern side of the Vet River, where the camp of the
Governor is also now situated’.?%”

It was here that the official inauguration of the new governor took place. Its details have not
been addressed in the documents of the SVK or the Monument’s guides, nor by most historians,
which has led to some confusion. The formal act had in fact to be done in two sequential ceremo-
nies, one constitutional on 6 June, and one ecclesiastical on 11 June 1837 after Smit was in office
and able to officiate,?® as is recorded in Smit’s own diary. To clarify the double ceremony it needs
to be tackled in some detail. Erasmus Smit reports about Retief’s inauguration on Tuesday 6 June:

This day was the very solemn day for the taking of the oath by the Governor and the other officials,
and by all the people of the united camps ... At nine o’clock the church bell was rung in the camp
to call together the people of the camp at the field tent of His Excellency the Governor. After about
140 people had gathered in deep, solemn and respectful silence under the open sky in front of the
tent, His Excellency entered with the Minister of Religion and Mr Scholtz as reader into the middle
of the assembled crowd, and the proceedings began. His Excellency bared his head and in this was
followed by all. As the Governor and Commander-in-Chief?®® elected by their votes, he made a short
introductory address to the Assembly ... with reference to the purpose of this ceremonial general
gathering of the people. After this His Excellency requested the Minister of Religion, the Rev. E. Smit
to ask in prayer God for His blessing and peace during the official work of the day. This was done
in an impressive way with the Minister kneeling. Then the Governor requested Mr ]. Scholtz to read
aloud the Resolution with nine clauses made and delivered in the name of the people*'° ... Straight-
away we proceeded to the proposals for the formularies of the officials and ceremonial oaths to be
sworn on this day. Mr J. Scholtz requested the Minister to agree to help in this matter; thus it was
done; one wording for His Excellency; one for Mr G. Maritz, president of the Council of Justice, and
for the other members of the Council mentioned; one for the Minister of the Reformed Church, the
Rev E. Smit; one for the Justices of the Peace (at present three in number) ... On the completion of
these formularies each person swore an oath according to his position: the Governor before the Pres-
ident of the Council of Justice, and all the others before His Honour the Governor.?'

202 For Retief’s disastrous financial engagements, see appendix to Murder of Retief.

203 Walker 1934, 129.

204 For Smit, see Chase, Natal 2, 1843, 34-35; Thom 1947, 184-192; DSAB 1, 1968, 728-730; Smit trans. Mears 1972,
169-173; Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 3-18.

205 Chase, Natal 2, 1843, 35.

206 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 28 (Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 64: ‘WelEerw. heer Erasmus Smit als de eerste 1éraar voor de
reizende gemeente der Gereformeerde Kerk ...").

207 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 30 (Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 66: 3 Juni. ... aan de noordzijde der spruit Vetrivier, waar ’t
leger van de Goeverneur nu ook gelegen is’). For the trek route to Hartplaas, see Visagie 2014, 83-84.

208 Nathan (1937, 164-167) and Gledhill and Gledhill (1980, 162-164) are among the few who record both ceremonies.
209 Smit (trans. Mears 1972, 25) calls Retief ‘chief commander’ first on 23 April (Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 61).
210 For this resolution, see Du Toit and Giliomee 1983, 282-283.

211 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 30-31 (Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 66-67).
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It is within this crucial constitutional context and its early definition of Afrikaner ideology that
Inauguration was conceived. Eily and Jack Gledhill emphasise that only an ‘estimated 140 of the
3,000 or more emigrants seem to have attended, but since no quorum was laid down, no one could
question the validity of the proceedings’.?*? The diary of Erasmus Smit acted as the blueprint, for
Coetzer’s drawing as well as for the frieze. The two main participants are particularly staged in their
presentation: the governor, Piet Retief, who takes the oath with his left hand on the Bible and his
right raised — not described as kneeling; and the president of the Council of Justice, Gerrit Maritz,
who is swearing Retief into office. The volume on which Maritz rests his right hand is probably his
own copy of Johannes van der Linden’s legal handbook, recommended for inclusion by the Histo-
riese Komitee, and the appropriate reference for a man in charge of Court and Volksraad.?*® It also
chimes with item seven of Retief’s manifesto: ‘... when we shall have framed a code of laws for our
future guidance, copies shall be forwarded to the colony for general information ...’”*** As inaugu-
rated governor and supreme commander, Retief was then able to undertake the swearing in of the
other appointed members to their offices, each with an agreed formula: first Maritz as second in
command; second Erasmus Smit as the minister of religion; and third the three justices of the peace
(heemraden),?* all portrayed in the relief. The solemn ceremony, the two leaders facing each other
in the centre foreground, and the orchestrated row of dignitaries waiting to be sworn in by Retief,
create a strongly ritual atmosphere which underlines the unanimous consent of the Voortrekkers
to the constitution. It is striking that Hendrik Potgieter, the former commandant of the combined
treks and chairman of the war council (‘Krygsraad’), was not among the new officials.

The second inauguration, at the Sunday service on 11 June 1837, which took place in a different
location, now on ‘the south side of the Vet river’,*'® focused, in contrast to the first, primarily on
Piet Retief and the power of Christian principles. Aspects of this ceremony, which was conducted
by the now sworn-in Erasmus Smit, were woven into the visual fabric of the Inauguration panel,
which thus merges the two events. The details of this act as reported in Smit’s diary are revealing:

Next the Minister turned himself to His Excellency the Governor Piet Retief, and invited His Excel-
lency now, near or in our church, to take the solemn oath. His Excellency knelt down on a cushion
before the preaching place, this being a table which served as a pulpit. The Minister opened the
Bible at the place where the Heidelberg Catechism begins, or the instruction in the Christian Doc-
trine which is used in the Nederduitse Gereformeerde churches and schools together with the Con-
fession of belief contained in the 37 Articles and the Liturgy of the same Church, and made the
Governor lay one hand on it while he held up the fingers of the right hand during the swearing of the
oath of which a copy follows here:

‘I, Pieter Retief, lawfully elected by the vote of the people as their Governor and supreme Head of the
General United Camps now solemnly swear before God Almighty that I as the Governor elected by
the people, (and all the Governors in time who after me shall come to govern this united community)
shall protect and defend the Christian Confession of belief according to the substance of Article 36,
together with whatever is connected with it in the Catechism and the Liturgy of the Nederduitse
Gereformeerde Kerk; and that I in my Government shall admit no Official to the administration of
Church or State, unless they are members of the before mentioned Gereformeerde Church and are
provided with good testimonials. May Almighty God help me in this.’

(Signed) P. Retief, Governor, etc.
‘Sworn before the congregation, 11 June 1837
(Witness) E. Smit, Minister.

212 Gledhill and Gledhill 1980, 162.

213 Regtsgeleerd, practicaal en koopmans handboek, published 1806; see Thom 1947, 116117 (Maritz’ personal copy);
Wallinga 2010, 566—574.

214 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 84.

215 For the office of the heemraden, a court of judges (literally: homestead councillors), see Wessels 1908, 152-153.
216 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 33 (10 June 1837); Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 69. For the topography, see Visagie
2014, 84.
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Now the Minister took the Bible and held this over and above the head of the Governor and addressed
His Excellency in this way:

‘Worshipful and Honoured Citizen Father! The congregation of people of the United Camp, by their
election of you as their lawful Governor ... Your Excellency laid your left hand on the Catechism and
the Confession of Faith of our Christian Gereformeerde Nederduitsche Kerk, while you Honour with
two fingers of the right hand raised, solemnly swore an oath in our Church before God the Father, the
Son, and the Holy Ghost ... and before the Congregation of the Gereformeerde Kerk of our Lord Jesus
meeting together in the wilderness ... Your Excellency then placed your hand on our Confession of
Faith; a Confession which your Honour has professed to be the true teaching of blessedness; a con-
fession which has been taken from the Bible; a Confession which has its foundation and security
in the Bible. By means of this ceremony your head [hoofd] now rests on this Bible ... May the Bible
be to Your Excellency the great foundation on which all the laws and decisions in time to be made
by Your Excellency must rest and be in agreement with. So shall Your Excellency with the blessing
of Almighty God enjoy success in Your Excellency’s rule. Be strong and do it because the Lord has
promised that He will be with the good ruler. May the Bible be as the sword of the Holy Spirit at your
side, and may abundant praise of God, who has called you, by means of the vote of the people and
through the religious Church induction, to be our Governor and Supreme Commander ...’

Next the Minister laid the Bible down again at the preaching place, and spread his hands, with wish
and prayer, over the head of the Governor, on his own behalf and in the name of the congregation,
wished the Governor in his Rule, and in addition all the other officials who had been elected by the
vote of the people on the 6th of the month, sincerely ...:

‘Long live the Governor and the Supreme Commander of our United Camp. May God grant to His
Honour the President and to all members of the Council in all matters of wisdom of the Spirit. May
the Lord strengthen His Honour and all the Honourable Members of the Council in all their impor-
tant official duties. May He appoint our Governor as a Moses over our camp, and the judges that are
appointed as Ehuds, Gideons and Samuels. Your Excellency and all the Honourable Judges!*” Give
care to what you do for you have Judgement not from men but from God. Now then, may the fear
of the Lord be upon you. Attend then, Gentlemen, to your duties and do them, because there is no
injustice with the Lord our God, neither respect of persons nor taking of presents, but righteous and
just is He the Lord will be with the good and the honest ... Amen. Yes, Amen.’

Basic elements of Smit’s description of the second ceremony were transferred into the marble, thus
endowing it with religious as well as civic meaning (fig. 6.11). Most significantly, though lacking the
cushion in the Coetzer drawings, Retief is kneeling down before the preaching place, a table which
served as a pulpit. In all the earlier designs the minister has the Bible opened as described by Smit
although it is closed in the final full-scale versions, but they still follow Smit’s description in which
Retieflays his left hand on it while he holds up the fingers of his right. The inclusion of these details
in the final narrative is at least to some degree responsible for the confusion of the two swearing-in
ceremonies. It explains also why some accounts date the inauguration as 6 and others as 11 June,
while yet others more cautiously avoid a specific date and simply say early June.?*® Another impor-
tant matter, the origin of the books used at the ceremony, was clarified by Hendrik Thom, who
identified the Bible with the Heidelberg Catechism by Zacharias Ursinus, and Van der Linden’s
legal handbook as coming from Maritz’ private trek library, which included a number of other legal
works as well.?* Giliomee, who mentions the Boer’s books, names especially the famous 1631 study
‘Inleydinge tot de Hollantsche rechtsgeleertheit’ (Introduction to the Dutch jurisprudence) by Hugo

217 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 33-36 (Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 69-72).

218 June 6: Cory, South Africa 4, 1926, 27-28; Jansen 1939, 4. June 11: Official Guide 1955, 47. Early in June: Walker 1934,
136-137.

219 Thom 1947, 116-118.
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Figure 6.11: Central group with Retief being sworn in by Gerrit Maritz in Inauguration. Marble, detail of fig. 6.1
(photo Russell Scott)

‘Grotius and a cannon - a great legal work and an instrument of violence: the two means of assert-
ing white supremacy’.??°

To understand this in relation to the frieze, we need to look at the different stages of Inaugu-
ration’s design. The conflation of the two ceremonies was already introduced by Coetzer who con-
centrated his drawings on three main persons only, Retief, Maritz and Smit (figs 6.2, 6.3, 6.4). While
he illustrated Smit’s report of Retief’s pose and the preaching table with the opened Bible for the
second ceremony on 11 June almost literally, it is not Erasmus Smit but Gerrit Maritz who swears
Retief into his offices as happened on 6 June. Whether the conflation was intentional or not, the

Historiese Komitee implicitly confirmed it when the committee members did not require Coetzer

220 Giliomee 2003, 162.
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Figure 6.12: Mother and baby seated behind Retief in Inauguration. Marble, detail of fig. 6.1
(photo Russell Scott)

to change Retief’s kneeling pose of 11 June and asked the artist to include Van der Linden’s legal
work that would have been part of the ceremony of 6 June. It was a clever visual move to confirm
the legal and religious aspects of Retief’s appointment in a single image, although it ignored the
official claim of historical accuracy. In the small plaster the three justices of the peace who had
been sworn in on 6 June after Retief, Maritz and Smit, join their company, and two women, one with
a child, were added to represent the congregation. Retief is now portrayed in the more formal pose
of genuflection, instead of kneeling on both knees on a cushion as in Coetzer’s portrayal. But the
basic conflation of the two ceremonies remains.

In merging the first ceremony with the second, the relief is conceptually loaded with the impli-
cations of both. Although the constitutional ceremony may seem to prevail, Inauguration is perme-
ated with Christian symbols. The altar-like table and the Holy Scripture mark, in a way not unlike
Presentation, the reiterated theme of Christian civilisation in the frieze, here positioned in the
centre of the east wall narrative. Complementing this theme, Retief’s raised hand, superimposed
on the folded arms of the Voortrekker, evokes the form of a cross, aptly placed above the ‘altar’
and the Bible. In his Sunday service of 11 June 1937, Smit refers to Retief as Moses and to the three
justices of the peace as 0ld Testament judges,?** who were chosen by God to rescue the Israelites
from their enemies, to establish justice and to practise worship. He names Ehud who rallied them
to a bloody victory over the Moabites; Gideon, ‘the Destroyer’, who led them to overcome the Mid-
ianites; and Samuel, literally meaning ‘Name of God’, who anointed the first of their kings, Saul

221 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 36 (Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 71-72).
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and David. It seems as if Retief’s ambitions for future Boer policies were given biblical blessing.?*?

Such rhetoric was not only significant at the time of the treks but, later in the nineteenth century,
was picked up by the nationalistic Afrikaner movement under Kruger to (re)invent Afrikaners as
‘God’s modern Chosen People’.??

A curious addition to the topic of Inauguration is a mother holding her baby, who at a pragmatic
level indicates the presence of the diversity of Voortrekker witnesses. Both figures are formally pre-
sented, she in strict profile, the baby frontal and, while the baby is large, the mother is unnaturally
small and her facial features are hidden (fig. 6.12). She lacks a direct connection to the ceremony
and is strangely detached from the official act. In its formality and idealisation, her image refers
to the essential role of the mother, which ensured the continuity of the white civilisation the Voor-
trekkers were bringing to the interior. The reduced size, the idealised style and the statuesque pose
distance the pair from the other figures, and make it seem more than an ordinary depiction of a
Voortrekker mother and child: she is the ‘volksmoeder’ (mother of the volk), the female icon of
Afrikanerdom,?** emblematically complementing the governor whom Smit described as ‘Honoured
Citizen Father’. Though the concept of the volksmoeder had its roots in the nineteenth century, the
print media of the following century endowed the volksmoeder with a new nationalist profile — for
example, through Die boervrouw, moeder van haar volk (The Boer woman, mother of her nation)
by O’Kulis, printed in 1918;?*® or Die Boerevrou, the first women’s monthly magazine published in
Afrikaans, from March 1919 to December 1931.2%6 O’Kulis is of particular interest for the frieze, as
this is the pen name of the Reverend Dr Willem Postma, father of the sculptor Laurika Postma.?*”

In the 1930s, at the time when the topics of the frieze were conceived, the motif of the seated
volksmoeder holding a baby appeared in contemporary Voortrekker murals, especially in Preto-
ria’s recently rebuilt City Hall situated near Harmony Hall, the sculptors’ workshop. In 1937 J.H.
Amshewitz was commissioned to paint the oil Onward, with Voortrekkers breaking a laager in
the background, and in the foreground an approximately life-size group of four Boers (fig. 6.13)
who, according to Frederico Freschi, conflate concepts of the treks with the Anglo-Boer war.??® The
multi-layered composition, enhanced by virtuoso light and colour, with its three main figures, is
unique: a man who stands on top of a rock with the flag of the ZAR and points heroically onwards; a
matron who sits in front of him and holds a baby to her breast, while she proffers a pistol to a youth
kneeling in front of her; finally, on the right, a young woman armed with a rifle. Only a year later
Jan Juta (1895-1990) was asked to paint a series of colossal Voortrekker narratives for the City Hall,
two of which, designed as counterparts for the Council Chamber, include a seated mother with a
baby. The first is on the left in Settlers presenting a Bible to Jacobus Uys, a work discussed earlier
in Presentation (fig. 6.14). A maternal figure is also depicted in the other, The development of the
Transvaal (fig. 6.15).%*° Freschi has argued that the group with the mother is

clearly a quotation from a Renaissance scene of the Adoration of the Magi, ‘Joseph’ in form of a Boer
patriarch (who bears a marked similarity to the ‘Uys’ of the opposite panel) looks fondly down at
‘Mary and the Holy Infant’ in form of a volksmoeder cradling a baby at her breast while the ‘Magi’
[here a stooped Black and Boer] bring their gifts [field crops] from both sides.?3°

222 Retief outlines his new mission as governor and supreme commander of the Boers in a letter to the Griqua chiefs,
written to them at Sand River on 18 July 1837; see Chase, Natal 2, 1843, 113-116; Du Toit and Giliomee 1985, 171-173
no. 4.14b (with some omissions in the text).

223 Thompson 1985, 170-171. See also Du Toit 1983.

224 Brink 1990; Van der Watt 1996, 45-56; Freschi 2006, 97-98, 101-102, 105-108; Swart 2007.

225 O’Kulis 1918.

226 For Die Boerevrou, see Van Rensbhurg 2012.

227 Nienaber 1950; DSAB 2, 1972, 554-556; Van der Watt 1996, 48; Swart and Van der Watt 2008, 140-141; https://
af.wikipedia.org/wiki/Willem_Postma.

228 Foyer, oil on canvas (3.5 x 3 m): Freschi 2006, 94-99 figs 45, 47-48 (with different measurement, 3.66 x 2.64 m).
229 Council Chamber, oil on canvas: ibid., 106-109 figs 64-67, 70-71.

230 Ibid., 108.
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Figure 6.13: ].H. Amshewitz. Voorwaarts (Onward). 1937. Qil, 3.5 x 3 m. Pretoria City Hall (courtesy of City of Tshwane; photo Helenus Kruger)
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Figure 6.14: Jan Juta.
Mother and child in
Settlers presenting
a Bible to Jacobus
Uys. 1938. Oil on
canvas, detail of

fig. 2.4. Pretoria City
Hall (courtesy of City
of Tshwane; photo
Helenus Kruger)

N

Figure 6.15: Jan Juta. The development of the Transvaal, with central group of mother and child. 1938. Oil on canvas, c. 3.35 x 9.14 m.

Pretoria City Hall (courtesy of City of Tshwane; photo Helenus Kruger)

The motif of the volksmoeder with a baby shares similar values with Inauguration, and with the
other mothers who carry babies or small children in such scenes of the frieze as Descent, Bloukrans
and Teresa Viglione. In Debora Retief, a scene that focuses on gendered role models for Afrikaner
children, the charming little girl with a doll in her lap anticipates her later status as volksmoeder.
The concept behind Amshewitz’ volksmoeder, however, is more diverse as she unites the feminine
role of nurturing her infant with tough readiness for armed combat. While in the frieze both the
intimacy of nursing a child and the overt aggression of handling a weapon are strictly avoided in
maternal figures, their hardiness in trekking through the wilderness and protecting their children
is omnipresent. The icon of the volksmoeder with a baby is related to nationalist agendas such as
reproduction, vigour and, if necessary, aggression in order to protect, and hence links to the sur-
vival of the Afrikaner volk. The figure adds further layers of meaning to Inauguration, but her scale
and position also emphasise patriarchal hierarchy, with the small volksmoeder at the periphery
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and the new governor and supreme commander and supporting men in the centre. Likewise, the
second female figure is a diminutive presence on the far left, another witness to the inauguration
but one whose view is limited to Maritz’ back.

Of the first six images of the frieze there are two, Presentation and Inauguration, which bestow
in a most solemn iconography the crucial meaning of religion and Christianity in the Afrikaner
understanding of the Voortrekkers.?3! In the rhetoric of the frieze, the Voortrekkers are charac-
terised as law-abiding and blessed by God and the Holy Scriptures. Walker endorses such Afri-
kaner credos when he states in 1933 that the trekkers believed that in Retief ‘they had found their
Moses’.?*2 The three Voortrekker wagons in the background of the relief, which form a backdrop
to the ceremonial character of Retief’s inauguration and his sanctified constitutional and military
powers, also emphasise the context of the Trek and his key role in the exodus of his people. It was
the overall importance that Piet Retief was awarded by later Afrikaners that secured him twice
over a central position within the Monument’s relief narrative, in Inauguration on the east wall
and Murder of Retief on the south wall, which echo the centrality of his cenotaph in the hall below.

231 For specific Afrikaner interests in and rereadings of the Voortrekkers’ Christianity, see the excellent analysis by
Thompson 1985, 144-188; see further O’Meara 1983, 67-77.
232 Walker 1934, 104 (without referencing the diary of Erasmus Smit).
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Kapain

East wall (panel 9/31)

h. 2.3 x w. 4.32 m (small overlaps with Inauguration and Negotiation)
Restored fractures on vertical edges between panels 8 to 10
Sculptor of clay maquette: Hennie Potgieter
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One-third-scale clay maquette, not extant but replicated in B2 (1942-43)
One-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 77 x w. 152.7 x d. 9 cm (1942-43)
Full-scale wooden armature, not extant (1943-45)

Full-scale clay relief, not extant but recorded in photograph;

replicated in C3 (1943-45)

Full-scale plaster relief (1943-45), not extant but illustrated
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This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110668797-012
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Figure 7.1: D. Kapain. 1949. Marble, 2.3 x 4.32 m (courtesy of VTM; photo Russell Scott)
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Description

A most unusual battle is portrayed: four Voortrekkers on saddled horses fight against nine half-
naked Ndebele?® riding bare-backed on oxen (fig. 7.1). The Voortrekkers are dressed in their con-
ventional jackets and trousers, while the Ndebele wear the traditional dress of Nguni warriors, a
knee-length back apron made of skin (‘ibeshu’), a bunch of skin tassels (‘umcedo’) sewn together
to cover the genitals, a long, bulky skin tassel which may be part of the front apron (‘isinene’), and
the tuft of a cow’s tail on a band around the upper arms and below the knees (‘amashoba’).?* The
two groups fill the marble panel edge to edge, positioned close to the picture plane with very little
spatial depth to accommodate them. The space is further curtailed by three Zulu shields, horizon-
tally arranged, that form a screen behind the collapsing figures on the left.

Whereas the small group of Voortrekkers ride almost effortlessly towards the right, most of the
Ndebele are enmeshed in terrible turmoil. Only two of them are still advancing on their mounts,
while the rest, like several of their oxen, are either collapsing or already dead. To the rear, the
Voortrekker who leads their charge fires at the two Ndebele in front of him, while the rider behind
him loads his gun. A third holds his rifle upright as though newly arrived, the bag over his shoul-
der and his loose kerchief streaming behind him; he still wears his hat, which the others seem to
have abandoned in the melee. The fourth rider in the foreground is none other than their leader
Hendrik Potgieter, who has thick wavy hair, longer than that of his companions, and a moustache
and beard. His head rests on his horse’s neck, so that his beard mingles with its mane, as he leans
down to seize a dismounted Ndebele from behind by the neck. His adversary is half-kneeling and
half-falling, his left leg strangely elongated. The aggressive horse, with mouth agape and ears laid
back, tramples another collapsing Ndebele, its right hoof on the man’s chest, the left thrusting into
his crotch. A dynamic counterpart to this figure is another on the right who is pitching headlong to
the ground from his collapsing mount. Two further Ndebele, their faces turned towards the viewer,
lie dead in the foreground, one supine, yet with his far leg bent in a mannered fashion, the other
lying on his right side. Above the collapsing ox in the foreground, the heads of three further beasts,
one behind the other, portray their agitation, particularly one that roars in distress. The volume of
the Ndebele force is also suggested by the rumps of oxen, receding one behind the other on the far
right. Above, in the background, only four Ndebele remain to face the Voortrekker riders: the first
topples backwards fatally, as does the last, prefiguring the fate of their mounted kinsmen, who are
held at lethal gunpoint by the foremost Voortrekker. Although the Ndebele are armed with spears
and shields, only one of them, distinguished by an uprising coil of hair,?*® holds his spear as though
ready to attack.

233 For Ndebele, see Vegkop.

234 For (high-ranking) Zulu clothing, see Krige 1981, 370-382, esp. 374-375; and Treaty (‘Description’).

235 It seems to be a reduced version of the much larger Zulu headgear shown in Coetzer’s drawing and Kruger’s
subsequent clay maquettes for Treaty.
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Figure 7.2: B2. Hennie Potgieter. Kapain. 1942-43. Plaster, 77 x 152.7 x 9 cm. Maquette (courtesy of VTM Museum VTM 2184/1-28; photo
Russell Scott)

Figure 7.3: C2. Kapain. 1943-45. Clay. Full-scale relief (courtesy of Romanelli files; photo Alan Yates, with pencil lines added for copy
process)
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Developing the design

In Part I Chapters 3 and 4 we argued that the late addition of Kapain was influenced by personal,
formal and political considerations. Two reasons were crucial. First, by the introduction of the new
panel, the key ideological issues of the visual narrative on the east wall were given a clear symmet-
rical order: the centre piece, Inauguration (with Retief but without Potgieter), was now framed by
two battles, Vegkop and Kapain, and then two scenes of negotiations, Delagoa Bay and Negotiation.
Second, in contrast to earlier designs of the frieze, the increased focus on the achievements of
Hendrik Potgieter, the victor in both battle scenes, meant that his representation was on a par with
those of the other three main Trek leaders, Trichardt, Retief and Pretorius. Hendrik Potgieter owed
his upgraded status to Hennie Potgieter, who proposed Kapain, encouraged by the gift of a book by
Potgieter’s grandson, although the sculptor was quick to point out that he was not himself related
to the Voortrekker leader. As the scene was first conceived by him, we have no drawing by Coetzer.
But fortunately we have the small clay maquette cast in plaster (fig. 7.2), and a photograph of the
full-scale model made in clay (fig. 7.3).

The composition is for the most part already developed in the small plaster maquette, although
there is more breathing space for the figures at the top than in the full-scale clay relief and the
marble. But there are also significant alterations in the detail when the small plaster was remod-
elled on a large scale. For example, Potgieter is shown with a jacket (not in his shirt sleeves), and
is sitting in the saddle instead of half-standing in the stirrups, two changes that may diminish the
drama of his intrepid action. In the full-scale panel he is also endowed with unusually long and
wavy hair. There is also an increase in the very packed nature of the composition, as in the addition
of yet another beast to the three oxen whose hindquarters appear on the far right of the maquette.
And most heads, bodies and accessories of the Ndebele are more dramatically staged, with a more
refined finish.
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Figure 7.4: Routes of the main treks with Kapain in the north. 1835-38 (the authors; drawing Janet Alexander)
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Reading the narrative

Thanks to studies by R. Kent Rasmussen, Pieter J. van der Merwe and Alkis Doucakis, it is possible
to achieve a better understanding of the credibility and diversity of the historical sources that relate
to the confrontations between the Voortrekkers and the Ndebele.?*® Three months after Hendrik
Potgieter’s small party had put to flight a major army of Mzilikazi’s Ndebele at Vegkop in October
1836 (fig. 74), a commando of one hundred and seven Boers, and about thirty-five Griqua, four
Koranna and sixty Rolong, led by Potgieter and Gerrit Maritz, defeated him again on 17 January
1837. This time they massacred up to four hundred of the inhabitants of Mosega and destroyed
thirteen to fifteen kraals of this major Ndebele settlement built in the valley of the Marico River.?*”
The Voortrekkers captured about six to eight thousand cattle, more than they had lost at Vegkop.?*®
Hearing about Mzilikazi’s misfortune, Dingane aimed to take advantage of it and sent a Zulu army
in June against his old adversary but with limited success. When the Zulu returned home in Sep-
tember, however, they were able to drive with them ‘considerable numbers of captured ... cattle and
sheep’, some of which ‘had originally belonged to the Boers, who continued to lay claim on it’.?*°

At the time that Retief set out for Natal, a new and larger Boer commando was formed from
Hendrik Potgieter’s party, reinforced by the recently arrived trekkers of Petrus Lafras (Piet) Uys,?*°
as both these leaders wanted to regain stolen livestock and take control of the northern Highveld.
Hence a last and decisive battle was fought against the Ndebele, as far north as the royal headquar-
ters of Mzilikazi at Kapain (eGabeni), situated some sixty-four kilometres north of Mosega and close
to Silkaatskop (fig. 7.4).24* As at Mosega, the Voortrekkers did not use the laager with its superior
defensive strategy that is associated with Boer battles, but were proactive aggressors, who fought
a decisive running battle on horseback. This did not, however, last the legendary nine days from 4
to 11 November recorded in scholarship since the writings of George McCall Theal, but three, from
28-30 November, uncovered by a careful reading of source texts by Van der Merwe in 1986 and new
primary evidence provided by Doucakis in 2000.%*?

At sunrise on 26 November 1837, having ridden north towards Kapain, more than three hundred
Voortrekkers and Rolong auxiliaries®*® under the command of Potgieter and Uys became ‘masters
of the position’, as recalled by John Montgomery (1803-71), a British settler and travelling trader,
who accompanied the Boers and was present at the battle.** The Boers challenged a vast army of

236 Rasmussen 1978; Van der Merwe 1986; Doucakis 2000, who discussed in this context the importance of John
Montgomery’s diary (ed. Giffard 1981, esp. 117-132).

237 Eyewitness report of the American missionary, the Rev. David Lindley, in Kotzé 1950, 168-170 (p.162 no. 41 ‘Joint
letter to Anderson, Grahamstown, 2nd May, 1837’); Lindley reports further that immediately after the massacre the
missionaries — he, the Rev. Henry Venable and Dr Alexander Wilson (ibid., 13-14) — decided to forsake Mosega and
set out ‘in company with white men [Boers] and black men [Rolong], footmen and horsemen ... and ... 6,000 head of
cattle’ to Thaba Nchu, where they arrived on 31 January 1838 at the Wesleyan missionary station of the Rev. James
Archbell (ibid., 170-171). For the massacre at Mosega, see Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 85; Thom 1947, 131-136; Rasmussen
1978, 123-128; Van der Merwe 1986, 137-177; Laband 1995, 81; Doucakis 2000, 507. A scene showing this attack was
proposed in ‘Voorstelle’, item 21: ‘Potgieter se aanval op Mosega, en verdrywing van Mzilagazie. Hiervoor bestaan
verskeie uitvoerige beskrywings van die Amerikaanse sendelinge, e.a.” (Potgieter’s attack on Mosega and expulsion
of Mzilikazi, of which the American missionaries provide various comprehensive descriptions). For the location, ca.
twelve kilometres south-south-east of today’s Zeerust, see Raper, Moller and Du Plessis 2014, 342.

238 For the variant numbers, see Smit trans. Mears 1972, 20 (26 January 1837: ‘6,000 horned cattle’; 28 January 1837:
‘7,838 horned stock’. Dutch text Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 57-58); Thom 1947, 134; Van der Merwe 1986, 165-166. Potgieter
(1987, 43) claims there were two thousand battle oxen: ‘tweeduisend vegosse’.

239 Laband 1995, 81.

240 Visagie 2011, 504-505.

241 For the background story, see Doucakis 2000, 507-511.

242 Montgomery ed. Giffard 1981, 127-128. See Van der Merwe 1986, 206-207; Doucakis 2000, 510-513 (28 to
30 November). For the location, see Ransford 1972, map p.185; Van der Merwe 1986, 207-210.

243 For the number, see Van der Merwe 1986, 205-206; Doucakis 2000, 511 (‘about 300 able-bodied men’).

244 Montgomery ed. Giffard 1981, 127-128. See Doucakis 2000, 510 (on Montgomery, see 504 n 8).
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Figure 7.5: Charles Bell. Koranna Pack-oxen. Watercolour. Undated, 11 x 17.5 cm (collection Dr Frank Bradlow;
Brooke Simons 1998, 60)

Ndebele including, as asserted in the 1938 account by Potgieter and Theunissen, even riders on
battle beasts, oxen with sharpened horns (‘vegbeeste bestaan uit osse met skerpgemaakte hor-
ings’).2** The account emphasised that the trekkers were fortunate, because the deafening noise
of their guns and the smell of the blood of numerous fallen Ndebele and animals made the battle
oxen run wild.?*¢ It was undoubtedly this exotic aspect of the battle that caused Hennie Potgieter
to pick it out as a subject for the frieze, and he boasts that this is ‘the only panel in the world where
oxen and horses were portrayed in a battle against each other’, and purports that ‘this was the only
occasion when blacks used oxen as mounts in a battle’.**

His statement is questionable, however. Such a use of oxen was not unique in South Africa. We
know from Theal that the Khoikhoi had ‘great skill in training oxen to obey certain calls, as well as
to carry burdens, and bulls were taught not only to assist in guarding the herds from robbers and
beasts of prey, but also to aid in war by charging the enemy on the field of battle’.?*® The painter
Charles Davidson Bell (1813-82) even produced a charming watercolour, Koranna Pack-oxen,
showing Koranna mounted bareback on oxen, including a naked rider who ‘appears to be enjoying
the fun’ (fig. 7.5) — and Koranna were also part of the Potgieter and Uys commando.?*° And later in
the 1890s the artist Heinrich Egersdérfer sketched two black people mounted on oxen alongside a
mail coach crossing a river in Rhodesia.?*° But undermining Hennie Potgieter’s claim more seriously
are accounts that diverge from the Potgieter-Theunissen text of 1938 that the sculptor relied on.?!

245 Potgieter and Theunissen 1938, 79-95 (p.90, quote); see also Ransford 1972, 99-101; Potgieter 1987, 42-43.

246 Potgieter and Theunissen 1938, 90-91.

247 ‘Dit is ook die enigste paneel ter wéreld waar bees en perd in 'n veldslag teen mekaar uitgebeeld is, en die enigste
keer waar die Swartes van beeste as rydiere in 'n veldslag gebruik gemaak het’ (Potgieter 1987, 18). He does speak of
Hottentots and Griekwas riding oxen, but possibly did not consider them blacks.

248 Theal 1902, 21 (Hottentots); McGill 1977, 50.

249 Chapman 1868, drawing opp. p.128 (Koranna pack-oxen); Simons 1998, 60 with quote and fig. (undated;
11 x 175 cmy; coll. Dr Frank Bradlow). See also the seventeenth-century sketch ‘of Khoekhoen with their cattle’ in Par-
sons 2017, 7 fig. 2-2.

250 Rosenthal 1960 (no fig. and page number).

251 For a critical review of Potgieter and Theunissen 1938, see Van der Merwe 1986, 224-226.
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1 Jan van Wyk, bus driver
2 Mathys Gerhardus Human Potgieter, brother of the sculptor

3 Dr Carel Potgieter [great-grandson of trek leader, for Hendrik Potgieter]

Figure 7.6: Models for portraits (Potgieter 1987, 18)

Figure 7.7: Hendrik Potgieter on horseback killing Ndebele in Kapain. Marble, detail of fig. 7.1 (photo Russell Scott)
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Figure 7.8: Roman sarcophagus with Amazonomachy, Rome. c. AD 140-150. Marble, 65 x 247 cm (photo courtesy of the Musei Capitolini 726)

Figure 7.9: Roman battle sarcophagus ‘Ammendola’, Rome. c. AD 160-180. Marble, 78 x 211 cm (courtesy of the Musei Capitolini S 213;
photo www.arachne.uni-koeln.de, Mal1683-01)
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For example, in discussing Piet Uys’ role in the battle in publications in 1976 and 1988, Ian Uys
recounts that the Ndebele ‘put up a spirited defence, which included driving [not riding] maddened
oxen against the mounted Trekkers’,?*? though the Boers ‘managed to disperse the animals with
well-placed volleys and drove them back on the enemy’.?>> Accounts written so long after the event
may be questioned, particularly when they are contradictory; but the total omission of the beasts in
the contemporary reports of the campaign at Kapain makes the very presence of the oxen dubious.

It took the Boers three days to beat the Ndebele, killing up to four hundred of their men, but
themselves suffering no losses at all.*** Though the Boers were not able to follow the retreating
enemy further, as they were running out of ammunition and supplies, Mzilikazi and his Ndebele
decided to migrate to beyond the Limpopo River and left the Highveld to them. The Boers pulled
back as well and, in early December, stopped at what was later the farm Deelkraal in the Gatsrand,
about thirty-three kilometres north-east of Potchefstroom. Here they finally distributed the booty
of livestock, after a strong dispute between the leaders,** as Potgieter was determined that those
who had lost theirs at Vegkop should be recompensed first. Montgomery reports that of the four
thousand six hundred head of cattle, ‘each warrior, on division of the spoil, after deducting the
expenses, received from five to seven head’.?>¢ When this was done, Hendrik Potgieter, according to
Potgieter and Theunissen, issued a bold proclamation taking possession of Mzilikazi’s former ter-
ritory by right of conquest in a just cause (‘regverdige saak’), namely the areas that would become
the northern Free State and most of the ZAR, as well as eastern Bechuanaland.?””

Carel Potgieter, grandson of the trek leader, who had gifted the biography to Hennie Potgieter,
was the sculptor’s model for his great-grandfather, portrayed as the most prominent horseman in
Kapain, as the sculptor records (figs 7.6, 7.7). He is the only Voortrekker shown with thick, long and
wavy hair that seems to echo the mane of ancient heroes and medieval knights. On the register of
iconography, however, the moustache and shaggy beard under his chin, characteristic of a trek-
boer, are at odds with the heroic hairstyle, and Potgieter’s calm facial expression and strange pose,
bent over his steed’s neck, are distinctly non-heroic. Similar links yet divergences from historical
‘prototypes’ drive the iconography of the collapsing or dead bodies of the Ndebele, where some
poses are reminiscent of dying barbarians and Amazons on Roman sarcophagi (fig. 7.8).>® The
same is true of the way in which Potgieter’s horse is trampling a fallen Ndebele, yet another classi-
cal motif adopted and deformed. Although different in style and detail, the Ammendola sarcopha-
gus carved around AD 160-180 is a telling example of the compact layout and drama characteristic
of Roman iconography (fig. 7.9),*° which is both reflected yet contradicted by Kapain. This peculiar
clash of visual traditions, ranging from ancient concepts to the naive, almost literal realism of the
day, makes this relief both fascinating and somewhat perplexing.

The curious pose of the Voortrekker leader in the panel needs explanation. The sculptor
Hennie Potgieter, who claimed that he had conceived Kapain on his own, derived this motif from a
minor incident that he had read about in the Potgieter-Theunissen biography. It recounted that, on
8 November 1837, after an Ndebele had attacked Hendrik Potgieter with a speatr, the latter ‘spurred

252 Uys 1988, 36. As there are no other accounts corresponding to this, it does seem possible that he misread the
Potgieter-Theunissen statement about the oxen becoming maddened by the smell of blood (‘die reuk van bloed het
hulle mal gemaak’) (Uys 1938, 90).

253 Uys 1976, 5.

254 Montgomery ed. Giffard 1981, 127-128; Doucakis 2000, 510. Highly inflated figures are provided by Potgieter and
Theunissen (1938, 93), who reference Sarel Cilliers’ extravagant claim that at least three thousand Ndebele fighters lay
dead between Mosega and Kapain (‘Cilliers skat dat daar tussen Tweedepoort en Enzelberg [i.e. Mosega and Kapain]
tenminste 3,000 vegkaffers doodgelé het’). See the critique by Van der Merwe 1986, 217, 224.

255 Montgomery ed. Giffard 1981, 128; Doucakis 2000, 511.

256 Montgomery ed. Giffard 1981, 128. This is within the margins of the calculated three to six thousand head of
captured cattle provided by Van der Merwe 1986, 217-218.

257 Potgieter and Theunissen 1938, 92.

258 Russenberger 2014, 465 n 1, 478 pl. 1 (Amazonomachy; Rome, Museo Capitolino 726; c. AD 140-150).

259 Ibid., 156 fig. 74; see also Grummond and Ridgway 2010, 210-211 fig. 78; Faust 2012, 177-182 pl. 69.
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Figure 7.10: Dying Ndebele and oxen in Kapain. Marble, detail of fig. 7.1
(photo Russell Scott)

his horse after the kaffir, who had turned to flee, grabbed him with his strong hand behind the
neck, lifted him from the ground and flung him down unconscious’.2®® Regardless of whether this
actually happened, it is obvious that, while inspired by this adulating narrative, the bold action is
noticeably muted (fig. 7.6). Potgieter is neither lifting nor flinging down the Ndebele, but releasing
him as he pitches forward to the ground.

This diluted representation probably relates to the sculptor’s limited skill in meeting the chal-
lenge of translating such complex action into the shallow confines of a relief. In attempting to rep-
resent the anecdote of Hendrik Potgieter’s great strength in overcoming an Ndebele soldier with his
bare hands, the sculptor also introduced a historical inconsistency. According to his source, Pot-
gieter and Theunissen, that incident took place the day before the pitched battle with oxen. It is an
example of the desire for dramatic pictorial motifs taking precedence over veracity, the histrionic
preferred to the historic. It is also intriguing that, despite its importance in the Voortrekker story,
the Battle of Kapain has received scholarly attention only more recently, and often goes unmen-
tioned in the primary and secondary sources on the treks.?*! In the minutes of the SVK it does not
seem to have been brought up at all, although the Mosega conflict is addressed in ‘Voorstelle’.25?

260 ‘Potgieter spoor sy perd op die kaffer wat omspring om to vlug, pak hom met sy sterk hand agter die nek, lig hom
van die grond en smyt hom bewusteloos neer’ (Potgieter and Theunissen 1938, 90).

261 Rasmussen 1978, 131-132; Van der Merwe 1986, 190-226; Doucakis 2000, 507-513.

262 Van der Merwe (1986, 214-216) points out that a number of accounts fuse the Mosega commando with the second
commando to Kapain, but he is convinced that there were two campaigns.
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Moreover, the purpose-made maps of the Official Guide, designed to show the main routes and
sites of the treks, mark several battlefields but fail to show Kapain.?®? It is the relief itself that brings
Kapain back onto the map of southern African history and claims a position for it as an essential
part of the Afrikaner narrative of the Great Trek.

Despite Kapain having been a rather peripheral episode in the received history of the treks,
however, this military narrative plays a significant role in the conceptualisation of the frieze. In
focus, style and composition Kapain is the converse of Vegkop, just as the real battles were in
strategic terms. Whereas Vegkop offers a view into the internal organisation of the laager defence
system, where the enemy is almost invisible and restricted to the margins, Kapain is a model image
of conflict set in the thick of head-to-head battle, combining victory with extreme pathos, drama
and death. The forward motion and aggressively set back ears of the two leading horses reflect the
Voortrekkers’ force and determination in battle, as the four Boer victors ride with ease against a
superior number of Ndebele and their beasts (fig. 7.7). In vivid contrast, the men and oxen of the
enemy seem to collapse in on themselves (fig. 7.10). The heads of the oxen and those of the three
collapsing Ndebele concentrated in the relief’s lower centre act as a visual metonym of Mzilikazi’s
disaster. The rather irksome focus on battle oxen, not acknowledged by most historians but fore-
grounded by the sculptor, makes Kapain a racial manifesto of white superiority over black prim-
itivism. Was this one of the reasons why Moerdyk and the SVK gave their blessing so readily to
Potgieter’s choice? This intention seems supported by a disparaging remark Moerdyk made in the
Official Guide: ‘Although this type of attack may have been effective against primitive weapons, it
failed against the flint-locks of the Voortrekkers. 2%

Kapain highlights perhaps more than any other scene that the process of conceiving and making
the narratives selected for the frieze was based on a constantly shifting relationship between the
intentions of the SVK and officialdom, personal ideas of the sculptors, and incidental occurrences,
all affecting the final portrayal. It is this complex negotiation which, rather unexpectedly, has given
Kapain a distinct visual profile of lasting — and challenging — relevance.

263 Official Guide 1955, 16, which marks only Mosega, while the map in the 1970 edition (p.16) omits both Mosega and
Kapain; the latter is also not indicated on the maps in Giliomee and Mbenga 2007, 114; Heymans and Theart-Peddle
2009, 2; and Legassick and Ross 2010, 287 fig. 6.2; nor in the explanatory maps provided at the Voortrekker Monument
today. Kapain (Gabeni) is included, however, on the maps in Walker 1934, opp. p.378; Ransford 1972, 185; Muller 1978,
9; Ramussen 1978, 99; Heymans 1986, opp. the title page.

264 Official Guide 1955, 48.
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8 Negotiation

East wall (10/31)

h.23xw.273m

Restored fractures on vertical edge

Sculptor of the clay maquette: Frikkie Kruger

STAGES OF PRODUCTION

Al

W.H. Coetzer, pencil drawing, retained only in A2 (April-June 1937)

A2 Reproduction of A1 (June 1937)
A3 W.H. Coetzer, revised pencil drawing Al, h. 13.4 x w. 15.4 cm

B1
B2
C1
C2

C3

D

(after September 1937)

Annotations: ‘Onderhandeling met Morokko’ (Negotiations with Moroka) /
‘Archbell sonder hoed’ (Archbell without hat)

One-third-scale clay maquette, not extant, but replicated in B2 (1942-43)
One-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 77 x w. 77 x d. 8.5 cm (1942-43)
Full-scale wooden armature, not extant (1943-45)

Full-scale clay relief, not extant but recorded in photograph; replicated
in C3 (1943-45)

Full-scale plaster relief (1943-45), not extant but illustrated (Die Vader-
land, 26.2.1945 [ 10.9.1947); copied in D (1948-49)

Marble as installed in the Monument (1949)

EARLY RECORDS

SVK minutes (4.9.1937) — item 4f (see below, ‘Developing the design’)

Wenke (c. 1934-36) — item IL. Dr. L. Steenkamp, mnre. A.J. du Plessis en M. Basson, A. ‘MAATSKAPLIK’ (SOCIAL), 3.
‘Verhouding met ander volksgroepe’ (Relationship with other ethnic groups), a. ‘Verdrag met Moroko’ (Treaty
with Moroka) / item VI. SEN. F.S. MALAN, 5. ‘Ander toneel: Onderhoud tussen Voortrekkers en Moroko te
Thabantsjoe’ (Other scene: Negotiations between Voortrekkers and Moroka at Thaba Nchu)

Moerdyk Layout (5.10.1936-15.1.1937 — scene 6 on panel 9/31 ‘Thaban Chu’ (Thaba Nchu).

Jansen Memorandum (19.1.1937) — item 7.6 ‘The Voortrekkers at Thaba Nchu with Moroka and Archbell who

3 Open Access. © 2020 Elizabeth Rankin and Rolf Michael Schneider, published by De Gruyter and African Minds.
This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110668797-013

rendered them assistance’
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Figure 8.1: D. Negotiation. 1949. Marble, 2.3 x 2.73 m (courtesy of VTM; photo Russell Scott)
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Description

There are two unequal parties facing each other: on the left three black men are crowded together
whereas the rest of the panel is given to three stereotypically dressed Voortrekkers with wide-
brimmed hats (fig. 8.1). The first of them has a beard, Voortrekker-style around his chin; a powder
horn hangs at his waist and he holds a muzzleloader, its butt resting on the ground in front of him.
His gesturing right hand suggests that he addresses the black man in front of him, who faces him
silently, his hands resting on a staff. It is Moroka, the leader of the Rolong.?®* Portrayed in a more
mature way than his companions, the bearded Rolong chief wears a pouch covering his genitals,
and a cape of buck skin with the legs knotted and the hooves dangling decoratively over his right
shoulder. His two companions behind him wear similar garb, although their capes are draped less
formally, and they lack ceremonial staffs. All three African figures with their distinctive profile por-
traits are shown in three-quarter view, and the one furthest left, holding a traditional knobkierie,
stands with his weight on his left leg, the only figure in the frieze that is depicted in a classicising
contrapposto stance. The large lidded container standing between them is possibly a milk pail.

A well-trained dog sits behind the first Voortrekker, looking up at the young Boer, perhaps its
master, who stands facing the animal, a muzzleloader slung over his shoulder. Behind him in the
background, a bearded Voortrekker sits observantly on a statue-like horse, which is poised curi-
ously above the grass, its hooves not touching firm ground. Still further away, in the gap between
the rider and Potgieter, a herd of cattle grazes. The massive mountain behind is a compressed depic-
tion of the Black Mountain (in Tswana ‘Thaba Nchu’; known to the Boers as Blesberg, ‘meaning
blazed or bald mountain’®®¢), a landmark of the Highveld in this area and closely associated with
Moroka’s Rolong.2%”

265 Inaccord with modern scholarship (e.g. Etherington 2001; The Cambridge History of South Africa, vol. 1, 2010) we
use the simple form ‘Rolong’, without the prefix ‘ba/Ba’ meaning ‘people of’; see Landau 2010, 1n 1.

266 Raper, Moller and Du Plessis 2014, 37.

267 Landau 2010, 112; Raper, Moller and Du Plessis 2014, 492.
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Figure 8.2: A2. W.H. Coetzer. Reproduction of first sketch for Negotiation. June 1937
(courtesy of ARCA PV94 1/75/5/1; photo the authors)

Figure 8.3: A3. W.H. Coetzer. ‘Onderhandeling met Morokko’. After September 1937. Pencil,
13.4 x 15.4 cm. Revised first sketch (photo courtesy of Museum Africa, no. 66/2194C)
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Developing the design

The reproduction shows us Coetzer’s first pencil drawing that represents the negotiations between
the Voortrekkers and the Rolong (fig. 8.2). A Boer, who as we will argue must be Jacobus Johannes
Potgieter, with broad-brimmed hat, jacket, belt and knapsack, is placed prominently in the centre,
seen almost from the back as he addresses Moroka with open mouth and flourishing hands. The
chief is depicted frontally, not half-naked but in full garb, his hands resting calmly on a staff with
spiral decoration. He is framed by two figures standing behind him, a young Rolong on the left,
and on the right the Rev. Archbell, distinguished by a clerical collar and a book in his left hand,
presumably the Bible. On the left, cut off by the frame, is a table with a calabash on top and a large
urn-like container underneath. Another Rolong brings water to a bridled horse, its head visible on
the right, being held by a second Boer with a satchel. In front of him on the ground is a bundle of
hay for this horse and another whose cocked ears appear behind the first. In the background are
oxen, and further away a range of rather nondescript mountains.
In the Historiese Komitee meeting on 4.9.1937 the following changes were required:

Boers negotiate with Maroka. The skin around the middle of his body should be fastened. There
should be a skin hanging from his shoulders; the little bag behind the man’s back should be altered
to a satchel at his side.?¢®

There are minor differences between the first composition and the revised pencil drawing (fig. 8.3),
which respond in part to the criticism made by members of the committee. The corrected pencil
drawing shows Moroka with a belt (as also the two Voortrekkers) and a fringed skin hanging down
behind his right shoulder and over his left arm. Potgieter has a satchel as required, although faint
traces of the obliterated knapsack can still be seen.

Coetzer’s drawing provides the basic composition for the relief sculpture: the Rolong with Moroka
on the left, the Voortrekkers with a horse on the right and oxen behind, with a very sketchy indication
of a mountainous backdrop. The small plaster maquette rearranges and separates the two parties dis-
tinctly (fig. 8.4). Moroka and another Rolong, faintly indicated in the background, stand compressed
on the extreme left while most of the panel is given to three bearded Voortrekkers. None of the Boers
is now cut off by the frame; two of them are armed, and the third, further back, is mounted, with the
horse more fully in view. Rev. Archbell has been omitted in favour of a dog in the foreground. The
main Boer and Moroka face each other closely. The Boer, however, has a more active pose than Moro-
ka’s passive stance, striding forward and addressing him with a gesture of his right hand, although
his mouth is no longer open. He has a knapsack on his back as in Coetzer’s first sketch, but also has a
powder horn like that depicted in the revised drawing. Moroka now wears a loincloth of skin tassels
on a plaited cord, and an irregularly edged back apron, his status suggested by a headdress, upper
body decoration and a staff, although he has a rather unprepossessing stocky build. The full-scale
clay relief follows the maquette quite closely in overall design (fig. 8.5), as does the marble, but they
endow it with greater gravitas. A wider format means that there is a more balanced allocation of space
between the two parties, so that Moroka is now supported by two of his men, and the horse is fully
represented, standing in profile parallel to the picture plane. Other small details are also modified:
the main Boer no longer has a knapsack, the trekker on the right is now a youthful, unbearded figure,
and the seated dog was apparently bred by Moerdyk to represent an appropriate Voortrekker animal.
Moroka, with simpler clothing, is made far more impressive and the semi-naked bodies of all three
Rolong men have a distinctly classical presence. Yet they are still given a lesser role, because the
Boers are privileged by more space, and only they command firearms, a horse and a dog. Although
Moroka’s cattle are pictured, they are shown further away in much smaller scale.

268 ‘Boere onderhandel met Marokko. Die velle om die middel van sy lyf moet vas wees; daar moet ’n vel skuins oor sy
skouer hang; die tassie agter die man se rug moet in 'n bladsak aan sy sy veran[der] word’ (Historiese Komitee 4.9.1937: 4f).
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Figure 8.4: B2. Frikkie Kruger. Negotiation. 1942-43. Plaster, 77 x 77 x 8.5 cm.
Maquette (courtesy of VTM Museum VTM 2184/1-28; photo Russell Scott)

Figure 8.5: C2. Negotiation. 1943-45. Clay. Full-scale relief (courtesy of Romanelli files; photo Alan Yates,
with pencil lines added for copy process)
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Reading the narrative

The trekkers successfully warded off a major attack of the Ndebele at Vegkop, but the retreating
Ndebele drove away virtually all their livestock. Johannes Gerhardus Stephanus (known as Gerrit
or Gert) Bronkhorst (1798/99-1848),%%° who took part in the battle and wrote about the victory fairly
soon afterwards, before 1843, recounted the scale of the loss of cattle:?"°

This [the battle] took place on the 29th October, 1836, when we lost 6000 head of cattle, and 41,000
sheep and goats. Our horses we retained from having been in the camp.?”* Three days after this we
followed them [the Ndebele] to try whether we could retake any of our cattle, but all we found were
killed and skinned (about 1000 head), and were obliged to return unsatisfied. What I have here
related are facts, and I am willing, if required, to confirm the same on oath. (Signed) J.G.S. Bronk-
horst.?”?

Bronkhorst makes no reference to the consequences of this dire loss,*” and nor do the accounts of
a number of other Boer men who took part in that battle, such as those recorded in an entry in the
diary of Erasmus Smit on 20 November 1836, based on the current reports of commandant Hendrik
Potgieter and his fellow trekker, Nikolaas Christiaan Smit.?”* However, Potgieter did mention the
situation in a letter to Governor D’Urban of 3.12.1838, in the context of justifying his subsequent
actions against the Ndebele. After initial attacks on trekkers by ‘the bloodthirsty tyrant Musili-
caats’, he wrote, ‘we retreated to Doorenkop [Vegkop] at the Renoster River; there he fell on us a
second time with a countless horde, and again killed two people and took away our last cattle so
that we must starve to death’.?”®

Another participant, Sarel Cilliers, who seems to have played a leading role in the battle (see
Vegkop), gave a dramatic account thirty years later of what had happened in the aftermath:

When the fight was over two men had been killed on our side, and fourteen wounded, of whom I
was one ... The enemy then carried off all our means of sustenance. I had a wife and seven children,
and was without corn or millet, besides being incapacitated for hunting. I had to taste the cup of
bitterness. My children cried from hunger, and I did the same, and nothing to give them. Then fifteen
days passed by, and we had to remain in the encampment. Then we received some oxen from Mr.
Andswill, and from our brethren who had gone to Moroko, when they had received the report from
us. Then by God’s mercy we were delivered ... Arriving at Moroko and at the abode of the Rev. Mr.
Archbell, he and his lady provided us in our great need with corn and millet.?”®

‘Our brethren who had gone to Moroko’ most likely refers to those Boers from the Potgieter party
who had earlier departed for Thaba Nchu, as discussed below.

269 Visagie 2011, 95-96.

270 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 75 (report of J.G.S. Bronkhorst, 29.10.1837); accepted by Van der Merwe 1986, 87. See also Smit
trans. Mears 1972, 3 (20.11.1837; Dutch text in Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 41) who, however, accounts only for Potgieter’s
losses.

271 According to Cilliers, ‘Two horses were killed, and one wounded’ (Bird, Natal 1, 1888, 240).

272 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 75 (undated and unspecified, qualified by Chase laconically as ‘Bronkhorst’s own relation’);
see also Delegorgue, Travels 2, 1997, 55-56; Preller, Voortrekkermense 1, 1818, 4-5 (A.H. and W.J. Potgieter), 15-21 (An-
dries Hendrik Potgieter jr), 126-130 (J.H. Hattingh).

273 Also not mentioned in Doucakis (2000, 505-507), one of the most recent discussions of the Battle of Vegkop.
274 According to Visagie (2011, 452-453), Christiaan (Jacobus) is the only known Smit who possibly trekked with
Sarel Cilliers and A.H. Potgieter in 1836.

275 Du Toit and Giliomee 1983, 216 no. 5.5c. The Dutch text is provided in Voortrekker argiefstukke (1937, 30 R20/38
‘Artikel 5°): ... de bloetdorstige tyran Musilicaats ... ben wy teruggetrokken tot aan de [DoJorenkop aan Renosterrivier;
daar is hy de tweede maal op ons aangevallen met een talloos hyr en weder twee mensen vermoort en de laatste vee
weggenomen dat wy van honger moeste sterven ..."

276 Bird, Natal 1, 1888, 240.
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John Montgomery, a British trader, who travelled with the parties of Gert Maritz and Hendrik
Potgieter to Kapain roughly a year later,””” reported, apparently on the basis of what he was told by
the accompanying trekkers, when they passed Vegkop on 3 October 1837:

... the farmers succeeded in driving them [the Ndebele] off, but the enemy took all their sheep, cattle,
and horses, so that they could not pursue and recapture their stock. In this dilemma, the Boers sent
to the chief Moroko of Thaba *Nchu for assistance, and he was so kind as to send oxen to bring them
out. ... On walking about among the dead it could be seen where the balls had penetrated the head
or the ribs; some had looper holes in the side; others had their thighs broken. The skeletons were
still entire, but the flesh was torn off by wolves and jackals. The place was called Moordkop. It was
a hard fought battle.?”®

There are few Voortrekker reports about the difficult conditions after the battle, and interestingly,
more are by women, whose accounts were later collected in Preller’s Voortrekkermense. Perhaps
the men preferred to remember the victorious aspect of the encounter. In 1894 Anna S. Coetzee
(née Botha) recorded that they had no livestock to use as food, or to pull their wagons,?”® and that
they feared the spread of disease from the putrefying bodies of the dead Ndebele, which also pol-
luted the nearest water supply.?®® Later, in 1915, Maria Jacoba Minnaar, the daughter of J.G.S. Bronk-
horst,*®! present during the battle as a nine-year-old, recalled similar hardships afterwards, and
described it as a period of unforgettable suffering (“n tyd van onvergeetlike lyding’),?®* although
her father - cited earlier — did not mention it. Like Cilliers, she stated that this situation lasted for
fifteen days. The trekkers dragged their wagons some distance away to escape the stench and find
fresh water, possibly using their horses. In their vulnerable state, the fear that the Ndebele might
return to the attack undoubtedly added to their distress.?®> Whether these recollections had been
coloured by the powerful narrative of Cilliers, which was published in 1876, is difficult to judge.*®*

It is extraordinary that Erasmus Smit did not learn about (or did not choose to record) such a
dire situation from Hendrik Potgieter and Nikolaas Smit, and that J.G.S. Bronkhorst gives no indica-
tion that Vegkop was a death trap for the stranded and starving Boers, as opposed to the harrowing
accounts of Montgomery, Cilliers, Coetzee and Minnaar. In the face of these inconsistent accounts,
a number of questions remain unanswered. For example, if the trekkers still had their stallions and
pursued the Ndebele on horseback to attempt to regain their cattle, though without success, why
were they not able to hunt for food?*®®> And were these experienced stock farmers really unable
to find any strays from the looted six thousand head of cattle and forty-one thousand sheep and
goats? The depleted strength of the trekkers, with two men dead and fourteen wounded, and the

277 Montgomery (ed. Giffard 1981, 118) joined the parties of Maritz and Potgieter, whose trek formed ‘one continuous
string of wagons stretched as far as the eye could reach, for miles’, at the Sand River in 1837.

278 Ibid., 119; his claim that the Ndebele took all the Boer horses is contradicted by the eyewitness reports by Bronk-
horst and Cilliers. Potgieter and Theunissen (1938, 65) write of a hundred horses being taken.

279 Preller, Voortrekkermense 4, 1925, 29. See also Van der Merwe 1986, 110.

280 Preller, Voortrekkermense 4, 1925, 32. Although she was not an eyewitness at Vegkop, she supplies specific detail
that is so vivid, such as dogs dragging the limbs of the dead into the laager, that it seems as though she had heard it
directly from someone who was there.

281 Van der Merwe (1986, 95) clarifies that she was Bronkhorst’s daughter and present at Vegkop, but that she only
gave her account seventy-eight years later. Visagie (2011, 315) confirms her marriage to Philippus Carel Minnaar in
1842 in Potchefstroom.

282 Preller, Voortrekkermense 4, 1925, 136.

283 Van der Merwe 1986, 101-102.

284 Hofstede 1876, 50—66. Van der Merwe (1986, 101) accepts that the trekkers were in a bad way after the Ndebele
retreated, and writes that in their weakened state ‘the Boers were staring death by starvation in the face’ (die Boere
daar in hulle verarmde toestand 'n hongerdood in die gesig gestaar het).

285 Potgieter and Theunissen (1938, 66) mention that although some young men went out hunting they did not dare
go far and could not bring back enough to feed a hundred and fifty people. Van der Merwe (1986, 106) adds that hun-
ting would have been rather unsuccessful in the open veld like that around Vegkop without a sizeable party, which
the under-strength Boers could not muster. Cilliers emphasises being unable to hunt because he was wounded.
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Figure 8.6: Area of Thaba Nchu/Blesberg (Landau 2010, 111)

danger of small groups leaving the laager are the most likely explanations, although such issues
are hardly discussed in the surviving accounts of the dramatic ordeal. It is relevant for the frieze
that a century after the battle the story was repeated and embellished by Potgieter and Theunissen,
whose glorifying Afrikaner biography of Hendrik Potgieter would have been known to the sculptors
since Hennie Potgieter consulted the book for his panel of Kapain.?8¢

It was the narratives around Vegkop and the need to call for assistance recorded in a number
of Voortrekker writings that formed the subtext for Negotiation, even thought it does not directly
follow Vegkop in the frieze. The topic was first suggested for the frieze by respondents in the ‘Wenke’
document, and was included in Jansen’s definitive list in 1937. Potgieter and Theunissen claim that
Commandant Hendrik Potgieter, after his victory over the Ndebele at Vegkop, sent his older brother
Hermanus (Philippus; 1797-1854)*% to seek help for his starving trekkers from the Boers who had
earlier left their party and were now in the area of Thaba Nchu, some two hundred kilometres
south-west of Vegkop (figs 7.4, 8.6),%® near the Rev. Archbell and the Rolong chief Moroka — and
that all of them sent trek oxen to assist.?®® But earlier reports consistently name a younger brother
of Hendrik Potgieter, Jacobus Johannes (1800-73),?°° and make the point that help was also sought
from Moroka, chief of the Rolong, who had a friendly relationship with the Voortrekkers. This is

286 Potgieter and Theunissen 1938, 65-66. For a critical review of their often unreliable account, see Van der Merwe
1986, 224-226.

287 Visagie 2011, 365.

288 Oberholster 1972, 218-219; Raper, Mdller and Du Plessis 2014, 492.

289 Potgieter and Theunissen 1938, 66.

290 Visagie 2011, 368. Jacobus Johannes was sent, not his son, Hermanus Jacobus, as erroneously stated in Part I,
chapter 4, p.362.
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Figure 8.7: ‘Wesleyan Miss. Station amongst the Barolongs at Thaba Nchu 1839’, Black Mountain as backdrop. View from north-west.
Drawing (Backhouse 1844, opp. p.411)

spelled out by Hermanus Jacobus (1821-99),%*! the commandant’s son, who would have been a
teenager at the time of the battle, in his recollections recorded by the ‘State Historian’ (Staatshis-
torikus) G.A. Odé.?* At his destination, Jacobus Johannes probably first met the Wesleyan mission-
ary, the Rev. James Archbell (1798-1866),2> who was settled next to the Rolong on the northern
side of the Black Mountain, while most Boer parties were encamped further south of the mountain
(fig. 8.7).%°* Archbell charitably offered to supply Potgieter’s trekkers with his own cattle, and also
took him to Moroka.?®> Moroka’s response was equally generous and he too sent oxen. Hermanus
Jacobus’ recollections confirm that the oxen obtained to assist the Boers stranded at Vegkop, ‘were
in part kindly lent by Moroka, ... but also in part from the Boers at Blesberg’*® — as already indi-
cated in Cilliers’ account quoted above. With some fifty wagons to move, the Boers needed help

291 Ibid., 364-365.

292 Preller, Voortrekkermense 3, 1922, 41. Hermanus Jacobus’ recollections further elucidate that Jacobus Johannes
was indeed part of Hendrik Potgieter’s trekker group. See Visagie (2011, 368), who stated about Jacobus Johannes:
‘Trekker group: probably A.H. Potgieter, his brother’ (Trekgeselskap: Waarskynlik A.H. Potgieter, sy broer).

293 DSAB2,1972, 12-16.

294 See Smit trans. Mears 1972, 2 (19.11.1936; Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 40): ‘We ... unyoked on the south side
of Blesberg (Thaba Nchu) ... [while] on the northern side the Institution of the Wesleyan Missionary is situated where
MrJ. Archibald [Rev. J. Archbell] lived.’ Visagie (2014, 80) confirms that the laagers of Potgieter, Maritz and Retief must
have been about seven or eight kilometres south of today’s Thaba Nchu.

295 For a first-hand record of Moroka’s residence and people, see Backhouse 1844, 412-417, including a drawing
showing both the mission and settlement (fig. opp. p.411), reproduced in Oberholster 1972, 219. For Moroka, see Mo-
lema 1951; DSAB 1, 1968, 559-560 (Moroka II); Landau 2010, 108-161.

296 ‘Gedeeltelik werd het trekvee ... hun welwillend door Maroko geleend ... gedeeltelik ook door de Boeren die te
Blesberg stonden’ (Preller, Voortrekkermense 3, 1922, 41-42).
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Figure 8.8: Isa Steynberg. Hulp van Barolong (Help from the Rolong). Before 1984. Bronze relief, 90 x 139 cm
(courtesy of Vegkop Monument; photo André Pretorius Photography)

from a number of sources.?®” Voortrekker accounts often emphasise the assistance of Archbell and
Moroka, perhaps because it was less expected. Their support was also foregrounded when the
Vegkop trekkers arrived in Thaba Nchu, where, Van der Merwe infers from various reports, Archbell
and the Rolong gave them ‘a very friendly welcome’.?%®

This dual assistance formed the basis of Coetzer’s first sketch (fig. 8.2) which showed both
Archbell and Moroka, although not the Boers from Thaba Nchu who supplied oxen too. The deci-
sion to also exclude Archbell in the frieze and to show only the Rolong as the crucial contact sug-
gests a deliberate agenda. The focus on two parties alone, the Boers from Vegkop and Moroka
with his men, seems to have been selected to bring the act of negotiation between whites and
blacks into prominence. The scene was intended to affirm the oft-repeated claim that the Boers
more readily negotiated with than opposed African people they came across on their treks, an
agenda underscored by Moerdyk: ‘The episode also serves to emphasize the peaceful intentions of
the Voortrekkers.’?® This treatment of the aftermath of Vegkop also avoids showing the humiliating
helplessness of the trekkers and offers no clue about the laager’s wretched situation. It makes for
an interesting comparison with Isa Steynberg’s representation for a bronze panel at the Vegkop
Monument (inaugurated 1984; see Vegkop), which shows the Rolong leading a lavish supply of
oxen into the Voortrekker camp to assist the starving yet not needily portrayed Boers (fig. 8.8).
Although different in composition, locale and time, it follows the Voortrekker Monument frieze in
focusing on Boers and Rolong only.

The style and composition of Negotiation further masks the omission of the seriousness of
the situation, as it represents the party of Voortrekkers advantageously, not only because they

297 Van der Merwe (1986, 101-107) gives a full account of the various reports on the situation, including the possib-
ility that the stranded Voortrekkers left Vegkop in two successive parties.

298 Ibid., 106-107: ‘Terug op Thaba Nchu is die trek baie vriendelik ontvang deur eerw. Archbell en die Barolongs’
(Back in Thaba Nchu the trek was given a very friendly welcome by Rev. Archbell and the Rolong).

299 Official Guide 1950, 48.



Figure 8.9: Potgieter
negotiating with
Rolong chief Moroka
in Negotiation.
Marble, detail of
fig. 8.1 (photo
Russell Scott)
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are armed, but also because they occupy two-thirds of the panel, and the commanding figure of
Jacobus Johannes Potgieter appears to gesture rather condescendingly to the Rolong (fig. 8.9). They
stand listening in an inert group, subordinate to the Boers — despite the fact that the milk container
and oxen in the background are evidence of Rolong wealth, and of their contribution to the Boers’
survival. The entire scene is staged as if the Voortrekkers negotiated with Moroka as superiors, not
as supplicants in a life-threatening situation. Equally revealing is the omission of Archbell who was
vital in mediating the Voortrekkers’ request for aid, so that the Boers are represented as managing
their affairs with black people without assistance. In the absence of any other parties involved,
this scene might even recall the initial negotiations between Moroka and the Boers when they first
arrived in the area. Trekker Johannes Hendrik Hattingh recounted that conflict with Mzilikazi had
left the Rolong in dire straits, and they had welcomed the arrival of the Boers, who shot game to
save them from starvation.3®°

In the Official Guide Moerdyk acknowledges that the Boers needed assistance, although he
avoids any mention of suffering and uses the occasion to suggest the magnanimity of their grati-
tude, a reflection, he suggests, of their benign dealings with African people:

After the battle of Vegkop, when the Voortrekkers were left without means of locomotion, Moroka ...
sent them assistance. With his help Potgieter and his people were taken to Thaba Nchu where they
were given kaffir corn and milk. Tradition has it that Potgieter never forgot this act of grace and up
to the time of his death he regularly sent presents to Moroka. ... The episode also serves to emphasize

300 Preller, Voortrekkermense 1, 1918, 121-122.
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Figure 8.10: Moerdyk’s dog Leeu in Negotiation. Plaster maquette and marble, details of figs 8.4, 8.1
(photos Russell Scott)

the peaceful intentions of the Voortrekkers. They constantly tried to obtain land from the natives by
means of negotiation and not by force of arms. There were no conquerors among the Voortrekkers,
no Cortez, no Napoleon, no Genghis Khan no Tamburlaine.3!

It did not matter to Moerdyk that his claim directly contradicted Potgieter’s proclamation of the
trekkers’ right to the land by conquest after Kapain, all the more paradoxical when that battle is
depicted right next to Negotiation.**> Rather, Moerdyk presents the Voortrekkers’ desperate appeal
for help as an affirmation of their peaceful intentions and lawful conduct when obtaining land
‘from the natives’. It might then be asked why it was placed immediately after the victorious battle
of Kapain, and against the chronological order of the narrative in marble. We cannot know whether
Negotiation was positioned merely to create a compositional balance, or consciously to ameliorate
the aggressiveness of Kapain, or both. But the tensions set up between Moerdyk’s implication that
the main Boer is Hendrik Potgieter,3°* a benevolent negotiator here, and that leader’s securing of
the Transvaal by force in the preceding scene certainly stimulate conflicting readings, whether
intended or not.

It could additionally be asked why Negotiation was placed ahead of the arrival in Natal and two
of the most distressing scenes of the frieze, Murder of Retief and Bloukrans. When the predominant
treatment of black people in the frieze is as vicious enemies to be overcome, the Rolong provided
a rare opportunity to acknowledge their willingness to accept the superiority of the Boers — and
to demonstrate that the Voortrekkers were well intentioned in their relations with Africans. It also
renders the barbarism of the Zulu all the more potent. A further anomaly complicating our reading
of Negotiation is the visual presentation of the Rolong in contrast to the Boers in their western
dress. While their nakedness might have been understood in the context of the Voortrekker story
by those who designed the frieze as an indicator of a lack of civilised values, it also conjures up
the classical icon of the nude body. The exemplary associations, which we discuss in Part 1,3%4

301 Official Guide 1955, 48.

302 Potgieter and Theunissen 1938, 99.

303 Moerdyk assigns this act to Hendrik Potgieter by default in not naming his brother.
304 Chapter 4 (‘The problem of form’). For the ‘classical black’, see Glenn 2007.
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1 Breedt, a student [for Potgieter, probably not the trek leader but his brother Jacobus Johannes]

2 Piet Malotho, that is Piet Rampapoela, whose stepfather was Malotho [for Moroka; assistant in the sculptors’
workshop at Harmony Hall]

3 H. Ahlers Breedt, a student and later school inspector

4 Leeu, Mr G. Moerdyk’s dog

Figure 8.11: Models for portraits (Potgieter 1987, 19)

mark - significantly even if unintentionally — a profound conflict in the imagery that aimed to
create a clear-cut hierarchy between white Boers and black people in the frieze.

Given the hermeneutic complexity of Negotiation, the prominence of the dog in the foreground
is a banal detail (fig. 8.10). Yet Hennie Potgieter includes the dog amongst the names of the models
for the scene (fig. 8.11) and Moerdyk, who supplied his dog Leeu as a model for the full-scale relief,
awards it a substantial entry in the Official Guide:

The panel is also noteworthy in that a dog is depicted on it. In all their writings the Voortrekkers
only twice referred to dogs. During the massacre of Bloukrans people were awakened by the barking
of dogs. In his diary Louis Trichardt mentions that ‘the bitch caught a buck this morning.” The well-
known Boerbull type of dog had at that time not yet been bred and to avert criticism of the dog
depicted a special dog was bred by crossing a watchdog (Dobermann Pinscher) and a hunting dog
(greyhound).3%

That Leeu has a whole paragraph devoted to him in the Official Guide simply because he is (claimed
to be) an authentic ‘Voortrekker’ dog underlines the constant efforts to justify the historical accu-
racy of the frieze. That Leeu’s presence, no doubt intended to symbolise the faithful support of all
Voortrekker dogs, was felt to merit more attention in the Official Guide than the Rolong — whose
vital intervention saved so many Voortrekker lives — demonstrates how even relatively insignificant
details have contributed to the dense fabric of Afrikaner ideology in the frieze.

305 Official Guide 1955, 48.
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Blydevooruitsig

East wall, south-east projection, above door (panel 11/31) o
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Horizontally broken in two parts; fracture running across knees of back-

Sculptor of the clay maquettes: Hennie Potgieter

STAGES OF PRODUCTION

Al
A2
A3

B1

B2

C1
C2
C3
D

23

ground figure on left, over top of door frame, through neck of woman on i

right; water stains top right corner H

21

20
W.H. Coetzer, pencil drawing, retained only in A2 (April-June 1937) U

Reproduction of A1 (June 1937) 19
W.H. Coetzer, revised pencil drawing A1, h. 13.5 x w. 15.3 cm
(after September 1937) | e
Annotations: ‘Brief van Retief oorhandig aan Voortrekkers bo op

Drakensberg / Blyde Vooruitsig’ (Letter from Retief handed over to the

27 A 1 >

Voortrekkers on top of the Drakensberg / ‘Blydevooruitsig’ (name of

location meaning ‘joyful prospect’)

One-third-scale clay maquettes, not extant but replicated in B2a/b

(1942-43)

a. Rejected one-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 77 x w. 89.7 x d. 10.3 cm

(1942-43)

b. New unfinished one-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 76 x w. 92.2 x d. 8 cm (1942-43)
Full-scale wooden armature, not extant (1943-46)

Full-scale clay relief, not extant but recorded in photograph; replicated in C3 (1943-46)
Full-scale plaster relief (1943-46), not extant but copied in D (late 1947-49)

Marble as installed in the Monument (1949)

EARLY RECORDS
SVK minutes (29.5.1937) — item 4a ‘Brief van mnr. F. Steytler (Harrismith) waarin hy daarop wys dat Piet Retief

nie teruggekeer het na Blyde Vooruitzicht nie, en dat as daar in die reeks taferele 'n paneel verskyn van Blyde
Vooruitzicht dan moet dit nie die terugkoms van Retief voorstel nie. Besluit: Die Sekretaris sal aan mnr. Steytler
berig dat die tafelere histories korrek uitgewerk sal word’ (Letter from Mr F. Steytler [Harrismith] in which he
indicates that Piet Retief never returned to Blydevooruitsig and that, if a panel of Blydevooruitsig is shown in
the series of scenes, Retief’s return must not be portrayed. Decision: The Secretary will report to Mr Steytler that

the scenes will be correctly developed historically)

SVK minutes (4.9.1937) — item 4h (see below, ‘Developing the design’)
Wenke (c. 1934-36) — item L. F.A. STEYTLER, b. ‘Trekkerwaens teen die hange van Drakensberg; dogertjie as touleier,
Blyde Vooruitzicht’ (Trek wagons on the cliffs of the Drakensberg; little girl as team-leader, Blydevooruitsig) /
item VL. ‘SEN. E.S. MALAN, 7. ‘Ander toneel: Terugkeer van Piet Retief van besoek by Dingaan, op Drakensberge,
by Blyde Vooruitzicht’ (Other scene: Return of Piet Retief from visit to Dingane, over the Drakensberg, at Blyde-

vooruitsig)

Moerdyk Layout (5.10.1936-15.1.1937) —scene 8 on panel 12/31 ‘Blydevooruitsig’
Jansen Memorandum (19.1.1937) — item 7.8 ‘The Voortrekkers on the Drakensberg (Blydevooruitsig) near Retiefklip
[Retief stone]. Here the camp life will be portrayed as also receipt of the news of land being obtainable from

Dingaan’

3 Open Access. © 2020 Elizabeth Rankin and Rolf Michael Schneider, published by De Gruyter and African Minds.
This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110668797-014
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Figure 9.1: D. Blydevooruitsig. 1949. Marble, 2.3 x 2.4 m (courtesy of VTM; photo Russell Scott)
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Description

As for Soutpansberg, Marthinus Oosthuizen and Mpande, the composition is determined by the odd
shape of the relief, as a large section of the rectangle is cut out, slightly off-centre, to accommodate
the gable-shaped door frame (fig. 9.1). The dominating figure is the young rider with a brimmed hat
who arrives on a stallion. Like the other male Voortrekkers in this panel, he wears the short Voor-
trekker jacket, and is beardless. He leans forward to present a piece of paper to a boy with combed-
back hair, who stretches out his right hand eagerly to receive the message. The boy’s legs and the
forelegs of the horse are partly obscured by the door frame. From the far right comes another, more
mature Boer carrying a small animal over his shoulders. The sculptor, Hennie Potgieter, implies
that he represents a hunter,?°® but it does not appear to be a typical buck as the ear is small and
rounded and the head rather compact, like the lamb in the centre of Departure.3*” To the right of the
door frame sits a young woman in a long-sleeved dress with her hair drawn back in a plaited bun,
visible because her head is turned to look towards the message bearer. She is busy with needle-
work, with fabric and scissors placed on the sloping incline of the door frame. Her counterpart,
a young man with a quiff hairstyle, also facing inwards, is squashed into the lower section on
the left, either sitting or crouching. He is doing cobbler’s work, his shoemaker’s last and saddle
hammer resting on the other incline.

An exceptional figure in the frieze is the black man in the left background, seen back view and
distinguished from the Voortrekkers by his hair, bare torso and the arduous work he undertakes.
He is stretching long leather thongs fixed on a sturdy frame made of a horizontal branch supported
on vertical cut-off branches, one of which is visible. Hennie Potgieter explains:

The person in the background inserts a long stick through the arc of wood to which a stone weight
is attached that stretches the thongs from the crossbar. The worker walks in a circle to wind up the
thongs, then pulls out the stick so that the weight rolls back and winds up in the opposite direction.
In this way the thongs are stretched.3®

306 Potgieter 1987, 20. He does not identify figures specifically, but rather their occupations, stating that the scene
portrays ‘die normal bedrywighede in ’n laer soos jag, rieme brei, skoene versool en naaiwerk’ (the normal activities
in a laager, such as hunting, stretching thongs, resoling shoes and needlework).

307 Heymans and Theart-Peddle 2009, 23 (‘the Voortrekkers ... hunted’); Grobler 2001, 94 (‘The man ... is returning
from a hunt with a buck on his shoulders’).

308 Potgieter 1987, 20: ‘Die persoon op die agtergrond steek die lang stok deur die houtboog waaraan 'n klipgewig
geheg is, wat die rieme van die dwarsbalk af span. Die werker loop in ’n sirkel om sodoende die rieme op te wen, dan
trek hy die stok uit om die gewig na benede le laat rol om weer na die teenoorgestelde kant op te wen. Op hierdie wyse
word die rieme gebrei.” Rooyen (1938, 58-65) provides a thorough description of braiding thongs.
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Figure 9.2: A2. W.H. Coetzer. Reproduction of first sketch for Blyde- Figure 9.3: A3. W.H. Coetzer. ‘Blyde Vooruitsig’. After September
vooruitsig. June 1937 (courtesy of ARCA PV94 1/75/5/1; photo the 1937. Pencil, 13.5 x 15.3 cm. Revised first sketch (photo courtesy of
authors) Museum Africa, no. 66/2194K)

Figure 9.4: B2a. Hennie Potgieter. Blydevooruitsig. 1942-43. Figure 9.5: B2b. Hennie Potgieter. Blydevooruitsig. 1942-43. Plaster,
Plaster, 77 x 89.7 x 10.3 cm. Rejected maquette (courtesy of VTM 76 x 92.2 x 8 cm. New maquette (courtesy of VTM Museum VTM
Museum VTM 2184/1-28; photo Russell Scott) 2184/1-28; photo Russell Scott)
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Developing the design

A comparison of Coetzer’s designs reveals significant changes between the reproduction of the first
pencil drawing (fig. 9.2) presented to the SVK on 26 June 1837 and its revised version (fig. 9.3) after
the Historiese Komitee meeting on 4 September 1937 when the following alterations were required:

Blydevooruitsig [Joyful Prospect]. The milk jug is incorrect; the people did not bring a letter; it must
be a bowl instead of a cup; the thongs that are being stretched must be thicker.3%°

In the revised pencil drawing, the key group of the rider delivering a letter to a bearded Boer, with
a woman, girl and dog forming part of the welcoming group remains. But while Coetzer ignored
the Historiese Komitee’s claim that there was no letter, he made numerous changes. Not all of them
were listed in the minutes, which suggests that there may have been more informal discussions
also. The erasure of altered items left numerous faint traces under the final pencil surface, showing
particularly well how Coetzer went about revising his first pencil sketches. For the second sketch,
from left to right, he 1) obliterated the three-legged pot over the fire; 2) reduced the height of the
tripod; 3) introduced an axe; 4) erased the table; 5) changed the position, pose and action of the
woman on the left, who is now shown with a kappie and a kettle; 6) deleted the man holding up
a book behind her; 7) moved the tree further to the left; 8) fastened the fluttering kerchief of the
man in the centre and removed the hat he held up in greeting; and 9) rubbed out the riempie stool
next to him. There are also traces of an earlier but unclear object in the space between the axe, the
left leg of the central trekker and the left foot of the Boer who is stretching thongs. As requested by
the Historiese Komitee, Coetzer eliminated the milk jug and the cup but ignored the instruction to
thicken the thongs.

The basic composition for the relief designs is already laid out, with a Voortrekker who rides
in from the right to present what looks like a letter to his comrade in the centre. Coetzer’s sketches
also establish the concept of using this scene to illustrate some of the daily activities in a Voor-
trekker camp, in the way described by Jansen in his letter to the government of 19.1.1937. But in
the subsequent maquettes Coetzer’s surrounding figures were significantly modified, probably in
response to the tricky issue of composing over the cut-out of the door frame, and only the position
of the figure in shirt sleeves braiding thongs fixed on a frame of support is retained.

Two different small clay maquettes cast in plaster survive. The gable-shaped door frame is,
as for Soutpansberg, too low in the first (fig. 9.4), but suggests a provisional response to the door
design which, probably at some point in 1942, was changed to the final form. In this maquette the
beardless man on horseback is moved to the centre and leans down to give the letter to a little girl,
a change that may be explained by the lack of sufficient space for an adult. The horse is represented
more fully than in the drawing, with one raised foreleg, and a drooping head on a long arched
neck, perhaps to indicate weariness after a long journey. At the far right a trekker in shirt sleeves
and with a powder horn walks into the image, carrying a rather nondescript young animal on his
shoulders, suggesting that he is a hunter.

In the small space to the right of the door frame a moustached trekker in shirt sleeves kneels to
use part of the awkward door frame as a support for repairing a shoe. A young woman, who reads
a book held in her right hand, reclines along the slope on the other side of the door in an extrava-
gantly elaborate pose, her near leg bent at a sharp angle and her elongated left arm extended along
the opposite incline. On the far left stands a woman holding a tray with three bowls (perhaps a
belated response to the Historiese Komitee request that these replace cups), a three-legged pot at
her feet, taken from the first Coetzer design (fig. 9.2), although not on a fire. Crammed behind her

309 ‘Blyde Vooruitzicht. Die melkkan is verkeerd; die mense het geen brief gebring nie; dit moet 'n kommetjie i. p. v.
’n koppie wees; die rieme wat gebrei word, moet dikker wees’ (Historiese Komitee 4.9.1937: 4h).
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Figure 9.6: C2. Blydevooruitsig. 1943-46. Clay. Full-scale relief (Potgieter 1987, 20; photo Alan Yates)

1 Stephan Joubert
Dr G.D. Roos, brother-in-law of the sculptor
Janny Roos (Mrs G.D.), sister-in-law of the sculptor

Oom Nollie Bosman, businessman

v &~ W N

Hannes Pretorius, businessman

Figure 9.7: Models for portraits (Potgieter 1987, 20)



Developing the design —— 163

in back view a Voortrekker stretches thongs, with a very reduced tree as a scaffold. As a whole the
composition is rather crowded and distracting as it has no clear focus.

The second composition (fig. 9.5) is modelled only roughly to revise the composition: while
it retains the rider in the centre, it is considerably rethought. The mounted Boer, now positioned
lower down so that he can sit upright, presents his message not to a girl but a boy: the pair defines
the panel’s main focus, emphasised by all the other Voortrekkers looking in their direction bar
the one in the background stretching thongs. Although smaller, that figure is now more visible as
the standing woman on the far left has been removed, and the cobbler has changed sides, and is
squeezed into a seated position to fill the foreground space. The reclining girl gives way to a larger
female figure opposite who fills her space more comfortably, and has given up her book though we
cannot yet see what she is doing. She partly obscures the trekker with an animal on his shoulders
who now stands upright behind the horse.

The full-scale clay panel (fig. 9.6) resolves the poses and tidies up detail, such as raising the
head of the horse, which now looks more alert, while the rider leans forward to deliver his letter.
Cobbler’s equipment is supplied to the man on the left and sewing material to the woman on the
right; it furnishes her with a useful task rather than leisured reading, an unlikely daily activity
on the treks. Both these flanking figures are rather more cramped than in the second maquette
that allowed more space at the sides of the door opening, and the left leg of the seamstress is bent
sharply backwards under her skirt. The most significant change from the small plaster maquettes,
and indeed Coetzer’s drawings, is the ethnic revision of the man given the arduous task of stretch-
ing thongs: he is transformed from a white trekker into a black man, a modification discussed
below. Seen from behind, he required no specific sitter, although the portraits of the other figures
were taken from models, including members of the sculptor’s family (fig. 9.7).3°

310 The relationship between Potgieter and the foreground figures, Dr and Mrs G.D. Roos, whom he refers to as his
brother- and sister-in-law, is puzzling as a husband and wife cannot both be ‘in-laws’. Perhaps the term is loosely used
to indicate relationships in an extended family group.
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Figure 9.8: Routes, mountain passes and laagers of Voortrekkers in the Drakensberg and Zulu Natal. Late 1837 and early 1838 (courtesy of
Visagie 2014, foldout opp. p.98).
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Reading the narrative

Blydevooruitsig presents a placid scene of industry and domesticity in an unspecified outdoor
setting, but the historical context it embraces is complex. The main actors in this area, Zulu, British
and Boers, represented opposing cultures that pursued conflicting political and economic inter-
ests.>! The land-hungry Boers were split in different treks with different aims. While Potgieter’s
party preferred the land across the Vaal River, those trekkers led by Piet Retief, and also Gerrit
Maritz and later Piet Uys, were keen to settle in Natal, and ‘wended their separate ways over the
mountains into Dingane’s kingdom’ (fig. 9.8).3'> The British settlers and traders at Port Natal, again,
were divided into two factions, one supporting the Colony’s policy, while the other was eagerly
waiting ‘to form an internal government’ with the Boers, ‘free from the false measures and waver-
ing policy’ of the Crown.?"® Meanwhile, the Zulu King Dingane®“ was concerned about the security
of his kingdom in Natal, especially when faced with the massive invasion of the approaching trek-
kers already known for their military success. In response he had been trying, though not effec-
tively, to arm his warriors with guns and instruct them in the use of gun powder.3

We know rather well what happened to Retief and his party between September and Novem-
ber 1837, the time when the name ‘Blydevooruitsig’ was coined. The main sources are the diary of
Erasmus Smit, the appointed Voortrekker minister of religion (see Inauguration), the diary of Rev.
Francis Owen, the English missionary at uMgungundlovu, and a selection of letters exchanged
between Retief and Dingane and British residents at Port Natal.>'¢ Retief was able to assemble a
party of fifty-four wagons which, after mid-September 1837, travelled eastwards, from the area
of Virginia (OFS) to beyond the region of Kestell, where they turned south and followed a route
roughly corresponding to the modern R74 towards the Oliviershoek Pass near Kerkenberg,?' also
called ‘Retiefspas’. On their way they saw several ruined kraals, said to have been destroyed by
Mzilikazi’s Ndebele.?® On 5 October Retief sent a small party of four wagons and fourteen men
over the Drakensberg to Port Natal, following the next day with his son-in-law, Pieter (Lucas Petrus
Johannes) Meyer (1811-38),%'® who was married to Retief’s eldest daughter, Debora. Retief’s goal
was to negotiate the trekkers’ future, first with the British settlers at Port Natal (19 to 27 October)

311 Laband 1995, 81-82; Etherington 2001, 261-265.

312 Ibid., 262. Visagie (2014, 96-98) debates the possible pass routes over the Drakensberg, apart from the one used
by Retief, and marks them on his map (ibid., opp. p.98).

313 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 86—87: Letter of the British settlers to Mr. B. Norden (see appendix to Murder of Retief), dated
2 May 1837 and published in the Graham’s Town Journal on 22 June that year.

314 For Dingane, see Treaty.

315 Etherington 2001, 262-263.

316 The diaries: Smit trans. Mears 1972, 53-70 (18.9.-30.11.1837; Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 86-101); Owen ed.
Cory 1926, 55-78 (26.10.-29.11.1837). A selection of letters, all in 1837: Chase, Natal 1, 1943, 123-124 (19.10: Retief arrives
in Port Natal), 124-126 (23.10: British residents at Port Natal address Retief and his response), 129-134 (31.10-18.11:
exchange of letters by Retief and Dingane); Delegorgue, Travels 2, 1997, 57-63 (19.10-8.11: exchange of selected letters
by Retief and Dingane); Bird, Natal 1, 1888, 333-334 (5-7.11: report of Rev. Francis Owen on Retief’s visit to Dingane),
359-365 (19.10.-18.11: exchange of letters by Retief and Dingane). For the letters, Delegorgue (Travels 2, 1997, 57) speci-
fies: ‘I have in my possession the whole of this curious correspondence, with all the principal documents concerning
the events of the time; ... I ... confine myself to the most important.” Further documents are kept in NA Kew, CO48/199/
vl and CO48/200/v2.

317 For the route, see Gledhill and Gledhill (1980, 171-176) and Visagie (2011, 85, 87-95, maps, opp. pp.64 and 98).
In September 1837 John Montgomery (ed. Giffard 1981, 118), a British trader, travelling with the Maritz and Potgieter
trekkers, met Piet Retief (‘an acquaintance of mine since 1821’) at Sand River, who told him that he was on his way to
Natal. Montgomery, however, warned Retief not to cross the Drakensberg towards the Zulu country, because Dingane
‘would fall upon him’.

318 See the entries, all in 1837, in Smit trans. Mears 1972, 53 (19.09), 54 (23.09), 55 (30.09). For the Dutch text, see Smit
ed. Scholtz 1988, 86—-88.

319 Visagie 2011, 312.
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and then with Dingane at uMgungundlovu, the king’s residential and military city (5 to 8 Novem-
ber).??° While the development of Retief’s upcoming negotiations with the Zulu king is discussed in
Treaty, we begin here with the first letter he wrote to Dingane on 19 October when he had reached
Port Natal, in which he confronted the Zulu king with the expansive interests of the trekkers in
Natal and the superior power of the Boers:

To the Chief of the Zulus. — I embrace this opportunity of your messengers’ return to inform you,
that it is my ardent wish to have a personal interview, in order to prevent any vague reports that may
reach you respecting the intentions of the party who have left the colony, and wish to settle in the
uninhabited country adjoining the Zoola territories.

It is our fervent desire to live at peace with the Zoola nation. Reports no doubt have reached you of
your [our]** late rapture [sic] with Matselikatse [Mzilikazi], arising from the frequent and daring
plunders of that tribe, and in consequence of which it became absolutely necessary to declare war,
having tried in every possible way to adjust differences, but without avail. I leave in a few days for
the Zoola country, in order to arrange with you our future relations.

Hoping for ever to live at peace and good understanding with the Zoola nation is the sincere wish of

Your true Friend,
(Signed) P. Retief, Governor, &c.

P.S. — Our party having parted, should any or all of them arrive in the Zoola country before me, it is
my wish you will allow them a free pass to join us.?*

On 23 October, in a letter without addressee but apparently written to his fellow trekkers, he reports
about Natal and his intended visit of Dingane:

I have now, from all accounts, travelled through the worst parts of the Natal country, and which I
have found tolerably well suited for cattle and agricultural purposes. On this subject, however, I will
write you at length on my return from Dingaan.

I am extremely desirous to see and to speak to Dingaan; it is much feared here that I shall not succeed
in obtaining an interview. I, however, fear not, as my conscience tells me that I go, not to do harm,
but good. It is possible that I shall not succeed in my object, without a great deal of difficulty, and
which I must patiently endure, as I consider it one of the most important matters for us to see him
speedily. I also believe that the chief Sinkajala [Sekonyela, Tlokwa chief] has committed a daring
robbery [of cattle] upon Dingaan, and which the latter may lay to our charge ... [see Treaty].?*

This letter would have reached his people near Kerkenberg near the beginning of November. In the
meantime, around 20 October 1837, while Retief was absent, the full trek party, led by Abraham
Greyling, one of Retief’s stepsons, arrived on the plateau at Kerkenberg where they set up their
camp in the agreeable setting to which Blydevooruitsig (in Dutch ‘Blijde Vooruitzicht’) refers:3*
meaning literally joyful prospect, the name alluded to the beautiful surroundings nearby, bright
with summer flowers, and more generally to a positive view of the Voortrekkers’ future in Natal.

320 For the party, see Smit trans. Mears 1972, 57-58 (5-6.10.1837; Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 90); Bird, Natal 1,
1888, 367-368 (narrative by Daniel Pieter Bezuidenhout, 1879). For topics and chronology, all in 1837, see also Nathan
1937, 172-176, 187-191; Gledhill and Gledhill 1980, 178-182; Laband 1995, 81-83.

321 Corrected in Bird, Natal 1, 1888, 360.

322 Chase (Natal 1, 1843, 124) dated the letter 12 October, possibly a misreading of 19 October (Bird, Natal 1, 1888,
359) as this was the date given for Retief’s arrival in Port Natal where he wrote the letter. Bird (Natal 1, 1888, 359-360)
published the same letter, in a more elegant translation, but without the post scriptum.

323 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 126.

324 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 60 (21.10.1837; Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 92).
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On 11 and 12 November 1837 the party received two further letters from Retief with heartening
news. Erasmus Smit notes in his diary about the first:

Today we received encouraging news from our worthy Governor in a letter written on the Tugela
river, dated 2 November 1837, and another letter from D. [sic] Liebenberg which compelled us all to
shout: Praise and thanks be to the name of the Lord for the great kindness shown to us all on our
journey undertaken to Nieuw Holland. Also two fellow travellers, Coenraad Meyer and Piet Meyer,
in a 5 day journey on horseback, have also brought to our camp the delicious fruits of Port Natal.
Today while still on my visit to the beautiful valley [near Kerkenberg] I received the letter of the
Governor from Mrs Retief, and now, after having read the Governor’s letter, named this valley Blijde
Vooruitzicht.*®

It may seem obvious to relate the ‘encouraging news’ from Retief, which caused Smit to name the
beautiful valley ‘Joyful Prospect’, to the trekkers’ key concern — whether the Zulu king would agree
to the Boer plan to occupy the land in his neighbourhood. But on 2 November when he wrote, Retief
had not yet met Dingane. The content of Retief’s letter is unknown, but it may have conveyed no
more than Dingane’s apparently friendly sentiments which, as emphasised by Manfred Nathan,3?¢
can be extrapolated from a recorded letter the Zulu king sent to the Boer leader on 31 October
1837.3% In this response ‘he approves very much’ of Retief’s earlier letter, presumably of 19 October,
although he does not specify its date and contents,**® and then reports only that he had captured
many sheep from his adversary, the Ndebele king Mzilikazi (see Kapain). Dingane explains that he
would be ‘anxious to return them to their own masters’, but that all the Boer sheep taken by the
Ndebele at Vegkop a year ago were by that time either dead or with Mzilikazi’s people, who were on
the run. And he concludes, in a post scriptum, that he is sending today one hundred and ten sheep-
skins to the Tugela River ready for Retief to collect after arrival. There is no mention of any request
for a grant of land, let alone Dingane’s willingness to comply. The chronology of events, as attested
by the surviving letters, does not support the idea that any authorised information about such
complex issues as new territorial allocations could have reached the Boer leader before he met the
Zulu king in person (5 to 8 November).3*® Since Dingane’s letter, which might have reached Retief
as early as 2 November when he wrote to his wife, Magdalena,**° made no mention of land, the gov-
ernor was in no position to have given her any substantiated news about land for settlement. But
Moerdyk in the Official Guide, based on misconceptions of the chronology, links Blydevooruitsig to
the prospect of a major land grant:

After Piet Retief’s first visit to Dingaan he returned to his laagers via Port Natal. In order to reassure
his trek of his safety, he sent messengers back from the Tugela River with the news that Dingaan had
consented to a preliminary grant of land and that the Trekkers could begin crossing the Drakensberg
into Natal. Erasmus Smit refers to this very welcome news in his diary on 11th November, 1837. He
writes as follows ... [see quote above].>!

Moerdyk conveniently collapses two successive events into each other, thus endowing the naming
of the vista as ‘Joyful Prospect’ with an added significance in the Voortrekker story. This designation

325 Ibid., 64 (quote), has erroneously D. instead of B(arend Johannes) Liebenberg sr (see De Jongh 1977, 144; Smit
ed. Scholtz 1988, 95 [11.11.1837]), who was among those accompanying Retief to Natal and uMgungundlovu (see Bird,
Annals 1, 1888, 367-368 [narrative by Daniel Pieter Bezuidenhout, 1879]). The content of both letters is unknown.
326 Nathan 1937, 176.

327 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 130-131 (quote p.131; based on the 1847 French edition by Delegorgue, Travels 2, 1997, 60).
328 We know of two letters Retief had sent to Dingane in October; see ibid., 57-58 (19.10.1837), 60 (24.10.1937: men-
tioned in the letter of 8.11.1837 sent by Dingane to Retief).

329 For the date, see Owen ed. Cory 1926, 61-64.

330 For Retief’s wife, Magdalena (‘Lenie’) Johanna Greyling, born De Wit and the widow of Jan Greyling, see Gledhill
and Gledhill 1980, 50-51, 218-220; Visagie 2011, 415.

331 Official Guide 1955, 48.
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for the beautiful valley was a response to some unknown ‘encouraging news’ Retief conveyed to the
trekkers but, as argued above, not a promise of land. It was possibly no more than his reception in
Port Natal and his planned visit to Dingane, and perhaps the latter’s seeming affability. It is ironic
that Smit may in fact have had news of Retief’s visit to Dingane the very next day, a Sunday (12
November), when a second letter arrived at the laager at Kerkenberg, after his return from Blyde-
vooruitsig. Although we know of its existence from Smit’s diary, it is also lost and we do not know
its date or content, but the chronology and the distance from uMgungundlovu does make it pos-
sible that this missive was written after Retief’s negotiations with Dingane about land,*? prompting
another joyful response, again described by Smit:

Several of the congregation, excited by the happy return of the 2 emigrants and the letter of the
Governor concerning our joyful prospect, showed themselves desirous that I should hold a Service
of thanks on this day of thanks.>*

Moerdyk’s misinterpretation was common. Jansen conveyed a similar scenario in his commu-
nication that outlined the frieze topics to the government on 19.1.1937. Senator Malan even had
Retief delivering the news personally at Blydevooruitsig, a more serious mistake, pointed out by
F. Steytler (cited in the documentation above).>** Yet paradoxically — although probably unwit-
tingly — the sculptors seem to have corrected the error that news about Retief’s land grant was
received at Blydevooruitsig. In striking contrast to most of the other scenes whose topics are linked
to distinct landscapes, the backdrop of this panel is entirely bare. Hence, although the title Blyde-
vooruitsig was retained, the sculptors omitted any reference to the delightful locale, so that the
place where the message was being delivered in the relief could as easily have been Kerkenberg the
following day. We argue, however, that this was not a result of an amendment in the cause of histor-
ical correctness (in which case the title would probably have been amended too), but had another
purpose. The curious bareness promotes a different reading of Blydevooruitsig, which is not an
alluring topography but an emblematic ‘Joyful Prospect’, focusing entirely on Boer culture — ‘camp
life’ as Jansen described it in his 19.1.1937 list. Instead of Voortrekkers and wagons in a landscape,
we see Boer industry and craftsmanship elevated beyond the anecdotal: various tasks necessary
to support the civilised way of life they would take with them into Natal. The calm behaviour, dis-
ciplined conduct and impeccable dress of the trekkers are stereotypes invented for the frieze that
might be found in a well-ordered household but were hardly likely in a camp in a mountainous wil-
derness after months of hard travelling. Blydevooruitsig is a picture-book rendering of Voortrekker
civilisation. The name, chosen by Erasmus Smit in late 1837 to describe the lovely valley in terms
of the Boers’ good prospects, here addresses not a particular location but its symbolic capital, at
a time when the SVK was concerned with giving the Great Trek permanent form in marble. Again
it was Afrikaner ideology rather than documented history which dictated the representation of
Blydevooruitsig.

Another aspect of current ideology is manifest in the inclusion of a black servant. The Voor-
trekkers did not question their right to use people of other races as indentured labourers, and they
took an estimated six thousand servants with them on their treks.>** Since the servant in Blyde-
vooruitsig, apart from the groom in Arrival, is the only one represented in the frieze,**¢ we want

332 The first written reference to land that we have from Dingane is a letter dated 8 November; see Treaty (‘Land
issues, Seykonyela and the cattle’).

333 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 64—65 (Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 96). For further discussion, see Treaty (‘Land
issues, Seykonyela and the cattle’).

334 See also the discussion of the centenary plaques at Retiefrots in Debora Retief.

335 Visagie 2011, 14.

336 The African woman (also in back view) which Kirchhoff had taken from Coetzer’s drawing for the maquette for
the Vendusie scene (see Departure, Stages of production, B2a) was, as we have seen, eventually eliminated from the
frieze.
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Figure 9.9: Black ‘breier’ in Blydevooruitsig. Marble, detail of fig. 9.1
(photo Russell Scott)

Figure 9.10: Thomas Baines. Detail of African ‘breier’ in Bloemfontein. 1851. Oil, 38.5 x 61 cm
(William Fehr Collection; Carruthers and Arnold 1995, 143 fig. 20)
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to understand why such a concession was made, and why in this form. Blacks are never shown
sharing in battles, although we know they were indispensable in providing essential support for
Voortrekker fighters in the field. And nor do they share in the suffering, although we know they
were slaughtered alongside Retief’s men at uMgungundlovu and the trekkers at Bloukrans. It is as
though both victory and sacrifice were reserved for the trekkers alone, as evidence of their right to
the land, and to authority over its peoples.

While the representation in Blydevooruitsig may provide some (minimal) acknowledgement of
the presence of the many black servants that accompanied the trekkers, it also reflects the belief
that undertaking physical labour was the allotted — one might say preordained - task of Africans.
In marked contrast to the Boers in Blydevooruitsig, who do not undertake heavy manual work,
the servant does the hard labour to stretch the riempies used for whips,**” for binding and for
simple furniture (fig. 9. 9). Already in Thomas Baines’ oil Bloemfontein painted in 1851 the ‘labour
of the black people making riempies is accorded focal prominence but paradoxically the control
of labour and social life is exercised by the middle distance European community’ (fig. 9.10).3*® In
1938, when explaining the making of riempies, G.H. van Rooyen glossed the Afrikaans name for
a person stretching thongs, ‘die breier’, with ‘('n kaffer)’, revealing that this task was thought of
as work appropriate for black people only.>* The chores performed by the black ‘breier’ and the
Voortrekker hunter, cobbler and seamstress in Blydevooruitsig suggest the hierarchy between black
labourers and skilled white workers that was to be legislated policy under apartheid.

The Voortrekker Monument itself provides an example of differentiated labour: contractors
sent in two quotations, the more expensive for white builders.?*° And for this well-nigh sacred task,
only whites were to be employed. Even when the scarcity of labour during the war years forced
the contractor to take on some black workers, against the wishes of the SVK, they were limited to
ignoble unskilled jobs such as mixing cement and cleaning the site, physical labour not unlike that
of the ‘breier’ in Blydevooruitsig.

337 As discussed in Part I, Chapter 4 (‘The visual narrative, Blydevooruitsig’), the use of the riempies for making
whips to control trek oxen suggests also the possibility of the harsh control of black servants.

338 Carruthers and Arnold 1995, 135 (quote), 143 colour fig. 20 (William Fehr Collection).

339 Rooyen 1938, 60: ‘word deur die breier ('n kaffer).’

340 See Part I, Chapter 1 (‘The centenary’).
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10 Debora Retief L %

South wall, south-east projection (panel 12/31) ]
h23xw.24m

Parts of left and top edge chipped off; vertical fractures near left edge
Sculptor of the clay panel: Laurika Postma f
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STAGES OF PRODUCTION

B1 One-third-scale clay maquette, not extant but replicated in B2 (1942-43)

B2 One-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 77 x w. 89 x d. 8 cm (1942-43)

C1 Full-scale wooden armature, not extant (1943-46) I

C2 Full-scale clay relief, not extant but photographed; replicated in C3 19
(1943-46) il

C3 Full-scale plaster relief (1943-46), not extant but copied in D (-
(late 1947-49)

D Marble as installed in the Monument (1949) 15 14 13

21
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EARLY RECORDS

Jansen Memorandum (19.1.1937) — item 8 ‘The Voortrekkers on the Drakens-
berg (Blydevooruitsig) near Retiefklip’ [Retief stone]. Here the camp life
will be portrayed as also receipt of the news of land being obtained from
Dingaan.’

Voortrekker Monument (early 1937?) — p.5 ‘Here will be represented the exodus from the Cape, Thaba N’Chu,
Vechtkop, Kerkeberg [sic; the locale of Blydevooruitsig], the descent from the Drakensberg, the massacre, the
vow, retribution, the founding of the republics’ (bilingual SVK attachment, ‘The Voortrekker Monument /
Die Voortrekkermonument’, possibly written by Moerdyk, offers a rare inclusion of Kerkenberg; NARSSA,
BNS 146/73/2)

3 Open Access. © 2020 Elizabeth Rankin and Rolf Michael Schneider, published by De Gruyter and African Minds.
This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110668797-015
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Figure 10.1: D. Debora Retief. 1949. Marble, 2.3 x 2.39 m (courtesy of VTM; photo Russell Scott)
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Description

This is the sole image of the frieze presenting only youthful Boers, chiefly children (fig. 10.1). The
main figure is Debora Retief, the eldest daughter of Piet Retief and a young adult of twenty-two,
who stands off-centre in profile turned to the left. She is represented as a full-grown woman, her
hair in a neat bun and a shawl over her long-sleeved dress with fitted bodice and full-length skirt.
The heavy statuesque folds hide her lower body and limbs. She is in an elevated position without
visible feet or support, hence hovering strangely on the picture plane. Holding a small brush in her
right hand, she has ‘just’ painted the last stroke of an inscription on a specially smoothed surface
of the Retiefklip at top centre, ‘P Retief / Den 12 Nov / 1837’, the birthday of the governor and com-
mandant-general of the Voortrekkers. In the marble the painted letters of the Dutch words had to
be chiselled and they are additionally emphasised by her left hand, which rests immediately below
the inscription. Postma must have been shown an image of the actual inscription in the cause of
historical accuracy, as she has followed the layout and the form of the letters and numbers that
can be seen at Kerkenberg today (fig. 10.8). The uneven face of the rock is also suggested by the
roughly worked surface of the upper panel that hints at the height of the overhanging cliff face at
Kerkenberg (fig. 10.3).

In front of her, a standing boy assists by holding up a small paint pot. He seems to have out-
grown his suit, which mimics adult Voortrekker attire, as the jacket is tight and the trousers too
short. The central group, unobscured by overlapping figures, is framed by two impassive girls. The
smaller girl in profile on the right looks up to watch Debora’s task, holding her kappie with both
hands behind her back. The taller one on the left who wears a dress with a fitted bodice and long
skirt like Debora, holds the ribbons of her bonnet with her right hand, as she looks down at two
children who play on the ground, a boy and a girl with a dog. While all the girls wear long dresses,
the bodices of the younger ones are looser, with wide sashes around their waists, and their hair is
neatly plaited and tied with ribbons.

In the foreground below on the far left, the small girl is seated on the ground, legs bent and
supporting herself on her right arm. With a little doll on her lap she echoes the mother and child
group in Inauguration, as though readying herself for an adult role. The boy that she watches
is equally engrossed in imitating a grown-up occupation, dressed in a miniature suit. His game
mimics a Voortrekker wagon on the move: small ‘dolosse’ (knucklebones) of sheep or cattle act as
imaginary oxen, while a jawbone represents the ‘kakebeen’ wagon (fig. 10.9), and the boy is in the
driver’s position.>*! Half obscured by the girl, a dog intently watches the knucklebones that are
carefully laid out along the narrow space in front of its forelegs.

341 For the ‘kakebeenwa’, see Departure; and for the arrangement of a typical team of oxen, Van Rooyen 1938, 52-57.
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Figure 10.2: B2. Laurika Postma. Debora Retief. 1942-43. Plaster, 77 x 89 x 8 cm. Left, maquette photographed in storeroom in 2012; right,
in raking light as installed in 2017 exhibition (courtesy of VTM Museum VTM 2184/1-28; photos Russell Scott; the authors)

Figure 10.3: C2. Debora Retief. 1943—-46. Clay. Full-scale relief (photo Alan Yates; Pillman 1984, 48)
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Developing the design

As in the case of other panels where there was no Coetzer design, Debora Retief would have
started with drawings by the artist, here Laurika Postma, in preparation for modelling the small
clay panel (fig. 10.2), but none are known.>*> While the general composition of the maquette is
near to the full-scale clay relief (fig. 10.3), there are substantial differences in detail, style and
overall mood. In particular, all the figures are less staged, younger and more childlike, and the
texture of a rocky environment is more visible. Debora Retief also seems more spontaneous. Her
kappie is pushed back so that it hangs around her neck by its ribbons, and she stands on a chair
to reach a high place for her inscription, a believable way to place her in an elevated position. She
holds her brush rather awkwardly, and steadies herself with her left hand. A little girl, instead of
the boy in the marble relief, holds up the small paint pot with one hand, while the other holds
onto the back of the chair, perhaps to steady it. The two framing girls focus attention on Debora
Retief. The one on the left is almost the same as in the marble, but younger and less formal. The
opposite girl has the chubbiness and shorter dress of a child, and is more directly involved as she
watches Debora, her head tilted to suggest her curiosity and concentration. The two children on
the ground are also livelier, and we see their dog more fully. The little boy focuses passionately
on his game although, despite the little whip in his hand, he is not presented in the driver’s posi-
tion, as the order of the knucklebones and wagon is reversed when compared to the full-scale
clay.

This foreground group is reminiscent of the delightful and amusing sketches of children and
animals made by a younger Laurika Postma as a very involved older sister in a large and lively
family.>** The animation of the figures may also reflect the youthful sitters, identified by Hennie
Potgieter (fig. 10.4), who gives relatively extensive documentation of them. The architect’s daugh-
ter Irma Moerdyk modelled Debora Retief (although Martso Strydom was the body model), and
her sister Sylva Moerdyk the girl opposite her. Models for the younger children (fig. 10.5) were Lea
Botha for the standing girl,>** Stephan Joubert for the boy with the paint pot and his sister Steph-
anie for the girl with the doll who sits next to the family dog, while Billie Kleinhdns was busy with
an improvised kakebeenwa.

The narrative in the full-scale clay relief (fig. 10.3) endows Debora Retief with her appropriate
years so that she is a young adult, as though the sculptors had been alerted to the fact that she was
not a child in 1937, but in fact a young married woman. This change is matched by an upscaling of
the ages of all the figures as their poses and attire are formalised, and the bigger participants take
up more of the free space around them than is the case in the maquette. In addition, the small girl
with the paint pot in the centre is replaced by a taller boy, perhaps to alleviate the predominance
of female figures. The scene has lost its spontaneous touch and become more frozen, and in the
process of enlarging the figures the chair on which Debora stood disappeared so that she lacks
support and appears to levitate. The final marble (fig. 10.1) is a fine copy of the full-scale clay panel

342 At the time the 2017 exhibition was being installed, two plaster maquettes of Debora Retief were to be seen
amongst the maquettes waiting to be installed, so close in form that they would have to have been cast from the same
mould. But Werner Kirchhoff, who was living with his family at Harmony Hall and was constantly in the studio, is
adamant that the one-third-scale maquettes, made on easels set up on the veranda (see fig. 26.5), were cast in the
same way as the full-scale clay reliefs, although in a single piece, destroying the clay original and allowing the clay
to be reused. Unable to resolve the puzzle, we postulate that the second in fact dated from the conservation of the
maquettes from 2014-16 when duplicate copies were made.

343 See, for example, Pillman 1984, 9-11.

344 Van der Walt 1974, who provides photographs of many of the models, names her Leah Botha from Rietfontein.
Note that in Part I we confused Gert van der Walt’s article, ‘Die onbekende voortrekker’, with the consecutive one by
Chris Barnard (‘Die storie van 'n monument ..."), both published in the same 1974 issue of Die Huisgenoot.
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1 Irma Moerdyk, the daughter of the architect of
the Voortrekker Monument

Sylva Moerdyk, daughter of G. Moerdyk
Lea Botha, girl of the neighbourhood
Stephanie Joubert

Stephan Joubert, brother of Stephanie

Billie Kleinhdns

N o L WwWwN

Siebie, the Joubert’s dog

Figure 10.4: Models for portraits (Potgieter 1987, 21)

Figure 10.5: Models for younger children in Debora Retief. Stephanie and Stephan Joubert, Leah (Lea) Botha (Van der Walt 1974, 80-82)
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except for one difference which exemplifies the different visual qualities of the two materials. In
clay, the vertical rocky structures and general formations of the Retiefklip are crisp and recognis-
able, while in marble the relief’s picture plane appears flattened to an almost uniform mass by the
diffused light in the Hall. The reduced visibility of the rock surface means that the lower hand of
the girl on the left seems to dangle in its own space, rather than holding onto a protruding piece
of stone.
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Figure 10.7:
Entrance to rock
formation of Retief
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Reading the narrative

The narrative of this panel refers to a personal event recorded as having taken place one or two days
after the arrival of a letter from Retief at his party’s camp near Kerkenberg with news from Natal,
depicted in Blydevooruitsig (fig. 9.1). The incident was reported by Erasmus Smit, who wrote on
13 November 1837 in his diary:

My wife, C. Liebenberg, and I went up Kerkenberg to view the beautiful formation of the rocks. Three
neighbouring spaces which, if we had remained here longer, could have been used as a church or a
place of Worship. See now the reasons why we have named this camping site the Kerkenberg. The
name of our worthy Governor, on His Excellency’s 57th birthday, has been written in green oil paint
inside on the rocks by His Excellency’s daughter, Debora, and because this rock hangs over to the
inside like a vault, it will not easily be washed out by rain or knocked out by hail.?**

Strictly speaking, Kerkenberg in Smit’s account is not the enormous flat-topped mountain
(2 067 metres high) situated east of the south end of the Sterkfontein dam, beyond the Oliviershoek
Pass when travelling from Natal (fig. 10.6), as his naming refers specifically to ‘the beautiful forma-
tion’ of three individual rocks near the mountain’s north-western foot (fig. 10.7).3*¢ Eventually one
of them would be called Retief Rots or Retiefklip, meaning ‘Retief rock’, after Debora Jacoba Retief
(1815-1900)**” had painted her father’s name and birthdate on it (fig. 10.8). Between the vaulted
rock with the inscription and the two adjoining cliffs, as Eily and Jack Gledhill explain, is ‘a space
large enough to hold 50 to 100 people, and well protected from the elements’.3*® Smit does not
mention Debora Retief’s inscription in his diary entry for her father’s actual birthday on Sunday,
12 November, but only the next day, as he was preaching at Blydevooruitsig on the Sunday and
returned to the Kerkenberg camp only ‘after sunset’.>*° The marking of the birthday was perhaps an
intimate situation with only youngsters, possibly family members, participating, which did not nec-
essarily make it into the camp’s daily headlines, and may have been discovered only the next day.
More important for the Afrikaner narrative of the Great Trek, however, is how this very per-
sonal incident became part of the frieze, and was used to celebrate Retief as governor within the
private sphere of Boer family values, here with a particular emphasis on youth. Only relatively late,
in 1937, were ‘Retiefklip’ and ‘Kerkeberg’ (sic) mentioned as topics for the frieze, but not Debora
Retief, although the dedication of a memorial inscription to her in 1937, discussed below, may have
prompted the idea. While this scene was undoubtedly an addition to meet the problem of extra
panels being required for the corner walls, as discussed in Part ,**° the choice was hardly immate-
rial. The site at Kerkenberg, where the lofty overhanging rock faces reminded the Voortrekkers of a
vaulted church, hints at the Christian values so often reiterated in the frieze, and this is supported
by the composition.>®* Whether accidental or not, the way Debora Retief floats in mid-air while

345 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 65 (Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 96). A restored inscription, protected by a little
glazed case, is still to be seen on site (Visagie 2014, 92 fig. 19). Members of the Bethlehem commando that occupied
the Oliviershoek Pass on 10 October 1899 (outbreak of the Anglo-Boer War) painted their names next to the Retief
inscription.

346 Gledhill and Gledhill (1980, 177) provide a helpful description: ‘The Kerkenberg is an enormous mass of rock,
split by some cataclysm into three pieces.’

347 DSAB 4, 1981, 496-497; Visagie 2011, 415. Although she was since 1832 by marriage Debora Jacoba Meyer (see
below), we follow the Official Guide and call her here by her maiden name, Retief, to signal her connection to Piet
Retief.

348 Ibid., 177.

349 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 65 (Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 96).

350 Chapter 3 (‘Harmony Hall’)

351 For Kerkenberg, see Oberholster 1972, 226227 no. 25; Raper, Moller and Du Plessis 2014, 231; Visagie 2014, 91-95.
A set of detailed photographs is provided at http://www.51countriesandcounting.com/single-post/2017/01/09/Retra-
cing-the-steps-of-the-Voortrekkers---Drakensberg.
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Figure 10.8: ‘Retiefklip’. Restored Debora Retief inscription in glazed case (photo
courtesy of www.boerenbrit.com/archives/1708/dsc07913#main)

recording her father’s birthday takes away from the personal and anecdotal character of her act.
The motif evokes the classical prototype Victory, depicted as either inscribing a virtue or victory
on a shield, or crowning a victor to herald in a new era of peace, well known from Roman imperial
and early Christian art.*? In addition, the mannered stance with which the boy presents the small
paint pot, reminiscent of a lay-helper in church, lends a ritualistic flavour. This and the solemn
effect of the two framing figures elevate the graffiti-like birthday message into a ceremonial event.
With hindsight and the knowledge of Retief’s imminent death, the inscription is endowed with the
status of a memorial, and the original did indeed become such at its centenary in 1937.3%

If the panel can be read as a memorial, then one wonders whether Retief’s youngest son, Pieter
Cornelis (1823-38),%* might also be referenced, because of the mode in which the central boy is
singled out by his placement and the space around him - although Pieter at fourteen was consid-
erably older than the boy in the relief, and was not present on this occasion since he had already
left with his father for the fatal visit to uMgungundlovu. Children who could have been present to
witness the event might tentatively be identified as other members of the extended Retief family,
offspring of the adopted Greylings, for example, or Debora Retief’s own children. Married since
1832 to Lucas Petrus Johannes Meyer (1811-38),3>> by late 1837 she had already borne three children.
Although her two boys, born in 1835 and 1837, died in infancy, her daughter Magdalena, born in
1833, was an appropriate age for the little girl in the foreground of the relief, who with her doll in
her lap echoes her mother’s constant role of child rearing. Indeed, although it is not represented
in the relief, Debora must have been pregnant at the time she celebrated her father’s birthday, as

352 Holscher 1967, 98-131 pls. 11-14 (1st-3rd century AD); Kent, Overbeck and Von Stylow 1973, 169 no. 690 pl. 148
and passim (Late Antiquity); Buranelli, Dietrick, Bussagli, Sica and Bernabei 2007, 52-53 with fig. (Trajan’s Column).
353 The site has also been used to memorialise a broader concept of the Trek; for example, commemorative celeb-
rations for the Day of the Vow were arranged there in 2017, as noted in the Voortrekker Monument newsletter for
December 2017.

354 Visagie 2011, 415 (Retief, Pieter Cornelis).

355 Ibid., 312.
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another Meyer daughter was born sometime in 1838, probably after the death of the baby’s father,
who had also accompanied Retief to uMgungundlovu. Since the boys and girls in the panel are
never identified in the literature about the frieze, nor the Retief family discussed, any intention
to represent specific children seems unlikely. But whether or not such references were intended,
the youthfulness of the children has a twofold purpose: it reinforces the generational continuity
of Retief’s family in particular and the Voortrekkers in general, and also acts as a reminder of the
innocence and vulnerability of children. It was they who became victims in brutal confrontations
between the Voortrekkers and their foes, such as those depicted later in the narrative of the frieze
at Bloukrans, and who also, in less dramatic but equally tragic ways, so often died in infancy on
the treks.

In idealising Debora Retief and her act through the formality of the marble relief, the scene was
also designed to address Afrikaner virtues of the day woven into the narrative of the Great Trek.
As with Debora, the children are endowed with faultless behaviour and immaculate appearance,
even in the most inaccessible wilderness. Different sexes and age groups interact with each other
in unquestioned harmony and hierarchy, the older children elevated above the younger ones with
Debora at the top, all of them in orderly assembly. Remoteness did not even impede their literacy,
as the Voortrekkers did not neglect education, already represented in Soutpansberg. That a micro-
cosm of Afrikaner ideals was an intended goal is confirmed in Moerdyk’s description:

The happy childhood scene which is also depicted on this panel symbolises the peaceful intentions
of the Voortrekkers, a community in search of a new home who laid emphasis upon the family and
its ties.>¢

Even as they play on our empathy, Debora Retief and the children are related to gendered role
models that embody Afrikaner principles, even the youngest. In the foreground, as we have seen,
the children prefigure their forthcoming roles (fig. 10.9), the girl with the doll as a ‘volksmoeder’,
a mother of the Afrikaner nation (see Inauguration), while the boy with his kakebeenwa playfully
yet seriously anticipates his future in charge of an ox wagon (fig. 10.10). It is obvious that all the
children in this panel play their part as the ideal adults of the future.

More specifically, beginning with Blydevooruitsig, this image and those that follow are arranged
to prepare for the drama depicted in the central scene of the Hall’s south wall, the murder of Retief
and his men. Debora Retief is the most personal scene of the frieze, a kind of ideal family portrait of
the upcoming generation, embodied in the Retiefs’ lineage. On 4 July 1814, Piet Retief had married
Magdalena Johanna de Wet (1782-1855), who was the widow of Field-Cornet Jan Greyling (killed
December 1811), and not only adopted their six surviving children into his new family but had four
more: Debora Jacoba (1815-1900), Jacobus Francois (1816, time of death unknown), Magdalena
Margaretha (1820, time of death unknown) and Pieter Cornelis, mentioned above, who died with
his father in 1838.3” Debora Retief followed the example of her parents’ large family, and bore
twelve children altogether. Because of the untimely death of her first husband, who perished with
Retief, she married again in 1839, and after her second husband’s death yet again in 1843. It is a
reminder of just how often women were widowed on the treks, but frequently remarried to bear
yet more children. The Retiefs were a fine example of the extensive families that would ensure the
survival of the Voortrekkers and their values, even in the face of the loss of Retief, his eldest stepson
Abraham Greyling, his son Pieter and his son-in-law Lucas Meyer at uMgungundlovu on 6 February
1838 (see Murder of Retief).

The Retiefs also exemplify the family networks that shaped the succeeding chapters of Afri-
kaner history. After her husband’s death at uMgungundlovu in February 1838 (see Murder of

356 Official Guide 1970, 46.
357 Gledhill and Gledhill 1980, 50 (marriage with M.]. de Wet), 54 (birth of Debora), 56 (birth of Jacobus), 65 (birth of
Magdalena), 86 (birth of Pieter); Visagie 2011, 414—415.
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Figure 10.9: Preparing for adult roles in Debora Retief — girl with doll and boy with kakebeenwa. Marble,
detail of fig. 10.1 (photo Russell Scott)

Figure 10.10: Kakebeenwa in front of wagon of the Voortrekker Monument laager (photo courtesy of HF Archives
F40.1.10 k)
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Retief), Debora Retief remarried with Willem Adolph Landman in 1839 (they had one daughter),*®
and then in 1843 with Marthinus Wessel (Swart Martiens) Pretorius (1822-64; they had seven chil-
dren). He was the nephew of another Voortrekker leader, Andries Pretorius (see Pretorius, Blood
River, Mpande and Convention), and apparently trekked in 1838 with his famous uncle.>® It was
appropriately one of their granddaughters, Johanna Christina Pretorius (1878-1975), who unveiled
a memorial plaque at Kerkenberg at its 1937 centenary,>*® which commemorated both her famous
great-grandfather Piet and, as scribe, her grandmother Debora. The next year she would lay the
Monument’s foundation stone with two other women descendants of trekkers. In yet another
link to the story of the Monument, Johanna Pretorius was married to Gustav Preller, the admired
researcher and recorder of Voortrekker history,* who played an important part in the Historiese
Komitee which guided the selection of topics for the frieze.

Fittingly, Retief’s centenary inscription acknowledged that it was ‘erected by thankful descen-
dants’ (opgerig deur 'n dankbare nageslag), who in 1937 attached it to the rock facing the one with
the Debora Retief inscription. The central part of the text repeats the incorrect, but by then well-
established story, that the trekkers heard of Dingane’s grant of land in Natal on the day before the
actual birthday of Retief (see Blydevooruitsig):

On 11 November Coenraad and Piet Meyer returned with good news that Natal could be occupied
and settled in peace. The following day, Retief’s 57th birthday, his daughter Deborah wrote her
father’s name on this rock in commemoration of this achievement.>¢?

Debora Retief’s inscription, given her strong links with past and present Afrikaner history, rein-
forced Retief’s status as the Great Trek’s most celebrated martyr and hero. The very personal yet
formal way in which Retief’s birthday is celebrated in the frieze transforms his daughter’s affec-
tionate private memento of 1837 into a public memorial for the frieze in the Hall of Heroes. Ever
since, Debora Retief has underpinned the strong interrelationship between family history and the
Afrikaner narrative of the Trek.

358 According to Visagie (2011, 275), he had probably joined the trek in the party of the Voortrekker leader Karel
(Carel) Pieter Landman (see ibid., 274). An explanation for why this marriage lasted such a short time is supplied by
Debora’s mother, when she wrote to her brother-in-law Gideon Retief on 7 July 1840, and mentioned that ‘the measles
have again robbed me of grandchildren and an upright son in law, my Debora’s husband’ (Gledhill and Gledhill 1980,
218-219). Schoeman (1995, 140) mistakenly assumes that Mrs Retief’s letter refers to Debora’s first husband, Lucas
Meyer, who was in fact not a victim of the measles but of Zulu assault in the murder of Retief’s party in 1838.

359 DSAB 4, 1981, 497; Visagie 2011, 389-390. This Pretorius has often been confused with his brother, Marthinus
Wessel Pretorius (1819-1901), who was the son of Andries Pretorius, and first president (1857-60) of the ZAR.

360 https://www.bloedrivier.org/gelofte/index.php/databasis/ander-monumente/kerkenberg/retiefklip#
agtergrond. A photograph of the inscription is provided at http://www.boerenbrit.com/archives/1708/dsc07918. It is
probably not by chance that ‘Retiefklip’ seemed to have been first mentioned in the Jansen Memorandum (1937) and
then ‘Kerkeberg’ in Moerdyk’s Voortrekker Monument in the centenary year in 1938.

361 See Part I, Chapter 1 (‘The Monument Committee’).

362 ‘Op 11 November het Coenraad en Piet Meyer teruggekeer met die blyde tyding, dat Natal in vrede besit en be-
woon mag word. Die volgende dag — Retief se 57se verjaardag — het sy dogter, Deborah uit dankbaarheid vir wat haar
vader verkry het, sy naam op hierdie rots geskryf.” Our English quotation follows the English inscription, donated by
students of the Technicon Pretoria and Terraz, and set up in 1986 next to its Afrikaans forerunner. A photograph of the
inscription is provided at http://www.boerenbrit.com/archives/1708/dsc07919.
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South wall (panels 13-14/31) r
h. 2.3 x w. 4.76 m (panel 13: 2.29 m; panel 14: 2.47 m; overlap with Treaty)
Restored fractures on vertical edges; split-offs from top of panel 14

Sculptor of the clay maquette: Frikkie Kruger f

24

23

22

STAGES OF PRODUCTION
A1 W.H. Coetzer, pencil drawing, retained only in A2 (April-June 1937)
A2 Reproduction of A1 (June 1937) f
A3 W.H. Coetzer, revised pencil drawing Al, h. 13.5 x w. 30.5 cm U
(after September 1937) 19
Annotation: ‘Drakensberge af’ (Down the Drakensberg)
B1 One-third-scale clay maquette, not extant but replicated in B2 (1942-43) L4
B2 One-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 78 x w. 165 x d. 9.5 cm (1942-43)
C1 Full-scale wooden armature for C2, not extant but photographed 15 14 13

21

20

(1943-45) .

C2 Full-scale clay relief, not extant but photographed; replicated in C3
(1943-45)

C3 Full-scale plaster relief (1943-45), not extant but illustrated
(Die Vaderland, 26.2.1945); copied in D (1948-49)

D Marble as installed in the Monument (1949)

EARLY RECORDS

SVK minutes (4.9.1937 — item 4i (see below, ‘Developing the design’)

Voorstelle (5.12.1934?) — item 2 ‘Trichardt-trek oor Drakensberg: om byna bowemenselike inspanning van trek te laat
begryp. Fuller se sketse kan hier tot leidraad dien. Miskien die oomblik waarop 'n waviel, of ander stuk daarvan,
langs die kranse afgelaat word met rieme’ (Trichardt trek over Drakensberg: to create understanding of the
almost superhuman effort of the trek. Fuller’s sketches [see Delagoa Bay] can give guidance here. Perhaps the
moment when the wheel of a wagon, or other part of it, is lowered down the cliffs with thongs)

Panele (c. 1934-36) — item 3 ‘Moeilikhede om mee te kamp, a. natuur, A. Wys waens wat die berge oorgaan soos o.a.
deur die Trichardt-trek’ (Difficulties to cope with, a. nature, A. Show wagons which go over the mountains such
as, among others, those of the Trichardt trek)

Wenke (c. 1934-36) — item L. F.A. STEYTLER, b. ‘Trekkerwaens teen die hange van Drakensberg, dogtertjie as
touleier’ (Trek wagons on the cliffs of the Drakensberg, little girl as team leader)

Moerdyk Layout (5.10.1936-15.1.1937) — scene 9 on panels 13-14/31 ‘Aftog’ (Descent)

Jansen Memorandum (19.1.1937) — item 7.9 ‘The descent from the Drakensberg Mountains’

3 Open Access. © 2020 Elizabeth Rankin and Rolf Michael Schneider, published by De Gruyter and African Minds.
This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110668797-016
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Figure 11.1: D. Descent. 1949. Marble, 2.3 x 4.76 m (courtesy of VTM; photo Russell Scott)
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Description

Descent is dominated by its backdrop of the Drakensberg, the only image of the frieze that makes
a landscape such a pronounced focus (fig. 11.1). From a rocky foreground, the scene recedes to
several generalised lines of hills, then two flat-topped mountains of different size towering in the
far distance, recognisable as those near Kerkenberg and the Oliviershoekpas.?*® Instead of a spe-
cific event, it is this prospect that is framed by the couple on the left and the tall woman on the
right, all three facing inwards, while only smaller figures are placed in the central area as though
not to disturb the grand vista.

The woman on the right stands like a statue on top of a flattened stone outcrop. She shades
her eyes with her right hand, emphasising her role as surveyor of the scene, further directed by
the deep brim of her embroidered kappie. Her gaze guides the viewer to look with her towards the
couple coming from the left, a bearded trekker with a wide-brimmed hat and a muzzleloader over
his shoulder, and his wife who holds a swaddled baby in her arms. That the couple are apparently
strolling down a shallow slope is scarcely reflected in their upright posture, and indicated only in
the man’s feet, while the left foot of the woman is not visible. They seem to overcome the task of
traversing the craggy Drakensberg with ease, also implied by the flawless dress of the two women.

Behind the couple the rocky landscape slants sharply towards the right, presenting a greater
challenge. Yet on the steep incline the ox wagon that appears is as immaculate as the figures, with
unblemished canvas cover, its front flap tidily rolled. The detail of the wagon exemplifies how accu-
racy is a major concern of the artists; Hennie Potgieter draws attention to the correct ‘number of
spokes in the wheels - ten front and fourteen back’.>®* But in this case the back wheels are replaced
by branches, tied onto the rear of the wagon, a strategy to slow it down on the precipitous descent.
For better control only one pair of oxen is yoked to it, and they forcefully dig in their hooves on
the rocks underfoot as they resist its weight on the steep incline. Beyond them, rather too small in
scale, three trekkers, all wearing jackets and hats, are engaged in the arduous task of bringing the
huge ox wagon down safely: one steadies the descent by holding a branch tied to the wagon as a
braking lever, another guides the oxen, and the third holds a long whip. Next to the woman on the
far right and behind slabs of rock in the foreground, two trekkers roll one of the dismantled back
wheels slowly downhill. Both work without a jacket, but the one in back view wears a hat, which
interferes awkwardly with the woman’s raised arm that is at an unnaturally extended angle. His
bareheaded companion is the sole figure here showing pronounced portrait features, although no
sitter is recorded for him.

363 See Ferreira 1975, 62.
364 ‘(Let weer eens op die) getal speke in die wiele — voor tien an agter veertien’ (Potgieter 1987, 22).
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Figure 11.2: A2. W.H. Coetzer. Reproduction of the first sketch for Descent. June 1937 (courtesy of ARCA PV94 1/75/5/1; photo the authors)

Figure 11.3: A3: W.H. Coetzer. ‘Drakensberge af’. After September 1937. Pencil, 13.5 x 30.5 cm. Revised first sketch (photo courtesy of
Museum Africa, no. 66/2194N)
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Developing the design

Coetzer’s designs are known from a reproduction of his initial pencil drawing (fig. 11.2) and the
revised version (fig. 11.3), which has marks on the lower margins, presumably for squaring up. The
reproduction in a distinctive Drakensberg setting is a lively scene of trekkers involved in getting an
ox wagon safely down the steep mountain side, which shows Coetzer’s appreciation of the chal-
lenge.>®> Two men guide the wagon which has had its back wheels replaced by branches lashed
to the wagon to slow its descent; one man on high ground on the right directs the process, while
another grapples with one of the removed wheels, and two more carry a heavy trunk, no doubt to
lighten the wagon’s load. Further figures on the left represent a man with a shovel and women and
children from the wagon who make their way down the hill, and a single encroaching foot on the
far left suggests that there are more coming behind them.

In the Historiese Komitee meeting on 4 September 1937 the following alterations were stipu-
lated:

Crossing the Drakensberg. There should be a brake with a chain under the wheels; the chest that is
being carried should show lock, hinges and metal fittings more clearly.>*®

Coetzer responded in his revised pencil drawing to the changes requested by the SVK, but made a
number of other modifications as well, which implies that there was more discussion than what
was actually minuted by the committee. Although the general composition remains close to the
reproduction, Coetzer altered significant details (from left to right): 1) he replaced the trekker with
the spade (and a stray male foot) on the far left with a tree; 2) he depicted the back wheels on the
wagon with manufactured brake-shoes connected to chains and fastened underneath the back
wheels, as requested; 3) he introduced a little water barrel hanging on a hook at the side of the
wagon and the rolled-up front flap of the wagon’s canvas cover; 4) he furnished the chest in the
foreground with a lock and corner reinforcements, again as specified; 5) he tidied away the little
snake on the outcrop in the foreground; 6) he omitted the man and the stray back wheel, since
the wagon had not been dismantled; 7) he added five more men in the background, two carrying
goods, and three who lean back at an angle to manoeuvre a second wagon downhill in dramatic
foreshortening. The same motif is at centre-stage in one of Coetzer’s numerous Drakensberg depic-
tions, namely an undated large oil, Voortrekkers bo-op die Drakensberg (fig. 11.11).>¢” To increase
the effect of this scene he staged on the far right two figures as onlookers, a mother with her young
daughter. The idea of a prominent female onlooker is found in the frieze too, although in Coetzer’s
drawings it is a male figure who directs operations. However, the composition of his sketches sets
the standard for the later design, namely the ox wagon that arrives from the left and the two distinct
mountains that dominate the background, which also reflect Coetzer’s personal knowledge of the
landscapes traversed by the Voortrekkers.

Despite Coetzer’s efforts to make the required revisions, the small plaster maquette is generally
guided by the composition of the first drawing (fig. 11.4); it reverts to the use of branches to slow
the wagon’s descent, and reduces the number of figures to give more attention to the landscape.
Yet, emphasising the difficulty of the crossing, in the maquette more figures take part in guiding
the wagon compared to the first sketch that was the source of the relief (fig. 11.2). The Voortrekker
at the head of the oxen pushes against them to assist in slowing down the descent of the wagon,
which is not cut off but depicted in full. The Voortrekker with a whip in the foreground has moved
behind the oxen to become more directly involved. The men, including two in the left foreground

365 Dramatic scenes of Voortrekkers crossing the Drakensberg with their wagons is one of the painter’s favourite trek
topics; see, for example, the four oils in Coetzer 1947, 58-65, and a fine drawing in Muller 1978, 41 fig. 41.

366 ‘Aftog van die Drakensberge. Daar moet 'n remskoen met 'n remketting onder die wiele wees; die kis wat gedra
word, moet duidelik slot, skarnier en beslag wys’ (Historiese Komitee 4.9.1937: 4i).

367 Coetzer 1947, 64.
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Figure 11.4: B2. Frikkie Kruger. Descent. 1942-43. Plaster, 78 x 165 x 9.5 cm. Maquette (courtesy of VTM Museum VTM 2184/1-28; photo
Russell Scott)

Figure 11.5: C2. Descent. 1943-45. Clay. Full-scale relief (Potgieter 1987, 22; photo Alan Yates)



Developing the design =—— 195

1  Justa Kriel, later Mrs Proctor de Villiers
2 Mrs . Kammeyer, Gerard Kammeyer’s wife and sister-in-law of Sussie Postma, wife of Lenus Postma

3 Breedt, a student

Figure 11.6: Models for portraits (Potgieter 1987, 22-23)

Figure 11.7: Model
for left Boer in
Descent (photo
courtesy of
Kirchhoff files)

who grapple with a dismantled wagon wheel, have their sleeves rolled up to undertake their work,
as they do in the Coetzer sketch, stressing its laboriousness. An exception is the man who accom-
panies his wife and baby in the left foreground, who wears a jacket and carries a gun. And on the
right, in place of the man directing operations, stands a more contemplative woman who gazes
to the left, partly obscured by the two men with the wagon wheel. The arrangement of the figures
and their general poses, actions and gender are retained in the full-scale clay relief (fig. 11.5) and
the subsequent marble (fig. 11.1). In these reliefs, the descent of the wagon and the busy group is
reduced and takes second place to the foreground figures who frame the activity, and only they
have their models identified by Hennie Potgieter (fig. 11.6). The man and woman descend sedately
on the left, his general posture prefigured by a live model shown in a photograph in the Kirchhoff
collection (fig. 11.7). And the woman on the right is now in the foreground and no longer obscured
by the men with the wheel. All lend a staged quality to the final scene.
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Figure 11.8: Hendrik Ploeger applying clay to full-scale wooden armature for Descent. 1943-45 (courtesy of Kirchhoff
files; photo Alan Yates)

Figure 11.9: C1. Hendrik Ploeger. Wooden armature for full-scale clay relief of Descent. 1943-45 (courtesy of
Kirchhoff files; photo Alan Yates)
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It is tempting to relate the refinement of the full-scale work at least in part to the process of
making the large clay panels, when the basic compositions of the maquettes were scaled up and
captured in the wooden armature made by Ploeger on the backboard to support the clay relief.®
In the case of Descent we have a rare photograph of the carpenter at work (fig. 11.8) and of the
armature where ovoid heads and vestigial limbs of wood indicate no more than the general lines of
the composition, reducing it to its essentials (fig. 11.9). But there are changes too in the detail and
demeanour of the figures that suggest a deliberate intention to lend the scene gravitas, and endow
it with historical significance.

368 See Part I, Chapter 3 (‘Harmony Hall’).
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Figure 11.10: Routes, mountain passes and laagers of Voortrekkers in the Drakensberg and Zulu Natal. Late 1837 and early 1838
(courtesy of Visagie 2014, foldout opp. p.98)
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Reading the narrative

While iconographically related to Return, also designed by Frikkie Kruger and mounted diagonally
opposite in the same position on the north wall of the Hall of Heroes, Descent continues the story
introduced in Blydevooruitsig and Debora Retief. Although topic proposals for the frieze, quoted
above, cited Trichardt’s trek as an appropriate example to show the extreme challenge of travers-
ing the Drakensberg, the crossing depicted in the frieze is firmly tied to Retief’s story. In late 1837,
after Retief’s trekkers had received his news from Natal in their camp at Kerkenberg, they began to
descend from the south-eastern edge of the Drakensberg down into Natal, despite Retief’s earlier
injunction that they should await his return before they moved (fig. 11.10). His party crossed by the
Oliviershoek Pass (also called Retief Pass), while others came over the Tintwas Pass, Van Reenen’s
Pass and De Beer’s Pass from south to north.>®® In a letter that Retief wrote on 23 October 1837, he
reported some of the complications his party had faced on their way to the British at Port Natal,
which gives an idea of what the main trek groups now faced:

During the whole of my journey of six months, I have not experienced so much difficulty as in the
last tour of 90 hours. From Drakensberg to Port Natal I have crossed five nearly perpendicular accliv-
ities, — the first took us six hours with the wagons, the others less; in some places we greatly fatigued
our horses in riding right and left to find a path to descend, - as also in crossing large rivers and
valleys ...>"®

In the early 1840s Adulphe Delegorgue called the Boers ‘the finest wagon drivers in the world ...
[who] frequently drive their teams along a ridge bordering on a precipitous drop of perhaps 1200
feet, where a single unexpected stone could send wagon and oxen crashing to destruction in the
depths below’.3”* And Erasmus Smit addressed the specific challenges his trek was exposed to
when descending from the Drakensberg into Natal on 14 November 1837:

In the morning at 8 o’clock we yoked the oxen in the 32 waggons [sic] to descend the very high
Drakensberg Mts. After great difficulties in taking the waggons down more than 20 steep heights
that necessitated braking (some braked with two chains fastened to a front and a back wheel of
the waggon)*”? we arrived with 18 waggons towards sunset at the low level at the foot of the great
Drakensberg Mts. where we unyoked near water and very good grass. We had, God be thanked, few
accidents. Only a waggon of our good fellow traveller, W. Prinsloo, capsized at the beginning of the
descent from the first dangerous height and a beautiful set of chairs was broken, but there was no
damage to man and beast.?” Five waggons remained behind.>”*

Numerous treks were to follow. Chase reports that the numbers of wagons between the Orange
River and the Drakensberg in late 1837 were estimated ‘at 1,500, and certainly the number of souls
could not have been less than Fifteen Thousand’.>”® To Dingane, whose spies were everywhere to
report on what was taking place in his kingdom, it must have seemed like a massive invasion.
Descent illustrates many of the aspects of the crossing described in SVK documents and various
writers such as those quoted above, but frames them in a way that might have been taken from a
historical diorama. It is almost the opposite of what was suggested in an early ‘Voorstelle’ proposal

369 Visagie (2014, 96-98) includes a helpful map (opp. p.98) which shows the passes and the laagers of the trekkers
in Natal (see fig. 11.10).

370 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 126 (apparently written to his fellow trekkers, although there is no addressee).

371 Delegorgue, Travels 2, 1997, 174.

372 For the robust and purposely designed Voortrekker wagons, see Departure.

373 For two depictions of capsized wagons by Thomas Baines in rough territory, see Carruthers and Arnold 1995, 78
fig. 2 (Overturned wagon, 1848), 128 fig. 5 (Our wagon capsized on climbing out from Hout Bosch Raand, Natal, 1869).
374 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 65 (Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 97).

375 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 128.
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Figure 11.11: W.H. Coetzer. Voortrekkers bo-op die Drakensberg (Voortrekkers atop the Drakensberg). Undated. Oil, c. 120 x 180 cm
(courtesy of DNMCH DHK 5533; photo Helenus Kruger, City of Tshwane)

for topics for the frieze, which recommended including Louis Trichardt’s trek over the Drakens-
berg, ‘to create understanding of the almost superhuman effort of the trek ...”>”® Descent does not
depict the grimy and exhausting task of a very dangerous descent, but an idealistic reconstruc-
tion in which everyone is posed as though in a tableau on stage: trekkers and women in Sunday
dress and a versatile all-terrain wagon without the slightest trace of hard use parade in front of
an equally flawless, almost abstractly ordered landscape. In this sense, although the landscape
includes recognisable features of the area, the panel acts as a symbolic scene to remind viewers
of all the testing treks across the mountains, including that of Louis Trichardt and his party who
traversed the Drakensberg further north.

The landscape forms an exemplary backdrop to a scene addressing Boer virtues, with the Voor-
trekkers portrayed as picture-book pioneers able to overcome all difficulties with ease, in contrast
to Coetzer’s greater emphasis on the difficulties of crossing the Drakensberg, seen in the larger scale
and more acute angle of the wagon in his sketches (figs 11.2, 11.3), and particularly in his paintings
of the Trek (fig. 11.11). Yet there is some contradiction in this approach, as it was also intended that

376 Quoted above (p.189), ‘Voorstelle’.
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the frieze would capture the challenges the Voortrekkers faced, and their extraordinary effort and
endurance to overcome them. The mountains in the background are dauntingly impenetrable, yet
they are sufficiently distant not to cast doubt on the Voortrekkers’ success. With a stilted grace, the
travellers make their way to their new home in Natal. It is, following on Departure, a second exodus
that leads the trekkers, like the Israelites in the Old Testament, to the ‘promised’ land.?”” And it is
in this spirit that Retief, on 23 October 1837, closed the report on his earlier descent from the Drak-
ensberg into Natal with a devout acknowledgement:

The merciful kindness and protection of Almighty God, hitherto extended to us, we must ever most
gratefully acknowledge.>”®

377 Delegorgue (Travels 2, 1997, 54), who spent much time with the Boers, reports: ‘Together they read the Bible and
their strength was reinforced, because they believed that they were God’s chosen people, before whom lay the pro-
mised land far beyond the deserts, its gateway marked out by great columns placed there by the hand of the Creator.
This was in 1836.” Delegorgue’s ‘great columns’ seem to allude to the Drakensberg. As his editors (Travels 1, 1990,
342 sv. Draaken’s Berg also Quathlambéne mountains) explain, ‘Khahlamba, the Zulu name for the [Natal] range [of
the Drakensberg], means, variously, a rough bony object such as a skeleton, a tall thin person, or a row of upward
pointing spears.’

378 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 126.
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b. W.H. Coetzer, pencil drawing, h. 13.4 x 15.3 (April-June 1937) 19 H
Reproduction of Alb (June 1937)
Coetzer, revised pencil drawing Alb, h. 13.4 x w. 15.3 cm L
(after September 1937)

Annotations: ‘nog nie klaar nie’ (not yet finished) / ‘Owen moet nie daar
wees nie en tafel moet verander word in blok hout’ (Owen must not be

there and the table must be altered into block of wood.) / ‘... Bwen weg’ 0 5 10
(... delete ©Owen) / ‘Traktaat met Dingaan’ (Treaty with Dingane)

W.H. Coetzer, Die Dingaan-Retief Traktaat (The Dingane-Retief Treaty);

monochrome oil on board, h. 27.3 x w. 31 cm (late 1937-38?)

a. One-third-scale clay maquette, not extant but photographed (1942-43)

b. One-third-scale clay maquette, not extant but replicated in B2 (1942-43)

One-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 77.5 x w. 76.7 x d. 8.5 cm (1942-43)

Full-scale wooden armature for C2, not extant but photographed (1943-45)

Full-scale clay relief, not extant but photographed; replicated in C3 (1943-45)

Full-scale plaster relief (1943-45), not extant but illustrated (Die Vaderland, 26.2.1945); copied in D (1948-49)
Marble as installed in the Monument (1949)

EARLY RECORDS

SVK minutes (4.9.1937) — item 4j (see below, ‘Development of the design’)
Voorstelle (5.12.1935?) — item 10 ‘Ondertekening Dingaan-traktaat. Suggestie: soos voorgestel in “Voortrekker-

rolprent”’*”? (Signing of Dingane treaty. Suggestion: as shown in Voortrekker film)

Panele (c. Dec. 1934-36) — item 6 ‘Ondertekening v. traktaat’ (Signing of treaty)
Wenke (c. 1934-36) — item II. Dr. L. Steenkamp, mnre. A.J. du Plessis en M. Basson, A. ‘MAATSKAPLIK’ (SOCIAL),

3. ‘Verhouding met ander volksgroepe’ (Attitude to other ethnic groups), d. ‘Dingaan’ (Dingane), v. ‘Voltrekking
van verdrag’ (Execution of contract)

Moerdyk Layout (5.10.1936-15.1.1937) — scene 10 on panel 15 ‘Traktaat’ (Treaty)
Jansen Memorandum (19.1.1937) — 710 ‘Signing of the Treaty with Dingaan’

379 In the Jansen files copy of ‘Voorstelle’ (ARCA PV94 1/75/1/7) the reference to the Voortrekker film is scored out.

3 Open Access. © 2020 Elizabeth Rankin and Rolf Michael Schneider, published by De Gruyter and African Minds.
This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110668797-017
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Figure 12.1: D. Treaty. 1949. Marble, 2.3 x 2.14 m (courtesy of VTM; photo Russell Scott)

Figure 12.2: Portrait
of Dingane in Treaty.
Marble, detail of
fig. 12.1 (photo
Russell Scott)
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Description

In the centre of Treaty (fig. 12.1) two quite different men sit facing each other: the Zulu king Dingane
in full regalia),®® and across the table the Voortrekker governor Piet Retief in trekker clothing. The
corpulent king, his beard and moustache short-trimmed, is the only person who sits on a proper
chair. He has the royal head ring (‘isicoco’) with a large central attachment in the form of a ball deli-
cately formed of lourie feathers (‘isiqova’ or ‘ilihuna’) and a single crane feather at the back; earplugs
(“izighaza’)*®' and a large stylised necklace, perhaps meant to depict curved lion or leopard claws
(fig 12.2).3% He wears a purpose-cut skin covering his back and the midline of the chest (‘amambata’),
more clearly visible for the Zulu in frontal view on the king’s left, and bandoliers in the form of a
double-cord over his shoulder like a sash.?® There is further a knee-length back or rear apron made
of skin (‘ibheshu’),* of which the forked flap protrudes under the king’s thigh; the ‘izinjobo’ - i.e.
the tails of genets (‘ilidlaka’) dangling between the ‘ibheshu’ and the ‘isinene’ (loin cover);® the tuft
of cow tails on a band around the upper arms and below the knees (‘amashoba’);*®¢ and above each
ankle a pair of beadwork rings (‘amadavathi’). It is pertinent to the general goal of historical accuracy
that so much detail was lavished on Dingane’s attire. In the case of the Voortrekkers, the form of dress
was already established in earlier panels. The Boer leader, his full beard coiffured, is distinguished,
however, with a longer jacket than the customary trekker attire, and a top hat, suggesting the formal-
ity of the occasion, and he has a satchel over his shoulder, a key element in the narrative. It is notable
that he and his party do not remove their hats in the king’s presence.

Dingane uses a quill to mark a document on the table, but Retief is in control of the transaction,
his pointing index finger directing where to sign. Two groups of people, densely arranged and cer-
emonially staged, frame their leaders in a semicircle. Behind Dingane, his advisors and confidants
kneel or crouch, and next to Retief stands a group of trekkers. While the Zulu outnumber the Boers,
the Boers appear dominant because they are upright. The seniority of five Zulu near the king is
indicated by their head rings, earplugs and chest coverings, while the royal cuspidor (‘inceku’),
Tununu ka Nonjiya, kneels with cupped hands at his side. The ‘isinene’ of his apron falls over the
lower frame, as do the skins covering the tree trunk that acts as Retief’s seat, details that add to the
tangible presence of the scene. The trekkers are shown in their traditional suits and wide-brimmed
hats; the men in the front row have full beards, except for one with neither beard nor hat, who
represents the English interpreter Thomas Halstead (1811-38).3*” Only on the Boer side are there
children, two boys who frame their leader like small guards, the one behind Retief holding a coiled
riempie-rope.

Beyond the heads of the Zulu a kraal is seen from a high vantage point that shows a section
of Dingane’s extensive capital, uMgungundlovu.?®® The huts are depicted as perfect hemispheres,
enclosed by tall palisades, with strong horizontal supports, in a rectilinear layout with a central
entrance. The larger scale and different layout from the view in Murder of Retief are presumably
intended to show that the signing takes place at the king’s residence, while several lines of hills on
the horizon indicate its locale.

380 For (high-ranking) Zulu clothing, see Krige 1981, 370-382, esp. 374-375. We are indebted to Sandra Klopper for
her guidance on Dingane and his regalia.

381 See Frank Jolles, ‘Zulu earplugs’, in Zulu treasures 1996, 171-181.

382 For a royal lion claw necklace, see Zulu treasures 1996, 65 no. K19.

383 Bandoliers were, according to Jolly (2005, 88), ‘usually symbolically charged and associated with high ritual
status or potency’.

384 For a man’s rear apron made of leopard skin, see Zulu treasures 1996, 216 no. A47.

385 See Zulu treasures 1996, 215 nos A42 (‘isinene’, man’s loin cover) and A42a (‘izinjobo’, loin hanging).

386 In Zulu treasures (1996, 215 no. A37) they are called ‘umklezo (imiklezo)’, meaning ‘cattle tailbrush shoulder
ornament’.

387 DSAB 3, 1977, 367-368.

388 See Murder of Retief.
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Figure 12.3: Ala. W.H. Coetzer. April-June 1937. Pencil, 13.4 x 15.4 cm. Figure 12.4: A2. W.H. Coetzer. Reproduction of the first
Mirror version of Alb/A3 (photo courtesy of Museum Africa, sketch for Treaty. June 1937 (courtesy of ARCA
no. 66/2194l) PV94 1/75/5/1; photo the authors)

Figure 12.5: A3. W.H. Coetzer. ‘Traktaat met Dingaan’. After Figure 12.6: A4. W.H. Coetzer. Die Dingaan-Retief traktaat. Late 1937-
September 1937. Pencil, 13.4 x 15.3 cm. Revised version of Alb 387 Monochrome oil on board, 27.3 x 31 cm (courtesy of DNMCH,
(photo courtesy of Museum Africa, no. 66/2194)) OHG 897; photo the authors)
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Developing the design

For this scene we have the unusual circumstance of two initial drawings, mirror images of each
other. Presumably Coetzer was trialling which way the scene would read best in the preliminary
drawings and then discarded the one showing Dingane on the right and Retief on the left (fig. 12.3).
It is the reversed reproduction with Dingane on the left and Retief on the right (fig. 12.4), labelled
’, which corresponds with no. 10 on Jansen’s 1937 Memorandum, which must have been shown
to the committee, and it is the same as the pencil drawing on which Coetzer made annotations for
corrections (fig. 12.5).

At the Historiese Komitee meeting on 4 September 1937 the following alterations were required:

Signing of contract. The inkwell was a little bottle with a rim around the neck that people carried on
their belts; Dingaan writes on a block; he should look far more clumsy, that is to say, hold the pen
almost straight-backwards; the skin shields should be held flat over his head; the ‘kaffer’ that holds
out his hands for the spit should hold a hide shield; Dingaan’s head is shaved smooth with a ring
around it. Dingaan sits on a block. (Compare the Voortrekker movie.)?*?

A handwritten note in pencil on Coetzer’s drawing repeats the point that the table should be
replaced by a block, and adds that Francis Owen (1802-54),3%° — the English missionary at uMgun-
gundlovu — was not present (‘Owen was nie daar nie’). It strongly suggests that Coetzer was jotting
down notes during the discussion and that not everything was minuted for the committee.

As was so often the case, the Coetzer drawing provides the basic plot for the reliefs. It shows
the Zulu with distinctive headgear, assegais and shields on the left and the trekkers on the other
side in the right-reading version of the drawing. The latter are all depicted bareheaded as if paying
respect to Dingane. Between the two parties stands a table at an angle, with the Zulu king in regalia
on the left, marking the document with a quill. He is seated on ‘Dingane’s chair’, then regarded as
an authentic artefact (see below), which the committee was evidently unaware of when it required
its removal. From the right Retief, with a bottle on a strap over his shoulder (see Murder of Retief),
points to the document, but approaches the king rather obsequiously with lowered head. Apart
from the Zulu king and his cuspidor, all are standing, orderly Zulu clustered on the left, with a
shield held aloft above Dingane, the Boers more casually spread out on the right. A little apart,
marking the liminal zone between Zulu and trekkers, stands the English missionary, the Rewv.
Francis Owen, identified by his clerical collar and Bible. The entire scene is depicted from a fairly
high viewpoint, which makes the drawing relatively informal.

The drawing we have has not been worked up, and is inscribed as unfinished, with none of the
changes requested by the Historiese Komitee, despite Coetzer’s annotations. However, Coetzer’s
monochrome oil of the scene (fig. 12.6) omits Owen, and exchanges the table for a more primitive
support, perhaps a tree trunk, while Dingane, with a rather fanciful headdress made of long feath-
ers, sits on a low stool instead of a chair, which suggests that Coetzer might have taken cognisance
of some of the points made by the committee in this work. Yet a curious difference in the painting
is that, while the attendant Zulu warrior still stands, the Boers are seated, a hierarchy that was to
be reversed in all but the earliest of the subsequent reliefs including the final marble (fig. 12.1). The
painting also introduces a distant view of a rectilinear kraal in the background.

For Treaty we have two maquettes, a photograph of an earlier version in clay (fig. 12.7) and a
later one cast in plaster (fig. 12.8) in the Voortrekker Monument Museum. The earlier version is a

389 ‘Tekening van traktaat. Die inkkoker was 'n botteltjie met 'n riem om die nek wat die mense aan hul gordel gedra
het; Dingaan skryf op 'n blok; hy moet baie meer onbeholpe lyk d.w.s. die pen amper agteroor-reguit hou; die skild-
velle moet plat oor sy kop gehou word; die kaffer wat sy hande vir die spuug hou, moet 'n skildvel vashou; Dingaan
se kop is glad geskeer met ’n ring daarom; Dingaan sit op ’n blok. (Vergelyk die Voortrekker-rolprent.)’ (Historiese
Komitee 4.9.1937: 4j).

390 Owen ed. Cory 1926, 1-2; DSAB 2, 1972, 527-528.
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Figure 12.7: B1a. Frikkie Kruger working on Treaty. 1942-43.
Clay maquette (courtesy of VTIM Museum; photo the authors)

Figure 12.8: B2. Frikkie Kruger. Treaty. 1942-43. Plaster, 77.5 x 76.7 x 8.5 cm.
Maquette (courtesy of VTM Museum VTM 2184/1-28; photo Russell Scott)
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Figure 12.9: C1. Hendrik Ploeger. Treaty. 1943-45. Wood, full-scale armature for C2
(courtesy of Kirchhoff files; photo Alan Yates)

rare record of a maquette in the original clay, known through a photograph of Frikkie Kruger at
work on it; it was evidently never cast in plaster.>* It changes the view used in Coetzer’s drawing
to eye level, formalising the composition and showing the table parallel and close to the picture
plane, so that one can barely see its upper surface. The Zulu with headgear and lowered shields
stand behind Dingane, as in the drawing, hence with their heads higher than the king’s; only the
royal cuspidor is kneeling. Dingane is portrayed in his ornate regalia but is more upright and stately
than in the drawing (not ‘far more clumsy’ as required by the Historiese Komitee), and is seated
on a conventional European chair. Again Retief points to the document, looking down towards it,
while Dingane faces him directly. Retief is seated on a low stump or stool with an animal skin over
it, although, with his left hand on the edge of the table and his near leg bent, he is about to rise. He
has a satchel in place of a bottle and wears a hat, as do his men, now no longer with their heads
uncovered. The Boers and the two boys standing behind Retief are equal to the Zulu in number.
Retief’s son Pieter in the middle replaces the Rev. Owen who, as was pencilled on the drawing, had
to be removed since he was not present at this ceremony. The figures of both parties in frontal view
in the background form a shallow circle that frames the main group. A small part of Dingane’s city
uMgungundlovu is just visible as a backdrop.

The most significant innovation of the second maquette (fig. 12.8) is that the Zulu, now
without weapons, are no longer standing, so that their heads are lower than Dingane’s — a cor-
rection suggested by a certain Mr Faye who pointed out that none of the king’s generals would
have been permitted to stand while he was seated.?*? This adjustment caused major changes in the

391 See Part I, Chapter 3 (‘Harmony Hall’).
392 ‘Mnr. Faye [or Feye: the typescript has been amended and is not clear] het hom ook baie goeie raad gegee o.a.,
... (ii.) dat die generale van Dingaan nie sou gestaan het terwyl Dingaan self gesit het nie’ (Dagbestuur 30.9.1943: 3).
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Figure 12.10: C2. Treaty. 1943—45. Clay. Full-scale relief (Potgieter 1987, 23; photo Alan Yates)

composition. As a result of the modified position of the Zulu, the heads of the standing Boers are
above theirs, placing them in a superior position additionally emphasised by the trekkers’ hats. But
two further changes stress Zulu strength. Zulu numbers have been increased so that they completely
outstrip the Boers. There is also more space to show the king’s capital in the background, and it
extends right across the panel, with a woven palisade surrounding the beehive dwellings. Dingane
and Retief face each other directly, but the king is less upright, while Retief’s erect demeanour
is reinforced by a more static profile pose and a formal top hat. Coetzer’s view of the inside of a
broad-brimmed hat (a frequent motif in his sketches), held by the boy behind Retief, is replaced by
a coiled rope, since the hat is on the boy’s head. The English interpreter, Thomas Halstead, who has
now been included, is bare-headed and clean-shaven, which picks him out amongst the Boer party.

Preceded by a wooden armature (fig. 12.9), the translation to the full-scale clay relief (fig. 12.10)
continues the process of solemnising the event, seen in details such as Retief’s longer jacket, the
increased number of witnessing figures on both sides, and the more impressive outline of uMgun-
gundlovu. Although the capital no longer extends behind the Boers, the lower heads of the Zulu
allow it to be portrayed more fully, with two rectangular sides of the surrounding palisade visible.
The compositional tension created by the counterpoise of Dingane and Retief, facing each other
across the table to embody the subject of the panel, is vividly captured in the reductive form of the
armature made for the full-size clay relief, of which we have a rare photograph (fig. 12.9). It clari-
fies how the broad composition of the small maquettes was transferred to the larger relief, which
left the sculptors room to make some modifications and develop detail, which we see in the very
full depiction of Dingane’s regalia, for example, characteristics retained in the final marble relief
(fig. 12.1).
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. Houtnek: 2 May

Blesberg: 9 April end April 1837

9 May

. Roelof's Berg: 11 May
. Vet River: 12 May
. Vet River' 15-21 May

22 May 2 June

. Winburg: 3-8 June

. Doorn River- 8 July

. Sand River' 11 July

. Sand River- 18 July

. “Great Valley between Sand and Vals rivers™

18 July

. Death of Salomon Smit: 28 July
. Sand River- 4 August

. Sand River’ 14 August

. Rietspruit: 15-30 August

31 August

. Senekal: 1-3 September

. Ghwarriekop: 4-11 September

. “Table Mountains™ 12-13 September
. “Among the Table Mountain hills"

14-17 September

. Vals River' 18 September

. Uyskuilen: 19 September

. Gerrands Dam: 20 September

. Klipnek: 21 September

. Liebenbergs Kloof: 23-28 September

Vyfbergenkoppen: 29 September midday

. Kestell: 29 September
. Elands River' 30 September
. Kerkenberg: 21 October

Figure 12.11: Retief’s itinerary, Thaba Nchu/Blesberg, Port Natal and uMgungundlovu. April 1837 to 6 February 1838 (Gledhill and Gledhill

1980, 152)
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Reading the narrative

The scene depicts the signing of the deed granting land, commonly referred to as the treaty, by
Dingane (c. 1795-1840)** in favour of Piet Retief (1780/81-1838)*** and his fellow trekkers on 4 or
6 February 1838. This treaty and the crucial question of whether it is a Voortrekker invention or not
is one of the most controversial topics of the Great Trek. It is embedded in a history of claims and
counter-claims by Boers, Zulu, and historians of sundry persuasions, which are impossible to dis-
entangle.>* For our purpose we focus on incidents and problems that played a part in the process
of transforming Afrikaner accounts of the land treaty into marble as a key event in their grand
narrative of the Trek. To fully understand the wider context we need to return to Retief’s first visit
to Dingane discussed in Blydevooruitsig.

Land issues, Sekonyela and the cattle®*

The first visit of Retief to uMgungundlovu took place from 5 to 8 November 1837 to negotiate a grant
of land from King Dingane for the trekkers planning to settle in Natal (fig. 12.11). Retief reported back
to the Graham’s Town Journal about this first encounter on 18 November 1837 from Port Natal:**”

Dingaan received me with much kindness, but has at the same time imposed a difficult task upon
me, as you will see from the copy of his letter [below]. He finally told me with a smile on his counte-
nance - ‘you do not yet know me, nor I you, and, therefore, we must become better acquainted.’ The
king did not give me an audience, on the subject of my mission, till the third day after my arrival. He
said I must not be hasty, and that as I had come from a great distance to see him, [ must have rest,
and partake in some amusement ... I must now return with my work unaccomplished, which will
cause me a great deal of anxiety and fatigue ...; and although the duty which now devolves upon me
through the misconduct of Sinkanyala [Sekonyela] is by me particularly regretted, yet my hope is in
God, who will not forsake those who put their trust in him.®

Dingane’s letter, to which Retief refers, was written in uMgungundlovu on 8 November, the very
day when Retief had been granted the royal audience. Immediately afterwards Owen provides
telling information on how this letter was conceived.

Dingarn sent very early for me, and in great haste to meet the Dutch on business. Mr. Retief the
Gouverneur [sic] had written a letter to himself as from the king who dictated it. This letter being in
Dutch was first interpreted to me, and then read over to the king for his approval. I was requested
both by the king and Mr. Retief to write the letter in English.3®

393 DSAB 2, 1972, 194-196; Laband 1995, 49-121; Ndlovo 2017.

394 See Inauguration.

395 An overview, dependent on the period, knowledge and historical interest of each writer, is provided by Boyce
1839, 148, 152-155; Chase, Natal 2, 1843, 3-9; Delegorgue, Travels 2, 1997 (first published 1847), 57-65; Moodie 1888,
421-430; Cloete 1899, 98-100; Cory, Preller and Blommaert 1924; Preller, Sketse 1928, 166-219; Cory, South Africa 4,
1926, 36-48; Walker 1933, 150-164; Becker 1979, 244-251; Naidoo 1985; Cubbin 1988; Laband 1995, 82-88; Etherington
2001, 261-268.

396 For the importance, variety and beauty of Zulu cattle, see Poland, Hammond-Tooke and Voigt (2003); Glover
(2019) has argued more generally for the South African significance of a cattle-centred history.

397 According to Chase (Natal 1, 1843, 124), Retief had requested this meeting in a letter written in Port Natal ‘To the
Chief of the Zoolas’ on 12 October 1837, in which he informed Dingane of his wish for an interview regarding the Boers
settling in Natal, and of his desire to live in peace with the Zulu. For the full text of the letter and the likely misreading
of its date of ‘Oct. 12’ for 19 October (Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 359-360), see Blydevooruitsig. For the date of Retief’s visit,
see Owen ed. Cory 1926, 61-64.

398 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 129; Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 364-365.

399 Owen ed. Cory 1926, 62-63.
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The letter that Retief had devised for the king reads in its English form:

Sir, — This is an answer to your letter of the 24th Oct., and the conversation which has now taken
place....

To go on now with the request you have made for the land, I am quite willing to grant it; but I first
wish to explain that a great many cattle have been stolen from me from the outskirts of my country,
by people with clothing, horses, and guns. These people told the Zoolas that they were boers, and
that one party was gone to Port Natal, and that they (the Zoolas) would see now what would come
upon them. It is my wish now, that you should shew that you are not guilty of the charge which has
been laid against you, as I now believe you to be. It is my request that you should retake my cattle
and bring them to me; and if possible, send me the thief, and that will take all suspicion away from
me, and I will cause you to know that I am your friend. I will then grant you your request [of land].
I will give you some men, enough to drive the cattle which you retake to me, which will remove the
suspicion that the stolen cattle are in the hands of the Dutch; and I will also give you men whom
you may send to make reports to me. If any cattle should be taken besides mine, I request that you
will send them to me.

The mark X of the Chief Dingaan.
Witness, F. Owen.
To Pieter Retief, Esq., Governor of the Dutch Emigrants.**°

Before this letter was finalised, however, Owen

had a long conversation with Retief on the inconsistency of Dingarn’s conduct, and the vain hopes
he was holding out for him. I [Owen] told him of the grant of country to the English Government,
and asked him whether supposing the settlers at Port Natal objected to their occupying the country
of Victoria, except on condition of their becoming subjects again to the British Government, they
would occupy it on these terms? He plainly said No.**

The crucial issue here was Dingane’s misleading strategy of promising land that was not clearly
specified to Retief, and apparently including territory that he had already granted to the English.
After a prior promise to ‘Allen Gardiner, a retired Captain of the Royal Navy turned missionary’,*°>
on 6 May 1835 ‘to waive all claim to the persons and property of every individual now residing at
Port Natal’,“°® Dingane, with the assistance of the interpreter Thomas Verity, had signed a ‘Cession
of Natal territory to the King of England, in which the Zulu declares in conjunction with his own

expectations’ on 21 June 1837:

All the ground on which the White people live about Port Natal I give to the King of England - I give
him the whole country between the Umgdni river & the territory occupied by Faku & Napai, from the
sea coast to the Quathlamba mountains with the exception of a district on the Umgani belonging to
me which commences at the mountain called Issicalla Sonyoka.*%

It is this concession of land situated south of the Umgeni River at Port Natal to the king of England
(William IV died on 20 June that year; hence Owen’s reference to ‘the country of Victoria’) which
Owen had in mind, and he again tried to warn Retief when the two of them visited Dingane later
with the letter Retief had drafted. Owen’s diary continued:

400 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 131-132; see also Delegorgue, Travels 2, 1997, 60-61; Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 361-362; Owen ed.
Cory 1926, 63 (8.11.1937); Breytenbach c. 1958, 405-406 E.38 no. 1.

401 Owen ed. Cory 1926, 63.

402 Laband 1995, 76.

403 A copy of the treaty with the English is provided in Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 307, and Eybers 1918, 143 no. 91.

404 Eybers 1918, 149 no. 96 (a reproduction is in Muller 1978, 57 fig. 22). For the context, see Bird, Annals 1, 1888,
322-323; Owen ed. Cory 1926, 63 (9 November 1837).
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We went to the king to have his signature. Having read the letter to him [Dingane] I asked him in
the presence of the Dutch [Retief], whether he had not already given the land which the Boers had
been requesting of him to the British Government! He paused for a few moments, and then said, ‘I
will speak to Mr. Retief on that subject when he returns with the cattle.” Either he or his Indoona
afterwards said, he had not yet stated what country he should give to the Dutch.**

On the following day Dingane specified his intent in more detail to Owen:

Had he not told him [Gardiner] in his letters, that he did not wish to give land about Port Natal to
the Dutch, but that he had rather they should occupy the country from which he had lately driven
Umselekaz [Mzilikazi] and which was now his? This was what he intended to give them and not what
he had already given to the king [actually Queen Victoria] of England! He had not told the Dutch
what country he should give them!4°®

Owen’s interpreter, Richard Hulley, who was surely more privy to what Dingane said than any
other white person present, stated in 1880, however, that the king had said that, if his condition of
Retief retrieving the cattle stolen by Sekonyela ‘was fulfilled he would give them the country lying
between the Tugela and Umzimvubu rivers, and between the Drakensberg and the sea’.*?” Owen,
writing at the time, implies that Dingane had not been so explicit, and comments in his diary that
‘He knows full well what part of the country they wish to possess ..., but he has not expressively
promised to transfer any part of it to them’. He then ponders on Dingane’s duplicity:

He has merely said, ‘Go and get my cattle, and then I will give you land somewhere,” he means
Umselekaz late country, but he has been leading then [sic] to imagine it is Port Natal. Aware of this
I thought it right yesterday to expose Dingarn’s subtlety to Mr. Retief, and to put Dingarn himself, in
presence of Mr. Retief who understands English and the other Dutch, the plain question whether he
had not already alienated the land, which question he evaded as already mentioned.**®

Dingane’s prevarication must have been known to Retief, if not from Gardiner at Port Natal, then
certainly from Owen. He too avoided addressing the issue of the requested land directly when he
replied, allegedly on the same day ‘To Dingaan, King of the Zoolas. Port Natal, Nov. 8th, 1837°.4%°
The date was more likely 18 November, as the American missionary, Rev. Daniel Lindley, reported
on 1 December 1838 that Retief ‘was with us for several days’, and Lindley was able to translate
Retief’s Dutch letter into English (fig. 12.12).#'® After thanking Dingane for his ‘friendliness and
justice’ regarding the Boers’ 3 726 cattle the Zulu had taken from Mzilikazi,*"* Retief outlined the
Boers’ position in what the Gledhills call an ‘undiplomatic letter’,**? while Peter Becker more aptly

calls it ‘astoundingly tactless’:**3

Matselikatse [Mzilikazi], I have no doubt, has fled; for he cannot but think and feel that I shall
punish his very bad conduct. Already I am grieved that I have been compelled to kill so many of

405 Owen ed. Cory 1926, 64.

406 Ibid., 65.

407 Hulley 1880, 6.

408 Owen ed. Cory 1926, 65-66.

409 Retief’s return to Port Natal on the same day as he left uMgungundlovu would have been impossible. Preller
(1930, 181 n 1) dates the letter to 18 November on this basis and because a further Retief letter from Port Natal has that
date. Nathan (1937, 190) too suggests that the letter was written on 18 November 1837 because ‘Owen [ed. Cory 1926,
81-82] mentions it as having been received [by Dingane] only on December 7th’; 18 November was also the day when
Retief reported back from Port Natal to the Graham’s Town Journal about his first visit at Dingane (see above). Kotzé
(1950, 233 n 5) also gives this date.

410 Kotzé 1950, 233 (note* in the text; recorded also in Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 212 n*). Lindley’s account is quoted below.
411 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 132.

412 Gledhill and Gledhill 1980, 191.

413 Becker 1979, 213.
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his people, who only executed his cruel and wicked orders. What has now happened to Matsel-
likatse [sic] makes me believe that the Almighty and All-knowing God will not permit him much
longer to live. From God’s great Book we learn, that kings who do such things as Matselikatse has
done are severely punished, and not suffered long to live and reign; and if you wish to hear more
fully how God treats such wicked kings, you can enquire of all the missionaries in your country ...
In regard to these things I must advise you frequently to speak with those gentlemen, who wish to
teach you God’s Word; for they will inform you with what great power has governed and still governs
all earthly kings ...

I now heartily thank the King for his kind and favorable answer to my requests; and I hope the king
will remember his word and promise till I return. You may rest satisfied that I will do the same. I
think it probable that before my return you will be troubled on account of the request I have made of
you, and the promise you have given me; ... My wish is, that you will not please, before my return, to
[sic] hearken to any one who may trouble you about the land in which I wish to live.

In regard to the thieves who stole your cattle, what they said, viz. — that they were boers, was a
cunning device, to make you think that I was the thief, in order that they might themselves escape
unpunished.

I am confident that I shall prove to the King that I and my people are innocent of this crime. Knowing
my innocency [sic] I feel that you have imposed on me a severe task, which I must perform, in order
to shew that I am not guilty ...  now go, trusting in God, that I shall be able to execute this business
in such a manner as that I shall have it in my power to give to all a satisfactory answer. This done, I
shall then expect to be convinced that I have to do with a king who will keep his word.***

Retief unwisely emphasised how he had had to punish Mzilikazi, as though the Boers were enact-
ing God’s power to visit retribution on kings whose conduct was ‘very bad’, and wrote that it was
‘a good thing for you that you have allowed teachers [missionaries] to settle in your country’ to
promote God’s word. Surprisingly, Owen, who read the letter to the king, seems not to have per-
ceived the peril of the veiled threat to Dingane and praised it in his diary as ‘excellent reflections
and advice on the conduct of wicked kings’.**® That missionaries too interpret things in terms of
their own self-interest is confirmed in the equally positive account from Lindley, who had trans-
lated the letter into English for Retief:

He [Retief] has, unasked, taken pains to impress Dingaan favorably towards the missionaries. He
wrote the Zulu chief a letter, and as he writes in the Dutch language, found it necessary to have it
translated into English. This service I performed, at his request, and was much pleased with the
entire spirit of the communication.*t¢

Despite Retief’s taking the moral high ground, however, he had little choice but to meet the
king’s stipulations: despite Owen’s warnings and Dingane’s vagueness, he hoped that success-
ful compliance would achieve the desired grant of land. Possibly the king’s demand was not
entirely unexpected as, only a few weeks earlier, Retief had mentioned in a letter that Sekonyela*!’

414 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 132-134. Reproduced also in Delegorgue (Travels 2, 1997, 61-63), Bird (Annals 1, 1888, 362—
364) and Voortrekker argiefstukke (1937, 21-23 with n 1). The word ‘innocency’ is a verbatim quote from Rev. Lindley’s
English translation.

415 On 7 December 1837, Owen (ed. Cory 1926, 81-82) describes his own and Dingane’s reaction to this letter: ‘In allu-
sion to the ruin of the chief Umselekaz [Mzilikazi], the common enemy of your Boers and Dingarn, Mr. Retief observed
that his punishment had been brought upon him by the righteous Providence of God, because he had not kept God’s
word, but had made war when he ought not. He referred him to the Missionaries to tell him what God had said in his
word respecting kings who did not favor or obey his word ... His attention was certainly awakened at the religious part
of the letter, but the convenient season for consulting me on the important subject did not arrive.’

416 Kotzé 1950, 233.

417 For Sekonyela (1804-56), see DSAB 3, 1977, 647-649.
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Figure 12.12: Rev. Daniel Lindley. English translation of Retief’s Dutch letter to Dingane. 8 or 18.11.1837
(NARSSA S.S. 1829-1840 1A/R14/37; photo courtesy of Zabeth Botha)

had ‘committed a daring robbery upon Dingaan, and which the latter may lay on our charge — as
the rascal went out with a commando on horseback’.*'®

The episode becomes more complicated when we read that Erasmus Smit, in his diary entry on
4 October 1837, reported:

Today I reflected on the news that I heard from Barend Liebenberg: that the supreme Kaffir chief,
Sekonyela, on the 3rd of this month passed by in this vicinity with 50 men, 200 head of cattle, sheep
and horses, and that they here recovered the booty stolen from them by Dingaan. That this incident
is of grave importance, the future will indeed teach us.**’

Whatever the case, Retief organised a punitive action against Sekonyela at the turn of the year 1837,
despite his previous amicable relationship with this chief.“*° He ‘bound his former “friend and
ally” Sekonyela in irons and made him confess to the theft of 300 cattle. Retief then demanded
delivery of those 300 along with an additional penalty of 400 cattle, 70 horses and 30 guns’.**

418 Chase, Natal 1, 1843, 126.

419 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 57 (Dutch text in Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 89).

420 Chase (Natal 1, 1843, 87-88) provides the following statement ‘by an eye-witness of the most credible authority’
after Retief had ‘arrived among his expatriated countrymen in April [1837]"): ‘Three powerful chiefs have already uni-
ted with him [Retief] in friendship, viz. — Maroko [Moroka], Towaana [Tawana a Thutlwa] and Sinkjala [Sekonyela], —
and it appears that these treaties mentioned have been most gladly received by these tribes.’

421 Etherington 2001, 264 (quote). See also the reports from Owen ed. Cory 1926, 100 (22 January 1838) and Jacobus
Boshof in the Cape newspaper De Zuid-Afrikaan (17 August 1838), translated and published by Chase, Natal 2, 1843,
2; Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 399-401.
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Owen notes in his diary that it was around 22 January 1838 when the Zulu king received a
further letter from Retief, which he read to the king. In it Retief stated that the affair with Sekonyela
‘... had happily been settled without bloodshed’. Owen continues,

... Mr. Retief then released him, after he [Sekonyela] had made many humble confessions of his wick-
edness in not having attended to the advice of his Missionary. He [Retief] endeavoured to impress
Dingarn with the obligation of God’s Law, which required him to release the prisoner, and in a sep-
arate letter requested me also to press this point. To punish Sinkoyella [Sekonyela] he made him
deliver up 700 head of cattle and also 63 horses and 11 guns, for without these he could not have
accomplished the theft. The cattle were to be sent to Dingarn, but the horses and guns were dis-
tributed amongst Mr. Retief’s own people ... Dingarn made no observation to the letter, but by his
manner gave me strong reason to suppose that he was disappointed at the relief of Sinkoyella, and
that the guns were to be given to him.**?

Because of what for Dingane were Retief’s selfish dealings with Sekonyela, a further level of com-
plexity and uncertainty was added to the upcoming negotiations about land. Early the following
day (23 January), the king ordered Owen to reply to the letter, in a way that had Owen note in his
diary that

my suspicions of Dingarn’s cruelty were but too fully confirmed; for he requested me to write to Mr.
Retief to say that he had told a lie in promising to send Sinkoyella a prisoner, if he should succeed
in taking him, for he had seized him, bound him and then let him go again. The best way to avoid
writing such matter as this, I thought, was mildly to remonstrate and tell him that I was sure Mr.
Retief would be displeased with him, if he sent him such a message and that I did not wish to be in
any way the means of creating dissatisfaction between them. I said that I knew Mr. R’s reason for
not delivering the prisoner up, meaning that it was against the law of God, but he interrupted me,
saying ‘And I know it too: it is because he thought I should have put him to death: but no such thing:
I only intended to talk to him and then I should have let him go[’], but as he evidently was afraid of
displeasing the Dutch, he changed the tone of his language and said that he was not angry, he did
not say that they had told a lie, but he could not stop his people’s mouths, who would be sure to
say so, therefore in order to satisfy them it was necessary that Mr. Retief should send him the guns
and horses along with the cattle. I said that Mr. R. had distributed these amongst his own people,
and he could not take them away again. But Dingarn said that Mr. R. had told his people that if he
[Dingane] wished to have them they should be sent. When the cattle, guns and horses arrived he
promised to assign the Dutch some land. The whole communication was indicative of the cruelty,
artfulness, trickery and ambition of the Zoolu chief ... I knew not in what way to avoid writing the
letter; it needed no remarks from me to convince Mr. Retief of the character, duplicity and designs
of the king of the Zoolus.*??

Whether this letter reached its addressee we do not know. However, either with Dingane’s cattle,
or possibly after he had sent them in advance with the Zulu herders to uMgungundlovu,*** Retief
resolved on a second visit to the king to finalise the land treaty that the trekkers eagerly awaited.

More warnings about Dingane
The Boer took with him some seventy armed men, among them several youths, including his own

fourteen-year-old son Pieter; in addition, he was accompanied by the English Thomas Halstead
as interpreter, ‘about thirty-eight achter-ryders (grooms) and servants’, and ‘about two hundred

422 Owen ed. Cory 1926, 100 (italics in original).

423 Ibid., 100-101 (italics in original).

424 The accounts are conflicting. See Owen ed. Cory 1926, 104 (2.2.1938); Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 369 (Daniel Pieter
Bezuidenhout, 1879), 379 (William Wood, 1840); Nathan 1937, 193, 196, 198.
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horses’.*?* Retief clearly had in mind a show of strength — this despite severe warnings from the
British trader John Montgomery and Alexander Biggar from Port Natal,**® and several missionaries
in addition to Owen, particularly the American Rev. George Champion, as reported by his inter-
preter, Joseph Kirkman.**” The editor of Kirkman’s report, George E. Cory, sums up that Retief ‘was
entirely and blissfully ignorant ... that it was Dingaan’s intention to murder him’, and Kirkman
himself stated:

Retief called [at Ginani],*?® on his return from his visit to Dingaan [5-8 November], gave a full
statement of all matters affecting his interview with the Zulu king, stating how kindly he had been
received, and that the king had conceded to all his demands, and further, that he, Retief intended to
make a second visit to the Zulu king accompanied by sixty or more men well armed.*?* Mr. Champion
did and said all he could to dissuade him from so dangerous an undertaking, and Mr. Retief told Mr.
Champion to be under no fear on his account, for it took a Dutchman, not an Englishman, to under-
stand a Kaffir. Mr. Champion reminded Mr. Retief that he was an American, Mr. Retief replied that
the difference was so small, that it was not worth alluding to. Mr. Champion told Mr. Retief that he
had now had two years practical knowledge of the Zulu king, and begged to warn Mr. Retief against
taking any such step for that as sure as Mr. Retief paid a second visit to Dingaan accompanied by
sixty or more men, so sure would the king have them all put to death. He further assured Mr. Retief
that the step he contemplated was fraught with the gravest consequences to him and all his people,
and that God would hold him responsible for the lives of all the men Mr. Retief intended to sacrifice
so uselessly. All was to no purpose, neither Mr. C. nor I could dissuade him from his mad enterprize
... What took place on Mr. Retief’s return to the Zulu king is a matter of History.*°

If Retief spoke so freely of his plans, it is likely that Dingane got to know about the intended show
of strength in advance, which could only have added to his concern about the incursions of the
Voortrekkers and his determination to oppose them.

Retief also received warnings from his own people against the deployment of a large dele-
gation, and the likely effect on the unpredictable Zulu king; Gerrit Maritz had even offered ‘to go
himself, attended by only two or three men, observing that if they were destroyed it would be quite
enough’.*** So concerned was Maritz about the dangers for Retief and his party, and for the trekkers
left behind with poor defences, that he not only attempted to dissuade Retief from his venture,
but when that failed tried to persuade trekkers both directly and through their leaders not to join
him.**? In a last-ditch plea he even wrote Retief a letter and had it delivered during the night before
Retief’s departure. While Retief continued to hold that his strategy was the right way to achieve the
Voortrekkers’ goal, he no longer took a full force of 200 men with him as originally planned, but

425 Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 401-402 (letter of Jacobus Boshof to the editor of the Graham’s Town Journal, Graaff-Reinet,
2 July 1838).

426 Montgomery (ed. Giffard 1981, esp. 118) told Retief, whom he met (around September 1837) at the Sand River,
that Dingane ‘would lead him on until he [Retief] was completely in his power; ... was aware of the projected “trek”;
... would deceive him, would agree to sell him land, and when an opportunity offered, would fall upon him. [Retief]
answered, “Montgomery, Dingaan’s people are not spoilt by the English as the frontier kafirs are”.” See also Cory,
South Africa 4, 1926, 56, letter from Alexander Biggar to Captain Evatt, at Port Elizabeth, March 17th, 1838: ‘I wrote to
Retief to caution him to be on his guard, and he had warnings from other quarters not to place too much confidence
[in Dingane)].’ See also Boyce 1839, 148; Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 380 (William Wood, Owen’s interpreter to Dingane, stated
later [1840] that, on 6 February 1838, he warned some of the Boers ‘to be on their guard’).

427 Joseph Kirkman, ‘the son of a frontier trader who lived near the Brownlees’ mission station’ (Kotzé 1950, 81 n 2);
Champion ed. Booth 1967, 139 n 57.

428 It was at the mission station called (N)Ginani, ‘across the Tugela, on the Umsinduzi River’ (Kotzé 1950, 14), situa-
ted some ‘ten miles beyond the [former] river’ (Hulley 1880, 4); see also Champion ed. Booth 1967, xiii.

429 Since this was written after Retief’s death, the number of sixty may reflect hindsight, as it seems Retief was ini-
tially planning to take two hundred men (see below).

430 Owen ed. Cory 1926, 157.

431 Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 401 (letter of Jacobus Boshof to the editor of the Graham’s Town Journal, Graaff-Reinet,
2 July 1838).

432 Thom 1947, 195-198.
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relied on volunteers. Whether some of these warnings were exaggerated with hindsight, after the
catastrophic failure of Retief’s mission was revealed, we cannot know, but so many reports demon-
strate a clear and widespread concern about what Retief and his people should expect from the
Zulu king: no grant of land in Natal and, more gravely, certain death. Ignoring all these warnings,
Retief arrived with his party at Dingane’s city on 3 February 1838,*** most likely with a draft of a
treaty in his baggage,”* just as he had taken a draft of a letter for the king to sign on his previous
visit.

In uMgungundlovu, Retief with his ‘show of strength’ met again a king who had from his own
perspective been pondering problems in the dealings between black and white. Dingane knew that
in the past, regardless of previous partnerships or contracts, large numbers of black people had
been killed by the Boers: indeed, as we have seen, Retief himself had referred to victories against
the Ndebele in his letter dated 8 November to Dingane. And more and more parties of Boers were
pouring over the Drakensberg, constituting a considerably more serious threat than the small
number of English settlers at Port Natal, with whom Dingane had already concluded two treaties,
one as recently as June 1837, that ceded, as we have seen, a large tract of Natal ‘to the King of Eng-
land’,**> which was clearly at odds with any negotiations with the trekkers. It was in this convo-
luted situation, dominated by conflicting interests and clashing cultures, that the Boers, naively,
considered it possible to have Dingane sign a binding land treaty.

In his biography of Retief, Preller persuasively describes how, on the date of 4 February
inscribed on the treaty, the Boer leader met with Dingane, and Owen was called in with pen and
paper to draw up the document which was duly signed by the king and witnesses, three trekkers
and three of Dingane’s izinduna. It is an account that has been repeated often enough to lend it
seeming credibility.**® But there is no trace of this event in Owen’s diary although he had written at
length about the earlier negotiations, and no evidence that Owen had been involved in drawing up
the treaty in any way (even Coetzer and presumably the SVK were aware of this, as noted in Coet-
zer’s annotations to his sketch, ‘Owen must not be there’). In fact, Owen and one of his interpreters,
William Wood, both in uMgungundlovu at the time, report almost nothing about the main objective
of the Boers’ visit. What they do recount is its disastrous ending. As we discuss in Murder of Retief,
on 6 February, Retief’s entire party was wiped out by Dingane’s Zulu. Whether a treaty was con-
cluded before this massacre or not has remained unclear ever since. Ten months later, on 21 Decem-
ber, after the ground-breaking victory over the Zulu at Blood River (16.12.1838), when Pretorius’
commando found the skeletons of Retief and his companions on top of the hillock kwaMatiwane,
Dingane’s dreaded execution site at uMgungundlovu, they reported that they had identified Retief
and his leather bag and discovered a treaty inside it. What document was found will be discussed
in more detail below.

Finding the document

What do we learn from the eyewitness reports of the context in which the document was found? We
begin with the well-known accounts of several Boers which were published — mostly in English —
in De Zuid-Afrikaan and later recorded by John Centlivres Chase (1843) and John Bird (1880). The
first is from Pretorius, said to have been written in uMgungundlovu on 22 December, the day

433 Owen ed. Cory 1926, 104-105.

434 Delegorgue reported that ‘so great was his [Retief’s] trust [in Dingane] that he had even prepared in advance the
deed of cession which Dingaan had only to sign’ (Travels 2, 1997, 63; first published 1847); repeated in DSAB 1, 1968,
51 (“This treaty had been drawn up by Retief prior to his second visit to Dingane in 1838 ..."), where the penmanship
is attributed to Jan Bantjes.

435 Eybers 1918, 149.

436 Preller, Retief 1930, 254. It is noteworthy that his transcript of the treaty follows the Pretoria copy and the
Weinthal facsimiles (255-256) discussed below.
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Figure 12.13: James Walton. ‘Sketch plan of Dingane’s kraal’, showing kwaMatiwane and Owen’s camp, not to scale (Oberholster and
Walton 1963, centre double page)

following the discovery of the treaty. He released this letter, however, only on 9 January 1839 - then
accompanied by another letter of the same date (both addressed to ‘Sir’) and a copy of the treaty,
evidently all sent to the editor of De Zuid-Afrikaan, P.A. Brand (succeeded by his brother Christoffel
Jacobus in 1839),“*” who published it in a ‘gratis’ edition on 16 February 1839.%*® Preceded by his
story of the Battle of Blood River, Pretorius’ account of 22 December 1838 continues:

You will no doubt be surprised that we have been able to collect at this murderous den [on top of
kwaMatiwane near uMgungundlovu; fig. 12.13], or Golgatha, the bones of the worthy Retief and his
followers, after having been so long exposed in the open field, a prey to all, and the sneer of mockers.
We interred them as well as we could, they must have been terribly butchered, as the view which the
localities of the spot furnish proofs, that even the most flinty heart could not remain untouched; on
viewing these scenes tears overflowed our eyes. Agreeable to the account of some Zulu prisoners,
they were seized in the residence, but defended themselves so gallantly, that the two first divisions
of the Zoolas, by whom they were attacked, could not master them before the third division came
to their assistance [see Murder of Retief]. The prisoners likewise declare, that the farmers had no
guns with them, but that they defended themselves with their knives, and with the sticks which
they had wrenched from the Zoolas; so that twenty of the latter were killed, and many wounded,
and that there are still many among them who bear the scars on their body, but that being at last

437 See Church of the Vow.

438 De Zuid-Afrikaan began its special gratis edition with a Dutch translation of the treaty and the two letters, the
earlier of them here dated 23 December, while the January-February 1839 Zuid-afrikaansche kronyk (156) has a Dutch
translation of the treaty alone.
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overpowered, beaten with sticks, and their hands and feet bound with raw riems, they were dragged
outside the residence to the place of martyrdom, where we found their bones with the parched riems
sticking thereon. Among a number of handspikes and sticks, which we still found laying [sic] from
the residence to that place, were some from 8 to 9 feet long, and of the thickness of an arm; no head
was found unbroken; on the bones were still found parched rags of clothes; — knives, snuffboxes,
tinder boxes, and all they had on them, were left untouched; and what surprised me the most, is,
that of the papers and documents which the late Mr. Retief had with him, and which we found in his
port manteau, the outsides were only damaged, the inside papers, as also the Document signed by
Dingaan, is still as good as were it written to-day. I enclose you a copy of that Document [see below].
The last page of this letter I wrote on blank paper, which were found with the others, to let you see
how good it still is.**°

Pretorius offers an extensive description of the gruesome finds on top of kwaMatiwane to explain
the circumstances in which the treaty was found. His last sentence provides a particularly curious
verification, when all the addressee would have been able to see, in place of physical evidence of
the treaty, was a sheet of paper claimed to have been found alongside it and in equally good con-
dition.

In line with the Pretorius report is the account of Jan Gerritze Bantjes (1817-87),%4° secretary
to Pretorius during the Boers’ expedition to uMgungundlovu, and later clerk of the Voortrekkers’
Volksraad. On 21 December 1838, he noted the discovery of the murdered Boers in his journal cov-
ering the events of Pretorius’ Wenkommando in November and December 1838, which was pub-
lished half a year later in De Zuid-Afrikaan, 14 June 1839.%4* It is unnecessary to reproduce it here, as
Bantjes’ account is so very close to that of Pretorius: it seems unquestionable that one of them had
read the report of the other, and used it as the basis of his own report.

Much later is the account given by another eyewitness Sarel Cilliers (1801-71), who shortly
before his death recollected:**?

We found the corpses about 1,200 yards from Dingaan’s dwelling. They had been dragged in one
direction. Their hands and feet were still bound with thongs of untanned hide, and in nearly all the
corpses a spike as thick as one’s arm had been forced into the anus, so that the point of the spike was
in the chest! They lay with their clothes still on their bodies. No beast of prey or bird had disturbed
them. Those who had known him recognized Mr. Retief. A glossy waistcoat was part of his apparel;
and he had a leather bag on his shoulder containing his papers, amongst them the treaty concluded
by him and with Dingaan, and the description of the territory. It was matter of wonder to us all that
the bodies had lain there so long, and that the papers had remained free from corruption, and were
as little soiled as if they had been kept in a close box.**3

Cilliers’ account is particularly dramatic, as is often the case in his recollections, and is questionable
in its details. His surprising claim, that no ‘beast of prey or bird had disturbed’ the Boers’ corpses
(not to mention that Retief still wore a ‘glossy waistcoat’), is challenged not only by other Boer
accounts,** but by the statements of two others who were within visual range of kwaMatiwane,

439 De Zuid-Afrikaan, 16 February 1839. The Dutch text, a free translation of the English, is reproduced in Breyten-
bach c. 1958, 272 (Bylaag 10, 1938). The newspaper states that this copy of the treaty, together with an additional letter
of 9 January, was received on 15 February from Graaff-Reinet, unfortunately without details of the recipient or the
person who forwarded it (Breytenbach c. 1958, 273 n 16).

440 DSAB 1, 1968, 50-52; Visagie 2011, 48.

441 English translation in Chase, Natal 2, 1843, 67; Breytenbach c. 1958, 281, gives the text in the original Dutch.
442 Visagie 2011, 102-103 (see The Vow).

443 Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 247-248 (‘Journal of the late Charl Celliers’, 1871). For the accuracy of Cilliers’ recollections,
see also The Vow.

444 Pretorius himself emphasised in a letter of 19.3.1839, sent to the commanding officer at Port Natal (discussed
below), that ‘the decayed corpse of our heroic countrymen ... were ... prey to the birds of the air and to wild beasts ...
(NA Kew C048/201/v3 p.217).
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the hillock on which the slaughter took place. One was the American missionary Rev. Henry Isaac
Venable, who happened to arrive at uMgungundlovu just a few hours after the murder, intending
to speak to Dingane. When Dingane’s induna, Ndlela kaSompisi, informed him about the killing of
the Boers, he realised to his horror that ‘in full view the vultures were hovering over their lifeless
bodies’.**> The second eyewitness is Jane Bird (neé Williams), a servant who had accompanied the
Rev. Owen from England to South Africa and subsequently to uMgungundlovu. Bird recounted in
her ‘Personal recollection of Dingaan, and his massacre of Retief and his party’ in 1877: ‘Scarcely
had the Zulus left the place of slaughter when the vultures swooped down on to the bodies of the
victims.’*#¢ In another later account, Owen’s interpreter Richard Hulley, who had been absent on
the day of the murder, recounts how on his return on 9 February he ‘observed a large flock of vul-
tures hovering over the place of the dead’.**”

Finally, as late as 1879, Daniel Pieter Bezuidenhout provided his narrative of the finding of the
dead Boers, when as part of the Pretorius commando, he had witnessed that

there, on a hillock decked with thorn trees, lay all the skeletons of the murdered Boers; and on
one corpse we found a pocket-book, by which we recognised that the skeleton was that of Retief!
And in the pocket-book was the treaty concluded between Dingaan and Retief; and although the
pocket-book had lain there so long in wind and weather, the paper on which the treaty was written
was still white and uninjured, and the writing distinctly legible. General Andries Pretorius took the
paper. I believe that Marthinus Wessel Pretorius [son of Andries Pretorius and later president of the
ZAR] must still have it in his possession.**®

How the Boers were in the first place able to identify the about one hundred skeletons of their
fellow countrymen and servants amidst the numerous other slaughtered corpses of men and
women sentenced to death by Dingane before and since 6 February 1838 is hard to imagine. While
all proclaimed the extraordinary survival of a legible treaty amidst the inconceivable carnage on
kwaMatiwane, the first-hand reports of the Boers who were at the site do not agree on the state of
decay of the mutilated corpses, their clothes, or the kind of leather container in which the treaty
was said to be found**® - evidently still on Retief’s person despite the violence of the Boers’ deaths
and particularly Retief’s disembowelment (discussed in Murder of Retief), not to mention having
been exposed for over three hundred days to sun, rain, wind, birds and beasts.**° That all accounts
take care to mention the survival of the treaty and its good or legible condition almost smacks of an
agreement having been reached about it.***

Less detailed about the finding of the treaty than the previous accounts is a series of mostly
unpublished letters exchanged between Boers and British officials in the National Archives of the

445 Kotzé 1950, 237; for Ndlela kaSompisi see Laband 1995, esp. 54-55, 86, 95, 111, 116-118.

446 Moodie 1888, 427.

447 Hulley 1880, 7.

448 Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 370.

449 The leather container is described as a ‘portmanteau’ (Bantjes; Pretorius); ‘leathern bag’ and ‘leathern shooting
bag’ (Pretorius); ‘leather hunting-pouch’ (Potgieter); ‘leather bag’ (Cilliers); ‘pocket-book’ (Bezuidenhout).

450 Telling here is the report by Allen Gardiner (1836, 44-45), which demonstrates how rapidly corpses degenerated.
When, in February 1835, he had witnessed the execution of two Zulu servants at kwaMatiwane, he recounted: ‘The
following afternoon I took an opportunity of visiting the spot, but so effectually had the hyenas and the vultures per-
formed their office, that the skeletons only remained to add to the number of skulls and bones with which the whole
slope of the hill was strewed.” See also Naidoo 1985, 208 n 45.

451 Even the makers of the c. 1950 film Die bou van ’n nasie, who accept the discovery of the treaty without question,
seem to find the description of its unblemished state improbable; after the episode with the murder of Retief and his
men, the film shows a discoloured document, with the voice-over that later the blood-stained treaty was found (‘die
bloedbevlekte traktaat is later gevind’).
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United Kingdom at Kew, recorded in English in a paginated leather-bound volume with the heading
‘Cape of Good Hope 1839’, ‘Vol: 2 March to June, Sir George Napier Nos 23 to 55’.42 They help us to
relate the reports to the conflicting Boer and British interests of the day - to clarify not only when,
how and by whom the treaty was found, but when its first copies were released to the public and
why. We begin with a letter of the Volksraad addressed ‘To The Commanding Officer of Port Natal’
(at the time Major Samuel Charters**3), written at the ‘Source of the Togala [Tugela], 9th January
1839’, delivered by Landman on 14 January, and translated into English:*>*

Sir,

We have already informed you that we are disposed to submit our case [Boer ammunition seized by
the British**] to an impartial enquiry the measures therefore already taken by us and those which we
may still adopt, we are convinced are just, and we shall never be afraid to have them enquired into.

We have also told you that we shall by convincing you of the justice of our demands, enable you to
return our property to us.

We have in consequence to enclose herewith a Copy of the Document found with the Corpses of Mr.
Retief and his Comrades, from which you will perceive [p.94r] the nature of our right to the Bay of
Natal and other land - although the clothing of the murdered men was so much destroyed that some
of the unfortunate people could only be recognised by their Knives, Tinderboxes, Snuffboxes, etc.
yet the papers have been so wonderfully preserved as to be almost uninjured.

You have said that you have come here with the intention of preventing us from proceeding against
the Zoolas — the Government being afraid of the destruction of that portion of Africa. However blood-
thirsty we may be considered to be, yet we on three different occasions sent messengers to Dingaan
by Zoolas taken by us, before we commenced our attack, stating that if he gave up the plundered
property of [p.95] the ruined among us, we would desist from further proceeding against him and
would conclude peace with him.

Being only three days distance from Dingaan’s residence the Commando was surrounded one
morning by great multitudes who fired [sic] on our Camp — which compelled us to defend ourselves.

We went out with the same object with which you state to have come here — namely to make peace,
but we desire to have our property restored but, at the same time, in order that we may provide food
for those among our people who had all their property stolen from them and are entirely destitute.
We [p.95r1] are induced to think you will be convinced of the justice of our case, and we have there-
fore authorized Mr. Carel Pieter Landman to receive the seized Ammunition from you which we
request you will be pleased to deliver to him.

We have the honor to be, Sir, Your obed. Servants in the name of the Council of the People

Signed J.S. Maritz / P.J. van Staden / P.H. Opperman / W.P. Prinsloo.**¢

452 As this volume contains essentially duplications, it seems that the original documents were usually kept in the
Cape, pertinent to dealings with the Boers in our case, while copies were submitted to the Colonial Office in London.
We gratefully acknowledge the help of Neil Corbett at NA Kew.

453 DSAB 3, 1977, 144-145.

454 NA Kew C048/200/v2 pp.94-95, ‘Translation’. AW. Pretorius knew of the Volksraad’s letter (see De Zuid-Afrikaan,
16 February 1839), but does not mention the treaty in his own letter of the same date (a reply to Charters’ letter of
6.12.1838), which he addressed to ‘Major Charters, Officer Commanding at Port Natal’ in person (NA Kew CO48/200/
v2 pp.96-97).

455 Letter of Major Charters to Sir George Napier, 12.12.1838 (Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 431), and a letter of the Volksraad
to Charters, 15.12.1838 (NA Kew C048/199/v1, pp.213-214, ‘Translation’).

456 For the names of the signatories, see Breytenbach c. 1958, 292 (here not P.J. but PT. van Staden), and index of
persons.
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Thus it was that the Volksraad released the earliest known treaty copy (which we name according
to its archive the Cape Volksraad copy*”), and presented the official version of how the treaty was
found and what this meant for the Boers — even if none of the signatories are recorded to have been
present when this happened - not for its own sake but in support of their appeal for the release
of their ammunition. In contrast to the eyewitness reports quoted above, the Volksraad connects
the discovery of the treaty — mentioning only briefly that it was found with the bones of Retief — to
issues of justice and property, related not only to the recovery of their ammunition seized by the
British, but also their cattle stolen by Dingane, the righteousness of their conflict with the Zulu king
and their entitlement to the land of Natal.

On the same day the Volksraad, confident of their cause, had provided a set of ‘Instructions

for the Commandant Carel Pieter Landman, from the Council of representatives of the people’:**®

1. Immediately on his arrival at Port Natal, the Commandant shall repair to Major Charters, com-
manding the Detachment of Her Britannic Majesty’s Troops at that place, which has been taken
possession of by orders of Her said Majesty, and shall deliver to that Officer all the packets which
have been sent off addressed to him [see below], together with all the documents enclosed
therein.

2. The said Carel Pieter Landman shall, if required, afford all necessary information and explana-
tion [98 recto] to the said Officer, according to the contents of said packets, and anything con-
nected therewith.

3. He shall also claim and receive from the said Officer the Ammunition which has been taken pos-
session of by him, and retain the same in his charge until further provision shall be made with
respect thereto.

4. He shall further, immediately after he has acted in the matters with which he is hereby charged,
transmit to the Council of the people in writing a detailed account of his proceedings.

Thus done and passed under my hand, in the presence of the Members of the afore said Council, this
9th day of January 1838 [correct is 1839].

Signed J.S. Maritz / G.KV.Z.

The announced meeting of Landman ‘accompanied by several other Boers’ and Charters, which
took place at Port Natal on 14 January 1839, clarifies the political differences between the Boers and
the British. From the ‘Substance’ of this conversation, recorded by the major on the same day, we
quote the passages relevant to the treaty:*>

[901] ... I [Charters] endeavoured to convince him [Landman] that British Subjects could never, under
any circumstances throw off their allegiance to their Sovereign, and that they were here making war
upon people who were at peace with England.

He [Landman] seemed to maintain his opinion but expressly [expressed?] himself undecidedly —
thus ‘It is an opinion — we think that the British Government have no authority over us’ he said ‘we
wish to live in harmony and peace with the B. Government!’

Me [Charters]. When it shall be known in England that 3 000 Zulus were slain in an action, and only
three Boers slightly wounded [p.91], it will produce a great sensation and I cannot answer what steps
may be taken.

457 NARSSA Cape Town GH 28/14, literally transcribed by the British in the Kew Volksraad copy (NA Kew C048/200/v2
pp.100-101, ‘A True Copy’, which we discuss below).

458 NA Kew C048/200/v2 pp.98-99, ‘Translation’.

459 Ibid., pp.90-93 (‘Substance of a conversation between Carl Pieter Landman and Major Charters held at Port Natal
on the 14th January 1839’; as the aide-mémoire is not labelled ‘a copy’ it is possibly written in the major’s own hand).
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Landman. Dingaan formally ceded to Retief, on behalf of the Emigrant Boers, all the Territories lying
between the Togala and Umsumvubu rivers, in consideration of Cattle which Retief had recovered
for him — This Deed of Cession has been found lately in Dingaan’s Kraal - it is well known how
Dingaan behaved to us since — and we have a right to endeavour to recover the property [cattle] he
has taken from us, at different times not less than 30.000 head -

Me. Dingaan has no right to the Country in question, further than [p.91r] having over-run and depop-
ulated it and then abandoned it — this is no title and he could not give what did not belong to him. I
wish now to know if the Boers will pledge themselves to remain on the defensive on this side of the
Togala river and not again invade or molest Dingaan, until the determination of the B. Government
be known.

Landman. If Dingaan will give us up all the Cattle he has at different times taken from us, we will
agree to this — we would then be happy to make peace with him ...

Me. Can you ask Dingaan for these Cattle now, after having so recently destroyed 3 000 of his men
and captured 4 000 head of Cattle, which you found on this side of the Togala river.

Landman. Here are so many poor people amongst us, who have no other means of existence, that we
must have the Cattle back, — when we were three days march from Dingaan’s Kraal, we sent to offer
him peace on these conditions but he did not answer us.

[p.92] ... Me. Is it true that the Boers forced the English Settlers, whom they found at Natal to join in
the Commando against [p.92r] Dingaan if so, by what authority?

Landman. We did so by our own authority and [as] possessors of the Country.
Me. Did you order Mr Parker on the Comando[sic]?

Landman. We did - I myself gave him the order.

As Charters regarded the treaty as worthless, the conversation was mainly about all the cattle the
Boers claimed back from Dingane as the condition to negotiate peace with him, and their relation-
ship to British rule. On the following day Charters reaffirmed the British position when he wrote to
the Volksraad:*¢°

Gentlemen,

I yesterday received from the hands of Mr Carel Peter Landman the following documents.*¢!

1. Aletter from Mr A. Pretorius dated Togala Spruit 9th January 1839 ( — by mistake, put — 1838.)*¢?

2. A letter from yourselves same date [see above®®?]

3. Copy of document respecting cession of territory — dated Umkumkinglove, 4th February 1837.
[Kew Volksraad copy, see below]

4. Instructions to P.C. Landman [p.102r], dated 9th January 1839 (by mistake 1838) [see above*%“]

The only subject in these documents, to which an answer from me seems to be required, is respect-
ing the seized ammunition, and on this head I beg to refer you to my communication of the 2nd
January 1839 [in which he refused to do so].

460 Ibid., pp.102-103, ‘Copy ... English Camp, Port Natal, 15th January 1839’.

461 Noted on 22 January 1839 also in Smit trans. Mears 1972, 164 (Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 185).
462 NA Kew C048/200/v2, pp.96-97.

463 Ibid., pp.94-95.

464 Ibid., pp.98-99.
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[p.103] ... I have impressed upon the Gentlemen above mentioned, ... that until further Instructions
shall be received from H.M’s Government in England, you will remain exclusively on the defensive,
on this side of the Togala River [p.103r], and under no pretence carry the war into Dingaan’s Country.

After Pretorius had joined his fellow countrymen in Pietermaritzburg the chief commandant sent
a letter to ‘the Officer Commanding Her Majesty’s Troops at Port Natal / Pieter Mauritz Burg, 19th
March 1839’. Here he not only cemented the Boer position in this matter but also threatened to take
the seized ammunition by force:*¢°

Sir,

Whereas on my joining the Emigrants I had the notification to find that the powder and lead pur-
chased by us, and consequently our lawful property, had been seized, and is still detained, illegally,
nay inhumanely, upon our territory — our right to which has been proved to you by the invaluable
contract, which was found undamaged to the surprise of all, with the decayed corpses of our heroic
Countrymen, who were murdered in cold blood by that infernal Tyrant and so cut off from their
useful career, innocently on their part, and given a prey to the birds of the air and to wild beasts, —
besides those you must be well aware, of the great number who were murdered afterwards.

I [p.2171] therefore trust you will comply with with [sic] our request that our powder and lead may
be restored to us, lest we be obliged to come and take them, for they are as indispensable to us as
our lives.

I have at the same time to inform you, that we left our native soil without causing any disturbance,
being well aware that we are a free born people to whom liberty cannot be denied, and I entertain
the hope that neither yourself nor the Government will imagine that we are British Subjects still or
that we wish to be considered so. We are no longer British Subjects and have no wish to be such,
being desirous to be free and to be considered so according to the System of the British Government.

We left the Territories of Her Majesty with a great number of South Africans and having found here
a country to our liking, we felt desirous to remain here and obtained possession of the land by fair
means — we [p.218] are therefore at a loss to guess upon what principle of justice our property can
be taken from us without our receiving an equivalent for the same, and ourselves sacrificed to the
murderers.

Have we not suffered the greatest grievances without a murmur — given up our property with loss —
abandoned our possessions? Have we deserved after all our sufferings and the resignation shown
under them, to be deprived of our ammunition which is our lawful property? I hope not that you
desire to see the lives of our dear wives and children also sacrificed to the cruel murderers; we
console ourselves with the belief of there being an all ruling power who will take vengeance some
time or other for the innocent blood which has been shed.

We repeat that we have no wish to be considered British Subjects but have no feeling against the
Government — We have no objection to trade [p.218r] with the Colony as we have stated in writing
from time to time; — we only wish to be considered a free and independent people entitled to the
possession of the land which we obtained by fair and lawful means.

In the hope that you will comply with my desire which is also the wish of all I subscribe myself in the
name and by Command of the Council of the People.

Sir, Your Most Obed. Servant
Signed AW. Pretorius, Chief Commandant

465 NA Kew C048/201/v3 pp.217-218, ‘Copy / Translation’.
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The answer of ‘Henry Jervis Capt. 72nd Regt. Comdt. to Mr. A. Pretorius and Volks-Raad Pieter
Mauritz Burg / Port Natal 3rd April 1839’ was short and to the point and demonstrates that he fully
understood Pretorius’ threat:*¢

Sir,

In reply to your letter dated 19th ultimo, received this morning, I have now to acquaint you, for the
information of your Volks-Raad, that it is absolutely out of my power, to deliver up any part of the
seized ammunition, until Instructions are received from His Excellency the Governor of the Cape
of Good Hope — more especially at the present moment, when the whole line of Country remains
unmolested, a peace in progress with Dingaan, and that you are not without the means for your
defence. With respect to the following expression, contained in your letter relative to the said ammu-
nition ‘(by weigering deselve te moeten nemen)’ [if refused we will have to take it ourselves], I trust
you have more sense than to advise any such proceeding [p.219r] as (however painful to my feelings)
you would leave me no alternative but to repel force by force, whatever might be the result.

As to the indepency [sic] of the Emigrant Colonists — I shall merely refer you to the proclamation
dated 14th November 1830 — which shows plainly the light in which they are viewed by the Colo-
nial[?], and so will, and must be, by every civilized Government, in unity with Great Britain.

Still hoping that nothing will occur, to break up the good understanding that has hitherto subsisted.

I remain etc, signed Henry Jervis, Capt. 72nd Regt., Comd.

Again the British not only refused to release the seized ammunition but also ignored the land treaty
with Dingane because for them it had no legal relevance.

466 Ibid., p.219, ‘Copy’.
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The treaty

Our main focus, like that of the scene on the frieze, is on this contested land treaty, alleged to have
been signed on either 4 or 6 February 1838 - a dispute so well known that Moerdyk felt obliged to
acknowledge it in the Official Guide:

THE SIGNING OF THE TREATY BETWEEN RETIEF AND DINGANE:
Particular emphasis is laid upon this episode of the Trek because doubt has been expressed in some
quarters about the existence of a treaty.**”

Although omitted here, Moerdyk had disingenuously qualified this in the Official Programme in
1949, saying that there had been questions about the treaty’s existence, ‘until the original was
found’.*¢® But in fact no original document can be located, and the treaty is known only in the form
of a number of certified copies disseminated widely, after their initial despatch to Charters and
De Zuid-Afrikaan, where it was published in Dutch and English on 16 February 1839, and in Dutch
alone in the January-February 1839 Kronyk of the Nederduitsch Zuid-Afrikaansch Tijdschrift (p.156).
From early 1839 its existence had been believed by most to be an indisputable matter of fact. It was
on 10 July 1923 when doubts about the treaty’s survival ignited a debate ongoing to the present day.
While at a conference of the South African Association for the Advancement of Science, ‘the object
of which is the advancement and dissemination of knowledge’, the historian George Cory ‘was
advised to give some account’ of his recent research, editing the diary of the Rev. Francis Owen.*¢°
Therefore, ‘unpreparedly and without any notes’, he delivered, as it turned out, a ground-breaking
address, in which he questioned whether the treaty was ever signed, and whether it had existed at
all.*’® Because of its profound historical and political implications, this question has remained one
of the most hotly debated issues of the Great Trek.

We cannot unfold in full the convoluted history of the treaty here, as it requires a study in its
own right, but we will base our argument on the controversy that resulted from Cory’s enquir-
ies. Apart from primary documents, we draw especially on Die Retief-Dingaan-QOoreenkoms (The
Retief-Dingane-Agreement) by George Cory, Gustav Preller and Willem Blommaert (Stellenbosch,
1924); ‘Die Retief-Dingaan-traktaat. Historiese agtergrond’ (The Retief-Dingane Treaty. Historical
background), published in Preller’s Sketse en opstelle (Pretoria, 1928); A pictorial history of the
Great Trek: Visual documents illustrating the Great Trek by Christoffel Muller (Cape Town, 1978);
and Jay Naidoo’s article ‘Was the Retief-Dingane treaty a fake?’ (History in Africa 12, 1985). However,
two hermeneutic issues we regard to be essential for this debate have not been consistently tackled,
when no coherent contemporary description of the actual condition and the handwriting(s) of the
‘original’ exists, let alone a clear record of what archive(s) it has been kept in. So we ask two crucial
questions. First, who in the long history of this document would have been able to distinguish
any of the (contemporary) copies from the original treaty, when any documents of the time would
have been handwritten ‘originals’ — and when only a few were able to see with their own eyes the
land grant at the moment of its discovery on kwaMatiwane? Further, what do we know about the
certifiers and the content of the certifications of the treaty, in particular their specific physical and
historical relationship and the people who had produced and certified them?

One of the few facts about which scholars have unanimously agreed is that the treaty was
written in English, also independently attested to have been the language of the original.*”* In
1924, however, Cory posed the question that, ‘considering that the negotiation was between Dutch
and Zulus’ and that ‘the Boers were very bitter against the British Government in consequence of

467 Official Guide 1955, 49.

468 Official Programme 1949, 52.

469 Cory, Preller and Blommaert 1924, 1 (S.E.N. Gie).

470 Ibid.; see the Cape Times, 12 July 1923; Naidoo 1985, 189-190.

471 De Zuid-Afrikaan, 16.2.1839; Delegorgue, Travels 2, 1847, 73; Cory 1924, 10.
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Table of significant treaty copies (1838-91)

facsimile
Model for Weinthal
copy?

COPY DATE CERTIFICATION ARCHIVE REFERENCE
Cape Volksraad 22.12.1838- a) True copy of original: NARSSA Cape Town | Eybers 1918, 148-9
Written in cal- 9.1.1839 AW.J. Pretorius / GH 28/14 no. 95; Muller 1978,
ligraphic manner C.P. Landman Occasionally 58-59 (figs 26-27)
Model for Kew b) Discovery: indecipherable; (figs 12.15a-b)
Volksraad copy E. Ward Parker blotted
Kew Volksraad 22.12.1838- a) True copy of original: NA Kew C048/200/ | Unpublished
Written in 9.1.1839 AW.]. Pretorius / v2 pp.100-101 (figs 12.16a—c)
professional hand C.P. Landman
Copy of Cape b) Discovery:
Volksraad copy E. Ward Parker
De Zuid-Afrikaan 22.12.1838- a) True copy of original: Location unknown De Zuid-Afrikaan,
Printed 9.1.1839 AW.]. Pretorius / Dutch copies: 16.2.1839; Chase,
C.P. Landman De Zuid-Afrikaan, Natal 2,1843, 71
b) Discovery: 16.2.1839; NZAT Feb/ | (fig.12.17)
H. Pretorius / Apr 1839; Hofstede
P.D. du Preez / 1876, 38
ET. [E.F.] Potgieter
Den Haag 1839-42 a) True copy: J.J. Burger NA Den Haag Breytenbach c. 1958,
Written in b) Discovery: 406 E.38, R.N., No. 2
calligraphic manner E.F. Potgieter / (with fig. of copy of
H. Pretorius / Weinthal facsimile);
P.D.J. du Preez Muller 1978, 59 fig. 30
(fig. 12.18)
Jeppe Likely no a) True copy: NARSSA Pretoria Bird, Annals 1, 1888,
Printed later than J.G. Bantjes and J.B. 366
early 1840 Roedeloff’ (Rudolph)
b) Discovery:
E.F. Potgieter
Fiji 16.5.1891 Discovery: pre 1961 in Suva, Unpublished
Copy of Weinthal E.F. Potgieter Fiji Museum Email Gerrit Wagener
facsimile post 1910 in NARSSA | (NARSSA Pretoria),
Pretoria 27.6.2018
(fig. 12.19)
Weinthal 16.5.1891 Discovery: Location of original | Leyds 1906, opp.
Facsimile E.F. Potgieter facsimile unknown | p.46; Preller 1924,
Reproduction of 62-63 pls 9-10
Pretoria copy? (fig. 12.20a-b)
Pretoria 1839-91 No certification NARSSA Pretoria Unpublished
Written in cal- Damaged and Possibly mentioned
ligraphic manner; stained in The Press Weekly
same as Weinthal Edition 16.5.1891

(Preller 1924, 61 pl. 8)
(fig. 12.21)

Figure 12.14: Synopsis of treaty copies. 1839-91 (table the authors)
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the treatment they had received so long in the Eastern Province, why was this treaty in the hated
English language?’4”> There are two possible reasons for this. On the one hand, documents prepared
for Dingane were invariably in English, as at the time he relied on Owen or other Englishmen to
read them to him.*”® On the other hand, it could be argued that English was probably used because
this treaty was aimed primarily at getting the British government to acknowledge the Boers’ right,
sealed by King Dingane, to settle forever in Natal. To fully understand the contested document, we
need to attempt to clarify, as far as is possible, the reliability of the known copies that have been
handed down. Since we cannot compare them with an original that may or may not have existed,
but has in any event been believed to have been lost circa 1900, the best we can do is to investigate
the relationship between these duplications.*”*

After reviewing each of the known treaty copies closely (fig. 12.14) to understand the relation-
ship between them and their earliest duplications, we argue, in contrast to former scholarship,
that two copies issued by the Boer Volksraad clearly stand out: a copy in the National Archives
Repository in Cape Town (figs 12.15a—b),*” illustrated in Muller’s 1978 Pictorial history of the Great
Trek, which we call the Cape Volksraad copy; and the copy that is preserved together with the inter-
change between the British and the Boer Volksraad discussed above, now in the National Archives
of the United Kingdom in Kew, to which we refer as the Kew Volksraad copy (figs 12.16a—c).*’®
Their factual relationship is manifest in that both are word for word identical and share the incom-
prehensible 1837 date on the treaty. The Cape Volksraad copy has a number of discrete features,
however, namely that the calligraphic writing style lacks the consistency typical of a professional
scribe, and that the signatures of Landman and Pretorius are distinctive and very likely genuine
(see below). These features intimate that the Cape Volksraad copy must have been the model for
the Kew Volksraad transcript made for the British records, and hence the one delivered with other
documents on Monday 14 January 1839 to Major Charters, the commanding officer at Port Natal,
by Commandant Karel Pieter Landman (who had, it so happens, been present when the treaty was
found).*”” Some six weeks later, on 27 February 1839, Charters forwarded this treaty copy with its
attached documents to Major General Sir George Napier, governor of the Colony,*® in Cape Town,
where it is kept to the present day. These two verbatim copies and the copy published in De Zuid-
Afrikaan (fig. 12.17) are the earliest treaty duplications we know, securely dated between 22 Decem-
ber 1838 and 9 January 1839 by the chain of letters we discussed above.

It is a fortunate historical incident that another almost verbatim text of the Cape Volksraad
copy, apart from a number of omissions, was transmitted by the French traveller and natural-
ist, Louis Adulphe Delegorgue (1814-50), not an eyewitness, but in contact with the Voortrek-
kers and the Zulu at different times between 1838 and 1840. In the second volume of his Voyage
dans lafrique Australe, published in 1847, he reported on the treaty, paraphrasing the account
of the discovery of ‘a paper written in English’ (un papier écrit en anglais).*”® Delegorgue then
copied the treaty (without mentioning a certification) from a handwritten document owned by

472 Cory 1924, 3.

473 Two examples are Retief’s letter of 8 November 1838, written on behalf of Dingane, which Owen was required to
rewrite in English after it had been translated, and his subsequent letter to Dingane (dated 8 [18?] November), which
he had Lindley translate for him (Kotzé 1950, 233).

474 Preller (1924, 43-46) has developed a complex stemma of the then known copies in relation to the original
with four branches and several subdivisions, by making connections between the historical circumstances and a
hypothetical chronological sequence. Rather than arguing point by point, our revision offers a clear string of copies.
475 1978, 58 figs 26-27.

476 NA Kew C048/200/v2 pp.100-101; the text is transcribed in Eybers 1918, 148-149.

477 NA Kew C048/200/v2 p.101r.

478 Ibid., pp.83r-84.

479 Delegorgue, Voyage 2, 1847, 135.
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Edward Parker,*®° an English adventurer generally documented as E. or E[dward] Parker.*®* He was
not only travelling with the Frenchman in Natal between 1838 and 1840 but had also been part of
the Pretorius commando to uMgungundlovu, under orders of the Boer commandant K.P. Landman,
as recounted above.*®? Major Charters condemned this engagement in a letter to Parker dated 14
January 1839 when he stated that the Englishman was ‘acting in direct opposition to the English
Government, and the English Law’.*®3 It is obscure how exactly Parker came by his copy, likely to be
a reproduction of the Cape Volksraad copy, which he had certified with his own hand as true (see
below). In Delegorgue’s words, he

revealed by this simple memorial the right of the Boers to the country of Natal. This clear and concise
document has about it something so sacred that I reproduced it here in English as I copied it from
the original.*3

Inadvertently, Delegorgue points to the problem of nomenclature we raised above, that each hand-
written copy is equally an original, when he claims that, in transcribing Parker’s treaty copy, he
considered he had ‘copied it from the original’.®>

The identical text of the Cape and Kew Volksraad copies of the treaty (figs 12.15a-b; 12.16a—c)
is given in full below.*®¢ For convenient comparison, the few major differences in other copies —
excluding irregularities in spelling and punctuation — are provided in the footnotes.

A True Copy
Unkuginsloave 4™ February
1837487
Know all men by this.
That whereas Pieter
Retief Governor of the dutch Emigrant
South Afrikans*®® has retaken my Cattle
which Sinkonyella had stolen*®® which
Cattle he the said Retief now delivered
unto me, — I Dingaan, King of the
Soolas, do hereby certify and declare that
I thought fit to resign unto him the
said Retief*° and his Countrymen*”" the place
called Port Natal, together with all the
Land annexed, That is to say from

480 Curiously, the English text of the treaty in ibid., 136 differs significantly from that in the 1997 English translation
(Travels 2, 73), which adjusted some ‘obvious’ discrepancies, as it closely follows (though without gloss) De Zuid-
Afrikaan copy transcribed in Chase, Natal 2, 1843, 71-72.

481 ‘E. Parker’ in Bird (Annals 1, 1888, 443), Voortrekker argiefstukke (1937, 38 [twice], 42) and Breytenbach (c. 1958,
36 no. 1item 2, 276); further, ‘Edward Parker’ in Bird (Annals 1, 1888, 563; Muller 1978, 73 figs 12-14); ‘Edw. Parker’ in
Voortrekker argiefstukke (1937, 36) and ‘Edud. Parker’ in ibid. (32 no. 36).

482 Parker also participated in the auction of booty at uMgungundlovu on 24 December 1838 as his name is men-
tioned several times in the relevant lists (Voortrekker argiefstukke 1937, 32 no. 36, and pp.36, 38 [twice], 42).

483 NA Kew C048/200/v2 p.106r.

484 Delegorgue, Travels 2, 1997, 73.

485 Ibid.

486 We are particularly grateful to Francois van Schalkwyk and Matthew Snyman for the photographs of the Cape
Volksraad copy: Cape Town Archive Repository GH 28/14, pp.508-509 (see Muller 1978, 58 figs 26-27). Kew Volksraad
copy: NA Kew C048/200/v2 pp.100-101 (transcribed in Eybers 1918, 148-149).

487 The number seven is smeared.

488 De Zuid-Afrikaan copy (16.3.1839; transcribed in Chase, Natal 2, 1843, 71-72) alone has ‘Dutch Emigrant Farmers’.
489 Ibid. alone has ‘had stolen from me’ (our italics).

490 Ibid. alone has ‘resign unto him, Retief (our italics).

491 The interpolated clause ‘(in reward of the Case hereabove mentioned)’, added after ‘Countrymen’, seems to be
first attested in the Jeppe (likely 1839) and the Den Haag copies (1842).
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the Togela**? to the omsaboobo River,
and from the Sea to the north as far
as the Land may be useful and in my
Possession

Which I did by this and give
unto them for their everlasting Property.

As Witness
Signd)**?
(Signd) De merkin van Nwara. G Raadn[?]
di Koning Dingaan Julianus Do.
As Witness M OQosthuizen** Manondu Do.**®
AC Greyling*®
BJ Liebenberg*®”

The content of the land treaty is as simple as it is surprising. Because Retief had returned Dingane’s
cattle stolen by his enemy Sekonyela (discussed above), the Zulu king granted the Boer governor
and his countrymen the British post of Port Natal and the whole of southern Natal, stretching from
the Tugela to the Umzimvubu (Mzimvubu) rivers, and from the Indian Ocean to the Drakensberg.
Dingane resigned this territory ‘as far as the Land may be useful and in my Possession’ to the Boers
as ‘their everlasting Property’. Considering the preceding negotiations between Retief, the Rev.
Owen and the Zulu king, when Owen had reminded them of the prior grant of Natal to the British, it
isindeed startling that Dingane rewarded the Boers with major parts of the area, and apparently for
no other reason than that they had returned his cattle thieved by Sekonyela. It is particularly per-
plexing that the Boers became claimants to Port Natal, which seems tantamount to a declaration
of war against the British currently occupying it. Most bewildering, however, is the incorrect year
of the treaty, which dates the deed back to 1837, thus invalidating it on formal grounds. How this
profound error could have happened is unfathomable and places either the original model or the
scribe of the Cape Volksraad copy in a bad light. However, the date was of no interest to Charters
(though he drily corrected it) as he rejected the treaty outright, arguing that Dingane was in no legal
position to resign southern Natal let alone Port Natal over to the ‘dutch Emigrant South Afrikans’.
So any expectation that the treaty would legalise the Boers’ right to settle in Natal and discourage
the British from pursuing their own interests in this area — or underwrite the Boer demand for the
return of their impounded ammunition — had failed from the very beginning.

492 The Kew Volksraad copy has ‘Togala’.

493 The ‘mark’ of Dingane and the signatures of the Zulu and Boer witnesses are by the same hand as the text of the
treaty itself.

494 Marthinus Oosthuizen, 1791-1858 (Visagie 2011, 346), not to be confused with Marthinus Jacobus Oosthuizen
(1818-97), who famously assisted the Van Rensburgs at Bloukrans, and may have been his son, as they both came
from the farm Olifantshoek in Uitenhage and trekked in March 1837 (ibid.).

495 Naidoo (1985, 192-194) provides a helpful discussion about the difficulties with the names and signatures of the
three Zulu witnesses.

496 Visagie 2011, 198.

497 Barend Johannes jr (ibid., 278-279).
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Figure 12.15a-b: Cape Volksraad copy of Retief-Dingane treaty text and Pretorius, Landman and Parker
certifications. 22.12.1838-9.1.1839. Model for Kew Volksraad copy, figs 12.16a—c (courtesy of NARSSA Cape Town
GH 28/14 pp.508-509; photos Matthew Snyman)
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Figure 12.16a—b: Kew Volksraad copy of Retief-Dingane treaty text and Pretorius and Landman certifications. 22.12.1838-9.1.1839.
Copy of Cape Volksraad copy (courtesy of NA Kew C048/200/v2 pp.100-100r; photos the authors)
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Figure 12.16c: Kew Volksraad copy of Retief-Dingane treaty text and Edward Parker certification. 22.12.1838-9.1.1839.
Copy of Cape Volksraad copy (courtesy of NA Kew CO48/200/v2 p.101; photos the authors)
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The certifications

As important as the treaty duplications are their certifications, usually added on the same page to
emphasise their significance as evidence that they are true copies of the original treaty found at the
bones of Retief, which has remained ever since curiously invisible and was never photographed.**®
We are informed by the certification of De Zuid-Afrikaan copy (fig. 12.17) published on 16 February
1839 (see below) that those who discovered the papers alongside Retief’s body handed them over
directly to their chief-commandant Pretorius. He was probably the one who realised the significance
of the document, and certainly the one who had it copied. It is an indication of how crucial the
document was thought to be that two certifiers, not only Pretorius but also Commandant Landman,
verified the duplications of the recently surfaced deed as ‘literal copies’, and asserted that the treaty
was found with Retief’s remains. Moreover, no fewer than three of their men signed De Zuid-Afrikaan
document to certify that they had discovered it in Retief’s leathern bag. In the case of the Kew and
Cape Volksraad copies (figs 12.15a-b; 12.16a—c), only E.D. Ward Parker attests to its discovery by
Swart Potgieter in his presence (and to the accuracy of the copy, which suggests that those present
at the discovery may have read it). The main certification (figs 12.15b; 12.16b—c) is:

[Cape Volksraad copy]

Certiveseere dat deeze voorenstaandaan [contract]
een waare Copi is van het geen den door ons
gevonden is by de gebeente van den

overleedene heer retief in dingaans land.

AW Pretorius / hoof offesier

K.P. Landman / C D [Commandant]

This is translated in the left margin of the Cape Volksraad copy as follows, and transcribed in the
Kew Volksraad copy.

We certify that the foregoing is a true Copy of what was found by us by the bones of the late Mr. Retief
in Dingaan’s country.

?d/ [signed**®] AW. Pretorius / Chief Officer

?d/ K.P. Landman / Commandant>°°

Pretorius and Landman, together with the Volksraad, were the main representatives who from
9 January 1839 used Dingane’s land grant to promote the interests of the Voortrekkers in various
negotiations with British officials. As further contemporary documents signed by K.P. Landman
provide proof that his signature on the certification of the Cape Volksraad copy is genuine,*®* this
probably also applies to the quite different signature of A.W. Pretorius, apparently a rare sample, as
we could not find another one. The authentic signatures of both mark the outstanding importance
of the Cape Volksraad copy.

Soon afterwards both commandants issued a much longer certification published in De
Zuid-Afrikaan on 16 February 1839 (fig. 12.17), as the earlier one was obviously not considered suf-
ficient for a public audience. It reads:*>**

498 See below, ‘The Weinthal facsimile’.

499 The abbreviation is more clearly Sig.d/ in the transcription in the Kew Volksraad copy.

500 That the translation in the Cape Volksraad copy (Cape Town Archive Repository GH 28/14 p.509; Muller 1978, 58
fig. 27) is transcribed in the Kew Volksraad copy (NA Kew CO48/200/v2 p.100r; Eybers 1918, 148-149) provides further
evidence of the first being the model for the second.

501 Muller 1978, 74 fig. 22, 97 fig. 20.

502 Dutch translation of the following (De Zuid-Afrikaan, 16.2.1839): ‘Wy de Ondergeteekenden AW.J. PRETORIUS en
CAREL PIETER LANDMAN, certificeeren en verklaren mits dezen, dat het vorenstaande een letterlyk afschrift is van het
orrigineele gevonden op den 21sten December II. [laatste], by de stad van DINGAAN, in een lederen zakje, tusschen
andere papieren, by de beenderen van wylen RETIEF gelegd hebbende; — wy mede Ondergetekeenden HERCULES PRE-
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We, the Undersigned, A.W. Pretorius and Carel Pieter Landman, hereby certify and declare, that the
foregoing is a literal Copy from the Original, found, among other papers,”®® on the 21st December
last at the residence of Dingaan, in a leathern bag, laying by the bones of the late Retief. We, the
joint Subscribers, Hercules Pretorius and P. du Preez, do likewise certify and declare, that we found
the Document abovementioned by the bones of the late Retief, and which we knew by pieces of his
clothes, the Document being among other papers in a leathern shooting bag, and which we deliv-
ered to the chief Commandant, Evert Potgieter being also present when we found it. We are ready to
verify this our our [sic] Certificate if required, on oath.

The 9th January, 1839.

(Signed) A.W.JPRETORIUS, ChiefCommandant,’®*/ C.P. LANDMAN, Commandant,’®® /H. PRETORIUS,
P.D. DU PREEZ,’®” E.T. POTGIETER.”%®

506

This is by far the most elaborate certification we know. As it contains a number of details which
were not addressed in the two certifications of the Cape and Kew copies, it needs further attention.
Apart from the correct(ed) treaty date of 1838, De Zuid-Afrikaan certification mentions for the first
time that the treaty was ‘found, among other [never specified] papers’, on ‘the 21st December last’,
that these and the treaty were discovered ‘in a leathern bag, laying by the bones of the late Retief’
identified ‘by pieces of his clothes’, and that the undersigned ‘are ready to verify this our Certificate
if required on oath’. Why the details were added and the numbers of undersigned enlarged to five,
and why they finally offered, if requested, to swear an oath to validate their certificate, is difficult
to answer. Evident, however, is that the public announcement of the finding of the land deed was
spiced with particulars which were omitted in the official Cape and Kew Volksraad copies. Were
these minutiae possibly meant to buttress the authenticity and legality of the treaty?

Another question is why the act of authentication was divided into two different issues. First
Andries Pretorius and Karel Landman testify that De Zuid-Afrikaan copy (fig. 12.17) is a ‘literal copy’
from the original that had been found in a leathern bag lying next to Retief’s remains without
specifying by whom. Then Hercules Pretorius, Pieter Daniel du Preez and Evert Frederik Potgieter
validate the above and explain that it was actually they who found the deed and delivered it to
Pretorius. In doing so they reinforce their commandants’ certification. But one could argue that
De Zuid-Afrikaan copy is less likely than the Cape and Kew Volksraad transcriptions to have been a
‘literal’ duplication of the treaty because, as detailed in the footnotes above, it differs in significant
particulars from them — the only two early treaty copies which share a verbatim relationship and do
not correct the so obviously incorrect date of 1837 (figs 12.15a—b; 12.16a—c). Be that as it may, given
the distances, the copies of the treaty may all have been sent out at the same time, although the

TORIUS en P. DU PEEZ [sic], certificeeren en verklaren mede, dat wy het geschrift hierboven gemeld gevonden hebben,
by de beenderen van nu wylen den Hr. RETIEF, welke aan ons kenbaar waren door stukken zyner kleederen, en welk
geschrift was tusschen andere papieren, in en lederen jagerzak, en door ons aan den Hoofd-Kommandant overge-
leverd, en door EVERT POTGIETER, die ook toen wy het vonden, by ons was, — en wy zyn bereid, het gecertificeerde des
vereischt wordende met eeden te staven. / Den 9 January 1839. / (Get.) AW.J. PRETORIUS, Hoofd-Kommandant / C.P.
LANDMAN, Kommandant. / H. PRETORIUS, / P.D. DU PREEZ, / E.F. POTGIETER.

503 According to the American missionary David Lindley, one of these documents was his English translation
of Retief’s letter to Dingane, originally drafted in Dutch (now evidently lost), dated 8.12.1838 and discussed above
(fig. 12.12). Lindley’s translation (or a copy of it?) survived in a damaged state; kept in NARSSA (R14/37), ‘currently in
the SS collection, Volume 1’ (email from Gerrit Wagener, 14.12.2018); see Voortrekker argiefstukke 1937, 21-24. It is said to
have been ‘found on Retief’s body’. We gratefully acknowledge Gerrit Wagener’s help and his provision of photographs
of the document. Muller (1978, 54-55, figs 17-18) states more plausibly but without reference that Lindley’s translation
was ‘found, partially burnt, in Dingane’s capital’ and ‘later preserved among the papers of Andries Pretorius’.

504 For Pretorius, see Arrival.

505 Karel (Carel) Pieter Landman, 1796-1882 (Visagie 2011, 274); DSAB 3, 1977, 496—497.

506 Hercules Albertus (Bart) Pretorius, 1803-89, brother of AW.]. Pretorius (Visagie 2011, 383).

507 Pieter Daniel Andreas Salomon du Preez, 1807/09-89 (ibid., 159).

508 ‘E.T., obviously a typographical error, refers to Evert Frederik Potgieter sr, 1799/1800-63 (ibid., 362-363), as the
Dutch copy of the treaty confirms (De Zuid-Afrikaan, 16.2.1839).
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TO THE LATE RETIEF.
fOr1GINAL.]

CCPY or THE DOCUUMENT GRANTED sy DINGAAN

* Unkunkinglove, 4th February, 1838.
“KNOW ALL MEN BY THIS,

“ That whereas Prsver Remise, Governor of the Dulch
Emiigrani Farmers, Xat refaken my Cattle which Sinzxony-
BLLA Aad slolen frow -ne, which Catile ke the said Rerizr
now delivered unfo me: I, DINGAAN, King of the Zoolss,

¢ heredy certify and declare, that I thought Jit to rexign
undo Ahim, RETIEF, and kis Co en, the place called
PORT NATAL, logether with the Land annexed;
hat is fo say, from tie Togeia fo the Omsovoodo Rivers,
Westicard, and from the Sea {0 the North, as far as the
Larnd may be useful and in my possession.
Which I did by this, and give tnto them Jor their ever-

lasting property, Mark y¢ of King DINGAAN.
¥¥ifnesses,
M. QosTRUISEY, Moaro x Great Counsellor.
A. C. GeEYLING, JULIAVIUS X do.
B.J. Licsexaesre, Maxoxpo x do.

We, the Undersigned, A. W. Pretorios and Carel Pieter
Landman, hereby certify and declare, that the foregoing is
a literal Copy from the Jriginal, found, among other papers,
on the 21st Dacember lust at the residence of Dingaan, in a
leathern bag, laying by the bones of the late Retief. We,
the joint Subscribers, Hercules Pretorius and P. do Preez,
{ o likewise certify and declare, that we found the Document
aborementioned by the bones of the late Retief, and which
we knew by pieces of bis clothes, the Document being among
other papers in a leathern shootiné bag, and which we de-
livered to the chief Commandant, Evert Potgieter being also
 present when we found it. We are ready to verify this our
our Certificate if required on oath.

The 9th January, 1839.

(Signed) A. W. J. Pasrorivs, | H, PreToxtvs, »
Clief Commandant, { P. D. pv PreEz,
C.P. Lanpuan, Com- | E. T. PoTGIET:R,
masndant,

Togala River, Jan. 9, 1839,

Dear Sir,—I have the pleasure to communicate to you the
contioustion of my account touching our late Commando,
baving now returned to the great camp, My first letter, dated
22d December last, I still find here, s0 that you will receive
it at the same time with this.—We ail rejoice and feel grateful
toh God, and I have no doubt but many of you will participate
therein.

Figure 12.17: De Zuid-Afrikaan copy of Retief-Dingane treaty. 22.12.1838-9.1.1839 (De Zuid-Afrikaan, 16.2.1839)
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first reached the British a good month in advance of the release of the copy in De Zuid-Afrikaan on
16 February 1839. In the latter’s heading the place ‘Unkuginsloave’ was changed to ‘Unkinkinglove’,
the date ‘1837’ silently corrected to ‘1838’, and a number of phrases in the text were also modi-
fied. For example, the territorially defined ‘dutch Emigrant South Afrikans’ became the agricul-
turally focused ‘Dutch Emigrant Farmers’; the statement ‘Sinkonyella had stolen’ was rhetorically
reinforced as ‘Sinkonyella had stolen from me’ (our italics); ‘to resign to the said Retief’ was altered
to the more expressive ‘to resign unto him, Retief’; and finally the names of the Zulu witnesses,
‘N/M[?]wara, Julianus [and] Manondu’ mutated to ‘Moaro, Juliavius [and] Manondo’. While some of
the changes may have been editorial or the result of difficulties with Zulu names, the certification
was entirely different, as will be discussed shortly, suggesting an entirely different transcription.

Curious also are the chronological details related to the publication of the first treaty copies.
Pretorius wrote in a follow-up letter published in De Zuid-Afrikaan, dated 9 January 1839, without
addressee (in all likelihood De Zuid-Afrikaan’s editor P.A. Brand): ‘My first letter dated 22nd Decem-
ber last, I still find here, so that you will receive it at the same time with this.” In a post scriptum he
informs Brand about the latest developments in Natal and the position of the Boers:

Major Charters is at Port Natal, with a detatchment of Troops, he has taken TEMPORARY possession
of the Bay, with a view to make peace between us and the Zoolas, which we will glady do, if it
can be effected with security to ourselves and by getting back the cattle not yet recovered. We [the
Volksraad] have sent him [Charters] copies of some Documents relative to the land;*°® we are not
acquainted with his instructions, but whatever measures Government may find necessary to adopt,
we hope they may not tend to compel us to penetrate farther into the interior. To ask us to return to
the Colony, will be useless.**°

What caused Pretorius to delay sending his completed letter from 22 December with the triumphant
news of the Boers’ success at Blood River and the first copies of the all-important treaty for almost
three weeks? Did this perhaps happen in reaction to the British who, on 3/4 December 1838 had
taken possession of Port Natal under the command of Major Charters, the military secretary of
the Cape governor, Sir George Napier®'! — a place that was, as Pretorius knew since the discovery
of the treaty, resigned by Dingane to the Boers? The delay gets an even sharper edge with the first
reference to the treaty in the Rev. Smit’s diary, who, even though he had spoken with Pretorius on
8 January when the commandant returned to the camp, and received from him a cow and calf from
the uMgungundlovu plunder, apparently only had confirmation of the treaty the following day,
9 January 1839 - coincidentally the day on which diverse treaty copies were sent away (certainly
Cape Volksraad, possibly also De Zuid-Afrikaan) — when he writes:

Today I received a return visit in my hut from the Commander General Pretorius. His Excellency
allowed me to see the agreement that had been found in the pouch of the martyred and lifeless Gov-
ernor, by Dingaan. I asked for an authentic copy in order to enter it here, but ... [I] could not obtain
it today. I have however seen and read it.”*?

The chronological coincidence suggests that Pretorius and the Volksraad were ready to release the
first copy of the treaty on 9 January 1839, but evidently not before. This is reinforced by Smit’s

509 Here ‘We’ refers to the Volksraad which on 9 January 1839 sent Charters a duplicate of the treaty (the Cape Volks-
raad copy) and three further letters which we discussed above (‘Finding the treaty’). On the same day also Pretorius
sent a reply to a letter the major had sent to him on 6 December that had intended to prevent a confrontation between
the Boers and the Zulu (NA Kew C048/200/v2 pp.96-97). Here the Boer emphasises that it was the Volksraad that had
appointed him ‘Commander in Chief of the Expedition against the Zoola chieftain’ and that this Council will answer
Charters’ questions in detail; Retief and the treaty were in that communication not on Pretorius’ agenda.

510 De Zuid-Afrikaan, 16.2.1839 (reproduced in Chase, Natal 2, 1843, 72, and Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 456).

511 See ibid., 428-429 (on 31 December 1838 Napier reported to the Secretary of State in London that on 3/4 Decem-
ber British troops had appropriated Port Natal as a military outpost to protect British interests).

512 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 161 (Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 182-183).
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earlier entries referring to news from Pretorius as far back as 25 December 1838, when he reported
that during the morning service three men arrived from Pretorius’ ‘war camp’ at uMgungundlovu.
The minister announced ‘that in the afternoon at 3 o’clock a thanksgiving service would be held
in the church,’” but when he ‘heard and later understood that the information of the 3 men was
by word of mouth, he postponed the thanksgiving until more certain written information shall
have been received’.>*® Smit does not define the nature of the information, but this sudden change
may indicate that the news (perhaps early rumours about the finding of Dingane’s land treaty?)
delivered by the three messengers was too sensitive to be celebrated in public without further con-
firmation. And in none of the entries preceding 9 January and written by Andries Pretorius to the
Volksraad about incidents at and around uMgungundlovu is the land deed mentioned, although he
writes of ‘the bones of the unfortunate martyrs (of our Brothers together with those of the late His
Honour the former Governor Mr P. Retief)’.>1*

After 9 January, Smit brings the document up once more, on 22 January:

We have again today received a letter from Major Charters, dated 15th January 1839 [discussed
above]: This contained nothing special in it other than His Excellency had received the letter of the
Council [Raad] and the General Commander His Excellency, A.W.]. Pretorius in addition to a copy of
the document of Dingaan and His Excellency Piet Retief ...>*

That Smit did not regard the delivery of the treaty document as being ‘special’ possibly indicates
that at least he (and possibly also other Boers who were camping at the Tugela) already knew
its content. But what is very surprising is that Charters does not appear to have heard about the
treaty document earlier, as is evident in his report about the Boer operations, dated 5 January 1839,
which, like Pretorius’ earlier missives, did include the finding of Retief’s skeleton:

The reports of the operations of the Boers have reached me in no very authentic form, and it is only
by comparing different accounts and private letters that I can give it in an intelligible state ... On
the 21st the Boers reached this town [uMgungundlovu], which Dingane had burned, and he and his
people had retired more into the interior. The Boers had found here the bones of Retief and his party,
and were still able to recognise them. On the day following they occupied themselves in burying
these remains. Sunday. 23rd, they were still on the same ground ...>*¢

Also here silence speaks loudly. One can only surmise that Pretorius and the Volksraad had had
reason to suppress news about the treaty, when Charters had been able to learn about the discovery
of the remains of Retief and his men but not of this all-important find.

The second certification of the Cape and Kew Volksraad copies by E.D. Ward Parker reads
(figs 12.15b, 12.16¢):

I hereby certify that the above Document is a true Copy of the original Grant made by Dingaan to the
Emigrant Farmers and found on the murdered Body of the late Pieter Retief, in my presence by Swart
[Evert Frederik?] Potgieter on or about the 23d day of Decr. 1838.57

Even if we assume that Parker, who wrote and signed the certification of the Cape Volksraad copy
in his own hand,**® was able to actually see the original, this did not qualify him to certify that
his document was ‘a true Copy of the original Grant’ as it is unlikely that he would have had the

513 Ibid. 153 (Dutch text: 174-175).

514 Ibid. 153-161 (quote p.156; Dutch text: 174-183 [quote p.177]).

515 Ibid. 164 (Dutch text: 185). For further speculation, see Preller, Sketse 1928, 208-209.

516 NA Kew C048/199/v1 pp.204, 205; Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 492.

517 NA Kew C048/200/v2 p.101 (transcribed in Eybers 1918, 148).

518 His handwriting for the certification is comparable with a letter he wrote in Port Natal dated 20.7.1839, as is the
signature, a closely aligned ‘ED Ward Parker’ (Muller 1978, 73 figs 12-13).
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chance to study it in any detail — which leads to a further question: why of all people did Pretorius
and Landman choose the Englishman Parker to verify not only the finding of the treaty but also the
text as true? Was this possibly done, apart from his being a welcome foreign eyewitness, because
he was, as an English speaker, able to read the treaty’s language with ease? It was in many ways a
poor choice as the wayward Parker was less likely to inspire confidence amongst the English than
to be treated with suspicion and rebuked for his affiliations with the Boers and for taking part in
the commando that defeated Dingane.

As argued above, the Cape and Kew Volksraad copies set the standard for all subsequent
copies. Next in the chronological line of certified treaty duplications, apart from De Zuid-Afrikaan
copy discussed above, are the Den Haag copy (fig. 12.18) sent by the Pietermaritzburg Volksraad to
the Dutch king in 1842°* and, without further contextual information, the undated ‘Jeppe copy’ in
NARSSA.>?°

Two further significant duplications, the Weinthal facsimile (figs 12.20a-b) and the unpub-
lished Pretoria copy (fig. 12.21), both kept in NARSSA too, are discussed separately as their story
has its own complexity.”** While the Den Haag and Jeppe copies follow the English text of the
Cape and Kew copies, their certifications are now in Dutch. And while they were duplicated ver-
batim from the Cape and Kew Volksraad copies (apart from marginal differences in spelling and
punctuation, additional people as certifiers, and the notable absence of A.W. Pretorius and K.P.
Landman), both introduce a new clause that became part of the successive treaty copies we know.
After Dingane declared ‘I thought fit to resign unto him the said Retief and his Countrymen’, the
clause ‘(on reward of the case hereabove mentioned)’ was added. This was evidently meant to rein-
force the Boer interest in emphasising that the Zulu king signed the land grant for no other reason
than that Retief had faithfully returned the king’s cattle stolen by his adversary Sekonyela — an
issue discussed above.>?> Hence our main focus is here on their certifications.

The Den Haag copy (fig. 12.18) can be dated, as it was sent in April 1842 by the Natal Volksraad
to the king of the Netherlands, then William II. Its certification is based on that of De Zuid-Afrikaan
copy but is significantly shorter:**

We certify that the annexed contract was found by us [the] undersigned with the bones of the late
Mr. P. Retief in Dingaan’s country on the 21[st] day of December 1838 in a leather hunting bag. If
required, we are prepared to uphold this by solemn oaths.

(Signed) E.F. Potgieter / H Pretorius / P.D.]. du Preez

In accord with the Original. Jacs Johs Burger, Secretary.”*

519 Breytenbach c. 1958, 406 ‘Aanhangsel II. E.38, Republiek Natalia, no. 2 (attachment to a letter from the Pieterma-
ritzburg Volksraad to the Dutch king, pp.399-405 Bylaag 3, 1842. G.H. 28/18, Annexure to Encl. 4 Desp. no. 116/1842);
Muller 1978, 59 fig. 30. We failed to find this copy in NA Den Haag, despite the kind assistance of Rene Janssen.

520 Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 366 (for the archivist Jeppe see below). Regardless of the intensive help of Zabeth Botha (HF
Archives) and Gerrit Wagener (NARSSA), we were not able to trace this copy’s location and archival reference number
in NARSSA, and had to rely on published versions. The only noteworthy difference to the Cape and Kew Volksraad
copies here is that it repeated De Zuid-Afrikaan copy phrase ‘resigned unto him, Retief,” instead of ‘resigned unto him
the said Retief’.

521 See below, ‘The Weinthal facsimile’.

522 A subtext here is that the Boers accused Dingane of being dishonest because he had not returned the cattle the
Zulu had previously taken from the trekkers.

523 The translation follows for the most part that of De Zuid-Afrikaan copy (De Zuid-Afrikaan, 16.2.1839; Bird,
Annals 1, 1888, 366 n k).

524 ‘Certificeere dat deeze omschreevene contract is gevonden door ons ondergetek by de gebeente van wylen den
Heer P. Retief in Dingaans land op den 21 dag van December 1838 in een leedere Jager Zak indien vereyscht zyn wy
bereyd dat met solemneele Eede te staaven. (Get.) E.F. Potgieter, H. Pretorius, P.D. du Preez. Accordeerd met het Orri-
cineel. Jacs. Johs. Burger, Secs.’ (Breytenbach c. 1958, 406). It is puzzling that Breytenbach (ibid., 406 figs opp.) quotes
the text of the Den Haag copy (of which a photograph is published in Muller 1978, 59 fig. 30) but illustrates it, without
explanation, with one of the Weinthal facsimiles, which differs from it in three ways: first, it was written in a different
hand (Muller 1978, 59 fig. 30); further, the certification of its discovery was signed by two additional Boers (Hercules
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Figure 12.18: Den Haag copy of Retief-Dingane treaty. 1839-42 (Muller 1978, 59 fig. 30)
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As for De Zuid-Afrikaan copy, E(vert) F. Potgieter, H(ercules) Pretorius and P(ieter) D.J. du Preez
certified on the same page as the treaty, though in different words, that they had found the treaty.
But in contrast to De Zuid-Afrikaan copy there is no verification that the Den Haag treaty is ‘a literal
copy from the original’, which Pretorius and Landman alone were entitled to do (we will pick up
this point in our discussion of the Weinthal facsimile below). So, when the Den Haag copy was
sent to the Netherlands, Jacobus Johannes Burger sr (1795-1849),°%° then secretary of the Natal
Volksraad, added a further certification in which he confirmed that the treaty is ‘in accord with
the Original’ (Accordeerd met het Orricineel). But here Burger’s verification must surely refer to
the Den Haag copy being a true reproduction of a handwritten treaty document, which, apart from
the added clause, clearly duplicates the Cape and Kew Volksraad copies. It has to be questioned,
however, why Potgieter, Pretorius and Du Preez omitted two details which they had verified in De
Zuid-Afrikaan certification, that (unspecified) ‘other papers’ were found with the treaty and Retief
identified ‘by pieces of his clothes’. Likewise puzzling is why the certification of this and the Jeppe
copies were changed from English to Dutch. Does this perhaps demonstrate Dutch authority over
the land cession written in English or, more simply, could it indicate that many Boers were not
literate in English®>?® (and perhaps also Dutch recipients) and needed a certification in their native
tongue? All we know is that the Den Haag copy was sent to the Netherlands in the hope of gaining
the king’s support for the Boer farmers in Natal — though with no success.>*”

Another early copy is probably the Jeppe copy, which we name in honour of the archivist who
had supplied it to John Bird for his 1888 Annals of Natal.>*® Like the Den Haag copy, the Jeppe
replication is qualified by two certifications. The first is a verbatim duplication of the Den Haag
certification confirming that the ‘contract was found by us’, but then (as in subsequent certifi-
cations) it is verified by E.F. Potgieter alone,**® and an additional authentication asserts that it is
‘A true copy’ (Een ware copy). While its two certifiers, Jan Gerritze Bantjes and Johan Bern(h)ard
Roedeloff (Rudolph) sr,>*° were with Chief Commandant Pretorius at uMgungundlovu, neither the
certification of De Zuid-Afrikaan copy nor any other source mentions that they were present at the
moment the treaty was found, let alone empowered to issue such an endorsement. The addition
does, however, assist us to date the Jeppe copy fairly accurately. Since Bantjes left Natal (Pieterma-
ritzburg) in January 1840, it is more than likely that he and Rudolph had signed the certification no
later than 1839 or the very beginning of 1840.>3

History of the original

Before we can tackle the two remaining copies, the Weinthal facsimile (figs 12.20a—b) and the Pretoria
copy (fig. 12.21), we need to discuss whether the treaty between Dingane and Retief was ever signed.
It is remarkable that the records from the three witnesses — the Rev. Owen, his young interpreter,
William Wood (c. 1824-)>** and Dingane’s cuspidor, Tununu ka Nonjiya, who provides quite com-

Potgieter and Pieter D.]. du Preez (ibid.) and, finally, it has no additional true copy verification by Jacobus J. Burger,
secretary of the Volksraad.

525 DSAB 4, 1981, 66-67; Visagie 2011, 100.

526 This is possibly one of the reasons for De Zuid-Afrikaan publishing the treaty in a Dutch translation as well as
English.

527 DSAB 4,1981, 66.

528 ‘Mr. Jeppe ... [was] the custodian of the records in Pretoria’ (Bird, Annals 1, 1888, i). For the Jeppe family in the
Transvaal, see Carruthers 2003, 961-963.

529 It is likely that by the time the Den Haag copy was prepared not all the original signatories were available in
Pietermaritzburg.

530 Visagie 2011, 432-433.

531 DSAB1, 1972, 52.

532 DSAB 4, 1981, 897-898.
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prehensive coverage of both the festivities and the slaughter of Retief and his men — do not report on
the crucial signing of the treaty in any detail, and the last not at all.>*® All we have about the treaty are
two short notices. In 1840 Wood reported that, when Retief and his men arrived in uMgungundlovu,
Dingane ‘gladly received the cattle’ the Boer took from Sekonyela, but that Retief had refused the
king’s demand for the guns and horses.

With this Dingaan appeared satisfied, and shortly after, told them that the cattle should also be
theirs; likewise promising them a piece of land extending from the Tugela to the Umzimvubu. Retief
accepted his offer, and a treaty was signed between Dingaan on the one hand and the emigrant
farmers on the other.>*

As Wood’s account was published at a time when, as we argue above, it had been well publicised
that a land treaty signed by Dingane had been found at his residence, it is possible that this story
may have coloured his narrative.”® In fact, as we argue in Murder of Retief, the details of Wood’s
recollections are questionable, as he included quotations of dialogues between Dingane, Zulu and
Boers in uMgungundlovu, which he could not possibly have heard from his distant vantage point
at Owen’s hut. In contrast to Wood’s description that the signing of the land treaty happened on
4 February 1838, Owen’s entry in his diary for 6 February 1838 states that no treaty was yet signed:

Two of the Boers paid me a visit this morning and breakfasted only an hour or two before they were
called into Eternity. When I asked them what they thought of Dingarn, they said he was good: so
unsuspicious were they of his intentions. He had promised to assign over to them the whole country
between the Tugala and the Umzimvubu rivers, and this day the paper of transfer was to be signed.>*®

In line with Owen’s diary is the report of Tununu ka Nonjiya, Dingane’s inceku, the cuspidor later
prominently portrayed in Treaty. As the king’s personal servant, he was present on the day the
treaty was supposed to be signed, but did not mention it when he recounted to magistrate and
historian James Stuart (1868-1942) a detailed report of Retief’s visit at uMgungundlovu. That he
does not mention a treaty, let alone a ceremonial signing, seems a significant omission.>*” Adding
to the confusion are irreconcilable dates for the treaty itself, as the known copies are consistently
dated 4 February, the day after Retief’s arrival in uMgungundlovu, when Owen states that it ‘was
to be signed’ in his diary entry of 6 February.>*® Compounding this uncertainty, the Cape and Kew
Volksraad copies even have the wrong year, 1837 instead of 1838. There is also no eyewitness report
as to whether the text of the treaty was fully drafted or by whom, or the circumstances of its signing,
whatever the day. And when Owen, after the murder of Retief and his party, saw Dingane, the king
‘said it never was his wish that white people should build houses in his country. ... he had told them
again and again ... however, they would not believe him: they would not take his No’.>*® This does

533 Nathan’s (1937, 201) account of signing the treaty is fabricated.

534 Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 379 (according to ibid., 376, first published by Wood in Cape Town, Collard & Co., 24, Heer-
engracht, 1840). Interestingly, Wood does not name Retief as a signatory, which matches the treaty copies.

535 The reference to ‘the emigrant farmers’ is used only in De Zuid-Afrikaan copy (16 February 1839) and no other
known treaty duplication, which further supports the contention that Wood was writing with knowledge of that pub-
lication.

536 Owen ed. Cory 1926, 108 (our italics). Apart from the ‘very rare work’ (ibid., Preface) of the Church Missionary
Record (no. 10, October 1838, vol. 10), one of the earliest quotes of this passage was published by Boyce (1839, 154):
‘and this day the papers of transfer were to be signed’. See later Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 348 (with marginal adjustments
of Owen’s text); Naidoo 1985, 189-190. Richard Brangan Hulley (also called Halley), Owen’s interpreter, who provides
a brief report of what had happened on 6 April after his return to uMgungundlovu on 8 February (Kotzé 1950, 239),
does not mention a treaty (Owen ed. Cory 1926, 177-178). Hulley published the 12-page-long pamphlet Zululand under
Dingaan: account of the Rev. Mr. Owen’s visit to Zululand in the year 1837 only in 1880.

537 James Stuart Archive 6, 260-261 (30.5.1903).

538 Owen ed. Cory 1926, 108; see Naidoo 1985, 192.

539 Owen ed. Cory 1926, 114.
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not sound like the statement of a king who had recently ceded extensive territory to the Boers in a
treaty — or indeed previously to the English.

A possible explanation to resolve these contradictions is offered in ‘The Weinthal facsimiles’
section below. As to the subsequent history of the treaty itself, its discovery, state of preservation,
safe keeping and ultimate fate are shrouded in mystery, as explained especially by George Cory and
Jay Naidoo.**° The history of the treaty commences with its discovery on 21 December 1838, certi-
fied on 9 January 1839 by Hercules Pretorius, Pieter D. du Preez and Evert F. Potgieter, who stated
that they had found the treaty and handed it over to Andries Pretorius. Thus he alone was equipped
with full power of disposal over this document. A further rare testimony of the treaty, cited earlier,
is the entry in Smit’s diary for 9 January, reporting that Pretorius ‘allowed me to see the agreement’,
although we cannot discount that Smit may well not have seen the treaty but a handwritten copy of
it, disseminated by Pretorius on that day.

The next witness who reported he had seen the treaty (as opposed to the copies sent to Charters
and Brand) was Henry Cloete, Her Majesty’s commissioner of the Natal territory, who wrote from
Pietermaritzburg on 4 July 1843 to the Hon. ]. Montagu, secretary to the government:

The first object of my enquiries was to ascertain the extent of the territory occupied de facto by the
emigrant farmers ... On the first part, I have ascertained satisfactorily that when the Volksraad as
now constituted was first established here, in the middle of the year 1838, they considered them-
selves as of right entitled to occupy and recognise, as belonging to the emigrant farmers, the extent
of territory as conceded to them by the Zulu chief Dingaan, and as described in a document said to
be signed by the chief and some of his counsellors, and found among the dead bodies of the unfortu-
nate P. Retief and others who were butchered on the 6th February, 1838. It is somewhat singular that
this document, which I have seen in original, should have been written in English (as I am informed)
by the Rev. F. Owen, a missionary of the Church of England, at the time residing with Dingaan, and
who appears to have acted both as interpreter and amanuensis on the occasion. An authentic copy
of that document is hereunto annexed; and from all the enquiries I have made, from the respectable
character of the witnesses who found and attested the document, from the superstitious feeling
which seems to prevail among the Zulus not to touch anything belonging to the dead, and more
particularly from the language in which that document has been written, there can exist no doubt as
to the authenticity thereof. Under this grant, the emigrant farmers took possession immediately of
the territory ... compromising an area of about 35,000 square miles ... and presenting (from the little
I have seen) the most picturesque and fertile tract of land on the face of the globe.>*!

Cloete’s account is not as clear as it seems and harbours a number of troubling errors, notably that
Owen had written the treaty, and that he was interpreter on the occasion of its signing. We must
also ask whether he was in fact looking at a handwritten duplication likely to have been based on
the Cape Volksraad copy (fig. 12.15a—b) — for most people indistinguishable from a handwritten
original. Finally, his statement that the ‘superstitious feeling which seems to prevail among the
Zulu not to touch anything belonging to the dead’ is a shaky presumption. As George Cory astutely
remarked in 1924, ‘Mr. Cloete heard and believed too much.’**? In fact, many domestic objects and
a significant number of rifles that belonged to the murdered Boers were found at uMgungundlovu —
abandoned by the Zulu when they burnt down their residence to escape the Voortrekker com-
mando. On 24 and 26 December 1838 the Boers auctioned ‘the booty from Dingane’ (de buit van
Dingaan), mostly Boer items taken by the Zulu, especially all kinds of household goods and quite
a number of guns, some probably taken from the dead at Bloukrans as well as those at uMgungun-
dlovu.**® Long lists reference the names of the buyers and the prices they paid for these items, when

540 Naidoo 1985; Etherington 2001, 281-282.

541 Bird, Annals 2, 1888, 202-203 (our italics). The annexed document is unfortunately missing here.
542 Cory 1924, 4.

543 Voortrekker argiefstukke 1937, 32-48 (R.21/38 and R.22/38; quote p.32).
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they could not be returned to their families. The ‘booty’ was probably a most welcome supplement
to the commando’s depleted stock.

Also questionable is James Stuart’s report published in 1854. He stated that the land grant of
Natal was not, as Cloete had claimed, ‘now (or ought to be) among the archives of the Colonial
Office here’ (apparently in Pietermaritzburg),”** but

that the certificate of acquisition of Natal is in the right hands. The emigrants, beyond the Vaal
River, have it. On the 2nd January 1852 Mr A.W.J. Pretorius had let me read it [the deed from Natal],
and then I saw myself that it was written in English by the missionary Owen, and signed by him and
the King Dingane with three of his captains, with a little cross, together with Retief and three of his
fellow citizens.**

Compounding other common errors such as the attribution of authorship to Owen, Stuart claims
that Retief had signed the treaty, when no known copies bear his signature. A clue to his source may
be found in his subsequent statement that he sailed to England in August 1853 in the company of
‘Mr Richard Hallew [Hulley]’, the father of Richard Hulley, Owen’s interpreter.>*® If this was Stuart’s
source, it was much later and at second hand, and made even more problematic by the fact that the
younger Hulley was not present at uMgungundlovu on the day of Retief’s murder. The untrustwor-
thiness of Stuart’s account leaves one wondering whether his statement about the treaty’s where-
abouts is reliable. But in 1876 Hofstede too thought it was in the ZAR, saying that he ‘believed that
the original treaty was kept in the archives of the Transvaal Government’.>*” Preller had no doubt
that in 1886 the document was in the possession of a certain A. Schmidt, who entrusted it with
other early Boer state papers to the then secretary of the ZAR. But if that was the case, why was John
Bird unable to include the original treaty in his 1888 Annals of Natal, only ‘a certified copy of the
original, supplied to the Compiler by Mr. Jeppe’ — whose ‘valuable assistance’ as ‘the custodian of
the records in Pretoria’ Bird gratefully acknowledged?>*®

Significant in the history of the treaty is Preller’s assertion, though without supporting ref-
erence, that around June 1900 the original was sent with other unspecified ‘staatspapiere’ (state
documents) from British-occupied Pretoria to ‘dr. Leyds ... in Holland’.>*° However, he states that
the treaty never arrived at its destination and has been lost ever since.”*® If the land grant was
indeed sent to Leyds, the address should have been Brussels, Leyds’ residence at the time.
Dr Willem Johannes Leyds (1859-1940)*' was a distinguished Dutch jurist and high-ranking poli-
tician in the service of ZAR, characterised as ‘President’s [Kruger] right-hand man in the adminis-
tration, as well as in internal and foreign politics’.>* His last appointment, from May 1898 to May
1902, was ‘Ambassador Extraordinary and Minister Plenipotentiary’ of the Transvaal Republic, who
had accredited himself ‘to the governments of France, Germany, the Netherlands, Belgium and

544 Cloete 1899, 110.

545 ‘... de koop-akte van Natal is in de regte handen. Op den 2den Januarij 1853 heeft de heer AW.]. Pretorius mij die
[koop-akte van Natal] laten lezen, en toen heb ik zelf gezien, dat ze in het Engelsch geschreven was door den zen-
deling Owen, en door hem en den Koning Dingaan met drie zijner kapiteins, ieder met een kruisje, mitsgaders door
Retief en drie zijner medegezanten onderteekend’ (Stuart 1854, 217-218).

546 ‘Van 12 Junij tot 17 Augustus 1853 heb ik van de Kaap de Goede Hoop naar Engeland gereisd met den heer Richard
Hallew, die mij verzekerde, dat zijn zoon, ook Richard genaamd, tijdens den moord van Retief en de zijnen, de tolk en
gewoon bediende was van den zendeling Owen, die aan het hof van Dingaan resideerde ...” (Stuart 1854, 218).

547 Hofstede (1876, 38 n *): ‘Wij menen, dat het origineele verdrag zich bij de archieven van het Transvaalsche Gou-
vernement bevindt.” See Preller 1924, 52 (providing the wrong date of Hofstede’s publication and a more colloquial
wording of Hofstede’s text).

548 Annals of Natal 1, 1888, i (second quote), 366 (first quote).

549 Preller, Sketse 1928, 217.

550 Ibid.

551 DSAB 3, 1977, 516-520.

552 Ibid., 517.
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Portugal’, with headquarters first in The Hague, and after October 1898 in Brussels.>** In July 1900
the ZAR Executive Committee entrusted to his care and personal control ‘the funds of the Trans-
vaal Republic in Europe’.>** When the ZAR ceased to exist (31 May 1902), Leyds moved back to The
Hague and ‘retained control not only of the secret funds of the former republic, but of the important
archival heritage of the embassy, consulates and other well-disposed bodies’.>>® Why the treaty was
not entrusted to Leyds personally with other state documents before he left for Belgium is puzzling,
and even more so is a decision to risk sending a crucial document to Europe in the midst of the
Anglo-Boer War. If this story is true, it is hardly surprising that the treaty was lost.

After close inspection of the conflicting evidence and the crucial discovery that the missionary
Owen, long considered the writer of the treaty,>*® had not drawn up the document,>*” the historian
George Cory concluded in 1923 that the treaty must be a forgery,>® fabricated ten months after the
murder of Retief as concrete proof of the Boers’ right to settle in Natal.>®® And Cory underlined in
1924 that ‘I cannot yet divest myself of the opinion that the treaty is written by a Dutchman and
with a view to its being read by some Englishman in authority who would not know Dutch’.>® As
Naidoo interprets Cory’s argument, it was done because ‘the trekkers knew from bitter experience
that their every act against the Africans would be negatively construed by the London Missionary
Society and the British Government’ and wanted evidence of a negotiated claim to the land rather
than asserting ownership solely by conquest.>®* Cory’s contention instigated a polemical debate,
especially in Afrikaner circles where his line of reasoning was fiercely rejected.”®? Although Cory
said in a conciliatory gesture in 1924 that if he had caused offence, ‘I wish now to express my
regret,” he held his ground as a historian in the subsequent sentence, ‘But I do not see how one can
work impartially at historical matters without, at times, running the risk of going counter to some
sentiment or other.”®

The Weinthal facsimiles

The history of the treaty, as fragmented as it is, provides the necessary framework to focus on the
last two treaty documents in the string of copies, the Weinthal facsimile (figs 20a—b) and an unusual
copy in the National Archives in Pretoria (fig. 12.21). The early dissemination of treaty copies was
greatly multiplied when Leo Weinthal (1865-1930)°%* - a trained photographer, who joined the sur-
veyor-general’s department in Pretoria as the state lithographer in 1889, and was a stout supporter of
the Kruger government — produced in 1891 his widely acknowledged facsimiles of what he believed

553 Ibid., 518.

554 Ibid., 518-519.

555 Ibid. NA Den Haag keeps substantial files of W.J. Leyds, i.a. his archives (reference no. 2.21.105) and documents
related to the Netherlands Embassy, then in Cape Town.

556 Owen’s alleged authorship was already mentioned, for example, by Cloete in 1843; see Bird, Annals 2, 1888, 202;
Naidoo 1985, 192.

557 When in the early 1920s Cory was editing Owen’s diary, he concluded that the English syntax and spelling, as
well as the handwriting, excluded the possibility that the missionary had drawn up the treaty (see Naidoo 1985,
189-190), a finding also conceded in Cory, Preller and Blommaert 1924 and Preller, Sketse 1928, 192-196.

558 Public address to the South African Association for the Advancement of Science in Bloemfontein; see The Cape
Times, 12 July 1923 (‘Retief-Dingane treaty’); Naidoo 1985, 188-189.

559 For the debate about the (possible) authorship of the treaty by Jan Gerritze Bantjes, see Naidoo 1985, 200—201.
560 Cory 1924, 10.

561 Naidoo 1985, 190.

562 Cory, Preller and Blommaert 1924; Naidoo 1985, 190-206. It was a topical enough issue to warrant a lengthy
article, ‘Die Retief-Dingaan-ooreenkoms’, by Professor Dr W. Blommaert, in the popular Die Huisgenoot, September
1923, 205-210.

563 Cory 1924, 12.

564 DSAB1, 1968, 871-872.
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to be the original treaty.>®® Ever since, by the compelling power of reproduction, and the fact that
it provided the first disseminated visual reproduction of the document, the Weinthal facsimile has
become a widely affirmed icon of the original text. Indeed, most people regarded it as the only true
copy of the lost treaty document, although its date and history remain unsettled.

The wide dissemination of the facsimiles is attested to in an unpublished Fiji copy of 1891
(fig. 12.19) at NARSSA. Mounted in a long frame, the treaty is presented with a rather surprising
label:

This Document, after being for some years in the Fiji Museum at Suva, was presented to the Govern-
ment of the Union of South Africa by the Museum Committee.’®

Although this is all we know about this facsimile, for our study the Fiji document is remarkable
for two reasons. It demonstrates how far and to what remote locations the Weinthal facsimiles
travelled, in this case some 14 200 kilometres to the east. And close inspection reveals that its fool-
scap paper has two watermarks: the higher one shows, although hardly visible, a seated figure of
Britannia, and the other the date of manufacture, ‘1830’, which is given in large figures and clearly
visible beneath the treaty’s last sentence. The first genuine facsimile-photo-reproduction of the
treaty made by Weinthal shows the latter watermark only, here not beneath but in line with the
treaty’s last sentence, although the missing figure of Britannia may not be visible simply because
of the low-quality illustration in Ooreenkoms.>*” Both copies clarify that, when Weinthal duplicated
the ‘original’ treaty in 1891, foolscap paper with the Britannia watermark, distributed in the British
colonies since c. 1800, was still around, including paper dated 1830.

To understand the Weinthal facsimiles fully, we need to begin some thirty years later when,
in reply to Cory’s considered arguments against the validity of the facsimiles, Weinthal explained
how he had gone about making them, in his article ‘The Dingaan-Retief treaty. Mr. Weinthal’s view.
Original being searched for’, in the Pretoria News of 29 August 1923:°¢%

I well remember the tremendous trouble I had to convince Pres. Kruger to allow me to reproduce
the old parchment treaty, which we found in a leather satchel in the basement of the Government
Buildings. The President told me that the leather bag was found on the bones of Retief at Dingaan’s
Kraal after the victorious battle of Blood River. I traced the treaty myself wi[tlh much difficulty, as
near to the original writings as possible. Had the document been in a proper condition, we would
have reproduced it by photo-lithography, but this was impossible at the time, neither did we then
half-tone blocks in the Transvaal, which was first done in 1894 or 1895.

I have personally not the slightest doubt that this original was the genuine treaty.

... L am sure that Lex Goldman and Mr. Morkel - formerly of Dr. Leyd’s [sic] office — will remember
the document [the treaty] well. If I remember rightly, it was the late Mr. van Vouw [sic] (father of the
sculptor [Anton van Wouw]) who showed it to us and handed it over to me for tracing, by special
permission of the State President. We lithographed 3,000 copies and they went world wide.’®°

565 Good illustrations are provided by Leyds 1906, opp. p.46 (treaty text and Potgieter certificate); Preller 1924, 57 pls
1, 9-12 (with reproductions of several facsimiles).

566 Label of mounted copy in NARSSA. As the ‘Union of South Africa’ is mentioned it must have come into NARSSA
(Pretoria) any time between 1910 and early 1961. We are grateful to Gerrit Wagener of NARSSA who brought this copy
to our attention and kindly provided us with a photograph.

567 Preller 1924, 55 pl. 10.

568 Pretoria News was launched by Weinthal in 1898 (https://www.pressreader.com/south-africa/pretoria-news/
20180206/281668255425226).

569 Pretoria News 29.8.1923, p.5. Preller (1924, 48) and Preller (Sketse 1928, 212) quote short sections of this article.
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Figure 12.19: Fiji copy of
Retief-Dingane treaty.
16.5.1891 (courtesy of NARSSA;
photo Gerrit Wagener)
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Figure 12.20a: Weinthal facsimile of Retief-Dingane treaty. 16.5.1891 (Leyds 1906, foldout opp. p.46)
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Figure 12.20b: Potgieter certification on the Weinthal facsimile of Retief-Dingane treaty. 16.5.1891 (Leyds 1906,
foldout opp. p.46)

Weinthal lucidly explains that his reproduction was, in fact, not a facsimile in the true sense, but
a tracing by his own hand, ‘as near to the original writing as possible’,>”° then reproduced litho-
graphically. Cory concluded that Weinthal’s clarifications about his facsimile had made the fierce
debate about whose handwritings could be identified on the facsimile obsolete as we have only the
handwriting of the copyist:

It has been suggested that these facsimiles — namely, the one in Dr. Leyd’s [sic] book and that in
the Archives of Pretoria are really not facsimiles of the original but facsimiles of a copy or copies
of it. If this be the case then there is little to be said, and it is vain to draw any conclusion from the
handwriting or to compare the signatures on the treaty with the undoubtedly genuine signatures of
these same people on other documents. We should be dealing with the handwriting of the copyist
and not with that of the writers of the original. Now, what is meant by the word ‘copy’? It may mean
merely the transcription verbatim of the words of a document in the handwriting of the individual
who copies it, or it may be a facsimile copy in the sense I have already mentioned.””*

Weinthal published his ‘facsimile’ on 16 May 1891 in The Weekly Press Edition, Pretoria (edited
by him after 1893),”2 which was given added status by its publication in Willem Johannes Leyds’

570 See, in contrast to Preller (Sketse 1928, 210-215 ‘Die faksimilees’), Cory’s elegant, but in substance profound
scepticism, about Weinthal’s approach to achieve the ‘facsimile’ (Cory 1924, esp. 2, 67, 11-12).

571 Cory 1924, 6.

572 Preller 1924, 47, 55 pl. 8: ‘Photographic facsimile of an article in The Press Weekly Edition, d.d. 16 May 1891.
Here Leo Weinthal presents a valuable description of the original document, of which he had recently produced a
facsimile’ (Fotografiese faksimilee van ’n artiekel in ‘The Press Weekly Edition,’ d.d. 16 Mei 1891. Leo Weinthal gee hier
’n waardevolle beskrywing van die oorspronklike dokument, wat hy kort tevore nagetrek had).
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1906 book The first annexation of the Transvaal (fig. 12.20a-b).>” The same Weekly Press ‘also dis-
tributed a number of loose examples of it to Volksraad members, top officials, and others’.>”* This
article gained new significance when, in 1924, Preller published not only an illustration of the text
of that article, and of the handwritten Potgieter certification,>” but also a ‘portrait [photograph] of
the first genuine facsimile-photo-reproduction of the Treaty, (the date is unfortunately cut-off). In
the lower part of the treaty is shown the watermark-year (1830)’.>’® The text of the Weinthal certifi-
cation follows verbatim that of the Den Haag (fig. 12.18) and Jeppe copies,*”” but the certification is
signed by E.F. Potgieter alone as in the Jeppe copy. Weinthal argued that he could not have repro-
duced the ‘original’ by the non-invasive technique of photolithography because the document was
not in ‘proper condition’, but fails to explain what he meant by this. And it is perplexing that he, a
trained photographer, did not provide a single photograph of the precious document he used for
his facsimiles to promote the treaty’s circulation worldwide.

When the Weinthal facsimiles were made public in 1891, it was with the article ‘The story of
Retief’s Treaty’.>”® The date of this issue was well chosen, the very day on which the remains of
Pretorius — buried on 23 July 1853 at Grootplaats, Rust-der-Ouden, Magaliesberg near Pretoria —
were ‘reinterred with great ceremony in the Old Cemetery in Pretoria’.>”® It is in this context, related
to Pretorius and his pivotal role in the discovery of the treaty, that Weinthal in The Press Weekly
Edition reports:

As the Retief-treaty is one of the most sacred State-documents of the Transvaal, a short description
will be interesting. The document was found in a satchel on the bones of Retief in a blue woven
envelope (now) bearing the following inscription:

Cession of Natal by Dingaan to Piet Retief and his burgers, 4th February, 1838.
The cession itself is written on blue woven foolscap and is folded in four.

The watermark in the paper is very distinct, being on one page the makers’ trademark, representing
Britannia, whilst on the other side appears the date of manufacture, namely 1830. The writing is
thoroughly legible, and here and there dark stains of what must have been Retief’s blood appear.

This is the only description which provides some physical features of a treaty document, namely
that it is ‘written on blue woven foolscap’,>® ‘thoroughly legible’, ‘folded in four’, distinguished by
the watermarks of ‘Britannia’ on the one side and ‘the date of manufacture ... 1830’ on the other,
‘and here and there [discoloured by] dark stains of what must have been Retief’s blood’. Without
expert analysis it would have been impossible to confirm the precise character of the paper and

573 Leyds 1906, 46 n * (ob- and reverse): ‘This document, of which a fac simile [sic] is given on the opposite page,
was found intact in a wallet on Retief’s body when the Boers occupied Dingaan’s Kraal on December 21, 1838. In after
years it was kept with the wallet among the archives of the South African Republic.” For Leyds, see Van Niekerk 2004;
from DSAB (1, 1968, 872) we learn that Weinthal had ‘incurred the enmity of Dr. W.J. Leyds’.

574 Breytenbach c. 1958, 406 n 6.

575 Preller 1924, 47: ‘In The Press Weekly Edition of 16 May 1891, on p.19, a facsimile reproduction of the treaty is
shown, and on p.20 a consistent reproduction of the Potgieter-certification, — the first of its kind which I know’ (In
The Press Weekly Edition, d.d. 16 Mei 1891, op bl. 19, kom voor ’n natrek reproduksie van die traktaat, en op bl. 20 ’n
gelijksoortige weergawe van die Potgieter-sertifikaat, — die eerste van die aard wat aan mij bekend is).

576 Ibid., pl. 10: ‘Portret van die eerste regstreekse natrek-foto-reproduksie van die Traktaat, (die datum werd onge-
lukkig afgesny). In die onderste deel van die traktaat is die watermark-jaartal (1830) te sien.’

577 There are only marginal differences in the spelling of names.

578 See Preller 1924, 47-48, 61 pl. 8.

579 DSAB2,1972, 565.

580 Foolscap stands not for paper quality but size (the traditional writing ‘folio’ is 8 x 13 in = 203.2 x 330.2 mm),
referring to its early watermark, a fool’s cap. Around 1795 it was replaced by the seated figure of Britannia and this
became the standard writing paper in British territories. See Kathryn Kane: https://regencyredingote.wordpress.
com/2008/10/31/oh-foolish-foolscap/.
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the dark stains, which conflict with the descriptions of the pristine document reported in 1839.
But as noted above, the Fiji document, one of the facsimiles, has the same two watermarks. This
conformity can only mean that Weinthal had either reproduced or had access to paper with these
watermarks and used it for a number of his facsimiles.

The unpublished Pretoria copy — kept for many years locked in a safe in the NARSSA vault,
but kindly made accessible to us by archivist Gerrit Wagener to study in early 2018 (fig. 12.21)%®! —
follows not only the same wording but also shows the same handwriting as the Weinthal facsim-
iles. Although undated, the nature of its handwriting places the Pretoria document prior to the
facsimiles, because it is implausible that the Pretoria document reproduced the replicated hand-
writing of the facsimile. We argue further that the same calligraphic handwriting in two different
documents which copy either an original or another copy is quite rare as scribes customarily use
their own handwriting. Hence the exceptional handwriting, physical condition and extraordinary
safekeeping make this document one of the most interesting ‘copies’ of the treaty series. It is also
the only treaty duplication we know without an added certification. The paper was folded three
times, once vertically and twice horizontally, and the woven foolscap shows numerous brown-
ish, reddish and beige fibres; while large parts of the margins are intact, the fabric is significantly
damaged at the upper and lower right corners, the right margin and in two areas of the text. The
text of the treaty and the names of the signatories are written in the same purplish ink, though with
an uneven effect, which has made the individual words appear either faded or intense, as if the
writer had dipped the pen in the ink inconsistently. The signatures of Greijling and Liebenberg are
oddly spidery. The same handwriting and the verbatim treaty text, as well as the age, the delicate
condition and its safekeeping in Pretoria make the Pretoria copy a prime candidate to be the ‘origi-
nal’ of the Weinthal treaty facsimiles. But this possibility is weakened because the document does
not fully comply with Weinthal’s description as the colour of the foolscap and the way it is folded
seem to be different and the photograph does not show watermarks. It is a conundrum which we
cannot resolve, but the foolscap size and the same calligraphic handwriting are powerful argu-
ments for a close relationship between the Pretoria copy and the Weinthal facsimile. There seems
little doubt that the Pretoria copy is an early duplication, perhaps already written like the verbatim
Jeppe copy around 1839. And its particular safekeeping in NARSSA suggests that here it may have
achieved even the status of the original.

A key question for us is why in the late nineteenth century Weinthal was so keen to make his
facsimiles and distribute three thousand copies worldwide, as attested by the Fiji copy. It might
provide an explanation that Weinthal’s efforts occurred in the aftermath of the first war of inde-
pendence won by the Boers, whose new national awareness and ascendancy might have been
reinforced by such prior achievements. It also suggested perfidious behaviour by the British in
their colonisation of southern Africa when they overrode Boer rights to Natal, as had again been
attempted in the ZAR. There may even have been the hope, in the heady atmosphere of victory over
the British, that claims to Natal might be revisited.

Apart from demonstrating the Boers’ agency in the dissemination of their land rights, the close
analysis of the early treaty copies provides insights into a number of other issues. It is clear that the
copies rapidly substituted the treaty, and might have been often understood to be the original or at
least of the same credibility. As argued above, the copies had been produced to emphasise political
issues such as the Boers’ right to South African land and their willingness to negotiate it peacefully
with black people — also to non-Afrikaner audiences. At a time when so many seem to have believed
in Dingane’s land cession, the factual presence of the original became more and more irrelevant. It
was the many handwritten and certified copies which served to keep the original alive and gave it
an almost mythical status. Compounding the confusion for later scholarship is the fact that since

581 Gerrit Wagener of NARSSA informed us in an email of 27 June 2018: ‘Some other records around the Treaty is
in the State Secretary Collection [which we were not able to visit] so that is why my guess is that it might have been
removed from that collection, but I might be wrong.’
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Figure 12.21: Pretoria copy of Retief-Dingane treaty, perhaps the model for the Weinthal facsimile. Possibly
1838-39. Woven foolscap (courtesy of NARSSA, Gerrit Wagener; photo the authors)
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1891 we have a flood of Weinthal facsimiles, but not a single photograph of the original. Only the
early copies, for the most part forgotten, were (and needed to be) verified as true duplications of
the original by two Boer commanders, Chief Commandant Pretorius and Commandant Landman.
When Weinthal went public with his ultimate facsimiles of the ‘original’, the focus of the certifi-
cation had shifted. Now there was, as in the early Jeppe copy, only one of the three certifiers who
had discovered the treaty and verified this aspect in De Zuid-Afrikaan, the trekker Evert Frederik
Potgieter. Although he was present when the treaty was found, he does not verify that the facsimile
is a true copy of the original treaty but only that it was discovered ‘with the bones of the late Mr.
P. Retief in Dingaan’s country on the 21st day of December 1838 in a leather hunting bag’. Appar-
ently the Weinthal facsimiles did not need to prove the authenticity of their content: it was beyond
question.

Our analysis has revealed so much inaccuracy, contradiction and sheer invention in the
accounts of the treaty that it throws serious doubt on its existence. In particular, we ask who wrote
it, whether and when it was signed; why, if it was, Dingane did not have it destroyed; how it sur-
vived and was recovered; why it took three weeks to certify and release the wording of the treaty
and its first copies (Cape and Kew Volksraad, and De Zuid-Afrikaan); why, in contrast to the copies
(Cape Volksraad and Den Haag), the original was never photographed; and why the original, even
before it was said to be lost, remained almost invisible.

Although the evidence and the fragmented history of the treaty pose irresolvable difficulties,
there is one possible explanation. Cory stated in 1924: ‘It is not impossible ... that he [Retief] may,
astute man as he was, have had something already prepared.>®> Retief was versed in negotiating
contracts, deaf to all warnings, and supremely confident that, having met Dingane’s conditions and
coming with a show of the Boers’ strength, he would conclude a land grant with the king. It is hard
to imagine that Retief would have come to uMgungundlovu empty handed, without a written draft
based on his understanding of previous discussions, when he had a few months earlier had the
temerity to draft a letter for Dingane to sign. Indicative also is that Owen, who remained strangely
uninvolved in the interaction of Retief and Dingane during Retief’s February visit to uMgungun-
dlovu, seems to have acknowledged the existence of a written document when he wrote on 6 Febru-
ary 1838 that Dingane ‘had promised to assign over to them [the Boers] the whole country between
the Tugala and the Umzimvubu rivers, and this day the paper of transfer was to be signed’.>®> But on
that fateful day, Retief may not have had the opportunity to even remove a draft from his bag before
Dingane’s warriors fell upon him and his men.

A further question to be asked is that, if Retief had prepared a draft, would it not have been
in Dutch, as was the case with his drafted letter for Dingane?°®* On that occasion, he had learned
that Dingane was happier with English documents that Owen could read and witness, and had
required a translation before he would sign it.>®® Retief was a quick learner and when he shortly
wrote another letter to Dingane, he had it translated into English by Lindley before he sent it. It is
therefore likely that he would also have prepared a document for Dingane’s treaty translated into
English as well, although by whom we can only guess.*®® Given the situation with the British in

582 Cory 1924, 9.

583 Owen ed. Cory 1926, 108.

584 We know, however, that Retief understood English (ibid., 66).

585 See the section ‘Land issues’ above.

586 A person of trust amongst the trekkers who might possibly have been able to undertake this task was Gerrit Mar-
itz. He journeyed with a small stock of theological and legal works and several dictionaries, two French—Dutch and
one Dutch—English, in his blue wagon (DSAB 1, 1968, 510). Another possible candidate might have been Jan Gerritze
Bantjes, who had joined the Retief trek at Thaba Nchu (DSAB 1, 1968, 50-52). Although Preller argued ‘that Bantjes
had drawn up [the English text of] the land cession for Retief’ (dat ... Bantjes die traktaat vir Retief opgestel het’ [Sket-
se 1928, 192 n *], followed up and critiqued by Naidoo (1985, 200-201), there is no positive evidence that Bantjes knew
English, and Muller clarified that ‘comparison with the handwriting on the document recording the sale of Bantjes’
farm in Natal casts doubt on the [Preller] assumption’ (1978, 72 figs 9-10).
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relation to the occupation of Natal, he would probably also have perceived the advantages of having
a document that they would immediately understand.

If we follow our assumption that there must have been a treaty draft ready to be signed, what
do we gain by it apart from a conceptual advantage? Principally, that we would no longer need to
question the historical evidence that a treaty was found, as reported by so many. This would have
supplied a document that could have been found, even if it had not been ratified. We might even
then find a reason for the curiously long delay from when the treaty was found (21 December) to
when its first copies, certified as ‘literal’ transcripts, were released (9 January), which we discussed
above in ‘Finding the treaty’. Apart from the issue of how much detail could actually be processed
at the moment of its discovery, ‘among the thousands of bleached human bones on that terrible
hill’,*® time was needed for its significance to be digested. According to our scenario, it seems
more than likely that it was not realised initially that what had been recovered was not a signed
treaty but Retief’s draft. Believing as the Boers did that Dingane had made the grant, at least ver-
bally, Pretorius needed time to transform the unsigned document into an unquestionable grant
of land. This unexpected challenge could sufficiently explain why three weeks elapsed before the
‘adjusted’ treaty and its first certified copies were to be released (fig. 12.15a-b), verified as true tran-
scripts of the original treaty (draft) by two people of authority, the leaders Pretorius and Landman.

If our reconstruction is plausible, it could further explain why there are anomalies regarding
the signing of the treaty, why the ‘original’ was oddly intangible, and why from the very beginning
certified copies took its place. It would also offer an explanation for the confusion of the dates of
the treaty,>®® since 4 February might well have been in Retief’s mind as the day for signing the land
grant he was so sure to achieve. As there were no Boer survivors to naysay it — and it was unlikely
that anyone could know about Owen’s diary entry that recorded the proposed signing on 6 Febru-
ary — there was no reason to modify the 4 February date. In short, the existence of a drafted treaty
that was never ratified provides a possible explanation for some of the anomalies presented by the
evidence. Only a massive conspiracy could have sustained the falsity of a complete fake, but the
existence of a draft — a sort of half-truth which many would have understood as truth — would have
been much easier to uphold. The wrong year of the Cape and Kew Volksraad copies, 1837 instead of
1838, however, remains a mystery beyond comprehension.

Coming from a different angle, historians have pointed to a further obstacle in the interpre-
tation of the treaty: the understanding of land ownership by the Zulu people in the nineteenth
century was profoundly different from the principles of the Roman Dutch Law to which the Boers
were bound.”® This suggests that Dingane and Retief might have been at cross-purposes in their
discussions from the outset, whether or not the treaty that Retief sought was ever signed. In his
doctoral thesis, Origins of the British settlement at Port Natal, Anthony Cubbin defines the main
distinctions between the two traditions:

The concept of the permanent alienation of land through a treaty is entirely foreign to the Zulu.
Europeans placing any faith on a piece of paper did not understand the working of their host’s mind
and, as guardian of Tribal land; this understanding was cardinal in negotiations with the Zulus. The
arrangement which included responsibilities was a royal prerogative which could be terminated,
extended or transferred.>*°

But, however much a Zulu understanding of land ownership may have differed from that of the
Boers, it is important to bear in mind the contention, lucidly presented by Naidoo, that Dingane

587 Cory 1924, 10.

588 Naidoo 1985, 192.

589 Lee 1946, 124-208. See also Vusumuzi Shongwe 2004, 196-199.

590 Vusumuzi Shongwe (2004, 199), quoting from the unpublished doctoral thesis of A.E. Cubbin, Origins of the Brit-
ish Settlement at Port Natal, May 1824 to July 1842, p.123 (University of the Free State, 1983). See also Cubbin 1980, 76.
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Figure 12.22: Two opponents facing each other in Treaty — Dingane signs the land cession to which Retief points. Marble, detail of fig. 12.1
(photo Russell Scott)
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Figure 12.23: The parties of opponents in Treaty — heads of Zulu and Boers, Thomas Halstead among the latter
without hat. Maquette, details photographed in raking light as installed in 2017 exhibition (courtesy of VTM Museum
VTM 2184/1-28; photo the authors)

4&5  Sons of Frikkie [Kruger, sculptor]

6 Willem Louw, friend of the sculptor
Hennie Potgieter

7 N. Ghubeni [Zulu]

8 F. Luthuli [Zulu]

Figure 12.24: Models for portraits (Potgieter 1987, 22-23)
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was an astute man, perfectly capable of understanding the deed he was supposed to have signed.>**
The evidence would suggest that he never did.

The scene

When we return to it at last, the frieze reflects none of these uncertainties. Even more convinc-
ingly than any certified copy of the treaty, the marble representation confirms its existence. The
detailed re-enactment, lifelike yet ceremonial, of the signing of the document at uMgungundlovu
by Dingane as the leader of his people under the direction of Retief’s imperious gaze seems author-
itative and incontrovertible (fig. 12.22). One might go so far as to suggest that it was the lurking
historical uncertainty of the signing that made this representation mandatory. In the narrative of
the frieze it was imperative that Dingane be shown signing the treaty to dispel all doubt. This was
the key message that needed to be carved into marble forever.

As we saw at the outset of our discussion, Moerdyk acknowledged that there were doubts in
his entry on the panel in the Official Guide. But he did not engage with them, instead passing
on quickly to claims of painstaking accuracy and hence authenticity achieved by a contemporary
assemblage of historical objects:

The table shown is an exact replica of one belonging to Mr. Owen, the missionary, and the chair on
which Dingaan is seated, which was hewn in one piece from a tree trunk, belonged to the Zulu king.
Both are today to be seen in the Voortrekker Museum in Pietermaritzburg. The leather wallet worn
on Retief’s shoulder was modelled from the original which was found on his skeleton and which
contained the signed treaty.>

Yet the authenticity of the objects mentioned by Moerdyk as ultimate proof of the historical cor-
rectness of the marble narrative is as contestable as the treaty. Most critical is his claim regarding
Retief’s ‘leather wallet’. Apart from the conflicting descriptions in contemporary accounts of the
(vanished) leather container and how it was recognised as Retief’s when it was found,*** Bantjes’
account described that it was almost consumed:

The late worthy Mr. Retief we recognised by his clothes, which, although nearly consumed, yet small
rags were still attached to his bones, added to which there were other tokens, such as his portman-
teau, which was almost also consumed, in which there were several papers, of which some were
damaged and rained to pieces; but some were found therein, in as perfect a state as if they had never
been exposed to the air; amongst which was also the contract between him and Dingaan, respecting
the cession of the land, so clean and uninjured, as if it had been written to day, besides a couple
of sheets of clean paper, on one of which the chief commandant wrote a letter to Mr. J. Boshoff, the
following day.>**

And, as mentioned above, although Weinthal said that in 1891 he saw the treaty ‘in a leather satchel
in the basement of the government buildings in Pretoria’,>® Preller, who vehemently upheld the
existence of the original treaty document, evidently believed that the satchel was destroyed, perhaps
in or soon after 1886.°%¢ So what original was Moerdyk referring to? It is noteworthy that Coetzer, who

591 Naidoo 1985, 203.

592 Official Guide 1955, 49.

593 Naidoo 1985, 197-199. The leather bag is not in the uMsunduzi Museum Collection, as Elrica Henning confirmed
(2015).

594 This is the English translation in Chase, Natal 2, 1843, 67; Breytenbach c. 1958, 281, gives the text in the original
Dutch.

595 Preller 1924, 52; Preller, Sketse 1928, 212.

596 Preller 1924, 52; Preller, Sketse 1928, 216-217.
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was himself well informed about Afrikaner history and Preller’s work, in his drawings for Treaty,
showed Retief not with a leather bag but a bottle (figs 12.3, 12.5), although the bag was included in
the sketch for the next scene, Murder of Retief, and made prominent there and in Treaty in the reliefs.
Also puzzling is that none of the three named eyewitnesses present at the discovery of the treaty on
21 December 1838, who certified this for various copies, or anyone else had ever mentioned a ‘blue
woven envelope’, let alone blue woven foolscap paper with a Britannia watermark and date of 1830 —
described by Weinthal as main features of the original in The Press Weekly Edition of 16 May 1891. Nor
do they mention Weinthal’s ‘dark stains’ which he believed ‘must have been Retief’s blood’. On the
contrary, Boers such as Bezuidenhout underlined that the treaty ‘was still white and uninjured’.>*’

Also contestable is the authenticity of the missionary’s folding table and of Dingane’s chair,
which the Historiese Komitee itself had rejected as inappropriate in Coetzer’s first drawing. The
table is a common enough type to resist any specific attribution (and one might ask how the mis-
sionary’s table was to be found in Dingane’s domain),>*® but the chair is distinctive. However, there
is uncertainty whether ‘Dingane’s Chair’, carved from a single block of either ironwood (Millettia
grandes) or Redbush Willow (Combretum apiculatum) and bequeathed to the Voortrekker Museum
Pietermaritzburg (now part of the uMsunduzi Museum) in December 1933, was ever owned or used
by the Zulu king.>®® After thorough inspection of the existing documents,*°® Sandra Klopper con-
cluded in her unpublished doctoral thesis, The art of Zulu-speakers in northern Natal-Zululand,
that, while ‘it is not entirely inconceivable that the chair ... may have belonged to the second Zulu
king [Dingane]’, there is no verification that it predated 1838.6°* In addition, there is no evidence
that it was generally associated with Dingane, and it certainly was not by the Historiese Komitee,
which rejected it. Once again the sculptors seem to have depended on Coetzer’s initial reproduced
drawing (fig. 12.4), with its representation of the unusual chair, and indeed the table — not in this
case on the comments of the committee, which had demanded their removal, saying that Dingane
‘wrote on a block’ and ‘sits on a block’.6°?

However, the rather disparaging tone of the committee comments about Dingane, whom they
said should look more clumsy, is reflected in the marble relief in other ways. The Boers are shown
in the superior position as they stand upright around their seated leader. They disregard both the
European convention of respect for Dingane by not removing their hats, and also Zulu protocol
where no heads should be higher than that of the seated king — a hierarchy scrupulously observed
by the Zulu (fig. 12.22). Yet Dingane has considerable dignity and the facial features of the Zulu
entourage are occasionally individualised, showing, in a way not dissimilar to the Boers, a variety
of age and physiognomy, although they lack the expressiveness seen in the maquette (fig. 12.23).
And in this case, Hennie Potgieter does identify models for some of the Zulu as well as the Boers
(fig. 12.24).

597 Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 370.

598 Van Rooyen 1938, 165-166 with fig.

599 See ibid., 167-169 with fig.

600 Gillian Berning (1996, 48-49, 59) provides an excellent overview of the chair’s history (including Sandra
Klopper’s 1992 discussion), which was bequeathed to the Museum by Leonard Line (21.12.1933), a prominent stock-
broker of Pietermaritzburg. Berning reports two different accounts which further confuse our understanding of the
chair. The museum entry reads: ‘This was the chair of many Zulu Kings. It was the throne of Dingane, Pande [sic],
and Cetshwayo. The chair was made out of a tree trunk of solid ironwood. It was made by three indunas [sic] who [in
1828] were sent to the Cape by Chaka [sic] on a diplomatic mission. When they returned they found that Dingane had
succeeded Chaka. They wanted to gain Dingane’s favour and gave him a chair.’ — A second narrative is on the back of
a photograph of the chair from the Line family: ‘The story attached to this chair is that Dingaan [sic] sent two indunas
[sic] to interview the white men in Durban. They returned so quickly that he would not believe that they had been
there, and he ordered them to make something the White men had which he had never seen, or they would be killed
at once. They made the chair from a solid trunk of ebony but made the mistake of putting in five legs.’

601 Klopper 1992, 101, as quoted by Berning 1996, 59.

602 ‘... Dingaan skryf op 'n blok; ... Dingaan sit op 'n blok’ (Historiese Komitee 4.9.1937: 4j).
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Apart from differences in social conventions, the panel may suggest some friction between the
two groups in other ways too. Although the treaty document is pivotal, it is notable that neither
leader looks at it, so intent are they on each other, a confrontation that suggests the uneasy tension
in this short-lived moment of accord. The inclusion of the two boys in the foreground of the Voor-
trekker group, while documenting the historical make-up of Retief’s party, also invokes the vulner-
ability of the trekkers in the face of the trust Retief had in Dingane and its betrayal by the Zulu king,
the subject of the following scenes. There was apparently a different agenda in the presence of the
English interpreter Halstead, distinguished from the Boers by his lack of hat and beard. He was
picked out for special mention in the Official Guide, where Moerdyk took pride in drawing atten-
tion to the inclusivity of the frieze regarding people of other nations who are ‘not usually included
among the Voortrekkers but who nevertheless contributed their full share to the “heroic deed”.%
In this case the support offered the Boers by an Englishman might even allude obliquely to the
policies of the United Party, founded by Hertzog and Smuts in the 1930s in an attempt to unite the
two white groups in South Africa, Afrikaans and English.

Treaty, like the frieze in general, focuses on two opposing concepts: white civilisation versus
black tyranny. In the process of conceiving the imagery of the Great Trek, as though anticipating
the rise of Afrikaner nationalism and the intensified and legislated racial segregation of apartheid,
the marble frieze provides an almost impregnable register of the separation of whites from non-
whites. Not only through actual conflict, but in the constant reiteration of differences of behav-
iour, dress and accoutrements, the relief cleaves a gulf between the two. In Treaty and the follow-
ing scene, even the background detail further stresses this difference by painstakingly depicting
the otherness of uMgungundlovu. It forms a striking contrast to European architectural styles in
Delagoa Bay and the Church of the Vow, and even the little schoolhouse at Soutpansberg that in the
frieze represented the first efforts to uphold Christian education in the Voortrekkers’ self-appointed
mission to civilise the barbarous interior.

It is another irony of history, of which there is no lack in the frieze, that Retief is here shown
in front of Dingane with, as we have argued, what was probably no more than his own draft of the
treaty. Cory succinctly defines the difficulties of current research:

Unfortunately, in the elucidation of the truth in all these matters connected with the treaty we are
met on all sides by so many inconsistencies and contradictions.®%

But he ended his paper on a more light-hearted note of optimism that owes something to 1 Corin-
thians 13.12:%%

Things we now see obscurely will be as clear and visible as the midday sun and among them, prob-
ably standing forth free from all perplexity will be the Retief-Dingaan treaty.*®

603 Official Guide 1955, 31. The 1970 edition, however, downplayed the rhetoric: who ‘are not normally associated
with the Voortrekkers but who none-the-less contributed their share to the common weal’ (p.29). It adds another twist
that Dingane had in fact promised that he would not harm Halstead, but said that ‘in the confusion of the time he was
killed with the rest’ (Hulley 1880, 10).

604 Cory 1924, 7.

605 ‘For now we see only a reflection as in a mirror; then we shall see face to face. Now I know in part; then I shall
know fully, even as I am fully known’ (https://www.biblegateway.com/passage/?search=1+Corinthians+13%3A12&ve
rsion=NIV).

606 Ibid., 12.
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South wall, central scene (panel 16/31) I 5 |
h. 2.3 x w. 3.71 m (small overlap with panels 15 and 17) » 4
Restored fractures on vertical edges f
Sculptor of the clay maquette: Frikkie Kruger i 5
STAGES OF PRODUCTION » i
A1 W.H. Coetzer, pencil drawing, retained only in A2 (April-June 1937) 6
A2 Reproduction of Al (June 1937) .0 I
A3 W.H. Coetzer, revised pencil drawing Al, h. 13.5 x w. 23 cm H 7
(after September 1937) 19 E
Annotations: ‘DingaansKraal in Agtergrond’ / (Dingaan’s kraal in back- M s 8
ground) / ‘Moord op Retief’ (Murder of Retief) (- o |
A4 W.H. Coetzer, Die moord op Retief en sy manskappe (The Murder of Retief
and his party); monochrome oil on board, h. 27.3 x w. 46.6 cm ‘1615 L1413 L1 10‘

(late 1937-38?) 1

B1 One-third-scale clay maquette, not extant but replicated in B2 (1942-43)

B2 One-third-scale plaster maquette, h. 75 x w. 120.5 x d. 8 cm (1942-43)

C1* Full-scale wooden armature for C2, not extant but photographed
(1943-45)

C2* Full-scale clay relief, not extant but photographed; replicated in C3 (1943-45)

C3* Full-scale plaster relief (1943-45), not extant but illustrated (Die Vaderland, 26.2.1945);
copied in D (1948-49)
* were developed in two halves

D Marble as installed in the Monument (1949)

EARLY RECORDS

SVK minutes (4.9.1937) — item 4k (see below, ‘Development of the design’)

Voorstelle (5.12.1935?) — item 11 ‘Moord op Retief en sy volgelinge. Miskien kan ook hier gedink word aan die voor-
stelling daarvan in die rolprent, of soos ’t op die bestaande Monument aan Moordspruit (Chieveley)’ (Murder
of Retief and his followers. Perhaps here the presentation in the film can also be thought of, or as it is on the
existing Monument at Moordspruit (Chieveley) [see Bloukrans])*®”

Panele (c. Dec. 1934-36) — item 5 ‘Moordtonele soos’, a. ‘op Piet Retief” (Murder scenes such as, a. of Piet Retief)

Wenke (c. 1934-36) — item II. Dr. L. Steenkamp, mnre. A.J. du Plessis en M. Basson, A. ‘MAATSKAPLIK’ (SOCIAL),
3. ‘Verhouding met ander volksgroepe’ (Relationship with other ethnic groups), d. ‘Dingaan’ (Dingane), vi.
‘Afskeidsgroet en moord; spil waarom due [sic] lotgevalle van die Voortrekkers in Natal gedraai het’ (Parting
farewell and murder; the axis around which the fate of the Voortrekkers in Natal turned)

Moerdyk Layout (5.10.1936-15.1.1937) — scene 11 on panel 16 ‘Moord op Retief’ (Murder of Retief)

Jansen Memorandum (19.1.1937) — item 7.11 ‘Massacre of Retief and his men, including the Englishman Halstead’

607 The reference to the Moordspuit Monument is misleading as its two marble reliefs both show the massacre of
Boer women and children by Zulu in the area of Bloukrans, after they had killed Retief and his men at Dingane’s

residence.

3 Open Access. © 2020 Elizabeth Rankin and Rolf Michael Schneider, published by De Gruyter and African Minds.
This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110668797-018
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Figure 13.1: D. Murder of Retief. 1949. Marble, 2.3 x 3.71 m (courtesy of VTM; photo Russell Scott)
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Description

Nine Zulu club and stone seven Voortrekkers to death (fig. 13.1). The killing takes place on a rocky
hillside (kwaMatiwane) with scant vegetation, which overlooks the huge Zulu capital uMgun-
gundlovu in the background. The image is divided into three sections: an almost empty space in
the middle allowing the view of Dingane’s metropolis, with a group of adversaries on either side.
The right group is dominated by the sole upright trekker who is bound and forced to stand erect,
yet impeccably presented in a neatly buttoned jacket. This is the Boer governor, Piet Retief, who
fixes his gaze upward, and has his fettered hands clenched in fists, suggesting indomitable will.
A satchel lies behind his left foot, and on a strap over his shoulder is a bottle decorated with an
ordered assembly of symbols around an arched aedicule (fig. 13.11), which we discuss in the appen-
dix below.

Behind Retief are five Zulu, three forcing him into his upright position. One leans with all his
weight on the Boer’s shoulders; another behind him thrusts a stake forcefully into the Boer’s back;
a third seated on the ground braces his left foot against the Boer’s leg, while he pulls back on the
ropes tightly bound around his knees. The Zulu are all in traditional dress with lavish ornaments
including earplugs, although they do not wear head rings.

Retief is staged in profile view next to the central opening, facing to the left and hence direct-
ing both his own and the viewer’s attention to the slaughter of the Boers at the other side. On the
ground between the two groups, the heads of three supine Boers meet from opposite sides in the
centre. The Boer in the foreground, perfectly dressed, eyes almost closed, lies tidily on the lower
edge of the panel, parallel to the picture plane, his left arm at his side, his left leg slightly bent.
Further back on the other side, a second Boer has succumbed. He is young, his head fallen back,
his flowing hair in disarray, and his jacket or shirt torn open over the breast, stressing his vulnera-
bility. A third head to the left, this time bearded, appears to lack any body. Above this head a pair
of disembodied legs emerge, indicating a fourth dead trekker.

On the left side four Zulu, two wielding sticks and one with a large stone, force two more Boers
to the ground. The one in the foreground has sunk onto one knee, and his head and right arm
droop in despair. The other Boer kneels, his stress captured in the dislocated appearance of his
torso and hips and his harshly twisted head. The incoherence of this figure is heightened by the
puzzling torn shirt or jacket with folded drapery beneath his arm. He is framed by two Zulu: one
grips his hair to beat him to death, while the other grasps his torn shirt, his stick also raised high
in attack. Further back a third Zulu crouches in rear view, while a fourth Zulu with strong back and
arm muscles raises a rock, probably attacking the Boer whose lower legs alone are visible. The
Zulu are uniformly violent, while the Boers are united in their passive habitus and emotionless
expressions. None of them shows any sign of resistance or suffering, their demeanour reminiscent
of unflinching saintly martyrs.

The centre background is dominated by an aerial view of the geometric layout of uMgungund-
lovu, oval in shape with hemispherical kraals placed in strict order around the circumference. The
outer groups of kraals are divided by long straight passages that lead to the large empty space in
the centre. The sole structure in the space is a perfect circle composed of four quadrants of small
kraals, flanked by an arc of further dwellings, which act as a barrier to the inner sanctum, its only
access through small passageways.
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Figure 13.2: A2. W.H. Coetzer. Reproduction of first sketch for Murder of Retief. June 1937 (courtesy of ARCA PV94
1/75/5/1; photo the authors)

Figure 13.3: A3. W.H. Coetzer. ‘Moord op Retief’. After September 1937. Pencil, 13.5 x 23 cm. Revised first sketch
(courtesy of Museum Africa, no. 66/2194Q)
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Developing the design

Figure 13.4: A4. W.H. Coetzer. Die moord op Retief en sy manskappe. Late 1937-38? Monochrome oil on board,
27.3 x 46.6 cm (courtesy of DNMCH, OHG 901; photo the authors)

Again the Coetzer drawings provide the basic plot for the subsequent designs (figs 13.2, 13.3). He
staged the scene on top of kwaMatiwane and divided it into three sections. On the right two Zulu
force Retief, the sole Boer on this side, to stand upright. Important for the reading of the narrative
is that he is shown with a flask on his left hip and, on his right, some sort of rectangular object
partially visible beyond his jacket. This object is more distinct in Coetzer’s monochrome painting
of the scene (fig. 13.4) and was possibly intended to represent the leather container in which it
is reported the treaty was found. On the opposite side four Zulu armed with sticks, stones and
assegais are murdering seven trekkers, all forced to the ground, most of them young and bound.
Coetzer shows some of the figures cut off by the frame, particularly in the foreground, to suggest
the many Boers and Zulu involved. In the middle the significant gap between the two groups both
emphasises Retief on its edge, and enables the beholder to look upon uMgungundlovu in the back-
ground (fig. 13.17)°°® — the choice of an aerial view also suggesting the elevation of the killing field of
kwaMatiwane. The fierce action of the Zulu and the extreme suffering of the Boers are more dramat-
ically expressed than in the later reliefs. For example, Retief’s writhing fingers suggest his anguish.
In Coetzer’s monochrome painting the emotional impact is even stronger. Here Retief no longer
gazes aloft but looks down compassionately on his young son who, at his father’s feet, strains to
raise his head to gaze at him. Notable too is that one of the Boers fights back in this depiction and
throttles a collapsing Zulu figure.

608 A painting of uMgungundlovu by Margaret Carey shows a similar view of the city; see Huisgenoot 1938, fig. after
p.96 (‘Painting by Margaret Carey in the care of the Historical Commission of the Saamwerk Union of the Natal asso-
ciations. Originally owned by Dr. L.S. Steenkamp’).
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Figure 13.5: B2. Frikkie Kruger. Murder of Retief. 1942—-43. Plaster, 75 x 120.5 x 8 cm (courtesy of VTM Museum
VTM 2184/1-28; photo Russell Scott)

Figure 13.6: C2. Murder of Retief. 1943-45. Clay. Full-scale relief (Potgieter 1987, 24; photo Alan Yates, stitched)
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At the SVK meeting on 4 September 1937 the following alterations to the pencil sketch were
requested:

Murder of Retief. The kaffers must be typical Zulus; they had sticks and not assegais; show that they
handle implements (hitting things).*%°

Significant differences in the revised pencil drawing (fig. 13.3) from the reproduction (fig. 13.2) pre-
sented to the SVK are the more nuanced ranges of hills in the background and the shading of the
Zulu to distinguish them from the Boers: it reveals Coetzer’s oblivion to the sculptural purpose
of the sketches, since this differentiation could not be deployed in a marble relief. Following the
requirement of the committee is the erasure of the central assegai shaft in favour of a club (knob-
kierie), which changes that Zulu warrior’s action from a downward stabbing to a more brutal
swinging of the club.

In the maquette (fig. 13.5) modelled by Frikkie Kruger, Coetzer’s composition is retained in a
general sense but considerably changed and formalised in detail as there are fewer figures and
the drama is reduced. The figures are more posed and frozen, and Kruger has created a tectonic
composition, contained within the panel and avoiding Coetzer’s cut-off figures at the margins. In
the main, the number, distribution, motif and interaction of the figures are already close to the
final marble. The foreground is now dominated by two Boers who crouch and lie on the ground. As
in the drawing, Retief is separated from the fate of his men and stands erect with his head raised,
a stoic figure who shows no emotion; his mouth is closed and his frenetic fingers have been con-
trolled into clenched fists. He carries the bottle over his shoulder, decorated in a similar way to the
final carved image, while a satchel is now lying on the ground in front of him.

Asin the Coetzer drawing, the Zulu do not wear the war costume of knee-long aprons but a short
version worn for dancing.®'® But, as in his preliminary drawing, they are using mostly assegais to
kill the victims, here clearly shown with blades, which is not in accord with historical records or
Coetzer’s revised version (fig. 13.3). The Zulu in the foreground of the drawing who ferociously
stabs the Boer boy lying in front of him and tramples on his face is replaced by another who strides
to the left behind the dying Boer to kill a trekker crouched helplessly in front of him. A disembodied
pair of legs which was, in the drawing, part of a slain Boer in the background, now hovers bodiless
behind this figure. The central gap between the two groups of figures is not yet filled with the aerial
view of uMgungundlovu.

As with Inauguration, for the full-size clay panel (fig. 13.6) the sculptors had to deal with
the tricky situation of developing one half of the scene at a time, because the support boards in
Harmony Hall were only long enough to accommodate half of the full south frieze. This is even
apparent in the armature, where a photograph of the left side has survived (fig. 13.7). Despite some
later criticism that there was a hiatus between the two halves of the composition, discussed in
Part I,°" it was in fact based on Coetzer’s composition which Kruger had followed in the maquette,
although the central area was extended a little, making the panel longer. And this provided the
space for Dingane’s stronghold, which was omitted in Kruger’s maquette but reintroduced into
the background of the full-size clay relief. A Yates photograph, taken while this panel was being
made, shows several details still unfinished (fig. 13.8) when compared with a photograph of the
final clay version (fig. 13.9); uMgungundlovu and the rocky terrain and its vegetation have not yet
been modelled and the rendering of the clothing of the Boer lying dead behind Retief is incomplete.

609 ‘Die kaffers moet tipiese Zoeloes wees; hulle het stokke en nie asgaaie gehad nie; wys dat hulle 'n slaanding
hanteer’ (Historiese Komitee 4.9.1937: 4k). Coetzer does not, in fact, show the blades of assegais, so the weapons could
be long sticks.

610 Gardiner 1836, 99-101, describes the Zulu dress of the time and illustrates different costumes such as war (draw-
ing opp. p.101) and dance dress (frontispiece; drawings opp. pp.50 and 70); see Bird, Natal 1, 1888, 303-304.

611 Chapter 3 (‘The full-scale frieze).
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Figure 13.7: C1and C2. Hendrik Ploeger. Left half of wooden armature of Murder of Retief (1943-45) compared with
full-scale clay relief, detail of fig. 13.6 (courtesy of Kirchhoff files; photos Alan Yates)

Figure 13.8: C2. Murder of Retief, right half, partly finished  Figure 13.9: C2. Murder of Retief, right half, finished
state. 1943-45. Clay. Full-scale relief (courtesy of state. 1943-45. Clay. Full-scale relief (courtesy of
Kirchhoff files; photo Alan Yates) Kirchhoff files; photo Alan Yates)
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Figure 13.10: Retief’s Masonic flask in Murder of Retief,

detail of maquette, photographed in raking light as installed
in 2017 exhibition (courtesy of VTM Museum VTM 2184/1-28;
photo the authors)

Figure 13.11: Retief’s Masonic flask in Murder Figure 13.12: Masonic flask, GIV-4 type. c. 1815-30. Green glass,

of Retief. Marble, detail of fig. 13.1 (photo 21 x 11.5 cm. Keene-Marlboro-Street Glass Works,

Russell Scott) Keene, New Hampshire, USA (courtesy of uMsunduzi Museum
Collection; photo the authors)

Also, Retief’s flask is only roughly shaped, indicating that the flask must have been modelled late,
after the narrative had been fully developed (figs 13.8, 13.9, 13.10, 13.11).

Changes from the maquette related chiefly to the representation of the Zulu. The warriors were
clad in long aprons rather than short dancing skirts, and once again their assegais were exchanged
for clubs and stones. The sculptors were apparently unaware of the Historiese Komitee’s injunction
that this should be done, for the SVK minutes in September 1943 record that Mr Faye, who had
assisted in the correct depiction of the Zulu in Treaty, had also offered advice in this case, saying
that according to Zulu custom assegais would not have been used in the murder.6'> Overall, the
process of formalisation continued, and was replicated in the final marble, so that the scene has
an even more pronounced quality of being staged; of being a historical event frozen in memory.

612 ‘Mnr. Faye [or Feye] het hom [Moerdyk] ook baie goeie raad gegee o.a. (i) dat volgens kaffergewoontes by die
moord geen asgaaie gebruik was nie’ (SVK 30.9.1943: 3).



Figure 13.13a:
Topographic Sheets
of South Africa
(1:50 000).
October 2010.
Detail, showing
uMgungundlovu
with kwaMatiwane
and Owen’s hut at
the sendingstasie
(mission station)
(map 2831AD)
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Figure 13.13b: View of uMgungundlovu from the area of Owen’s hut. 2015 (photo the authors)
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Reading the narrative

The Murder of Retief follows directly after Treaty. As discussed in our account of the controversial
evidence there, we have conflicting information about what happened when Dingane and Retief
met on 6 February 1838, although the evidence strongly suggests that no land treaty was signed.
For the subsequent massacre we have reports from three English eyewitnesses who were at uMgun-
gundlovu: the missionary Rev. Francis Owen,®'* and two people attached to his household, young
William Wood, aged ‘about eleven or twelve’,*** and Jane Bird, neé Williams, who had accompa-
nied the reverend from London.®* All three were at the mission station, a hut built on the same
ridge as kwaMatiwane, east of Dingane’s city (figs 12.13, 13.13a—b). They therefore had a view, albeit
from more than a kilometre away, of both uMgungundlovu and the dread hill of kwaMatiwane, on
which countless people had been executed by order of the Zulu king.5'® For our context, the reports
of Wood, Bird and Owen, and the later recollections of Zulu eyewitnesses discussed below, are
crucial and deserve close reading.®” We begin with William Wood’s Statements respecting Dingaan
published in 1840 in Cape Town, about two years after the event, which offers the most detailed
report of the murder on 6 February 1838:

Dingaan came out of his hut, and having seated himself in front of it in his arm-chair,'® ordered out
two regiments ... These troops he caused to form in a circle, and, having placed his two principal
captains on his right and left hand respectively, he sent a message to Retief, inviting him to bring his
men, and wish the king ‘farewell,” previously [sic] to starting. Retief a short time after this entered
the kraal, accompanied by the other farmers and all their servants, with the exception of one or
two, who were sent out to fetch the horses; their arms being left unguarded under the two milk-trees
without the kraal.

On Retief approaching Dingaan, the latter told him to acquaint the farmers at Natal, as soon as he
arrived there, of the king’s desire that they should soon come and possess the land he had given
them; also to remember him to them. He then wished the party an agreeable journey to Natal, and
invited them to sit down and drink some ‘tywala’ [Kaffir-beer] with him and his people, which invi-
tation they unfortunately accepted.

Retief sat by the king; but the farmers and their servants sat in a place by themselves, at a short
distance from the king and his captains. After drinking some beer together, Dingaan ordered his
troops to amuse the farmers by dancing and singing, which they immediately commenced doing.
The farmers had not been sitting longer than about a quarter of an hour, when Dingaan called out:
‘Seize them!” upon which an overwhelming rush was made upon the party before they could get on
their feet. ...

The farmers were then dragged with their feet trailing on the ground, each man being held by as
many Zulus as could get at him, from the presence of Dingaan, who still continued sitting and calling
out ‘Bulala amatakati’ (kill the wizards). He then said, ‘Take the heart and the liver of the king of the
farmers and place them in the road of the farmers.” When they had dragged them to the hill, ‘Hloma
Mabuto,’®* they commenced the work of death by striking them on the head with knobbed sticks

613 See Treaty.

614 Quote: Moodie 1888, 426. William Wood (DSAB 5, 1987, 897-898), born in the Cape Colony in about 1824, was the
son of Richard Wood, a carpenter at Port Natal.

615 Moodie 1888, 425-430 (personal recollection, Jane Bird, neé Williams, 1877). Grobler (2011, 117-122) enumerates
the conflicting reports of further contemporaries.

616 For kwaMatiwane, Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 282; Van Warmelo 1938; Kotzé 1950, 223-224 n 5; Becker 1979, 82-83,
203-204. We examined the topography of Owen’s hut in relation to uMgungundlovu and kwaMatiwane in 2015, and
confirmed Jane Bird’s report (Moodie 1888, 425) that ‘Dingaan gave us a location something less than a mile distant
from his own residence’.

617 A short but measured account is provided by Kotzé 1950, 234-235.

618 Only recognisable if Wood used Owen’s telescope.

619 Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 381 n *.
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[knobkieries], Retief being held and forced to witness the deaths of his comrades before they dis-
patched him. It was a most awful occurrence, and will never be effaced from my memory. The Rev.
Mr. Owen and I witnessed it, standing at the doors of our huts, which faced the place of execution.
Retief’s heart and liver were taken out, wrapped in a cloth, and taken to Dingaan.®*°

It is impossible to judge the veracity of each detail in Wood’s report, published two years later,
considering his youth (which suggests that someone else must have transcribed the text for publi-
cation) and the lack of any comparable account. His position at Owen’s hut certainly excludes any
first-hand verbal recall of the communication between Dingane and Retief, as he cannot possibly
have heard it (figs 13.13a-b). In contrast to the account of Jane Bird, his report reads as if he had
been a bystander at the event instead of looking at it from Owen’s hut. Here Bird’s recollection in
1877 is more informative:

We looked out, and saw a great commotion in the chief’s kraal, and a struggle going on. We saw that
the Zulus dragged the Boers out of the kraal, and took them to the side of a hill, where the usual exe-
cution place was situated. If I had understood the Zulu or the Dutch language, I would have under-
stood many of the exclamations which were made at the scene. I had seen executions take place at
that spot eight days after we arrived, and at least four or five a week afterwards. I do not think half
an hour elapsed between the seizing of the Boers and the end of their slaughter, and the return of the
murderous executioners to the kraal of Dingaan. Scarcely had the Zulus left the place of slaughter
when the vultures swooped down on to the bodies of the victims.*

Bird confirmed the clear view from Owen’s hut on uMgungundlovu and kwaMatiwane. Her comment
that she ‘would have understood many of the exclamations’ if she had knowledge of Zulu or Dutch
suggests that the cries of both Zulu and Boers on kwaMatiwane could be heard over a consider-
able distance, but not normal communication in uMgungundlovu. Wood’s and Bird’s accounts of
the events are for the most part confirmed by later recollections of Zulu eyewitnesses who were
interviewed by James Stuart around 1900. The most important of them is Dingane’s cuspidor
(inceku), Tununu ka Nonjiya, who was present at Retief’s death:

They [the Boers] went to the king early in the morning [of 6th February]. They arrived. Beer and
amasi came from different sides. All came, leaving guns behind except 3 amalawana. They arrived
and seated themselves. The king came to them. When they finished the beer and amasi the commo-
tion (isidumo) occurred and they were killed. An inkondhlo was being sung and an ukuketa dance
was being performed for them; they were surrounded. D.[Dingane] went suddenly at the back. Then
the ubedu came together, i.e. the ring of people. They were killed with sticks, not assegais. They
[the Boers] stabbed with knives. I was not stabbed. I did not strike them. The amabuto were hidden
near the kraal; they arrived just as the disturbance began and in an extended movement. Being an
inceku, I took no part in the slaughter.®?

The report from Owen, the only one penned at the time of the event, contradicts some details in
Wood’s account, particularly in stating that the land treaty had not yet been signed. The missionary
wrote on 6 February 1838 in his diary, published that year in the Church Missionary Record:**

A dreadful day in the annals of the mission! ... This morning, as I was sitting in the shade of my
waggon reading the Testament, the usual messenger came with a hurry anxiety depicted in his

620 Ibid., 380-381. Hulley (1880, 9), who was not present himself, was told on 9 February that ‘to prevent any resis-
tance [from the Boers] their necks were at once broken; then their bodies were carried to the execution ground to be
mutilated, then left to decay’.

621 Moodie 1888, 427.

622 James Stuart Archive 6, 2014, 260-261 (30.5.1903).

623 No. 10, Oct. 1838, vol. IX. The Graham’s Town Journal published extracts of Owen’s diary including entries for 2,
4, 6 and 7 February 1838 as early as April 1838 (Harington 1973, 44-45). And Hulley (1880, 7-9), Owen’s interpreter,
provided a similar report after his return from Port Natal on 9 February 1838.
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looks. I was sure he was about to pronounce something serious, and what was his commission!
... a horrid instance of perfidy — too horrid to be described ... He [Dingane] sent to tell me not to be
frightened as he was going to kill the Boers. This news came like a thunder stroke to myself and to
every successive member of my family as they heard it. The reason assigned for this treacherous
conduct was that they were going to kill him, that they had come here and he had now learned all
their plans. The messenger was anxious for my reply, but what could I say? Fearful on the one hand
of seeming to justify the treachery and on the other of exposing myself and my family to probable
danger if I appeared to take their part. More-ever [sic] I could not but feel that it was my duty to
apprize the Boers of the intended massacre whilst certain death would have ensued (I apprehended)
if I had been detected in giving them this information. However, I was released from this dilemma
by beholding an awful spectacle! My attention was directed to the blood-stained hill nearly oppo-
site my hut, ... where all the executions at this fearful spot take place, and which was now destined
to add 60 more bleeding carcases to the number of those which have already cried to Heaven for
vengeance. There (said some one), they are killing the Boers now. I turned my eyes and behold!
an immense multitude on the hill. About 9 or 10 Zoolus to each Boer were dragging their helpless
unarmed victim to the fatal spot ... I lay myself down on the ground. Mrs. and Miss Owen were not
more thunderstruck than myself. ...

Dingarn’s conduct was worthy of a savage, as he is ... and being unable to attack them [the Boers]
openly, he massacred them clandestinely! Two of the Boers paid me a visit this morning and break-
fasted only an hour or two before they were called into Eternity. When I asked them what they
thought of Dingarn, they said he was good: so unsuspicious were they of his intentions. He had
promised to assign over to them the whole country between the Tugela and the Umzimvubu rivers,
and this day the paper of transfer was to be signed. My mind has always been filled with the notion
that however friendly the two powers have heretofore seemed to be, war in the nature of things was
inevitable between them ... The hand of God is in this affair, but how it will turn out favourably to the
Mission, it is impossible to shew. The Lord direct our course. I have seen by my glass that Dingarn
has been sitting most of the morning since this dreadful affair in the centre of his town ...%%*

To Dingarn’s message this morning, I sent as guarded a reply as I could ... I was quite ready to go
myself; but Wm. Wood, my young Interpreter was too much petrified for me to ask him to accompany
me'625

It happened that, just after the execution of the Boers, the American missionary Rev. Henry Isaac
Venable, accompanied by his interpreter James Brownlee, ‘reached the capital on Tuesday [6 Feb-
ruary] at one p.m.’**® and he provides another account from the time. The reverend wanted to
talk to Dingane because Mungo, induna (headman) of Kongela, had ‘issued an order forbidding
the people, men or women, to attend our instructions’. Informed by the king’s prime minister,
Umbhlela, about the killing of the Boers, he saw for himself ‘the vultures ... hovering over their life-
less bodies’.®”” According to Jane Bird, they had ‘swooped down on to the bodies of the victims’ as
soon as the Zulu had left the place of slaughter.®*® And when on 9 February Richard Hulley, Owen’s
interpreter, returned from Port Natal to uMgungundlovu, a week later than expected, he reported
that he ‘observed a large flock of vultures hovering over the place of the dead’.%* In the end, more
than a hundred people had been murdered, some seventy Boers, ‘about thirty-eight achter-ryders

624 Hulley (1880, 10) reports that Dingane said to Owen after the murder: ‘I was told also that you stood on the front
of the wagon with your glass in your hand, and that when you saw what was going on [killing the Boers] you fell down
in a faint, and were taken up insensible.’ It shows that Owen and his small party had been under close surveillance.
625 Owen ed. Cory 1926, 106-109.

626 Kotzé 1950, 237 (for this and the following quotes). See also Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 216; Kotzé 1950, 10-16 (Henry
Isaac Venable), 80 n 3 (James Brownlee); Becker 1979, 225-226.

627 Kotzé 1950, 237. Coetzer was possibly referring to the vultures when he painted birds approaching kwaMatiwane
in his monochrome oil (fig. 13.4).

628 Moodie 1888, 427 (Jane Bird).

629 Hulley 1880, 7, confirmed by Owen ed. Cory 1926, 112 (9.2.1838).
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(grooms) and servants’ and Thomas Halstead, the English interpreter.®*° According to Hulley’s rec-
ollection of 1880, Dingane justified the murder saying

... during your absence the Boers arrived; I kept them waiting as long as I could, expecting you to
return with Capt. Gardiner and John Cane, but when I could keep them no longer I had put them out
of harm’s way. I see that every white man is an enemy to the black; every black man is an enemy to
the white; they do not love each other, and never will.®*

Murder of Retief broadly follows the narratives of the three English eyewitnesses, Owen, Wood and
Bird, but the individual representation and general composition are filtered by Afrikaner inten-
tions. The slaughter of Retief and his men is shown on top of kwaMatiwane, where executions
ordered by Dingane took place.®*? As reported by Wood, Retief is shown as the last to die, forced
to witness the massacre of his people. The Boers are generally older in appearance than in the
magquette, where the two foreground figures might have represented the young boys in the Boer
party; whether one of the younger unbearded Boers in the final frieze was meant as a reference
to Retief’s son Pieter is possible but not recorded. It is significant that the marble diverges from
Wood’s account in an essential detail and follows the consistent recollections of Zulu eyewitnesses
mentioned above. One of them, Nduna ka Mangina, reported on 27.4.1910 when he was about thirty
years old:

The Boers came up, they came up outside the umuzi. They tried to surround Mgungundhlovu, but
could not do so. He [Dingane] said, ‘Do you see?’ The warriors said, ‘Let them be killed’. He said, ‘I
shall not order the men to carry assegais in case the Boers become suspicious.” He said, ‘Ndhela,
gather the men of the army. They must carry dancing shields [amahau], and not war shields [izi-
hlangu], and also izikwili sticks. (Isigayi — a very stout cudgel, not a knobbed stick (isagila), say 2
foot 6 inches in length). I shall hold a dance for them. I shall tell them, “I shall hold a dance for you.
You will watch. After the dance I shall give you your cattle and you can take them away.”” He said,
‘See, Ndhela, tell the men that two songs will be sung. At the second song I shall do this with my
hand’ [wave left and over the left shoulder]. The men of the Zulu sang. ‘We have two, three inkondhlo
dances; they wind about; they turn all over the place; we shall dance this way, and not that way’ —
this is the chorus they sang ... Dignana waved his hand. Upon this the men of the army poured into
the isigodhlo. For each Boer who died, one of Dingana’s men died. They finished them off. That was
where Piti died, the chief of the Boers.®*

Like other Zulu, Nduna ka Mangina emphasised that the trekkers were executed with ‘izikwili
sticks’, described in his report as ‘very stout cudgels (isigaya) ..., say 2 foot 6 inches in length’, but
not knobkieries as recounted by Wood, or assegais, the Zulu military weapon par excellence. The
use of sticks was probably regarded as an act of severe humiliation. The Official Guide takes this for
granted when it states that the trekkers ‘were beaten to death with sticks and stones’.®** Here it is
the Zulu tradition which provided the sharper ideological edge for shaping the Afrikaner narrative
of the Great Trek. And, accordingly, Moerdyk explains in the Official Guide,

630 For the assassinated victims listed by name, see Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 402 (quote); Nathan 1937, 212-213. A report
of the only survivor of the massacre, a black servant of Retief, is quoted by Owen ed. Cory 1926, 47 n 1.

631 Hulley 1880, 8.

632 Moodie 1888, 427; Kotzé 1950, 223-224 n 5; Becker 1979, 82-83, 225-226.

633 James Stuart Archive 5, 2001, 7-8 § 27. For further Zulu reports, see James Stuart Archive 1, 1976, 319 § 13 (testimony
of Lunguza ka Mpukane from 14.3.1909); 4, 1986, 263 § 135 (testimony of Ndukwana ka Mbengwana from 18.10.1897);
6, 2014, 253 § 95 (testimony of Tununu ka Nonjiya from 1.6.1903), 260261 § 8-9 (testimony of Tununu ka Nonjiya from
30.5.1903).

634 Official Guide 1955, 49 (repeated in Heymans 1986, 22; Potgieter 1987, 24; Heymans and Theart-Peddle 2009, 27).
Bantjes records for 21 December 1838, when Retief and his men were found at kwaMatiwane, ‘the sticks and spokes
[sic] with which they have been beaten, were found by thousands, ... some were those with which they danced, and
some were poles wheron they built there houses, or wherewith they plant their fortifications’ (Chase, Annals 2, 1843,
67). But no eyewitness mentions stones (or the impalement of Boers as claimed by Cilliers; see Treaty).
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Because assegais dared not be used in the royal kraal, they were beaten to death with sticks and
stones.®® Retief was kept alive to the last, so that he might watch the martyrdom of his son, his
friends and his servants. Then he was killed. At the order of Dingaan his heart and liver were then
removed and buried in the path along which the Trekkers had come to the kraal. Retief is repre-
sented just before his death, fearless and defiant, with head erect, to symbolise the victory of Euro-
pean civilization over barbarism.®¢

Like the other Boers, Retief, their leader, does not show any expression of pain or emotion but only
calm and composure - in contrast to their adversaries who look fierce or resolute. The facial control
of the Boers is antithetical to their tortured bodies. In this respect they are portrayed as legendary
heroes and martyrs who are stoic in the face of torture, similar to images of Christians being stoned
or burned to death for their faith. This is particularly true of Retief (fig. 13.14), the only Boer still
upright, who is forced by the Zulu to direct his gaze — and that of the viewer — towards the slaughter
of his people. A religious reading of his martyr-like demeanour was not missed by commentators:
Jan Gerritze Bantjes, one of the trekkers who reported on the finding of Retief’s bones on about
21 December 1838, commented ‘O horrible martyrdom!!"®*” and Cloete even called the hillock of
kwaMatiwane ‘the Boers’ “Golgotha”.®*® The decision to portray the Boers as unresisting victims
in the frieze underlined a concept of martyrdom, as opposed to portraying them fighting back,
as Coetzer did in his monochrome painting, and as described by Erasmus Smit in his diary on
22 March that year:

The patrol from the camp of du Plessis has captured 2 spies of Dingaan, who have related that our
Governor Piet Retief and all his men were killed without their having their weapons with them but
that they defended themselves with their pocket knives, and killed a number of Kaffirs, and that
Dingaan had them killed because His Excellency P. Retief had not brought back with them the head
of Sekonyela.®*

For the first time in the frieze, black people are the victors and white trekkers the victims, albeit as
the result of treachery rather than a battle. And, in contrast to when Boers overcome Zulu, as in the
Battle of Blood River, the rhetoric of defeat is so radical that not a single trekker can escape death.
In Murder of Retief extinction is absolute. The motifs chosen to distinguish winners and losers
can be related to different ancient traditions. While Retief has the unwavering habitus of Christian
martyrs, the two supine Boers and the crouching trekker on the left echo motifs of defeated or dying
figures from Hellenistic and Roman imagery (fig. 13.15).%° The Zulu, again, dressed in knee-length

635 But the only survivor of the massacre on 6 February 1838, one of Retief’s black servants, recalls that Dingane’s
warriors used assegais which ‘were all concealed in front of their feet when they sat. The dry dung and dust of the
Kraal was piled over them ... My master was one of the last to fall. I saw the assegai pierce his breast, below the throat’
(Cory 1926, 47 n 1). This seems to have been a common belief as Erasmus Smit (trans. Mears 1972, 134; Dutch text: ed.
Scholtz 1988, 159) reports on 31 August 1838, when a Zulu prisoner was sentenced to death by the Boer Council, that
our people ‘will not torture you with 30, 40, and 50 stabs [“steken”], as you and your people have slowly murdered our
people in the cruellest way; but your death will be short and compassionate’. The idea of the assegais hidden in the
dust was used in the 1938 film Die bou van ’n nasie, where they were revealed as the Zulu danced and seen by Retief’s
son just before the attack.

636 Official Guide 1955, 49-50. The Council no doubt also had the Bloukrans massacre in mind.

637 Chase, Annals 2, 1943, 67; for Bantjes, see Naidoo 1985, 195, 200-201.

638 Cloete 1899, 100.

639 Smit trans. Mears 1972, 96-97 (Dutch text: Smit ed. Scholtz 1988, 125). That the trekkers were dependent on
second-hand reports, because none of the Retief party had survived, meant that they had no certainty about Retief’s
fate, as demonstrated by another diary entry on 26 June (ibid., 118) that a black in the Maritz laager ‘reported that the
01d Boss (His Excellency Piet Retief) and 5 others sit alive in bonds with King Dingaan. Many reports, which we have,
from time to time, heard concerning this matter agree with one another, but the whole matter still remains without
certainty for us. May God grant that His Excellency and the others still alive [sic]!’

640 Stewart 2004, esp. 1-10, 171 fig. 193, passim.
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Figure 13.14: Retief as martyr in Murder of Retief. Marble, details of fig. 13.1 (photo Russell Scott)

Figure 13.15: Zulu killing Boers in Murder of Retief. Marble, details of fig. 13.1 (photo Russell Scott)
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aprons and killing with raised sticks, are reminiscent of figures from ancient Egypt, especially the
two on the left who grasp the hair or clothing of the collapsing Boer that they attack with their
sticks, which recalls Pharaoh smiting the enemy.*** Whether the sculptors deployed these motifs
deliberately or not is irrelevant. Important is the fact that their eclecticism, related to established
ancient traditions, can colour the way viewers read the historical narrative of the frieze.

On 14 February 1945, when the finished plaster panels were provisionally installed in the Mon-
ument, a Rand Daily Mail reporter gained access to the Hall of Heroes. On the following day, as
discussed in more detail in Bloukrans, he published a reproachful article under the headline ‘Grue-
some friezes in Voortrekker Monument’ (fig. 14.23), in which he criticised the violence in Bloukrans
and Murder of Retief. He remarks about the latter:

The martyrdom of Piet Retief and his comrades is illustrated by a picture of the Boers lying prostrate
while savage warriors beat them to death with clubs and rocks. Retief is shown standing while his
legs are bound.

These episodes could have been portrayed just as adequately if more subtle and impressionistic
methods had been used. It is quite possible to do justice to the events without exciting passions of
hatred and antagonism.?

Itis an interesting indication of thinking of the time — even in a ‘liberal’ newspaper — that the scenes
of black brutality to whites were considered offensive and likely to incite hostility, but no comment
was made about scenes where blacks were the victims. Due to ongoing public and political pressure
the obnoxious motif of a Zulu about to dash a little child against a wagon wheel in the plaster relief
of Bloukrans, which the reporter had used to illustrate the article, was ultimately changed — while,
less in the limelight, Murder of Retief attracted less attention and remained unaltered.

Two personal objects associated with Retief in the frieze distinguish the trekkers’ first gover-
nor and commander-general: the satchel at his feet and the richly adorned flask that hangs over
Retief’s shoulder (fig. 13.14). The satchel is a topic of controversial debate,®** discussed fully in
Treaty. Here it signals that the land treaty between Dingane and Retief had indeed been signed
and stored away safely in the leather case, awaiting its discovery by Pretorius’ men after the Boers’
landslide victory over the Zulu in the Battle of Blood River.

The flask is based on one of green glass ascribed to Retief in the collection of the uMsunduzi
Museum and Voortrekker Complex in Pietermaritzburg, which has been identified as a Masonic
flask (figs 13.10-13.12). In the frieze its Masonic symbols have clearly been the model, yet they were
either disfigured or omitted to obscure a clear reading. More or less accurately copied are the aed-
icule with its square-cut tiled pavement, the shape of the central triangle and the eye-like motif
within the arch, both surrounded by rays. The alterations and omissions of well-known Masonic
symbols are distinct: the letter ‘G’ in the triangle is replaced by flames; the open book with square
and compass is disfigured into a meaningless zig-zag line; the keystone is now adorned with an
odd bearded mask; the moon on the flask’s left shoulder is transformed into a sun/flower with
petals arranged like rays; the sickle-shaped ornament ending in four curved stripes on the opposite
shoulder is incomprehensible. Omitted from the flask’s decoration in the frieze are Jacob’s ladder
with the quarter moon surrounded by seven stars, the motifs of trowel and skull and crossbones
next to the right column, and the crossed level cum plumb line and beehive below the pavement.
W.H. Coetzer, who introduced the bottle in his drawing, merely indicates that there is some sort of
decoration, but the small clay maquette depicts the general adornment of the flask as shown in the
frieze: aedicule with pavement and keystone; blank triangle and eye, both partly framed by rays;
the two ornaments on the shoulder, the sun/flower on the bottle’s left and the unintelligible décor

641 Luiselli 2011.
642 NARSSA, BNS 146/73/3 (another copy is in Cape Town, National Library).
643 Naidoo 1985, 197-199.
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on the right (fig. 13.10). Yet it is close enough to the uMsunduzi flask to suggest that Frikkie Kruger,
the sculptor of this scene, had access to the original bottle or a good representation of it, such as the
one reproduced in both the 1935 and 1937 guides of the Voortrekker-Museum Pietermaritzburg.***

As already mentioned, one extant Yates photograph of the full-size clay panel in an incomplete
state (fig. 13.8) shows the flask rough and unfinished with no details, and the background without
Dingane’s capital, which suggests that these details were left till last, while the figures are for the
most part complete. A later photograph taken by Yates shows the completed relief (fig. 13.9); here,
however, the flask is so out of focus that we can only identify the outlines of the aedicule with pave-
ment and cornerstone, the triangle and eye, and the centre of the flower/sun, but no further detail.
Our examination of the changes to the container’s final form leads us to conclude that Moerdyk
or the SVK were interested in using Retief’s glass flask to identify him but, at the same time, kept
the representation of Masonic imagery to a minimum. The likely assumption that Retief would not
have carried a breakable glass flask when he visited uMgungundlovu on horseback — because if he
had it would hardly have survived the brutal attack on his person and been preserved to become
a museum artefact — adds a further layer of historical distortion to the scene, discussed in more
details in the appendix, ‘Retief’s Masonic flask’.

The debate about Murder of Retief does not rest. A seemingly small matter in the minutes of
the Dagbestuur in 1966 highlights the meandering and conflicting pathways of Afrikaner readings:

The secretary read to the meeting an exchange of correspondence with the Secretary of Coloured
Affairs and between him and PP Stander and the Chairman in relation to the desirability or not of
appropriately commemorating the ‘agterryers’ [grooms or servants] of Piet Retief who were mur-
dered with the Voortrekker party. The meeting resolved that the letter of the secretary of 20 July 1966
to the Secretary of Coloured Affairs be approved and that it should also be noted that there is already
a plate on the relevant panel in the Voortrekker Monument and that on it mention is made of the
murdered ‘agterryers’ of Retief.®*

Yet the plate on the relevant scene merely reads ‘The Murder of Retief and His Men’ and does not
mention the slaughtered ‘agterryers’.®*® One wonders whether the caption was kept deliberately
general as ‘his men’ can be understood either inclusively or exclusively, depending on the political
proclivities of the reader. There is little doubt, however, that in its Afrikaner context ‘his men’ refers
to the Boers as no other victims are portrayed. One might surmise that, if the role of the servants
was considered at all, it was felt that the inclusion of blacks amongst the murder victims here or in
the succeeding Bloukrans scene would have undermined the predominant theme of the distinctive
opposition of blacks and whites in the narrative of the frieze.

Unique in the frieze is the staging of Murder of Retief on top of a hill and the topographical con-
nection to an aerial view on uMgungundlovu in the background (fig. 13.16), as shown, for example,
in an etching by E. Whimper in Holden’s 1855 History of the colony of Natal (fig. 13.17),%*” and later
mooted in Coetzer’s drawing and in a number of his works (figs 13.3, 13.4).54® Without prior geo-
graphical knowledge, however, the relationship is almost impossible to understand and shows
that the task of linking the two topographies with consistent perspective had overtaxed the capa-
bilities of the sculptors. The view of uMgungundlovu is inaccurate, taken from roughly north-west
of where kwaMatiwane is situated; the general organisation of the capital, however, is broadly

644 Basson 1935, 7 with fig.

645 12.2.1966: 8.

646 Communication with the research staff at the Monument has not uncovered reference to any plaque other than
the current one.

647 Oberholster (1972, 268) erroneously attributes this to ‘Capt. Allen Gardiner: A Narrative of a Journey to the Zoolu
Country in South Africa’ (here Gardiner 1836).

648 It was also shown in Coetzer’s depiction of Dingaanstat (oil, 23 x 22 cm), reproduced in Coetzer 1947 (fig. opp.
p.199).
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Figure 13.16: Aerial view of uMgungundlovu in Murder of Retief. Marble, detail of fig. 13.1 (photo Russell Scott)

Figure 13.17: E. Whimper. View of the kraal, or capital, of the kafir chief Dingaan. Umgungundlovu. Etching (Holden
1855, opp. p.81)
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Figure 13.18: Sketch of uMgungundlovu following the recollection of Lunguza ka Mpukane, 11.3.1909 (James Stuart Archive 1, 1976, 309)

speaking correct, drawing on the available records, although details of the layout and inner struc-
ture are clearly idealised.

In 1829, after Dingane had taken part in the murder of his predecessor, King Shaka (c. 1787-
1828), and himself occupied the Zulu throne, he had started to have his colossal capital built,
naming it uMgungundlovu or emGungundlovu, ‘the place that encloses the elephant’.®* It lay in
the heart of the fertile and abundantly watered ‘Valley of the Zulu Kings’, situated about 110 kilo-
metres east of present-day Ladysmith. While uMgungundlovu is known from early drawings and
records,%° important additional information was published by John Parkington and Mike Cronin
based on a review of the historical descriptions and the fieldwork carried out by the archaeologi-
cal department of the University of Cape Town in January 1974 and July 1975.°* Before the close of
1829 Dingane moved into his new capital with large numbers of women and warriors. James Stuart

649 Laband 1995, 64.

650 Gardiner 1836, 200-201; Bird, Annals 1, 1888, 202-203 (Journal of Mr. Champion, 17 January 1836); Oberholster
and Walton 1963; Oberholster 1972, 268-272; James Stuart Archive 1, 1976, 308-311 (interview of Lunguza ka Mpukane
on 13.3.1909, who lived there at the time the Boers were killed and provided a detailed description of the residence);
Muller 1978, 12 fig. 5, 55 figs 15-16, 58 fig. 27; Parkington and Cronin 1979, 133-136 figs 1-4; Laband 1995, 64-71; Raper,
Moller and Du Plessis 2014, 515.

651 For here and the following, see Parkington and Cronin 1979.
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(1868-1942), who was born in Pietermaritzburg, brought up among Zulu speakers, and a ‘Clerk and
Interpreter to Resident Commissioner and Chief Magistrate’, provides perhaps the most detailed
and informative plan of uMgungundlovu (fig. 13.18).°*> Roughly oval in shape, uMgungundlovu
consisted of some 1 100 huts, mainly for Dingane’s warriors, which were arranged in either four,
five or six rows like two horns framing a central area, a vast stretch of ground intended mainly for
military celebrations: ‘with maximum and minimum diameters of about 570 m north-south and
500 m east-west, with an area of about 22 hectares. The circumference would have been about
1.7 km.’®*? At the top, or eastern section, and dominating the inner area, was the ‘isigodlo’ (royal
enclosure) of Dingane and his large (female) entourage, cut off from the rest of the city by a thorn-
bush hedge.

... Although all the huts of emGungundlovu were equally well built none was as large or attractive
as the indlu enkulu, Dingane’s private abode ... No less than twenty feet high and twenty in diameter
the royal hut towered over the rest of the seraglio. It was built on an eminence so that at all times
Dingane could view not only the entire settlement but also the country beyond, stretching to the
hills on the horizon.%*

Recent archaeological research confirms this description and adds important details about the
structure of the capital.®® As regards the frieze, it seems remarkable that it includes such a specific
rendering of uMgungundlovu, the stronghold of the enemy. In some ways it suggests the respect
that Afrikaners had for the Zulu, but also that it was felt that the verification of Zulu detail would
add to the authenticity of the Voortrekker story as a whole. More importantly, however, no other
image in the frieze would have been able to capture the power of the Zulu people more compel-
lingly than the representation of Dingane’s residence. It emphasised the magnitude of the force the
Boers eventually succeeded in breaking, shown in two triumphant scenes, Blood River and Death
of Dingane.

652 James Stuart Archive 1, 1976, 309. In one of his notebooks Stuart described his objective ‘to collect native custom
so universally and thoroughly as to become an authority on it and compare it with existing legislation &c., &c.’ (James
Stuart Archive 1, 1976, xiii-xiv).

653 Parkington and Cronin 1979, 143.

654 Becker 1979, 79-80. A contemporary drawing of the interior is provided by Allen Gardiner (1836, opp. p.201).
655 Mitchell 2002, 373-376.
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Figure 13.19: Masonic flask, GIV-4 type. c. 1815-30. Green glass, 21 x 11.5 cm. Keene-Marlboro-Street Glass Works,
Keene, New Hampshire, USA (courtesy of uMsunduzi Museum Collection; photo the authors)
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Appendix: Retief’s Masonic flask
The flask’s biography

The flask reputed to have belonged to Retief is kept in the former Voortrekker Museum, now part
of the uMsunduzi Museum Collection in Pietermaritzburg (fig. 13.19).%¢ Like a ‘decanter flask’ it
is made of relatively heavy thick glass, ‘clear forest green in color’,*” and measures about 21 cm
in height, with a width of 11.5 cm (mid-section) and 7.5 cm (base).®*® On the eagle side the rim of
the bottle neck is slightly damaged, and the flask shows numerous small marks of the produc-
tion process. The container has vertically ribbed sides, a fire-polished finish, ‘glass tipped pontil
scar’,%*° and was blown in a two-piece hinge mould (see below).¢° Later, metal fixings, to accom-
modate a strap for its user to carry it, and a silver bottle top were added.

The more elaborate front design — substantially changed in the frieze — is dominated by
Masonic emblems, most prominently by an archway with keystone supported by two columns on
high pedestals that stand on a pavement of 34 square tiles,*! a structure meant to represent the
entrance to King Solomon’s temple. The architecture is complemented by an ordered assembly of
Masonic symbols. Between the columns is a radiant triangle enclosing the letter ‘G’ (standing for
God or the Grand Architect of the universe), above it an open book with set square and compass
in a rectangular format and, on top of that, God’s radiant all-seeing eye. Alongside the right-hand
column is ‘Jacobs ladder ascending to “cloudy Canopy” or “Star Decked Heaven”, represented by
radiant quarter moon surrounded by 7 stars at right of archway’,®> complemented on the other
side by a blazing sun. Left of the other column are a trowel, skull and crossbones, and, below the
pavement,